

Understanding Microbial Community Dynamics and Resilience in Communal Sink Drains

A thesis submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Zoe Withey

School of Biological Sciences

December 2023

Abstract

The built environment has often been referred to as a microbial wasteland, that is heavily shaped by the microbiota of human occupants, building design and environmental factors. While persistence of microorganisms in the built environment is typically attributed to frequent deposition of microorganisms from external sources, there is evidence to suggest that within the built environment there are areas of endogenous growth and microbial proliferation. Handwashing sinks and traps are environments that favour microbial colonisation and proliferation and are increasingly identified as reservoirs of antibiotic-resistant pathogens in clinical environments. Despite the importance of sinks and their traps in clinical outbreaks, there are still large gaps in our knowledge regarding the composition and diversity of sink microbial communities, particularly in non-clinical communal areas. This thesis focuses on characterising the microbial communities and their dynamics in P-traps present in communal restrooms to better understand the potential implications of interactions between human occupants and these environments, and to determine their importance as reservoirs. Firstly, the bacterial and fungal sink trap communities were characterised from a variety of university buildings, identifying the core microbial community, and demonstrating the influence of humans and their activities on sink community composition. Secondly, sink trap bacterial community diversity and composition was investigated temporally, followed by an intervention event with sodium hypochlorite to explore stability. Results showed communities becoming more stable over time, converging to similar compositions across all individual sinks and that the effects of sodium hypochlorite were shortlived. This suggests that the environment selects and those that colonise will persist. Finally, an alternative restroom P-trap microbial community was investigated, those of urinals. This study showed considerable variability in community composition and structure across individual urinals, however similar bacterial taxa were observed, notably the high prevalence and abundance of the genus Dolosicoccus was observed. Collectively this thesis provides insight into trap microbial communities emphasising the importance of traps as reservoirs of active microorganisms and provides evidence that sink trap communities are stable and resilient to perturbations in non-clinical environments. Furthermore, highlights the application of combining different sequencing techniques to identify novel species.

Declaration

I confirm that this is my own work and the use of all material from other sources has been properly and fully acknowledged.

Zoe Withey

Reading, December 2023

Author contributions for each chapter are detailed below.

Chapter 2

Withey, Z., Goodall, T., MacIntyre, S. and Gweon, H.S. (2021). Characterization of communal sink drain communities of a university campus. *Environmental DNA*, 3: 901-911. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.196</u>

ZW performed the field work and the molecular work in the laboratory. TG performed next-generation sequencing. ZW performed sequence analysis, statistical analyses, interpreted statistical findings, and wrote the manuscript. ZW, SM, and HSG contributed to the final preparation of the manuscript. HSG was in charge of overall direction and planning.

Chapter 3

Withey, Z., Awan, A., Duguma, N., Fell, E., Martinez, N. J., Neary, E., Goodall, T. and Gweon, H. S. (2023). **Mycobial community assemblages in sink drains across a university campus.** *Environmental DNA*, 5, 212–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.375</u>

AA, ND, EF, NJM, EN performed the fieldwork and majority of the molecular work in the laboratory. ZW assisted with remaining molecular work and performed library preparation. TG performed DNA quantification and sequencing. Bioinformatics processing of the data was performed by HSG. Sequence analysis, statistical analyses and interpretations were performed by ZW. ZW wrote the manuscript in consultation with HSG. HSG was in charge of overall direction and planning. All authors discussed the results and commented on the manuscript.

Chapter 4

Withey, Z., and Gweon, H. S. Longitudinal bacterial community dynamics and sodium hypochlorite intervention in a newly opened university building. *In preparation for submission.*

ZW conducted the sampling and molecular work. ZW and HSG performed the bioinformatics processing of the data, sequence analysis, statistical analysis, visualization, and the writing of the manuscript. ZW was responsible for overall direction and planning.

Chapter 5

Withey, Z. and Gweon, H. S. Microbial Landscape of Public Urinals: a 16S rRNA Survey of the Bacterial Communities in Urinal P-traps and the Discovery of Their Most Abundant and Prevalent Species.

ZW conducted the sampling and molecular work. ZW and HSG performed the bioinformatics processing of the data, sequence analysis, statistical analysis, visualization, and the writing of the manuscript. ZW and HSG were responsible for overall direction and planning.

Additional Research

French, P.⁺, Withey, Z.⁺, Wright, E., Kaur, A., Gweon, H. S. *Chitinophaga spargani* sp. nov., isolated from rhizosphere of *Sparganium erectum*.

+ Authors contributed equally to this work. PF and ZW performed fieldwork, microbiology, and molecular work. Bioinformatics processing of the data was performed by HSG. PF analysed the genome and wrote the manuscript with assistance from ZW and HSG. AK performed Transmission Electron Microscopy imagining. HSG was responsible for overall direction and planning.

Acknowledgments

Firstly, a huge thank you to my supervisor Dr. Soon Gweon, whose unwavering support has been greatly appreciated throughout my PhD journey. Dr. Gweon generously shared time, thoughts, and ideas, diligently read through my work, and provided endless conversations and encouragement. The wealth of knowledge I've gained over the last four years has been invaluable. I am so fortunate you took a chance on me, and I have had the opportunity to work with such a dedicated supervisor.

Thank you to all my co-authors who contributed to data collection and provided valuable guidance. Special appreciation goes to the students who demonstrated remarkable enthusiasm for what might be considered a disgusting project yet went above and beyond to collect samples. Thank you to my committee members for their insightful comments and guidance.

I am grateful to the PhD students of biological sciences for their friendship and support. What started with a few individuals has grown into a wonderful group, always ready to share laughter and provide a much-needed break. A special mention to Carys, who has been with me throughout this entire journey, and I am not sure I could have made it through without you. Also, to Ana and Ashinsa, my cubby buddies in the Gweon group.

I am thankful to the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC), SCENARIO and the University of Reading for funding my studentship. Thank you to all the staff at the University of Reading.

Finally, I want to thank my family and friends for their love and support throughout. To George, my supportive partner, who managed to stress about my PhD more than I did, thanks for putting up with me. Thank you all for being there and enduring my endless discussions about sinks.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i					
Declaration						
Acknowledgements	iv					
Chapter 1. Introduction	1					
1.1 Microorganisms of the Built Environment	2					
1.1.1 The Impact of Human Occupancy	2					
1.1.2 The Impact of Building Design	5					
1.1.3 Environmental Influences	8					
1.1.4 Importance of Studying BE Microbiomes: AMR and Pathogens	11					
1.2 Microorganisms in the Built Environment: Pipes, P-traps and Water as a Source						
1.2.1 Microorganisms and Water Distribution Systems	13					
1.2.2 Environmental Conditions of Water Distribution Systems and their						
Effects on Microbial Communities	14					
1.2.3 Sinks and their Traps as a Reservoir	16					
1.3 Review of Methodologies						
1.4 Thesis Outline	24					
1.4.1 Additional Research	26					
1.5 References	27					
Chapter 2. Characterisation of Communal Sink Drain Communities of a University Campus	61					
2.1 Abstract	62					
2.2 Introduction	63					
2.3 Methods						
2.4 Results	67					
2.5 Discussion	73					
2.6 Declaration	78					
2.7 Acknowledgements						
2.8 References						

Chapter 3. Mycobial Community Assemblages in Sink Drains across a University Campus	107
3.1 Abstract	108
3.2 Introduction	109
3.3 Methods	110
3.4 Results	112
3.5 Discussion	120
3.6 Declaration	124
3.7 Acknowledgements	124
3.8 References	125
Appendix B	138

Chapter 4. Longitudinal Bacterial Community Dynamics and Sodium Hypochlorite Intervention in a Newly Built University Building 164 4.1 Abstract 165 4.2 Introduction 166 4.3 Methods 169 4.4 Results 173 4.5 Discussion 182 4.6 References 186 Appendix C 199

Chapter 5. Microbial Landscape of Public Urinals: a 16S rRNA Survey of the Bacterial

Communities in Urinal P-traps and the Discovery of Their Most Abundant and

Prevalent Species			
5.1 Abstract	236		
5.2 Introduction	237		
5.3 Methods	239		
5.4 Results	241		

87

5.5 Discussion	248
5.6 References	254
Appendix D	267
Chapter 6. General Discussion	328
6.1 Main Findings and Implications	329
5.2 Limitations	333
6.3 Conclusions and Future Research Priorities	335
6.4 References	336

Additional Research

Chiting						ahawa af i	C			244
Chitino	onaaa s	<i>baraani</i> so). nov i	solated fro	m rnizos	pnere of :	soaraa	inium Erec	ctum	344
		P 9								

Chapter 1. Introduction

Industrialisation and urbanisation have resulted in humans spending nearly 90% of their time indoors (Kelley & Gilbert, 2013). This indoor or built environment (BE) is diverse and dynamic with variations due to age, purpose, occupancy, and locations of BEs. For the purpose of this research, the BE is defined as a humanmade environment providing surroundings for human occupancy, activities and settlement (Rai et al., 2021). The variety and number of BEs means the interactions between the BE microbiome and human microbiome is not fully understood and is subject to change as building design evolves. Therefore, by investigating microbial community composition and dynamics, the impact on human health can be further understood and future building design informed. For this thesis the term microbiome is defined as a characteristic microbial community in a well-defined habitat, encompassing not only the microorganisms involved but, also their theatre of activity (i.e., metabolites, mobile genetic elements). The microbiome includes of all microorganisms; Prokaryotes (Bacteria, Archaea) and Eukaryotes (e.g., Protozoa, Fungi and Algae) (Berg et al., 2020). Further, the term mycobiome is used to describe subset of the microbiome, specifically containing all fungi (mycobiota).

Despite the inhospitably of BE surfaces, many microorganisms are able to survive indoors (Gibbons, 2016; Gibbons et al., 2015). BEs can provide unique habitats with chemical and physical compositions different to natural environments, as well as harbouring many concealed environments such as sink P-traps which are difficult to monitor and reach. These unique and concealed habitats are colonised by numerous microorganisms and can have implications for health and diseases as they can increase exposure to certain microorganisms i.e., Enterobacteriaceae resistant to the antibiotic Carapenem (CRE) and serve as reservoirs for opportunistic pathogens such as Serratia marcescens (Bourdin et al., 2023; Kotsanas et al., 2013; Lowe et al., 2012; Parcell et al., 2018; Roberts et al., 2013; Sexton et al., 2006). Buildings can serve as microbial reservoirs specifically, indoor air, water, and surfaces and although the indoor environment lacks features of the outdoor environment, such as the decay of organic materials, the BE is still diverse and facilitates microbial colonisation and growth. The indoor environment shares some similarities with the outdoor and microorganisms can be distributed between environments but with a decrease in biomass observed in indoor environments (Adams et al., 2013, 2015). There are three major sources of microorganisms to the BE, the primary source is human occupants, followed by water and thirdly the outdoor environment (Brumfieldid et al., 2020; Góralska et al., 2020; Hospodsky et al., 2012; Meadow et al., 2014a; Prussin & Marr, 2015; Rai et al., 2021). Sources of microorganism from humans can be via shedding directly from their skin or

transportation on clothing and shoes (Coil et al., 2019; Hospodsky et al., 2012; McDonagh & Byrne, 2014). Water can disseminate microorganisms throughout buildings i.e., drinking water distribution systems (DWSD) and directly contact human occupants (Berry et al., 2006; Feazel et al., 2009; Hageskal et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2020). Other sources of colonising microorganism can be from pets, air, plants or further environmental sources (Fujimura et al., 2010; Hewitt et al., 2012; Mahnert et al., 2015). These microorganisms can form established communities or be transient dependent upon building conditions or routines such as cleaning or remediation (Kwan et al., 2018; Mcbain et al., 2003; Wingender & Flemming, 2011). Microbial communities and their viability in the BE are driven by the building's occupants and their activities, the surrounding external environment and building design (Leung & Lee, 2016). Indoor bacterial communities are driven more by building use than seasonal variation whereas, fungal communities are determined more by local environmental factors (Adams et al., 2014; Rintala et al., 2008; Tong et al., 2017).

This chapter will explore the key factors that influence microbial community composition and dynamics in the BE as well as highlighting the origins of microbes found in the BE. Specifically, the importance of sinks and associated pipes in clinical outbreaks will be discussed, along with any non-clinical studies. A brief insight into the methods used for microbiome studies will also be included.

1.1 Microorganisms of the Built Environment

1.1.1 The Impact of Human Occupancy

Occupants and their behaviour drastically shape the microbiome of the BE. Humans directly shed between 10^6 and 10^7 skin-associated microbes per hour (Hospodsky et al., 2015) contributing a significant amount of biomass including bioaerosols to the BE (Yamamoto et al., 2015). Not only through shedding can humans be a source of bioaerosols but also through respiration. Qian and colleagues observed emission rates of 3.7×10^7 bacterial and 7.3×10^6 fungal genome copies per person per hour (Qian et al., 2012). Thus, it is unsurprising human occupancy might one of the most important factors affecting BE microbial communities particularly in areas heavily occupied or poorly ventilated (Adams et al., 2015).

Within hours or days, occupants can colonise new spaces with their own microbial fingerprint or cloud, and this can even be used to identify individuals or families (Klassert et al., 2021; Lax et al., 2014, 2017; Meadow et al., 2015). Humans harbour microbiomes which are unique to individuals that can fluence their environment for example, the bacteria in patient rooms in a hospital consistently resembles the skin microbiota of the patient occupying the room, especially on surfaces such as bedrails (Lax et al., 2017). This study further suggested a constant transfer of microbes within the hospital environment, particularly with patients receiving more microbes from staff members than from patients to staff members. Moreover, a newly opened kindergarten in Norway showed that over 11 months there were significant changes in community composition due to changes in building occupants. Propionibacterium was initially one of most abundant skin commensals but with time, there was a decrease potentially due to the primary occupants of the building being pre-pubescent children whereas, before the construction workers were male adults (Nygaard & Charnock, 2018). For private residences, microbiota in homes were identifiable by family and upon a move to a new house there was rapid colonisation of the new home by the microbial signature of the occupants (Lax et al., 2014). Contrastingly, another study showed that although the indoor air microbiome of households was shown to be dominated by human-associated bacteria, the resemblance to the skin microbiome of the occupants was none when compared with occupants of other households (Wilkins et al., 2016). The conflicting results between these studies can be accounted for by the different samples collected, the first sampled surfaces, the latter air. Gender can also influence the bacterial communities of the BE (Barberán et al., 2015a; Hewitt et al., 2012; Luongo et al., 2017). For instance, offices inhabited by men were more contaminated when compared to women (Hewitt et al., 2012). Hewitt and colleagues speculated that this may be explained by differences in hygiene (Fierer et al., 2008). Conversely, sex had no effect on fungal communities (Luongo et al., 2017).

Not only can different buildings display unique microbiomes but so can different rooms and surfaces (Dunn et al., 2013). Kitchen surfaces showed high numbers of skin associated bacteria (Flores et al., 2013). Microbes associated with particular body parts can be found on distinct surfaces (Flores et al., 2011; Kembel et al., 2014). For example, a strong association between toilet surfaces and gut and vaginal communities, which is expected due to the direct contact between surface and the human body (Flores et al., 2011). Oral bacteria have observed throughout university laboratory surfaces i.e., desks, demonstrating their dispersion throughout the BE due to occupant activity (Yanagi et al., 2022). Surprisingly, indirect contact i.e., sitting fully clothed, can also result in transmission of human-associated microbes and surface proximity to other surrounding surfaces does not influence community composition (Meadow et al., 2014b). Additionally, microbial profiles from surfaces may be indicative of an individual's interaction with that environment and some have proposed its use for forensic application for personal identification or tracing due to the uniqueness of the microbiomes of individuals (Fierer et al., 2010; Lax et al., 2015; Park et al., 2017; Richardson et al., 2019). For example, the microbial community found on personal mobile phones and keyboards can be traced to

the owner (Fierer et al., 2010; Meadow et al.,2014c). However, a more recent study has determined that although microbial signatures of occupants can be detected within the BE, in comparison to current accepted forensic standards, microbial signatures cannot be used as a reliable trace (Hampton-Marcell et al., 2020).

Human occupancy affects the concentration and community structure of microorganisms in the BE, particularly bacterial communities (Bouillard et al., 2005; Goh et al., 2000; Meadow et al., 2014a). Humans are the primary source of bacterial transmission to many indoor environments such as offices, retail stores, gyms, public restrooms and hospitals (Flores et al., 2011; Hewitt et al., 2012; Hoisington et al., 2016; Hospodsky et al., 2015; Lax et al., 2017; Mukherjee et al., 2014; Sharma et al., 2019; Taylor et al., 2014; Wood et al., 2015; Yano et al., 2017). Notably, residences were demonstrated to have significantly higher bacterial concentrations than schools, offices and hospitals. The authors suggest the results were owed to differences in BEs and human activities; residences had a higher number of different human activities i.e., cooking, folding clothes/blankets, when compared to the other buildings (Wang et al., 2023). Studies of occupied indoor environments have shown an increase in bacterial concentrations and human-associated bacteria when compared to unoccupied indoor environments (Hospodsky et al., 2012; Meadow et al., 2014a; Park et al., 2013). Hospodsky and colleagues demonstrated elevated concentrations of bacteria (81 times) and fungi (15 times) in occupied school classrooms versus vacant conditions (Hospodsky et al., 2015). In high occupancy areas such as libraries high concentrations of airborne human pathogens, including bacteria and fungi, have been detected (Hayleeyesus & Manaye, 2014). Occupancy number and frequency otherwise known as human traffic further impacts the diversity and composition of communities throughout BEs (Cao et al., 2021). Many BEs such as universities, have high population densities and human traffic with buildings of varying usage. A study investigating door handles of a university showed that building sampled was most influential on door handle community due to human traffic. In buildings of low human throughput, temporally persistent communities were present (Ross & Neufeld, 2015). Hallways in particular experience high human traffic and have different microbial signatures to locations with lower traffic (Kembel et al., 2014). However, even within large retail stores with low occupant density, the presence of humans still affects microbial community structure (Hoisington et al., 2016). The effect of human occupancy can be observed when comparing indoor and outdoor bacterial communities. Bacterial taxa related to human pathogens have been found in indoor air whilst absent in outdoor air demonstrating the influence of human occupancy (Kembel et al., 2012). Moreover, Goh et al. collected samples in a library building and showed bacterial levels were approximately 10 times higher indoors than outdoors whereas, fungal levels in indoor air were

approximately 50 times lower than in outdoor air (Goh et al., 2000). There is more evidence for human occupancy impacting bacterial community composition, when compared to the weaker links to fungal composition.

The behaviour and activities of human occupants can also shape the indoor microbiome and increase microbial exposure. For example, pet ownership, or activities such as dry dusting, folding clothes and bed making (Ferro et al., 2004; Fujimura et al., 2010; Heo et al., 2017; Song et al., 2013). Simple activities such as moving and talking were demonstrated to have a positive correlation with concentration of bacterial bioaerosols (Heo et al., 2017). However, these activities had no influence on fungal bioaerosol concentrations. Furthermore, human and pet movements can affect the indoor microbiome by resuspending previously deposited materials from flooring and clothing, as well as introducing exogenous microbiota from outdoor environments (Adams et al., 2015; Barberán et al., 2015a; Fujimura et al., 2010; McDonagh & Byrne, 2014).

Overall occupants influence the microbiome of the BE through the release of their unique microbial signature, type of physical contact, frequency of movement and as a secondary source via passive transport and resuspension. Nevertheless, other factors such as the design and purpose of a building could influence human behaviour, their activities and traffic, as well as exerting its own influence, thus potentially play an integral role in what microbes are found within these environments.

1.1.2 The Impact of Building Design

Buildings are complex ecosystems and their design drives indoor microbial community dynamics and composition (Kembel et al., 2012, 2014). With urbanisation and humanities transition to the BE, building design has undergone changes and exposure to the vast outdoor environmental microbes that humans coevolved with is reduced. These changes may potentially affect human health i.e., immune development and human microbiome diversity (Roslund et al., 2020). Similarly, to living organisms, buildings change over time which makes longitudinal studies of interest especially those investigating colonisation of newly opened buildings (Lax et al., 2017; Nygaard & Charnock, 2018). Buildings range from residential individual households to complex communal environments such as universities, shopping centres or airports. Key features of buildings or architectural design that shape the indoor microbial community include, room type, ventilation, connectedness to neighbouring spaces and materials used.

BEs appear to share microbial taxa and are dominated by bacteria frequently detected on humans i.e., *Acinetobacter*, and members of environmental origin i.e., soil (Kembel et al., 2014; Leung & Lee, 2016)

but variation between different rooms has been observed (Adams et al., 2014; Flores et al., 2011; Lax et al., 2014). A study investigating a gradient of urbanisation across South America proposed that the presence of walls dividing spaces i.e., to make rooms, explained differences in microbial composition rather than other building design features such as ventilation (Ruiz-Calderon et al., 2016). However, this variation could be primarily attributed to human occupancy density and use of rooms rather than solely building design.

A building's ventilation strategy shapes the BE microbial communities (Arundel et al., 1986; Dannemiller et al., 2017; Kembel et al., 2012). Type of ventilation system, number and location of ventilation points, window positioning, air speeds and flow can vary greatly between buildings and affect concentrations of airborne particles (Sattar et al., 2016). Historically, natural or passive ventilation was the preferred method for increasing air circulation and reducing pathogen concentrations indoors (Hobday & Dancer, 2013). However, a study showed bacterial aerosol concentration is higher in naturally ventilated offices than (mechanically) air-conditioned offices (Bragoszewska & Biedroń, 2018). This agrees with previous results, that buildings with passive ventilation have more complex microbial communities that resemble the outdoor environment than buildings with mechanically filtrated ventilated air (Kembel et al., 2014; Meadow et al., 2014a). Thus, in large buildings, rooms or spaces furthest from access to the outdoor environment are less diverse and less like outdoor microbial communities or rooms with outdoor access (Kembel et al., 2014; Meadow et al., 2014a; Weikl et al., 2016). Restrooms, which are very isolated rooms, had highly distinct communities compared to other rooms and spaces (Kembel et al., 2014). Moreover, higher ventilation can lower the bacterial concentration in buildings therefore, reducing the effect of occupants on indoor bacterial concentrations (Wang et al., 2023). The type of ventilation, mechanical versus natural, has been shown to influence indoor fungal diversity (Irga & Torpy, 2016) but the local environmental factors such as air currents is a stronger determinant of the indoor airborne mycobiome than ventilation type (Tong et al., 2017).

Indoor environmental parameters like room temperature and relative humidity can also affect indoor microbial concentrations (Guo et al., 2020). One of the most important factors of survival and proliferation of indoor microbes is moisture; a high relative humidity (>80%) supports microbial growth on surfaces (Qiu et al., 2022). Buildings with moisture problems had higher levels of airborne fungi observed (Haas et al., 2007; Pasanen et al., 2000). Furthermore, higher relative humidity indoors showed a significant positive correlation with microbial growth particularly in water associated spaces such as kitchens and restrooms including the sink P-trap (Frankel et al., 2012; Kotay et al., 2017). Concurrent with other studies Wang and colleagues found lower relative humidity resulted in lower

6

indoor fungi concentrations (Wang et al., 2023). Positive correlations between indoor fungi and indoor temperature and air exchange rate have been recorded. However, for bacteria, indoor temperature and air exchange rate correlated negatively (Frankel et al., 2012). Further studies have shown no significant correlation with temperature or relative humidity and indoor airborne bacteria concentration (Balasubramanian et al., 2012; Cho et al., 2019). Yet, Wang and colleagues demonstrated the lower the temperature indoors, the lower the bacterial concentrations (Wang et al., 2023). However, this study was performed in more extreme temperature zones whereas the previous studies were performed in more temperature-controlled facilities thus, a limited temperature distribution. Natural lighting has also been perceived to have some influences on the spread and emergence of pathogens in the BE (Hobday & Dancer, 2013; Koh et al., 2013).

All buildings are characterised by widespread use of different materials. Materials have different resistance to mould growth (Johansson et al., 2012) and moisture content (Torvinen et al., 2006). This needs to be considered when selecting suitable materials for the indoor environment. Flooring type influences microorganism dispersion, as resuspension of dust occurs less on hard flooring relative to carpet (Ferro et al., 2004; Qian & Ferro, 2008) and carpet is a known reservoir for microorganisms (Becher et al., 2018). However, Chase and colleagues demonstrated no bacterial community differences between surface material i.e., carpet or tile but, showed differences due to location within a room i.e., ceiling or floor (Chase et al., 2016). They suggested the previous observed differences between surface materials was a result of detecting differences based on usage patterns. This agrees with another study that stated human traffic levels affected the bacterial levels on different floor surfaces (Gupta et al., 2019). This does not suggest material has no impact on microbial communities but that within an indoor environment variation of conditions is limited so that occupants are comfortable, and this restricted range may not be enough to drive microbial change. Moreover, biophilic design (indoor planting) is becoming more popular and integrated into BE design as it plays an important role in human physical and mental well-being. Indoor planting dramatically changes the composition of the airborne microbiome; this has implications for controlling the indoor airborne microbiome, therefore will need to be considered alongside all the other parameters of building design going forward (Toyoda et al., 2023; Zhong et al., 2022).

Overall, the design of the indoor environment plays a vital role in mediating how air and microbes are circulated within a "closed" environment. Connectedness via ventilation of air had the biggest impact on bacterial community structure particularly in rooms with lower occupancy whereas rooms with higher occupancy were more influenced by human activities (Adams et al., 2014; Kembel et al., 2014; Meadow et al., 2014a). This demonstrates the direct and indirect impact humans have on microbial

7

Chapter 1

diversity in the built environment. Directly through occupancy and their behaviours and indirectly by determining building design. "Bioinformed" and biophilic design is emerging to promote a healthy indoor environment by taking account of design, materials and occupant behaviour (Green, 2014).

1.1.3 Environmental Influences

The outdoor environment is a complex ecosystem composed of extensive and diverse microbial communities arising from different sources such as soil, aquatic environments, and wildlife. The outdoor environment influences the composition of the indoor built environment due to fluctuations and transportation of microbes between the two environments via biotic i.e., humans, or abiotic vectors i.e., air (Flores et al., 2011; Stamper et al., 2016). In a study investigating an office, the main source of bacterial contamination was environmental in origin as many soil-associated bacteria were observed (Hewitt et al., 2012). For fungi, studies show fungi indoor are dominated by those from outdoor (Adams et al., 2013; Barberán et al., 2015a). Additionally, indoor air and outdoor air have strong microbial connections (Adams et al., 2015). This suggests that microbial communities in built environments (Adams et al., 2015). The geographic location, climatic conditions and season impact environmental microbial communities and thus built environment communities.

Outdoor air influences the indoor air microbes of built environments. Air is an important transport mechanism of microbes as it connects room and surfaces therefore, aids in microbial distribution. Abundance of bacteria in outdoor air positively correlates with that in indoor air (Miletto & Lindow, 2015). Particularly in well-ventilated indoor spaces, the indoor air microbiome is comprised of a greater proportion of outdoor air-associated microorganisms (Kembel et al., 2012; Leung et al., 2014; Meadow et al., 2014a; Miletto & Lindow, 2015; Wilkins et al., 2016). Surface fungal communities are less influenced by occupants than bacterial communities but more so by environmental factors including air currents (Tong et al., 2017). Moreover, indoor pollen fungal concentrations parallel outdoor air concentration trends. However, outdoor air microbial communities can have a human commensal signal in heavily populated environments, demonstrating the diverse range of sources which contribute to microbial air communities (Qian et al., 2012). Although, humans can influence their surrounding environment, connectedness to external environments greatly influences air microbial composition. In a New York Subway, which is an open built environment with heavy human traffic, 20% of observed taxa in the air was associated with human skin (Robertson et al., 2013). Whereas a study in a university classroom showed 85% of the sequences were human associated (Meadow et al., 2014b). So, although the classroom is less populated than the subway there is still a

higher percent of human associated taxa observed, suggesting the subway is more under the influence of the environment due to connectedness to the outdoor air and environment. Furthermore, another subway system in Hong Kong had air compositionally indistinguishable from outdoor air (Leung et al., 2014).

Since the outdoor environment is an important microbial source for BE communities, changes in the outdoor microbial community will potentially influence nearby BEs. Geography contributes strongly to microbial community structure (Chase et al., 2016; Gibbons, 2016). Contrasting terrains i.e., agricultural, suburban and forests have distinctive air microbiomes (Bowers et al., 2010). Geographic location governs fungal diversity in settled-dust samples, the further from the equator the higher the diversity, despite differences in building designs, as well as driving microbial dynamics in house dust samples across the US (Amend et al., 2010; Barberán et al., 2015b). It is worth noting that the human microbiome varies across the world and since human occupancy and behaviour is a major force shaping the microbiome of the built environment this could result in variation (Yatsunenko et al., 2012). For example, skin microbial composition in specific ages is different between rural and urban children (Lehtimäki et al., 2017). Differences in microbial community composition due to geography could be due to differences in the climate of the regions studied.

Climatic and meteorological conditions contribute to differences found between microbiomes of geographical regions. Specifically, temperature and UV radiation have been found to be the most important meteorological factors in the viability of airborne bacteria (Brągoszewska et al., 2017). Weather conditions can also correspond to viable airborne microbial concentrations (Li et al., 2017). Certain microbial species can survive and grow in different climatic conditions i.e., cold-tolerant microorganism (Bej et al., 2000). Further, weather can determine dispersal and sources of outdoor microbial communities. Dry and warm conditions may result in desiccation of soil microbes, promoting spore dispersal or aerosolization (Brodie et al., 2007). This was demonstrated when comparing the office dust of buildings in Tucson, New York and San Francisco. Tucson was particularly abundant in desert soil bacteria suggesting a strong climatic signal (Hewitt et al., 2012).

Seasons have varied effects on microbial communities. Season can influence the levels of microorganisms and result in variation in bacterial and fungal community composition and structure (Du et al., 2018; Park et al., 2013). Outdoor air bacterial concentrations have been shown to vary diurnally but the effect on indoor communities may be reduced (Bowers et al., 2011). However, indoor dust bacterial communities do show seasonal variation, they peak in spring and are lowest in summer (Frankel et al., 2012). An early study investigating settled dust of two buildings found bacteria differed between most seasons but differences between the buildings was greater than the effect of seasons

(Rintala et al., 2008). In a more recent study of a newly opened kindergarten, it was found the sampling rounds were significant, suggesting observed microbial differences related to accumulation over time or seasonal variation. Yet, since the kindergarten had only been open 11 months, a stable community may not have developed, thus it is unclear the role of seasonal variation (Nygaard & Charnock, 2018). Fungal communities generally exhibit more obvious seasonal variation than bacterial communities (Pitkäranta, 2011; Reponen et al., 1992). Fungal concentrations particularly in indoor and outdoor dust and air are known to vary between seasons (Adams et al., 2013; Koch et al., 2000; Pitkäranta, 2011; Weikl et al., 2016). Contrasting to bacterial communities, fungal indoor dust communities peak in summer and are lowest in winter (Frankel et al., 2012). Additionally, during winter, fungi can disperse farther whereas bacteria are limited to local scale dispersion (Tong et al., 2017). Not many studies have specifically investigated how seasons affect the built environment virome. The airborne viral community in a daycare centre was strongly influenced by seasons compared to bacterial communities which were not (Prussin et al., 2019). During winter human-associated viruses were more diverse and dominant compared to summer which had a higher proportion of plant-associated viruses. Overall, the outdoor seasonal changes can affect the indoor microbiome and the extent of these affects vary for different microorganisms.

In conclusion, the built environment is shaped by the surrounding outdoor environment and many different microbial communities from diverse sources comprise this. Air and its movement are an important tool for the interactions between the built environment microbiome and the surrounding environmental microbiome. Geographic areas and their associated climatic conditions are strong determinates of environmental microbial community composition and their dispersion. Seasons have varied effects on microbial concentrations in outdoor air which reflects in indoor air communities. The extent of the affect appears to differ for different microorganisms. Importantly, the information about variation in microbiomes due to environmental influences can be applied to design predictive and computational tools to help identify environment-associated microbial community changes and how BEs could be affected. For example, urbanisation has resulted in less diverse outdoor environments and these urban areas exhibit less continental-scale geographic variability to rural areas (Barberán et al., 2015b). This decreased exposure to microbes associated with the shift from rural to urban environments rises concerns for human health and development. Furthermore, with climate change causing an increase in extreme weather events, buildings without adequate temperature control or resistance to these events could be subject to more intense variations in indoor temperature and changes in conditions. How this may affect our microbial inhabitants is unknown, but environmental influences will continue to play an important role in manipulating microorganisms of the BE.

1.1.4 Importance of Studying BE Microbiomes: AMR and Pathogens

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) bacteria are recognized as one of the biggest threats to public health, posing a global crisis that endangers the lifesaving role of antibiotics (Hutchings et al., 2019; O'Neil, 2014). It is estimated that AMR will cause up to 10 million deaths annually by 2050 (Li et al., 2018). AMR is not a modern phenomenon; genes encoding resistance to antibiotics are found naturally and have been identified in 30,000-year-old permafrost sediments (Bhullar et al., 2012; D'Costa et al., 2011). Human activities, including the overreliance and misuse of antibiotics in healthcare (Chang et al., 2019; Llor & Bjerrum, 2014) and agricultural settings (Chandler, 2019, Cole and Desphande, 2019), are driving factors leading to the current rapid increase and spread of AMR. AMR can arise through evolution and random mutations driven by selection due to antibiotic pressure or other environmental stress factors, as well as through horizontal gene transfer between species (Martinez & Baquero, 2000; Munita & Arias, 2016). These resistance genes can be transmitted via human movement or through the food chain to other environments (Cave et al., 2019, Conceição et al., 2013; Ruiz & Alvarez-Ordóñez, 2017).

To date most AMR studies have focused on surveying AMR in healthcare and agricultural settings. A study sampling airborne fine particulate matter showed that compared to outside ambient air, hospitals harboured nearly twice the abundance of antibiotic resistance genes (Wu et al., 2022). Research into human BEs is limited but, studies have generally shown high abundances of AMR genes, particularly in comparison with outdoor environments (Cave et al., 2019, Kang et al., 2018, Roberts et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2021). As well as demonstrating resistant bacteria are transmissible in urban BEs, such as public transport systems and schools (Conceição et al., 2013; Kahsay et al., 2019; Zhou and Wang, 2013). In recent years the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the critical importance of clean and well-regulated indoor environments (Warmbrod et al., 2021) and has put more emphasis on understanding the microbes of the BE and the transmission of AMR genes. However, comprehensive AMR surveillance in public settings requires considerable time, cost, expertise and is often directed at observing clinically important pathogens (Conceição et al., 2013; Kahsay et al., 2019; Zhou and Wang, 2013). Although culture-independent metagenomic studies are overcoming some of these limitations and starting to reveal more about the abundance and prevalence of AMR genes in public BEs, including classrooms (Hartmann et al., 2016), athletic facilities (Fahimipour et al., 2018) and mass transit systems (Afshinnekoo et al., 2015; Kang et al., 2018)

The indoor microbiome is comprised of various bacteria including pathogens such as Staphylococcus spp. and Enterobacteriaceae with AMR genes present (Afshinnekoo et al., 2015; de Sousa, 2020; Fahimipour et al., 2018; Hartmann et al., 2016; Mkrtchyan et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2021). Increasingly studies are demonstrating that Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) can be found in public BEs, such as transport systems (Conceição et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2017; Peng et al., 2015), shopping centres (Domon et al., 2015), and university campuses (Roberts et al., 2013), with recovery of MRSA isolates varying from 1.5% to 36%. Furthermore, care homes have been shown to be reservoirs for antibiotic-resistant bacteria (ARB) including Klebsiella spp. and E. coli (Wiener et al., 1999). In contrast, a metagenomic study of mass transit systems across 60 cities around the world found a low abundance of antibiotic resistance genes, especially when compared to housekeeping genes (Danko et al, 2021). Yet, the authors suggest AMR genes could be higher than observed as samples may contain undetected and unidentified AMR genes. In this study the most common antibiotic resistance was detected for macrolides, lincosamides, streptogamines, and beta lactams, which agrees with AMR genes detected in other studies, as these are some off the most commonly used antibiotics to treat bacterial infections in humans (Hartmann et al., 2016). High usage of disinfectants and antimicrobial cleaning products indoors has been suggested to contribute to the selection pressure favouring resistant strains (Aeillo & Larson, 2003; Buffet-Bataillon et al., 2015; Jin et al., 2020; Kampf, 2018; Maki et al., 2023). Mahnert and colleagues suggested that a healthy indoor environment is characterized by a diverse and stable microbiome, which can help reduce the presence of antibiotic-resistant genes (Mahnert et al., 2019). The need to control the indoor airborne microbiome is increasingly evident, but it is a complex challenge with AMR genes and ARB abundances varying dependent on location, building type, and use.

Strategies to enhance microbial diversity indoors, such as increasing ventilation or incorporating green plants, can promote a healthier microbiome and potentially lower resistance exposure (Berg et al., 2014; Mahnert et al., 2015). Additionally, human density and activities may play a role in the transmission of airborne antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) in indoor environments; therefore, understanding users' behaviours may aid in reducing transmission. Addressing AMR requires comprehensive surveillance in BEs environments to better understand its prevalence and impact. Enhanced metagenomic technologies that link AMR genes to their bacterial hosts could significantly improve our ability to monitor and manage AMR in these settings (Arango-Argoty et al., 2019; Kalmar et al., 2022; Nurk et al., 2017; Stalder et al., 2019). Furthermore, long-term studies are needed to understand how AMR is changing. Given the serious public health implications, controlling the indoor

airborne microbiome and ensuring the maintenance of healthy indoor environments are critical steps in mitigating the spread of AMR and protecting public health.

1.2 Microorganisms in the Built Environment: Pipes, P-traps and Water as a Source

1.2.1 Microorganisms and Water Distribution Systems

Water is essential to the growth and survival of bacteria and fungi. There are multiple sources of water throughout the BE from plumbing pipes, hot water storage tanks to small appliances and water features. These indoor sources of water contribute to the human microbiome via ingestion (drinking water), skin contact, inhalation of aerosolised water droplets (Johnson et al., 2013) and biofilm formation on water-associated surfaces (Adams et al., 2017). Premise plumbing systems, the water distribution system located within a building including distribution pipes, various devices (i.e., hot water heater), fixtures (i.e., showers), and drains (i.e., sinks), are known to harbour distinct microbiomes (Wang et al., 2013). Proteobacteria, Firmicutes, Nitrospirae and Actinobacteria are dominating phyla found within these environments (Bruno et al., 2022; Chao et al., 2013; Jing et al., 2023). Fungi such as *Fusarium* are widespread throughout plumbing drains (Short, 2011). Additionally, opportunistic pathogens are harboured by and colonise water distribution systems and the building plumbing environment itself (e.g., water heaters and shower heads), which makes their control particularly challenging (Ashbolt, 2015; Falkinham et al., 2015; Feazel et al., 2009; Marciano-Cabral et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013). Opportunistic pathogens such as Pseudomonas, Mycobacteria, Legionella, and protozoans have been documented in these systems (Bédard et al., 2016; King, 2014; Nisar et al., 2023; van der Wielen & van der Kooij, 2013). Opportunistic pathogens are ideally adapted to premise plumbing conditions due to certain characteristics; biofilm formation, survival and propagation in free-living amoeba, disinfectant-resistance, and ability to grow at low oxygen or organic carbon levels (Falkinham et al., 2015). Furthermore, biofilms inevitably line premise plumbing pipes, and can contribute microbes to running water as it flows over microbial communities. Most biofilm communities consist of benign and even beneficial microorganisms but as mentioned they can provide a key environment for the proliferation of opportunistic pathogens. A biofilm starvation experiment revealed biofilms can survive under prolonged conditions of no water flow, and upon addition of nutrients, viable cells in biofilms can more than double within 24 hours (Hota et al., 2009). Two more recent studies using more comprehensive methods, further validated the ability of microbial diversity to rebound after stagnation demonstrating the important role of biofilms in recontamination (Dai et al., 2018; Ji et al., 2017).

1.2.2 Environmental Conditions of Water Distribution Systems and their effects on Microbial Communities

Most studies focus on exploring the microbiome of drinking water due to its direct exposure to humans and the negative health implications if potable water pipes harbour pathogens. In these studies, the temperature (Inkinen et al., 2016), age of water pipes (Henne et al., 2012), water chemistry (Ji et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2014), stagnation within the pipes (Lautenschlager et al., 2010; Ye et al., 2022) and disinfection method (Baron et al., 2014; Paduano et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2012) influenced variation in microbial communities. Likewise, research into hot water premise plumbing determined that stagnation and especially temperature impacted taxonomic and functional gene composition (Dai et al., 2018). Moreover, higher water temperatures can increase the risk of opportunistic pathogens, as well as water use frequency (Ji et al., 2017). With lower usage, stagnation occurs, increasing the potential for pathogen growth (Ciesielski et al., 1984; Rhoads et al., 2015). Ciesielski and colleagues (1984) verified L. pneumophila numbers did not decrease when hot water heaters were not in use. Further, stagnation results in physiological changes in communities as genes involved in stress-associated cellular functions such as antibiotic resistance significantly increased whereas genes involved in metabolism and growth were reduced (Dai et al., 2018). Stagnation period in hot water taps had the least effect on total microbial numbers (Lipphaus et al., 2014), corresponding with Dai and colleagues (2018) more recent study. Although, the period of stagnation can be critical for specific pathogens (Rhoads et al., 2015). Conversely, in cold water taps, the period of stagnation can induce substantial changes in microbiome composition and microbial cell concentrations (Ji et al., 2015; Lautenschlager et al., 2010; Ling et al., 2018) and alongside warmer indoor temperatures, microbial metabolic activity level increases (Zhang et al., 2015). The stagnation studies above processed filtered water samples. It is recognised that microbial communities differ between water and biofilms. However, similar impact of stagnation was observed in biofilms as well, as microbial community members differed in their activity dependent upon temperature (Inkinen et al., 2016).

In another drinking water study pH was the strongest regulator of bacterial community (Pinto et al., 2012) and *Legionella* spp. have been shown to be associated with high pH drinking water (Ji et al., 2015). Other factors shaping both bacterial and eukaryotic community structures are disinfectant and water age, whereas pipe material only influences bacterial community structure (Wang et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2010). The variables tested also can interact with each other, resulting in different outcomes. For example, pipe material effects on microbial communities only became apparent at water ages corresponding to low disinfectant residuals (Wang et al., 2012). Water flow conditions can result in

differences in bacterial communities. Under low flow regimes in hospital water there was an increase in potentially pathogenic taxa, biofilm forming and environmental stress resistant bacterial taxa (Nisar et al., 2023). Additionally, in low flow rate water systems there are higher concentrations of antimicrobial resistant bacteria (ARB) and antimicrobial resistance genes (ARG) (Zhang et al., 2019).

The variation of indoor water microbial communities can be explained by the differences in environmental conditions, as discussed, how humans mediate them and raw water type. Microbial communities of eukaryotes and bacteria correlate (Wang et al., 2014), highlighting areas of future research opportunity, to explore interspecies relationships and the ecological roles of eukaryotes. For example, free-living amoeba graze on biofilms and help maintain its density, while also being host to amoeba-resistant opportunistic pathogens (Greub & Raoult, 2004). Microbial diversity is not necessarily negative and may even have health benefits in drinking water. Despite this, specific conditions can promote proliferation of opportunistic pathogen therefore, understanding and monitoring environmental conditions and their affects is essential.



Figure 1.1. Images of P-trap. (A) In-situ sink P-trap, (B) Dismantled P-trap, (C, D) Dismantled bottle P-trap from a urinal (thick deposits), (E, F) Dismantled bottle P-trap from urinal (clean), (G) P-trap drawing.

1.2.3 Sinks and their Traps as a Reservoir

Sinks and their traps, such as the P-trap (Figure 1.1) are rich microbial environments and known reservoirs of nosocomial pathogens and resistance genes (Apanga et al., 2022; Bourdin et al., 2023; Kizny Gordon et al., 2017; Lalancette et al., 2017). The purpose of sink traps, such as the P-trap, is to

form a barrier against noxious sewer gas escaping from the piping below. P-traps provide a relatively protected environment that is hydrated due to the retained water, therefore favours microbial growth, proliferation, and propagation of resilient biofilms (Kearney et al., 2021; Kotay et al., 2017; Valentin et al., 2021). Once biofilms are established in these environments, they can be difficult to eradicate and may require alternative or repeat interventions (Jones et al., 2020; Lemarié et al., 2021; Lowe et al., 2012; Otter et al., 2015; Regev-Yochay et al., 2018; Smolders et al., 2019). P-traps can be inoculated from two directions, firstly from above due to microorganisms from a variety of sources; shedding via handwashing, disposal of bodily fluids, tap water itself and any other waste (Figure 1.2). Interestingly, a study assessing the impact of handwashing soap on population dynamics of microorganisms found that certain soap could increase growth of isolates (Boyle et al., 2020). Therefore, as well as inoculating, nutrients can be provided from above. Secondly due to back-flow from connecting pipes downstream of the P-trap (Kotay et al., 2017). Contamination of sink drains can propagate to proximate rooms via plumbing (Hopman et al., 2019). Wastewater systems such as sinks are designed that all waste flows down. However, biofilms inside the plumbing can spread even against gravity (Aranega-Bou et al., 2021). Kotay and colleagues demonstrated motile E. coli can travel up from the sink trap at a rate of 2.5cm per day (Kotay et al., 2017). Thus, there is the potential through splash water and aerosols, that microorganisms from the sink trap can be transmitted to the surrounding environment.

Most research on sink traps has been associated with those found in hospital environments due to the direct implications to human health. Sinks have long been identified as sources of contamination in hospitals and implicated in outbreaks, pathogens identified include *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Acinetobacter baumanii, Serratia marcescens* and *Klebsiella oxytoca* (Ayliffe et al., 1974; Bourdin et al., 2023; Landelle et al., 2013; Lowe et al., 2012). Additionally, sink traps have been found to be reservoirs of genes coding antimicrobial resistance (AMR) (Decker & Palmore, 2014; Kizny Gordon et al., 2017; Kotsanas et al., 2013) and viable highly resistant microorganisms (van der Schoor et al., 2023). Compared to other hospital surfaces, sink drains have been isolated from ICU sinks more than of antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) (Sukhum et al., 2022). Concerningly, bacteria with more antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) in their genomes have been isolated from ICU sinks more than other hospital spaces. Additionally, this study observed that ARGs were harboured on mobilised plasmids and shared in genomes of unrelated bacteria (Diorio-Toth et al., 2023). From their results, they suggested dependent on bacterial species, antimicrobial resistance could be maintained within such species by strain colonisation and/or horizontal gene transfer. Moreover, there is evidence of

shared strains with resistance across the hospital environment (sinks) and patients (Sukhum et al., 2022).



Figure 1.2. Diagram demonstrating potential sources of microorganisms to the sink environment. Microorganisms from the outdoor environment could enter the sink through passive movement of air depending on how enclosed the surrounding environment. Further tap water could directly contribute microorganism to the P-trap. Other inputs such as soap or improper disposal of biological fluids, are potential sources, as well as providing additional nutrients to the microbial communities established in the P-trap. Human-associated microorganisms could be introduced into the P-trap through washing of hands, additionally humans can transport microorganisms from environments previously in contact with. The behaviours of human occupants could influence the composition of microorganisms, i.e. inappropriate use of sinks, temperature used for hand washing. All these sources could contribute to the P-trap serving as a microbial reservoir which can spread horizontally and vertically along connecting pipes. The red arrows show a possible route of transmission of microorganism from the P-trap; upon supply of tap water, microorganisms could spread to the surrounding surfaces or onto the hands of users.

Methods to eradicate or control microorganisms associated with clinical outbreaks include disinfectant with sodium hypochlorite and replacement of contaminated sinks. In ICUs this has been

shown to reduce infection rates, but bacteria can reside further down the system and reappear despite installation of new sinks (Hota et al., 2009; Stjärne Aspelund et al., 2016). Removal of all horizontal drainage systems can help to fully eradicate an outbreak (Vergara-López et al., 2013). Other cases of elimination using replacement and disinfection have had success on Carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii (CRAB) (La Forgia et al., 2010; Landelle et al., 2013). In a neonatal ICU, after implementation of intensified environmental cleaning, sink management protocol, sink dismantling and sodium hypochlorite soaking, CRAB was no longer isolated (Woon et al., 2023). Several studies have suggested pouring liquid disinfectants alone, may have a transient effect due to inadequate contact time in a fluidic system, therefore disinfectants might not penetrate the biofilms adequately (Carling, 2018; Kizny Gordon et al., 2017; Parkes & Hota, 2018). Instilling devices such as a stop valve or urinary catheter balloons alongside disinfectant, to allow for increased contact time with pipes, reduced colonisation for several days whereas, without these devices reduction was transient (Cadnum et al., 2019; Jones et al., 2019). These studies do not investigate how the communities changed, and which bacterial taxa could be more tolerant to disinfectant. Moreover, other chemical treatments, i.e., formalin, acetic acid, Virox and foaming hydrogen peroxide have been implemented and been effective in controlling outbreaks or reducing microbial load (Buchan et al., 2019; Jones et al., 2020; Lowe et al., 2012; Smolders et al., 2019; Stjärne Aspelund et al., 2016; Wolf et al., 2014). In a study using a drain biofilm model, sodium hypochlorite was partially effective, as bacterial growth reoccurred within 4 days, agreeing with the previous studies suggesting liquid disinfectants have a temporary affect. Other interventions installed sink drain plugs as a physical barrier against splashing. Reduction in the target microorganism was observed after installation and particularly in the sink basin the microorganism was rarely cultured. Self-disinfecting sinks are also efficient at reducing bacterial load (de Jonge et al., 2019; Fusch et al., 2015). By cyclically heating up to high temperatures they can reduce transmission. However, purchase and installation of these have additional costs; a cheaper alternative of pouring boiling water down the sink reduced bacterial load but self-disinfecting sinks were significantly more efficient (Gideskog et al., 2023). Further engineered sinks that decontaminate the P-trap using UV and regularly rinsing with ozonated water showed to decrease levels of bacterial and fungal contamination in the P-trap compared to initial levels (Cole & Talmadge, 2019). Often improper disposal of clinical waste down handwashing sinks has been associated with the outbreaks, so alongside other eradication measures, education and guidelines for sink management and practices need to be established for long-term control (Lowe et al., 2012; Woon et al., 2023).

Sink design facilitates the spread of pathogens in two main ways, firstly by promoting biofilm formation and secondly by encouraging disruption of established biofilms. Studies have suggested

aerosols are the primary dispersion route for microorganisms. However, these claims are based on rudimentary findings (Fusch et al., 2015; Hota et al., 2009). More extensive research has shown that bacteria cannot aerosolise from sink P-traps and disperse but, can upon tap use be spread to surrounding area via large droplet size particles (Kotay et al., 2019). Dispersal from beneath strainer to sink bowl then onto users can occur by splashing of flowing water (Hajar et al., 2019). Equipment within 2m from a sink can be at risk of potential contamination and faster water velocity of water exiting the tap results in a larger "splash zone" (Garvey et al., 2023). Taps that directly flow into the drain may increase the risk of microorganism's dispersal (Aranega-Bou et al., 2019; Hota et al., 2009) as well as shallow bowls are more likely to disperse microorganisms just below the strainer (Gestrich et al., 2018). Material of pipes can influence bacterial counts, for example copper water pipes have been shown to reduce bacterial counts compared to PVC (Learbuch et al., 2021). These findings suggest that rethinking or modifying sink design could reduce the risk for dissemination of potentially harmful microorganisms from sinks and their traps.

Studies of sinks outside a hospital are very limited, particularly those that directly investigate the sink P-trap microbial communities. Surfaces of kitchen sinks have been studied using predominately culture-based approaches and some include 16S rRNA sequencing (Borrusso & Quinlan, 2017; Flores et al., 2013; Mcbain et al., 2003; Moen et al., 2015, 2023). *Morexellaceae, Micrococcaceae, Streptococcaceae,* and *Enterobacteriaceae* were bacterial taxa identified as dominate in household kitchen sinks (Moen et al., 2015, 2023). Other studies have specifically investigated fungi isolated from domestic bathroom sink drains (Hamada & Abe, 2010; Short, 2011). Mostafa and colleagues cultured bacteria from public female restrooms including sink surfaces (Mostafa & Sabra, 2013). However, by only using culture-based techniques, the study is limited to only identifying culturable microorganisms. Additionally, the study only focused on female restrooms from buildings identical in design.

Overall, there is a clear lack of research regarding public restrooms sink microbial communities. The studies of hospital sinks have shown the importance of sinks as a reservoir of pathogens and AMR genes and the challenges with eradiating pathogenic outbreaks. As well as the long-term persistence of resistance-conferring plasmids in unrelated hosts in the sink environment. In buildings such as hospitals, there is more risk for immunocompromised and vulnerable people and the behaviours relating to sink usage i.e., improper use, may shape the microbial community to be more resilient and resistant. In public buildings where, sinks may not experience the same practices as in hospitals but are exposed to variety of occupants and their activities, identifying the prevalence and abundance of associated microbial taxa is yet to be established. Considering the health concerns associated with

19

hospital sinks, the microbial communities of sinks within public non-clinical buildings should be investigated. Therefore, the microbial community of a "healthy" sink can be established and the potential implications on the human occupants of the public buildings be considered.

1.3 Review of Methodologies

The ability to investigate and understand the composition, dynamics and resilience of complex microbial communities inhabiting diverse environments has improved significantly in recent years. Microbiology as a distinct science dates to 1857, when Louis Pasteur demonstrated that formation of fluids was due to microorganism (Opal, 2010). Since then, the field of modern microbiology launched and over a century later the first bacterium was sequenced (Fleischmann et al., 1995). The traditional method of culturing provides a semiguantitative enumeration of viable cells but, is often timeconsuming and further biochemical, serological or molecular genetics methods are required to confirm the species. Advances in modern molecular techniques such as DNA sequencing and data analysis now offer unparalleled insights into the composition and dynamics of microbial communities as well as overcoming the limitations of culture-based analysis. Culture-based limitations include only viable cells being represented, preferential selection of fast-growing microorganisms (Posten & Cooney, 1993) and only confirming microorganisms capable of growing on the selected medium (Amann et al., 1995). Additionally, cultivation cannot quantify microorganisms in the viable but nonculturable state, which is of concern as these organisms can be pathogens (Ramamurthy et al., 2014). Due to these limitations most bacterial and archaeal taxa remain uncultured (Steen et al., 2019) as culturing may be ineffective at identifying novel or unculturable microorganism. Furthermore, the diversity and scale of environmental microorganisms are massively underrepresented in culture-based studies and extraordinarily abundant microorganisms found in diverse habitats may only be very remotely related to any strains that have been previously isolated and characterized (Staley and Konopka, 1985; Rappe and Giovannoni, 2003). To overcome the limitations and problems associated with culturing, culture-independent molecular methods can be used.

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) technology enables high-throughput parallel sequencing of DNA and has resulted in a flood of sequencing data (Thompson et al., 2017). NGS can include metabarcoding, whole metagenome and metatranscriptome sequencing. These methods can provide information on the presence, abundance, or function of genes of microorganisms from environmental or clinical samples. Metabarcoding also known as short gene marker or amplicon sequencing is often

20

Chapter 1

the method of choice for studies investigating microbiomes due to usability, affordability and providing a high-level but low-resolution overview. Metabarcoding involves targeting a specific region of interest, known as the marker genes with primers. Marker genes are conserved genes containing a highly variable region flanked by highly conserved regions (Knight et al., 2018). The most frequently targeted genes for molecular analysis are those which encode for the small subunit ribosomal RNA molecule (herein, 16S rRNA for prokaryotes and 18S rRNA for eukaryotes) and the internal transcribed spacer regions (ITS) for fungi. The variable regions allow for taxonomic identification (Janda & Abbott, 2007) and the flanking conserved regions allow for design of universal primers e.g. that can be used to amplify the 16S rRNA across all prokaryotes. For example, the 16S rRNA gene is approximately 1500 base pairs long and comprised of nine hypervariable regions (V1-V9), commonly only one or two regions are selected for sequencing due to constraints of number of base pairs able to be sequenced on an Illumina platform. Dependent upon the region selected, certain bacterial genera can be underrepresented or missing therefore selection of appropriate V-region for sample of interest is essential (Abellan-Schneyder et al., 2021). This is true in the case of other regions of interest, for example dependent upon ITS region (ITS1 or ITS2) selected there can be differences in fungal community profiles (Blaalid et al., 2013; Mbareche et al., 2020). For prokaryotes, the V4, V5, V6 regions of the 16S rRNA gene are recognised as highly conserved and can provide accurate classifications of organisms at higher levels which is useful for unknown microbial communities (Bukin et al., 2019). Metabarcoding is well tested, quick, and cost-effective, making it applicable for many different studies and sample types (Caporaso et al., 2010; Thompson et al., 2017). Due to its usability, there are large existing public data sets (i.e., Human Microbiome Project, Earth Microbiome Project) that can be used in conjunction with other investigations. Additionally, metabarcoding works well for low-biomass samples and samples contaminated with host DNA. However, targeting isolated genomic DNA (gDNA) in this way does not differentiate between dead, inactive or active cells. It has been demonstrated recently that the majority of gDNA present in the BE is composed of dead cells or those with a compromised cell membrane (Vaishampayan et al., 2013). Additionally, the method is subject to biases. Firstly, amplification biases, as the number of amplification PCR cycles increases the diversity may be affected due to reannealing of major PCR products becoming more probable than primer binding as PCR proceeds (Bonnet et al., 2002; Suzuki & Giovannoni, 1996). Secondly, bias arises from choice of primers as primers are specific to a region in the sequence and do not have equal affinity for all possible DNA sequences (Albertsen et al., 2015; Hong et al., 2009; Walker et al., 2015). Bias can be mitigated by optimising primer selection but a priori knowledge of the microbial community is required. Metabarcoding resolution can be limited to genus level or higher taxonomic levels, dependent upon choice of taxa, gene, primers, choice of identification database and quality of sequencing run. In some experiments resolution is better than genus but, often distinguishing between closely related prokaryotic strains is limited (Jovel et al., 2016; Lan et al., 2016). Functional information is limited and much better characterised in whole metagenome studies (Aßhauer et al., 2015).

Whole metagenomic sequencing or shotgun sequencing obtains a more detailed resolution such as strain-level (Heilbronner et al., 2011; Roetzer et al., 2013) and as stated can provide information on molecular functions. Specific functional pathways in samples can be determined at gene level providing insight into the functional capacity of an entire community (Aßhauer et al., 2015). In contrast to metabarcoding a greater depth of information is achieved as all microbial genomes within a sample can be captured, including viral and eukaryotic DNA without the need for targeting different marker genes. Additionally, there are no PCR related biases, and the method can provide an accurate estimate of growth dynamics of the microbiota (Korem et al., 2015). Novel genomes can be mined from metagenomic datasets which increases the availability of taxonomic data (Sangwan et al., 2016). However, in comparison to metabarcoding, whole metagenomic sequencing is relatively expensive, more complex, requires demanding bioinformatic processes and is limited by sequencing depth. Moreover, contamination from host-derived DNA can occur and shotgun sequencing is rendered inefficient with low biomass samples (Fuks et al., 2018). Similarly, to metabarcoding, there is no discrimination between live, dead or active microorganisms, and computational analysis and assigning taxonomic classification is largely dependent upon reference microbial genomes. Regarding bacterial genomes, the database is expanding, but contains around an order of magnitude less sequences than 16S rRNA gene databases (Fuks et al., 2018). Consequently, species may be missed when analysing shotgun/whole metagenomic sequences since its genome is currently not in a database.

High-throughput short-read sequencing such as those mentioned above have been the methods of choice for many years, but they are limited to the size of the library so, can fail to resolve larger repeat regions (Sereika et al., 2022). In metagenomic samples this can be particularly problematic as they can often contain related species of strains with near-identical long sequences of DNA. Long-read sequencing can overcome this, providing species level of identification of complex bacterial communities i.e., full length 16S rRNA (Matsuo et al., 2021). When constructing metagenome-assembled genomes (MAGs), from short-read metagenomics they can be highly fragmented even with high-quality MAGs (Liu et al., 2020). Long-reads generated on Nanopore or PacBio platforms can bridge genome gaps as well as help with detecting complex structural variants like large inversions or translocations (Mantere et al., 2019). A hybrid assembly of both short- and long-read can enable reference-quality genome reconstruction from diverse microbiomes (Bertrand et al., 2019; Jin et al.,

2022; Singleton et al., 2021). Although PacBio HiFi reads can generate near-finished microbial genomes from pure cultures or metagenomes due to its high accuracy (> 99%), cost per base is high making it economically unfeasible (Bickhart et al., 2022; Feng et al., 2022). Whereas Oxford Nanopore Technologies (ONT) developed Nanopore sequencing, which is more accessible, rapid, and affordable for many research labs (Gorzynski et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2022). Nanopore sequencing has previously experienced difficulties with fully characterising long homopolymer regions and having higher error rates (Delahaye & Nicolas, 2021) but with the release of new technologies (R10.4), ONT have enabled generation of complete bacterial and plasmid genomes without the need for short-read sequencing (Sanderson et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2023). Reference-quality genomes from complex metagenomes using only nanopore long reads can now be obtained (Liu et al., 2022). This massively opens up the black box of uncultured microorganisms as begins to provide genome-level insights of organisms that cannot be isolated, therefore expanding the tree of life (Hug et al., 2016).

For determining gene expression and functional output of microbial communities' metatranscriptomics can be applied by the sequencing of total RNA (Mann et al., 2018). When this method is paired with amplicon analysis the microorganisms actively transcribing can be identified. This means that only live organisms are identified overcoming a concern of the previous sequencing methods, however bias can arise towards organisms with higher rates of transcription. Transcriptomes can reveal microbial responses to changes in the environment e.g., xenobiotic exposure (Maurice et al., 2013). However, it is the most expensive and complex as samples require careful storage to prevent degradation and contaminating host mRNA and rRNA must be removed.

Overall, NGS has revolutionised microbial ecology as a reliance on culture-based surveys limits our understanding of microbial populations. Bioinformatic approaches have improved simultaneously with the growth of larger databases containing reference genomes. The advantages and disadvantages of culture-independent techniques have been discussed and depending on the study and what is being investigated determines the sequencing methods selected. Short-read sequencing such as metabarcoding is an affordable and a powerful tool, useful for larger studies with low biomass samples. Although functional capabilities of communities can get lost when restricted to metabarcoding the efficiency and effectiveness can outweigh the disadvantages. Long-read sequencing is emerging as an alternative or complementary choice for metagenomic studies and is advantageous for resolving taxonomic discrepancies. A combination of short- and long-read sequencing where applicable will greatly enhance many microbiome studies. Further additional high throughput "omics" approaches to study microbial proteins and metabolic products provide valuable information on species present and their activities. When possible, efforts should be made to combine

Chapter 1

culture-independent and culture-dependent techniques, alongside use of computer modelling and collection of environmental metadata. Together this will increase our knowledge about the microbial communities and their activities within the BE. As well as the implications of microbial interactions with occupants on both, their microbiome and health, and other the microorganisms within the BE.

1.4 Thesis Outline

The general objectives of this thesis were to investigate the microbial communities of P-traps found in public restrooms, to evaluate how they develop and react to perturbations, and how these microbial communities could potentially affect us. We hypothesize that sink microbial communities will reflect microbial sources input into P-traps and that microbes associated with humans will be present. Research into sink traps and other P-trap communities was conducted in-situ to provide results that reflect P-trap communities, under real-world conditions, as wholly as possible with the methodologies available. In this thesis, each chapter advances the knowledge and builds upon the previous, to expand our understanding of P-trap microbial communities. Described below are the specific features of each chapter:

• Chapter 2: Characterization of Communal Sink Drain Communities of a University Campus

This study addressed three specific aims in order to gain a fundamental understanding of the bacterial communities of sink P-traps found in different public restroom sinks across buildings on a university campus. Firstly, to determine the structure and diversity of bacterial communities in communal sinks across campus and then secondly, to explore if sinks had a core (>70% prevalence) bacterial community. If no core bacteria were present, are bacterial communities influenced by specific buildings or locations and/or restroom gender? The final aim was to ascertain the dominant sources of microorganisms to the university campus sinks. The data collected in this study led to the identification of bacterial taxa, primarily to the family level and the data was used to assess the differences between buildings with varying functions on a university campus. In the context of this thesis this study established a core bacterial community for sinks and demonstrated they are diverse ecosystems, with high variance among some bacterial taxa across individual sinks however, there is commonality in the highly abundant taxa observed across buildings. Further, the results emphasised the importance of humans as a primary contributor of bacteria to the sink P-trap and as such demonstrated the complexity of interactions between humans and sinks.

- Chapter 3: Mycobial Community Assemblages in Sink Drains Across a University Campus Similarly, to the first manuscript, this chapters focuses on characterising microbial communities, specifically identifying the fungal communities in communal sink P-traps. The research questions of this chapter were: Which fungi dominate P-traps, and are they found ubiquitously across all sinks? Additionally, how are mycobial communities structured, and are they influenced by different types of BE? The results elucidated the fungal taxa that dominated in sinks and concurred with previous research into water-associated BEs. Remarkable similarity in the mycobial community was observed across the different university buildings. This could suggest some stability of mycobial communities to perturbations from differing sink usage. Additionally, the external influence of human activities was demonstrated as a common skin commensal was present in many sinks. Overall, the study highlighted the importance of sink P-traps as reservoirs of possible opportunistic pathogenic fungi although the risks may be negligible in non-clinical environments.
- Chapter 4: Longitudinal bacterial community dynamics and sodium hypochlorite intervention in a newly opened university building

Over two years samples were collected from the P-traps of sinks in a newly opened university building to reveal bacterial community dynamics (Phase One). This longitudinal sampling regime was then followed by an intervention study (Phase Two), where sinks were treated with sodium hypochlorite (10% bleach). Specifically in the first phase, we aimed to assess the long-term variations and stability of bacterial communities within restroom sink P-traps and identify the bacterial colonizers. In the second phase of this chapter, we aimed to determine the impact of sodium hypochlorite on bacterial community structure and diversity, and assess the reliance and resistance of these communities. In this chapter the temporal dynamics and development of sink P-trap bacterial communities are explored to reveal formation of a stable microbial community structure but within four weeks communities resemble those of sinks that were left untreated during the study. Understanding sink p-trap community dynamics and resilience to stressors provides meaningful insights to developing disinfection strategies and what constitutes a "healthy" or "normal" sink microbiome.

• Chapter 5: Microbial Landscape of Public Urinals: a 16S rRNA Survey of the Bacterial Communities in Urinal P-traps and the Discovery of Their Most Abundant and Prevalent Species

Alternative P-traps in restrooms could provide a viable environment for microbial proliferation as has been observed in sink P-traps. This study investigates the bacterial

communities found in P-traps of urinals from restrooms across a university campus as well as a central train station. Similarly to Chapter 2 and 3, the research aims were to provide insight into bacterial community composition of urinal P-traps and to analyse the effect of building on bacterial populations. Further, to identify the core bacterial family and genera and whether human-associated bacterial signatures, especially those related to the urogenital tract or urine, are reflected in P-traps? Despite the increased levels of ammonia and low nutrients in urinals, the sequencing data showed that some bacterial taxa are able to dominate in this environment and are found across a variety of buildings. In contrast to sinks P-traps, urinals P-traps were much more variable in their community structure. However, like sinks, the bacterial taxa observed had could be associated with humans, particularly urine. A comprehensive examination of urinal P-trap communities generates insights to built environment niches that are potentially unnoticed but still could pose a health risk.

Together, this research aims to provide a comprehensive view of the composition, dynamics, and resilience of microbial communities found in university restroom P-traps.

1.4.1 Additional Research

Provided at the end of the thesis is research that is outside the scope of the main thesis aims but offers extra insight into technologies available. The work was performed alongside the main body of research.

• Chitinophaga spargani sp. nov., isolated from rhizosphere of Sparganium erectum

With the array of sequencing technologies accessible today, identifying and isolating novel bacterial species is possible. In this section, a novel species was isolated from the rhizosphere of *Sparganium erectum* and the whole genome sequenced and assembled using a hybrid approach; short- and long-read sequencing. Methodologies used in the chapter could be applied to other environments such as the sink or urinal P-trap. Mining novel species of bacteria can lead to identification of potentially novel metabolic products and antibiotics, as well as understanding the functionality of bacteria around us and how we could mitigate their proliferation and dissemination if required.

1.5 References

- Abellan-Schneyder, I., Matchado, M. S., Reitmeier, S., Sommer, A., Sewald, Z., Baumbach, J., List, M.,
 & Neuhaus, K. (2021). Primer, Pipelines, Parameters: Issues in 16S rRNA Gene Sequencing. *MSphere*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/msphere.01202-20
- Adams, R. I., Bhangar, S., Pasut, W., Arens, E. A., Taylor, J. W., Lindow, S. E., Nazaroff, W. W., & Bruns,
 T. D. (2015). Chamber Bioaerosol Study: Outdoor Air and Human Occupants as Sources of Indoor
 Airborne Microbes. *PLoS ONE, 10*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128022
- Adams, R. I., Lymperopoulou, D. S., Misztal, P. K., De Cassia Pessotti, R., Behie, S. W., Tian, Y., Goldstein,
 A. H., Lindow, S. E., Nazaroff, W. W., Taylor, J. W., Traxler, M. F., & Bruns, T. D. (2017). Microbes and associated soluble and volatile chemicals on periodically wet household surfaces. *Microbiome*, *5*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-017-0347-6
- Adams, R. I., Miletto, M., Lindow, S. E., Taylor, J. W., & Bruns, T. D. (2014). Airborne Bacterial Communities in Residences: Similarities and Differences with Fungi. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(3), 91283. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091283
- Adams, R. I., Miletto, M., Taylor, J. W., & Bruns, T. D. (2013). Dispersal in microbes: Fungi in indoor air are dominated by outdoor air and show dispersal limitation at short distances. *The ISME Journal*, 7(7), 1262–1273. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.28
- Afshinnekoo, E., Meydan, C., Chowdhury, S., Jaroudi, D., Boyer, C., Bernstein, N., Maritz, J. M., Reeves, D., Gandara, J., Chhangawala, S., Ahsanuddin, S., Simmons, A., Nessel, T., Sundaresh, B., Pereira, E., Jorgensen, E., Kolokotronis, S. O., Kirchberger, N., Garcia, I., Gandara, D., Dhanraj, S., Nawrin, T., Saletore, Y., Alexander, N., Vijay, P., Hénaff, E. M., Zumbo, P., Walsh, M., O'Mullan, G. D., Tighe, S., Dudley, J. T., Dunaif, A., Ennis, S., O'Halloran, E., Magalhaes, T. R., Boone, B., Jones, A. L., Muth, T. R., Paolantonio, K. S., Alter, E., Schadt, E. E., Garbarino, J., Prill, R. J., Carlton, J. M., Levy, S., & Mason, C. E. (2015) Geospatial Resolution of Human and Bacterial Diversity with City-Scale Metagenomics. *Cell Systems, 1*(1), 72-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2015.01.001
- Aiello, A. E. & Larson, E. (2003). Antibacterial cleaning and hygiene products as an emerging risk factor for antibiotic resistance in the community. *Lancet Infectious Diseases, 3*(8), 501–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(03)00723-0
- Albertsen, M., Karst, S. M., Ziegler, A. S., Kirkegaard, R. H., & Nielsen, H. (2015). Back to Basics-The Influence of DNA Extraction and Primer Choice on Phylogenetic Analysis of Activated Sludge Communities. *Plos ONE, 10*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132783

- Amann, R. I., Ludwig, W., & Schleifer, K.-H. (1995). Phylogenetic Identification and In Situ Detection of Individual Microbial Cells without Cultivation. *Microbiological Reviews*, 59(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/mr.59.1.143-169.1995
- Amend, A. S., Seifert, K. A., Samson, R., Bruns, T. D., & Lindow, S. E. (2010). Indoor fungal composition is geographically patterned and more diverse in temperate zones than in the tropics. *PNAS*, 107(31). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000454107
- Apanga, P. A., Ahmed, J., Tanner, W., Starcevich, K., VanDerslice, J. A., Rehman, U., Channa, N., Benson,
 S., & Garn, J. V. (2022). Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in sink drains of 40 healthcare
 facilities in Sindh, Pakistan: A cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE, 17*(2 February).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263297
- Aranega-Bou, P., Ellaby, N., Ellington, M. J., & Moore, G. (2021). Migration of escherichia coli and klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase (KPC)-producing enterobacter cloacae through wastewater pipework and establishment in hospital sink waste traps in a laboratory model system. *Microorganisms*, 9(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9091868
- Aranega-Bou, P., George, R. P., Verlander, N. Q., Paton, S., Bennett, A., Moore, G., Aiken, Z., Akinremi,
 O., Ali, A., Cawthorne, J., Cleary, P., Crook, D. W., Decraene, V., Dodgson, A., Doumith, M.,
 Ellington, M., Eyre, D. W., George, R. P., Grimshaw, J., ... Woodford, N. (2019). Carbapenemresistant Enterobacteriaceae dispersal from sinks is linked to drain position and drainage rates
 in a laboratory model system. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 102*(1), 63–69.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHIN.2018.12.007
- Arango-Argoty, G. A., Dai, D., Pruden, A., Vikesland, P., Heath, L. S., & Zhang L. (2019). NanoARG: a web service for detecting and contextualizing antimicrobial resistance genes from nanoporederived metagenomes. *Microbiome*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0703-9
- Arundel, A. V, Sterling, E. M., Biggin, J. H., & Sterling, T. D. (1986). Indirect Health Effects of Relative Humidity in Indoor Environments. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 65, 351-361. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8665351
- Ashbolt, N. J. (2015). Environmental (saprozoic) pathogens of engineered water systems: Understanding their ecology for risk assessment and management. *Pathogens*, 4(2), 390–405. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens4020390
- Aßhauer, K. P., Wemheuer, B., Daniel, R., & Meinicke, P. (2015). Tax4Fun: predicting functional profiles
 from metagenomic 16S rRNA data. *Bioinformatics, 31*(17), 2882–2884.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btv287
- Ayliffe, G. A. J., Collins, B. J., Babb, J. R., Lowbury, E. J. L., & Newsom, S. W. B. (1974). Pseudomonas aeruginosa in Hospital Sinks. *The Lancet, 304*(7880), 578–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(74)91893-5
- Balasubramanian, R., Nainar, P., & Rajasekar, A. (2012). Airborne bacteria, fungi, and endotoxin levels
 in residential microenvironments: A case study. *Aerobiologia*, 28(3), 375–390.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10453-011-9242-y
- Barberán, A., Dunn, R. R., Reich, B. J., Pacifici, K., Laber, E. B., Menninger, H. L., Morton, J. M., Henley, J. B., Leff, J. W., Miller, S. L., & Fierer, N. (2015a). The ecology of microscopic life in household dust. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282*(1814). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1139
- Barberán, A., Ladau, J., Leff, J. W., Pollard, K. S., Menninger, H. L., Dunn, R. R., & Fierer, N. (2015b).
 Continental-scale distributions of dust-associated bacteria and fungi. *PNAS*, *112*(18), 5756–5761.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1420815112
- Baron, J. L., Vikram, A., Duda, S., Stout, J. E., & Bibby, K. (2014). Shift in the Microbial Ecology of a Hospital Hot Water System following the Introduction of an On-Site Monochloramine Disinfection System. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(7), 102679. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102679
- Becher R, Øvrevik J, Schwarze PE, Nilsen S, Hongslo JK, Bakke JV. Do Carpets Impair Indoor Air Quality and Cause Adverse Health Outcomes: A Review. (2018) *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(2), 184. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15020184.
- Bédard, E., Prévost, M., & Déziel, E. (2016). Pseudomonas aeruginosa in premise plumbing of large buildings. *MicrobiologyOpen*, 5(6), 937–956. https://doi.org/10.1002/MBO3.391
- Bej, A. K., Saul, D., & Aislabie, J. (2000). Cold-tolerant alkane-degrading Rhodococcus species from Antarctica. *Polar Biology*, 23, 100–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003000050014
- Berg, G., Mahnert, A. & Moissl-Eichinger, C. (2014). Beneficial effects of plant-associated microbes on indoor microbiomes and human health? *Frontiers in Microbiology, 5*(15). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00015

- Berg, G., Rybakova, D., Fischer, D. et al. Microbiome definition re-visited: old concepts and new challenges. (2020). *Microbiome* 8(103). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-020-00875-0
- Berry, D., Xi, C., & Raskin, L. (2006). Microbial ecology of drinking water distribution systems. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, *17*(3), 297–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2006.05.007
- Bertrand, D., Shaw, J., Kalathiyappan, M., Ng, A. H. Q., Kumar, M. S., Li, C., Dvornicic, M., Soldo, J. P., Koh, J. Y., Tong, C., Ng, O. T., Barkham, T., Young, B., Marimuthu, K., Chng, K. R., Sikic, M., & Nagarajan, N. (2019). Hybrid metagenomic assembly enables high-resolution analysis of resistance determinants and mobile elements in human microbiomes. *Nature Biotechnology, 37*(8), 937–944. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0191-2Bhullar, K., Waglechner, N., Pawlowski, A., Koteva, K., Banks, E. D., Johnston, M. D., Barton, H. A., & Wright, G. D. (2012). Antibiotic resistance is prevalent in an isolated cave microbiome. *PLoS ONE, 7*(4), e34953. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034953
- Bickhart, D. M., Kolmogorov, M., Tseng, E., Portik, D. M., Korobeynikov, A., Tolstoganov, I., Uritskiy, G., Liachko, I., Sullivan, S. T., Shin, S. B., Zorea, A., Andreu, V. P., Panke-Buisse, K., Medema, M. H., Mizrahi, I., Pevzner, P. A., & Smith, T. P. L. (2022). Generating lineage-resolved, complete metagenome-assembled genomes from complex microbial communities. *Nature Biotechnology*, 40(5), 711–719. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-021-01130-z
- Blaalid R., Kumar S., Nilsson R. H., Abarenkov K., Kirk P. M., Kauserud H. (2013). ITS1 versus ITS2 as
 DNA metabarcodes for fungi. *Molecular Ecology Resources, Mar;13*(2), 218-24. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12065.
- Bonnet, gis, Suau, A., Gibson, G. R., & Collins, M. D. (2002). Differences in rDNA libraries of faecal bacteria derived from 10-and 25-cycle PCRs. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 52, 757–763. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.01755-0
- Borrusso, P. A., & Quinlan, J. J. (2017). Prevalence of Pathogens and Indicator Organisms in Home Kitchens and Correlation with Unsafe Food Handling Practices and Conditions. *Journal of Food Protection, 80*(4), 590–597. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-16-354
- Bouillard, L., Michel, O., Dramaix, M., & Devleeschouwer, M. (2005). Bacterial Contamination of Indoor
 Air, Surfaces, and Settled Dust, and Related Dust Endotoxin Concentrations in Healthy Office
 Buildings. Annals of agricultural and environmental medicine: AAEM, 12(2), 187–192.
 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/bacterial-contamination-indoor-air surfaces/docview/2575486903/se-2?accountid=13460

- Bourdin, T., Benoit, M.-È., Monnier, A., Bédard, E., Prévost, M., Charron, D., Audy, N., Gravel, S., Sicard,
 M., Quach, C., Déziel, E., & Constant, P. (2023). Serratia marcescens Colonization in a Neonatal
 Intensive Care Unit Has Multiple Sources, with Sink Drains as a Major Reservoir. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 89*(5). https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00105-23
- Bowers, R. M., Mcletchie, S., Knight, R., & Fierer, N. (2010). Spatial variability in airborne bacterial communities across land-use types and their relationship to the bacterial communities of potential source environments. *The ISME Journal*, 5, 601–612. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2010.167
- Bowers, R. M., Sullivan, A. P., Costello, E. K., Collett, J. L., Knight, R., & Fierer, N. (2011). Sources of Bacteria in Outdoor Air across Cities in the Midwestern United States. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(18), 6350–6356. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.05498-11
- Boyle, M. A., Kearney, A. D., Sawant, B., & Humphreys, H. (2020). Assessing the impact of handwashing soaps on the population dynamics of carbapenemase-producing and non-carbapenemase-producing Enterobacterales. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 105*(4), 678–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHIN.2020.04.037
- Bragoszewska, E., & Biedroń, I. (2018). Indoor air quality and potential health risk impacts of exposure to antibiotic resistant bacteria in an office rooms in southern Poland. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15112604
- Brągoszewska E, Mainka, A., Pastuszka, J. S., Bragoszewska, E., Pl, E. B., & Pastuszka, J. (2017).
 Concentration and Size Distribution of Culturable Bacteria in Ambient Air during Spring and
 Winter in Gliwice: A Typical Urban Area. Atmosphere, 8(239).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos8120239
- Brodie, E. L., Desantis, T. Z., Parker, J. P. M., Zubietta, I. X., Piceno, Y. M., & Andersen, G. L. (2007).
 Urban aerosols harbor diverse and dynamic bacterial populations. *PNAS*, 104(1), 299–304.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0608255104
- Brumfieldid, K. D., Hasan, N. A., Leddyid, M. B., Cotruvo, J. A., Rashed, S. M., Colwellid, R. R., & Huq,
 A. (2020). A comparative analysis of drinking water employing metagenomics. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(4),
 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231210
- Bruno, A., Agostinetto, G., Fumagalli, S., Ghisleni, G., & Sandionigi, A. (2022). It's a Long Way to the Tap: Microbiome and DNA-Based Omics at the Core of Drinking Water Quality. *International*

Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(7940). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19137940

- Buchan, B. W., Arvan, J. A., Graham, M. B., Tarima, S., Faron, M. L., Nanchal, R., & Munoz-Price, L. S. (2019). Effectiveness of a hydrogen peroxide foam against bleach for the disinfection of sink drains. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 40*(6), 724–726. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2019.72
- Buffet-Bataillon, S., Tattevin, P., Maillard, J. Y., Bonnaure-Mallet, M., & Jolivet-Gougeon, A. (2016).
 Efflux pump induction by quaternary ammonium compounds and fluoroquinolone resistance in bacteria. *Future Microbiology*, *11*(1), 81-92. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.15.131
- Bukin, Y. S., Galachyants, Y. P., Morozov, I. V., Bukin, S. V., Zakharenko, A. S., & Zemskaya, T. I. (2019).
 The effect of 16s rRNA region choice on bacterial community metabarcoding results. *Scientific Data*, *6*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2019.7
- Cadnum, J. L., Livingston, S. H., Gestrich, S. A., Jencson, A. L., Wilson, B. M., & Donskey, C. J. (2019).
 Use of a stop valve to enhance disinfectant exposure may improve sink drain disinfection.
 Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 40(2), 254–256.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2018.318
- Cao, L., Yang, L., Swanson, C. S., Li, S., & He, Q. (2021). Comparative analysis of impact of human occupancy on indoor microbiomes. *Frontiers of Environmental Science and Engineering*, 15(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-020-1383-1
- Caporaso, J. G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F. D., Costello, E. K., Fierer, N., Gonzalez Peña, A., Goodrich, J. K., Gordon, J. I., Huttley, G. A., Kelley, S. T., Knights, D., Koenig, J. E., Ley, R. E., Lozupone, C. A., Mcdonald, D., Muegge, B. D., Pirrung, M., ... Knight, R. (2010). QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nature Methods*, 7(5), 335–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.f.303
- Carling, P. C. (2018). Wastewater drains: Epidemiology and interventions in 23 carbapenem-resistant organism outbreaks. Proceedings of the International Astronomical Union, 39(8), 972–979. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2018.138
- Cave, R., Misra, R., Chen, J., Wang, S., & Mkrtchyan, H. V. (2019). Whole genome sequencing revealed new molecular characteristics in multidrug resistant staphylococci recovered from high frequency touched surfaces in London. *Scientific Reports, 9*(1), 9637. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45886-6

- Chandler, C. I. R. (2019). Current accounts of antimicrobial resistance: stabilisation, individualisation and antibiotics as infrastructure. *Palgrave Communications*, 5(1), 53. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-019-0263-4
- Chang, Y., Chusri, S., Sangthong, R., McNeil, E., Hu, J., Du, W., Li, D., Fan, X., Zhou, H., Chongsuvivatwong, V., & Tang, L. (2019). Clinical pattern of antibiotic overuse and misuse in primary healthcare hospitals in the southwest of China. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(6), e0214779. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214779
- Chao, Y., Ma, L., Yang, Y., Ju, F., Zhang, X.-X., Wu, W.-M., & Zhang, T. (2013). Metagenomic analysis reveals significant changes of microbial compositions and protective functions during drinking water treatment. *Scientific Reports, 3*(03550). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep03550
- Chase, J., Fouquier, J., Zare, M., Sonderegger, D. L., Knight, R., Kelley, S. T., Siegel, J., Gregory Caporaso,
 J., & Chase, C. J. (2016). Geography and Location Are the Primary Drivers of Office Microbiome
 Composition. *MSystems*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00022-16
- Cho, E. M., Hong, H. J., Park, S. H., Yoon, D. K., Goung, S. J. N., & Lee, C. M. (2019). Distribution and influencing factors of airborne bacteria in public facilities used by pollution-sensitive population:
 A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16091483
- Ciesielski, C. A., Blaser, M. J., Wang4', W.-L. L., Shands, K. N., Ho, J. L., Gorman, G. W., Meyer, R. D.,
 Edelstein, P. H., Finegold, S. M., & Fraser, D. W. (1984). Role of Stagnation and Obstruction of
 Water Flow in Isolation of Legionella pneumophila from Hospital Plumbing. Applied and
 Environmental Microbiology, 48(5). https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.48.5.984-987.1984
- Cole, J., & Desphande, J. (2019). Poultry farming, climate change, and drivers of antimicrobial resistance in India. *Lancet Planet Health*, *3*(12), e494-e495. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(19)30236-0
- Coil, D. A., Neches, R. Y., Lang, J. M., Jospin, G., Brown, W. E., Hampton-marcell, J., Gilbert, J. A., & Corresp, J. A. E. (2019). Bacterial communities associated with cell phones and shoes. *PeerJ*, 9(e9235). https://doi.org/10.7287/peerj.preprints.27514v1
- Conceição, T., Diamantino, F., Coelho, C., de Lencastre, H., & Aires-de-Sousa, M. (2013).
 Contamination of public buses with MRSA in Lisbon, Portugal: a possible transmission route of major MRSA clones within the community. *PLoS ONE, 8*(11), e77812. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077812

- Cole, K., & Talmadge, J. E. (2019). Mitigation of microbial contamination from waste water and aerosolization by sink design. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 103(2), 193–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHIN.2019.05.011
- Dai, D., Rhoads, W. J., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2018). Shotgun Metagenomics Reveals Taxonomic and Functional Shifts in Hot water microbiome due to temperature setting and stagnation. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9(NOV), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02695
- Danko, D., Bezdan, D., Afshin, E. E., Ahsanuddin, S., Bhattacharya, C., Butler, D. J., Chng, K. R., Donnellan, D., Hecht, J., Jackson, K., Kuchin, K., Karasikov, M., Lyons, A., Mak, L., Meleshko, D., Mustafa, H., Mutai, B., Neches, R. Y., Ng, A., Nikolayeva, O., Nikolayeva, T., Png, E., Ryon, K. A., Sanchez, J. L., Shaaban, H., Sierra, M. A., Thomas, D., Young, B., Abudayyeh, O. O., Alicea, J., Bhattacharyya, M., Blekhman, R., Castro-Nallar, E., Cañas, A. M., Chatziefthimiou, A. D., Crawford, R. W., De Filippis, F., Deng, Y., Desnues, C., Dias-Neto, E., Dybwad, M., Elhaik, E., Ercolini, D., Frolova, A., Gankin, D., Gootenberg, J. S., Graf, A. B., Green, D. C., Hajirasouliha, I., Hastings, J. J. A., Hernandez, M., Iraola, G., Jang, S., Kahles, A., Kelly, F. J., Knights, K., Kyrpides, N. C., Łabaj, P. P., Lee, P. K. H., Leung, M. H. Y., Ljungdahl, P. O., Mason-Buck, G., McGrath, K., Meydan, C., Mongodin, E. F., Moraes, M. O., Nagarajan, N., Nieto-Caballero, M., Noushmehr, H., Oliveira, M., Ossowski, S., Osuolale, O. O., Özcan, O., Paez-Espino, D., Rascovan, N., Richard, H., Rätsch, G., Schriml, L. M., Semmler, T., Sezerman, O. U., Shi, L., Shi, T., Siam, R., Song, L. H., Suzuki, H., Court, D. S., Tighe, S. W., Tong, X., Udekwu, K. I., Ugalde, J. A., Valentine, B., Vassilev, D. I., Vayndorf, E. M., Velavan, T. P., Wu, J., Zambrano, M. M., Zhu, J., Zhu, S., Mason, C. E., & International MetaSUB Consortium. A global metagenomic map of urban microbiomes and antimicrobial Cell,184(13), 3376-3393.e17. resistance. (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.05.002
- Dannemiller, K. C., Weschler, C. J., & Peccia, J. (2017). Fungal and bacterial growth in floor dust at elevated relative humidity levels. *Indoor Air, 27*(2), 354–363. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12313
- D'Costa, V. M., King, C. E., Kalan, L., Morar, M., Sung, W. W., Schwarz, C., Froese, D., Zazula, G., Calmels,
 F., Debruyne, R., Golding, G. B., Poinar, H. N., & Wright, G. D. (2011). Antibiotic resistance is ancient. *Nature*, 477(7365), 457-61. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10388
- de Jonge, E., de Boer, M. G. J., van Essen, E. H. R., Dogterom-Ballering, H. C. M., & Veldkamp, K. E. (2019). Effects of a disinfection device on colonization of sink drains and patients during a prolonged outbreak of multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa in an intensive care unit. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 102*(1), 70–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2019.01.003

- de Sousa, L. P. (2020). Diversity and dynamics of the bacterial population resident in books from a public library. *Archives of Microbiology, 202*(7), 1663-1668. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-020-01880-5
- Decker, B. K., & Palmore, T. N. (2014). Hospital Water and Opportunities for Infection Prevention. *Current Infectious Disease Reports, 16*(10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-014-0432-y
- Delahaye, C., & Nicolas, J. (2021). Sequencing DNA with nanopores: Troubles and biases. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(10 October). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257521
- Diorio-Toth, L., Wallace, M. A., Farnsworth, C. W., Wang, B., Gul, D., Kwon, J. H., Andleeb, S., Burnham,
 C.-A. D., & Dantas, G. (2023). Intensive care unit sinks are persistently colonized with multidrug resistant bacteria and mobilizable, resistance-conferring plasmids. *MSystems*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00206-23
- Domon, H., Uehara, Y., Oda, M., Seo, H., Kubota, N., & Terao, Y. (2015). Poor survival of Methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus on inanimate objects in the public spaces. *Microbiologyopen*, 5(1), 39-46. https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.308
- Du, P., Du, R., Ren, W., Lu, Z., & Fu, P. (2018). Seasonal variation characteristic of inhalable microbial communities in PM2.5 in Beijing city, China. *Science of the Total Environment, 610–611*, 308–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.097
- Dunn, R. R., Fierer, N., Henley, J. B., Leff, J. W., Menninger, H. L., & Bertilsson, S. (2013). Home Life: Factors Structuring the Bacterial Diversity Found within and between Homes. *PLoS ONE, 8*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0064133Fahimipour, A. K., Ben Mamaar, S., McFarland, A. G., Blaustein, R. A., Chen, J., Glawe, A. J., Kline, J., Green, J. L., Halden, R. U., Van Den Wymelenberg, K., Huttenhower, C., & Hartmann, E. M. (2018). Antimicrobial Chemicals Associate with Microbial Function and Antibiotic Resistance Indoors. *mSystems, 3*(6), e00200-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00200-18
- Falkinham, J. O., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. (2015). Opportunistic premise plumbing pathogens:
 Increasingly important pathogens in drinking water. *Pathogens*, 4(3), 373–386.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens4020373
- Feazel, L. M., Baumgartner, L. K., Peterson, K. L., Frank, D. N., Harris, J. K., & Pace, N. R. (2009). Opportunistic pathogens enriched in showerhead biofilms. *PNAS*, 106(38), 16393-16399. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.090844610

- Feng, X., Cheng, H., Portik, D., & Li, H. (2022). Metagenome assembly of high-fidelity long reads with hifiasm-meta. *Nature Methods*, 19(6), 671–674. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-022-01478-3
- Maurice, C. F., Haiser, H. J., & Turnbaugh, P. T. (2013). Xenobiotics shape the physiology and gene expression of the active human gut microbiome. *Cell*, 152(1-2), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.10.052
- Ferro, A. R., Kopperud, R. J., & Hildemann, L. M. (2004). Elevated personal exposure to particulate matter from human activities in a residence. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 14(1), S34–S40. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jea.7500356
- Fierer, N., Hamady, M., Lauber, C. L., & Knight, R. (2008). The influence of sex, handedness, and washing on the diversity of hand surface bacteria. *PNAS*, 105(46), 17994–17999. www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/
- Fierer, N., Lauber, C. L., Zhou, N., McDonald, D., Costello, E. K., & Knight, R. (2010). Forensic identification using skin bacterial communities. *PNAS*, 107(14), 6477–6481. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1000162107
- Flores, G. E., Bates, S. T., Caporaso, J. G., Lauber, C. L., Leff, J. W., Knight, R., & Fierer, N. (2013). Diversity, distribution and sources of bacteria in residential kitchens. *Environmental Microbiology*, 15(2), 588–596. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12036
- Flores, G. E., Bates, S. T., Knights, D., Lauber, C. L., & Stombaugh, J. (2011). Microbial Biogeography of
 Public Restroom Surfaces. *PLoS ONE, 6*(11), e28132.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028132
- Fleischmann, R. D., Adams, M. D., White, O., Clayton, R. A., Kirkness, E. F., Kerlavage, A. R., Bult, C. J., Tomb, J. F., Dougherty, B. A., & Merrick, J. M. (1995). Whole-genome random sequencing and assembly of Haemophilus influenzae Rd. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 269*(5223), 496–512. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7542800
- Frankel, M., Bekö, G., Timm, M., Gustavsen, S., Hansen, E. W., & Madsen, A. M. (2012). Seasonal variations of indoor microbial exposures and their relation to temperature, relative humidity, and air exchange rate. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(23), 8289–8297. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02069-12
- Fujimura, K. E., Johnson, C. C., Ownby, D. R., Cox, M. J., Brodie, E. L., Havstad MA, S. L., Zoratti, E. M.,Woodcroft, K. J., Bobbitt, K. R., Wegienka, G., Boushey, H. A., & Lynch, S. V. (2010). Man's best

friend? The effect of pet ownership on house dust microbial communities. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *126*(2), 410-412.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.004

- Fuks, G., Elgart, M., Amir, A., Zeisel, A., Turnbaugh, P. J., Soen, Y., & Shental, N. (2018). Combining 16S rRNA gene variable regions enables high-resolution microbial community profiling. *Microbiome*, 6(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0396-x
- Fusch, C., Pogorzelski, D., Main, C., Meyer, C., el Helou, S., & Mertz, D. (2015). Self-disinfecting sink drains reduce the Pseudomonas aeruginosa bioburden in a neonatal intensive care unit. Acta Paediatrica, 104(8). https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.13005
- Garvey, M. I., Williams, N., Gardiner, A., Ruston, C., Wilkinson, M. A. C., Kiernan, M., Walker, J. T., & Holden, E. (2023). The sink splash zone. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 135*, 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2023.01.020
- Gestrich, S. A., Jencson, A. L., Cadnum, J. L., Livingston, S. H., Wilson, B. M., & Donskey, C. J. (2018). A multicenter investigation to characterize the risk for pathogen transmission from healthcare facility sinks. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 39(12), 1467–1469. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2018.191
- Gibbons, S. M. (2016). The Built Environment Is a Microbial Wasteland. *MSystems*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00022-16
- Gibbons, S. M., Schwartz, T., Fouquier, J., Mitchell, M., Sangwan, N., Gilbert, J. A., & Kelley, S. T. (2015).
 Ecological Succession and Viability of Human-Associated Microbiota on Restroom Surfaces.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 81, 765–773. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03117-14
- Gideskog, M., Falkeborn, T., Welander, J., & Melhus, Å. (2023). Source Control of Gram-Negative Bacteria Using Self-Disinfecting Sinks in a Swedish Burn Centre. *Microorganisms, 11*(4), 965. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11040965
- Goh, I., Obbard, J. P., Viswanathan, S., & Huang, Y. (2000). Airborne bacteria and fungal spores in the indoor environment. A case study in Singapore. *Acta Biotechnologica*, 20(1), 67–73. https://doi.org/10.1002/ABIO.370200111
- Góralska, K., Błaszkowska, J., & Dzikowiec, M. (2020). The occurrence of potentially pathogenic filamentous fungi in recreational surface water as a public health risk. *Journal of Water and Health*, *18*(2), 127–144. https://doi.org/10.2166/WH.2020.096

- Gorzynski, J. E., Goenka, S. D., Shafin, K., Jensen, T. D., Fisk, D. G., Grove, M. E., Spiteri, E., Pesout, T., Monlong, J., Baid, G., Bernstein, J. A., Ceresnak, S., Chang, P.-C., Christle, J. W., Chubb, H., Dalton, K. P., Dunn, K., Garalde, D. R., Guillory, J., ... Ashley, E. A. (2022). Ultrarapid Nanopore Genome Sequencing in a Critical Care Setting. *New England Journal of Medicine, 386*(7), 700–702. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2112090
- Green, J. L. (2014). Can bioinformed design promote healthy indoor ecosystems? *Indoor Air, 24*(2), 113–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12090
- Greub, G., & Raoult, D. (2004). Microorganisms Resistant to Free-Living Amoebae. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, *17*(2), 413–433. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.17.2.413-433.2004
- Guo, K., Qian, H., Zhao, D., Ye, J., Zhang, Y., Kan, H., Zhao, Z., Deng, F., Huang, C., Zhao, B., Zeng, X.,
 Sun, Y., Liu, W., Mo, J., Sun, C., Guo, J., & Zheng, X. (2020). Indoor exposure levels of bacteria and
 fungi in residences, schools, and offices in China: A systematic review. *Indoor Air, 30*(6), 1147–
 1165. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12734
- Gupta, Lee, Bisesi, & Lee. (2019). Indoor Microbiome and Antibiotic Resistance on Floor Surfaces: An Exploratory Study in Three Different Building Types. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(21), 4160. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214160
- Haas, D., Habib, J., Galler, H., Buzina, W., Schlacher, R., Marth, E., & Reinthaler, F. F. (2007). Assessment of indoor air in Austrian apartments with and without visible mold growth. *Atmospheric Environment*, *41*(25), 5192–5201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.07.062
- Hageskal, G., Gaustad, P., Heier, B. T., & Skaar, I. (2007). Occurrence of moulds in drinking water.
 Journal of Applied Microbiology, 102(3), 774–780. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2672.2006.03119.X
- Hajar, Z., Mana, T. S. C., Cadnum, J. L., & Donskey, C. J. (2019). Dispersal of gram-negative bacilli from contaminated sink drains to cover gowns and hands during hand washing. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 40(4), 460–462. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2019.25
- Hamada, N., & Abe, N. (2010). Comparison of fungi found in bathrooms and sinks. *Biocontrol Science*, *15*(2), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.4265/bio.15.51
- Hampton-Marcell, J. T., Larsen, P., Anton, T., Cralle, L., Sangwan, N., Lax, S., Gottel, N., Salas-Garcia,M., Young, C., Duncan, G., Lopez, J. v., & Gilbert, J. A. (2020). Detecting personal microbiota

signatures at artificial crime scenes. *Forensic Science International, 313*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORSCIINT.2020.110351

- Hartmann, E. M., Hickey, R., Hsu, T., Betancourt Román, C. M., Chen, J., Schwager, R., Kline, J., Brown,
 G. Z., Halden, R. U., Huttenhower, C., & Green, J. L. (2016). Antimicrobial Chemicals Are
 Associated with Elevated Antibiotic Resistance Genes in the Indoor Dust Microbiome. *Environmental* Science and Technology, 50(18), 9807-15.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00262
- Hayleeyesus, S. F., & Manaye, A. M. (2014). Microbiological Quality of Indoor Air in University Libraries.
 Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, 4(1), 312–317.
 https://doi.org/10.12980/APJTB.4.2014C807
- Heilbronner, S., Holden, M. T. G., Van Tonder, A., Geoghegan, J. A., Foster, T. J., Parkhill, J., & Bentley,
 S. D. (2011). Genome sequence of Staphylococcus lugdunensis N920143 allows identi¢cation of putative colonization and virulence factors. *FEMS Microbiol Letters, 322*, 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2011.02339.x
- Henne, K., Kahlisch, L., Brettar, I., & Höfle, M. G. (2012). Analysis of Structure and Composition of Bacterial Core Communities in Mature Drinking Water Biofilms and Bulk Water of a Citywide Network in Germany. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 78(10), 3530–3538. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.06373-11
- Heo, K. J., Lim, C. E., Kim, H. B., & Lee, B. U. (2017). Effects of human activities on concentrations of culturable bioaerosols in indoor air environments. *Journal of Aerosol Science*, 104, 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAEROSCI.2016.11.008
- Hewitt, K. M., Gerba, C. P., Maxwell, S. L., & Kelley, S. T. (2012). Office space bacterial abundance and diversity in three metropolitan areas. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0037849
- Hobday, R. A., & Dancer, S. J. (2013). Roles of sunlight and natural ventilation for controlling infection:
 Historical and current perspectives. Journal of Hospital Infection, 84(4), 271–282.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2013.04.011
- Hoisington, A., Maestre, J. P., Kinney, K. A., & Siegel, J. A. (2016). Characterizing the bacterial communities in retail stores in the United States. *Indoor Air, 26*(6), 857–868. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12273

- Hong, S., Bunge, J., Leslin, C., Jeon, S., & Epstein, S. S. (2009). Polymerase chain reaction primers miss
 half of rRNA microbial diversity. *The ISME Journal, 3*, 1365–1373.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2009.89
- Hopman, J., Meijer, C., Kenters, N., Coolen, J. P. M., Ghamati, M. R., Mehtar, S., Van Crevel, R., Morshuis, W. J., Verhagen, A. F. T. M., Van Den Heuvel, M. M., Voss, A., & Wertheim, H. F. L. (2019). Risk Assessment after a Severe Hospital-Acquired Infection Associated with Carbapenemase-Producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *JAMA Network Open, 2*(2). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7665
- Hospodsky, D., Qian, J., Nazaroff, W. W., Yamamoto, N., & Bibby, K. (2012). Human Occupancy as a Source of Indoor Airborne Bacteria. *PLoS ONE, 7*(4), 34867. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034867
- Hospodsky, D., Yamamoto, N., Nazaroff, W. W., Miller, D., Gorthala, S., & Peccia, J. (2015).
 Characterizing airborne fungal and bacterial concentrations and emission rates in six occupied children's classrooms. *Indoor Air*, 25(6), 641–652. https://doi.org/10.1111/INA.12172
- Hota, S., Hirji, Z., Stockton, K., Lemieux, C., Dedier, H., Wolfaardt, G., & Gardam, M. A. (2009). Outbreak of Multidrug-Resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa Colonization and Infection Secondary to Imperfect Intensive Care Unit Room Design . *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 30*(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1086/592700
- Hug, L. A., Baker, B. J., Anantharaman, K., Brown, C. T., Probst, A. J., Castelle, C. J., Butterfield, C. N.,
 Hernsdorf, A. W., Amano, Y., Ise, K., Suzuki, Y., Dudek, N., Relman, D. A., Finstad, K. M.,
 Amundson, R., Thomas, B. C., & Banfield, J. F. (2016). A new view of the tree of life. *Nature Microbiology*, 1(5). https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.48
- Hutchings, M. I., Truman, A. W., & Wilkinson, B. (2019) Antibiotics: past, present and future. Current Opinions in Microbiology, 51, 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2019.10.008.
- Inkinen, J., Jayaprakash, B., Santo Domingo, J. W., Keinänen-Toivola, M. M., Ryu, H., & Pitkänen, T. (2016). Diversity of ribosomal 16S DNA- and RNA-based bacterial community in an office building drinking water system. *Journal of Applied Microbiology, 120*(6), 1723–1738. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13144
- Irga, P. J., & Torpy, F. R. (2016). Indoor air pollutants in occupational buildings in a sub-tropical climate:
 Comparison among ventilation types. *Building and Environment, 98*, 190-199.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2016.01.012

- Janda, J. M., & Abbott, S. L. (2007). 16S rRNA Gene Sequencing for Bacterial Identification in the Diagnostic Laboratory: Pluses, Perils, and Pitfalls. *Journal Of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(9), 2761– 2764. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01228-07
- Ji, P., Parks, J., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2015). Impact of water chemistry, pipe material and stagnation on the building plumbing microbiome. *PLoS ONE*, 10(10), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141087
- Ji, P., Rhoads, W. J., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2017). Impact of water heater temperature setting and water use frequency on the building plumbing microbiome. *Nature Publishing Group*, 11, 1318–1330. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.14
- Jin, H., You, L., Zhao, F., Li, S., Ma, T., Kwok, L. Y., Xu, H., & Sun, Z. (2022). Hybrid, ultra-deep metagenomic sequencing enables genomic and functional characterization of low-abundance species in the human gut microbiome. *Gut Microbes, 14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2021.2021790
- Jing, Z., Lu, Z., Zhao, Z., Cao, W., Wang, W., Ke, Y., Wang, X., & Sun, W. (2023). Molecular ecological networks reveal the spatial-temporal variation of microbial communities in drinking water distribution systems. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 124, 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JES.2021.10.017
- Johansson, P., Ekstrand-Tobin, A., Svensson, T., & Bok, G. (2012). Laboratory study to determine the critical moisture level for mould growth on building materials. *International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation*, *73*, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.05.014
- Johnson, D. L., Mead, K. R., Lynch, R. A., & Hirst, D. V. L. (2013). Lifting the lid on toilet plume aerosol: A literature review with suggestions for future research. American Journal of Infection Control, 41(3), 254–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2012.04.330
- Jones, L. D., Mana, T. S. C., Cadnum, J. L., Jencson, A. L., Alhmidi, H., Silva, S. Y., Wilson, B. M., & Donskey, C. J. (2019). Instillation of disinfectant behind a temporary obstruction created by an inflated urinary catheter balloon improves sink drain disinfection. *American Journal of Infection Control, 47*(12), 1522–1524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2019.07.007
- Jones, L. D., Mana, T. S. C., Cadnum, J. L., Jencson, A. L., Silva, S. Y., Wilson, B. M., & Donskey, C. J. (2020). Effectiveness of foam disinfectants in reducing sink-drain gram-negative bacterial colonization. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 41(3), 280–285. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2019.325

- Jovel, J., Patterson, J., Wang, W., Hotte, N., O'Keefe, S., Mitchel, T., Perry, T., Kao, D., Mason, A. L.,
 Madsen, K. L., & Wong, G. K. S. (2016). Characterization of the gut microbiome using 16S or
 shotgun metagenomics. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 7*(APR).
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00459
- Kahsay, A. G., Asgedom, S. W., & Weldetinsaa, H. L. (2019). Enteric bacteria, methicillin resistant S. aureus and antimicrobial susceptibility patterns from buses surfaces in Mekelle city, Tigray, Ethiopia. *BMC Research Notes*, *12*(1), 337. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-019-4366-1
- Kalmar, L., Gupta, S., Kean, I. R. L., Ba, X., Hadjirin, N., et al. (2022) HAM-ART: An optimised culturefree Hi-C metagenomics pipeline for tracking antimicrobial resistance genes in complex microbial communities. *PLOS Genetics* 18(3), e1009776. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1009776
- Kampf, G. (2018). Biocidal Agents Used for Disinfection Can Enhance Antibiotic Resistance in Gram-Negative Species. *Antibiotics (Basel), 7*(4), 110. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics7040110
- Kang, K., Ni, Y., Li, J., Imamovic, L., Sarkar, C., Kobler, M. D., Heshiki, Y., Zheng, T., Kumari, S., Wong, J. C. Y., Archna, A., Wong, C. W. M., Dingle, C., Denizen, S., Baker, D. M., Sommer, M. O. A., Webster, C. J., & Panagiotou, G. (2018). The Environmental Exposures and Inner- and Intercity Traffic Flows of the Metro System May Contribute to the Skin Microbiome and Resistome. *Cell Reports, 24*(5), 1190-1202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.109
- Kearney, A., Boyle, M. A., Curley, G. F., & Humphreys, H. (2021). Preventing infections caused by carbapenemase-producing bacteria in the intensive care unit - Think about the sink. *Journal of Critical Care, 66*, 52–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2021.07.023
- Kelley, S. T., & Gilbert, J. A. (2013). Studying the microbiology of the indoor environment. *Genome Biology*, *14*(202). https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-2-202
- Kembel, S. W., Jones, E., Kline, J., Northcutt, D., Stenson, J., Womack, A. M., Bohannan, B. J., Brown, G. Z., & Green, J. L. (2012). Architectural design influences the diversity and structure of the built environment microbiome. *The ISME Journal,* 6, 1469–1479. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.211
- Kembel, S. W., Meadow, J. F., O'connor, T. K., Mhuireach, G., Northcutt, D., Kline, J., Moriyama, M.,
 Brown, G. Z., Bohannan, B. J. M., & Green, J. L. (2014). Architectural Design Drives the
 Biogeography of Indoor Bacterial Communities. *PLoS ONE, 9*(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087093

- King, G. M. (2014). Urban microbiomes and urban ecology: How do microbes in the built environment affect human sustainability in cities? *Journal of Microbiology*, 52(9), 721–728. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-014-4364-x
- Kizny Gordon, A. E., Mathers, A. J., Cheong, E. Y. L., Gottlieb, T., Kotay, S., Walker, A. S., Peto, T. E. A., Crook, D. W., & Stoesser, N. (2017). The Hospital Water Environment as a Reservoir for Carbapenem-Resistant Organisms Causing Hospital-Acquired Infections-A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Clinical Infectious Diseases Clinical Infectious Diseases, 64*(10), 1435. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix132
- Klassert, T. E., Leistner, R., Zubiria-Barrera, C., Stock, M., López, M., Neubert, R., Driesch, D., Gastmeier,
 P., & Slevogt, H. (2021). Bacterial colonization dynamics and antibiotic resistance gene dissemination in the hospital environment after first patient occupancy: a longitudinal metagenetic study. *Microbiome, 9*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-021-01109-7
- Knight, R., Vrbanac, A., Taylor, B. C., Aksenov, A., Callewaert, C., Debelius, J., Gonzalez, A., Kosciolek,
 T., McCall, L.-I., McDonald, D., Melnik, A. V, Morton, J. T., Navas, J., Quinn, R. A., Sanders, J. G.,
 Swafford, A. D., Thompson, L. R., Tripathi, A., Xu, Z. Z., ... Dorrestein, P. C. (2018). Best practices
 for analysing microbiomes. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0029-9
- Koch, A., Heilemann, K.-J., Bischof, W., Heinrich, J., & Wichmann, H. E. (2000). Indoor viable mold spores - a comparison between two cities, Erfurt (eastern Germany) and Hamburg (western Germany). *Allergy*, 55(2), 176–180. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1398-9995.2000.00233.x
- Koh, G. C. K. W., Hawthorne, G., Turner, A. M., Kunst, H., & Dedicoat, M. (2013). Tuberculosis Incidence Correlates with Sunshine: An Ecological 28-Year Time Series Study. *PLoS ONE, 8*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057752
- Korem, T., Zeevi, D., Suez, J., Weinberger, A., Avnit-Sagi, T., Pompan-Lotan, M., Matot, E., Jona, G., Harmelin, A., Cohen, N., Sirota-Madi, A., Thaiss, C. A., Pevsner-Fischer, M., Sorek, R., Xavier, R. J., Elinav, E., & Segal, E. (2015). Growth dynamics of gut microbiota in health and disease inferred from single metagenomic samples. *Science, 349*(6252), 1101–1106. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac4812
- Kotay, S., Chai, W., Guilford, W., Barry, K., & Mathers, A. J. (2017). Spread from the Sink to the Patient: In Situ Study Using Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP)-Expressing Escherichia coli To Model

Chapter 1

Bacterial Dispersion from Hand-Washing Sink-Trap Reservoirs. Applied and Environmental *Microbiology*, *83*(8), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03327-16

- Kotay, S. M., Donlan, R. M., Ganim, C., Barry, K., Christensen, B. E., & Mathers, A. J. (2019). Droplet-Rather than Aerosol-Mediated Dispersion Is the Primary Mechanism of Bacterial Transmission from Contaminated Hand-Washing Sink Traps. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 85*(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01997-18
- Kotsanas, D., Wijesooriya, W. R. P. L. I., Korman, T. M., Gillespie, E. E., Wright, L., Snook, K., Williams, N., Bell, J. M., Li, H. Y., & Stuart, R. L. (2013). "Down the drain": Carbapenem-resistant bacteria in intensive care unit patients and handwashing sinks. *Medical Journal of Australia, 198*(5), 267–269. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja12.11757
- Kwan, S. E., Shaughnessy, R. J., Hegarty, B., Haverinen-Shaughnessy, U., & Peccia, J. (2018). The reestablishment of microbial communities after surface cleaning in schools. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 125(3), 897–906. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13898
- La Forgia, C., Franke, J., Hacek, D. M., Thomson, R. B., Robicsek, A., & Peterson, L. R. (2010). Management of a multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii outbreak in an intensive care unit using novel environmental disinfection: A 38-month report. *American Journal of Infection Control, 38*(4), 259–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2009.07.012
- Lalancette, C., Charron, D., Laferrière, C., Dolcé, P., Déziel, E., Prévost, M., & Bédard, E. (2017). Hospital drains as reservoirs of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Multiple-locus variable-number of tandem repeats analysis genotypes recovered from faucets, sink surfaces and patients. *Pathogens, 6*(3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens6030036
- Lan, Y., Rosen, G., & Hershberg, R. (2016). Marker genes that are less conserved in their sequences are useful for predicting genome-wide similarity levels between closely related prokaryotic strains. *Microbiome*, 4(18). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0162-5
- Landelle, C., Legrand, P., Lesprit, P., Cizeau, F., Ducellier, D., Gouot, C., Bréhaut, P., Soing-Altrach, S., Girou, E., & Brun-Buisson, C. (2013). Protracted Outbreak of Multidrug-Resistant Acinetobacter baumannii after Intercontinental Transfer of Colonized Patients. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 34(2), 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1086/669093
- Lautenschlager, K., Boon, N., Wang, Y., Egli, T., & Hammes, F. (2010). Overnight stagnation of drinking water in household taps induces microbial growth and changes in community composition. *Water Research*, *44*(17), 4868–4877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.032

- Lax, S., Hampton-Marcell, J. T., Gibbons, S. M., Colares, G. B., Smith, D., Eisen, J. A., & Gilbert, J. A. (2015). Forensic analysis of the microbiome of phones and shoes. *Microbiome*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0082-9
- Lax, S., Sangwan, N., Smith, D., Larsen, P., Handley, K. M., Richardson, M., Guyton, K., Krezalek, M.,
 Shogan, B. D., Defazio, J., Flemming, I., Shakhsheer, ‡ Baddr, Weber, S., Landon, E., Garcia-Houchins, S., Siegel, J., Alverdy, J., Knight, R., Stephens, B., & Gilbert, J. A. (2017). Bacterial colonization and succession in a newly opened hospital. *Science Translational Medicine*, *9*, eaah6500. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aah6500 A
- Lax, S., Smith, D. P., Hampton-Marcell, J., Owens, S. M., Handley, K. M., Scott, N. M., Gibbons, S. M.,
 Larsen, P., Shogan, B. D., Weiss, S., Metcalf, J. L., Ursell, L. K., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Van Treuren,
 W., Hasan, N. A., Gibson, M. K., Colwell, R., Dantas, G., Knight, R., & Gilbert, J. A. (2014).
 Longitudinal analysis of microbial interaction between humans and the indoor environment.
 Science, 345(6200), 1048–1052. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1254529
- Learbuch, K. L. G., Smidt, H., & van der Wielen, P. W. J. J. (2021). Influence of pipe materials on the microbial community in unchlorinated drinking water and biofilm. *Water Research*, 194, 116922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.116922
- Lehtimäki, J., Karkman, A., Laatikainen, T., Paalanen, L., von Hertzen, L., Haahtela, T., Hanski, I., & Ruokolainen, L. (2017). Patterns in the skin microbiota differ in children and teenagers between rural and urban environments. *Scientific Reports, 7*(45651). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45651
- Lemarié, C., Legeay, C., Mahieu, R., Moal, F., Ramont, C., Kouatchet, A., & Eveillard, M. (2021). Longterm contamination of sink drains by carbapenemase-producing Enterobacterales in three intensive care units: characteristics and transmission to patients. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, *112*, 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2021.02.016
- Leung, M. H. Y., & Lee, P. K. H. (2016). The roles of the outdoors and occupants in contributing to a potential pan-microbiome of the built environment: a review. *Microbiome, 4*(21). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0165-2
- Leung, M. H. Y., Wilkins, D., Li, E. K. T., Kong, F. K. F., & Lee, P. K. H. (2014). Indoor-air microbiome in an urban subway network: Diversity and dynamics. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 80*(21), 6760–6770. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02244-14Li, J., Cao, J., Zhu, Y. G., Chen, Q. L., Shen, F., Wu, Y., Xu, S., Fan, H., Da, G., Huang, R. J., Wang, J., de Jesus, A. L., Morawska, L., Chan, C. K., Peccia, J., & Yao, M. (2018). Global survey of antibiotic resistance genes in air.

Environmental Science and Technology, 52(19), 10975-10984. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02204

- Li, Y., Lu, R., Li, W., Xie, Z., & Song, Y. (2017). Concentrations and size distributions of viable bioaerosols under various weather conditions in a typical semi-arid city of Northwest China. *Journal of Aerosol Science, 106*, 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaerosci.2017.01.007
- Lin, J. L., Peng, Y., Ou, Q. T., Lin, D. X., Li, Y., Ye, X. H., Zhou, J. L., & Yao, Z. J. (2017). A molecular epidemiological study of methicillin-resistant Staphylococci environmental contamination in railway stations and coach stations in Guangzhou of China. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 64(2), 131-137. https://doi.org/10.1111/lam.12700
- Ling, F., Whitaker, R., Lechevallier, M. W., & Liu, W.-T. (2018). Drinking water microbiome assembly induced by water stagnation. *The ISME Journal*, *12*, 1520–1531. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0101-5
- Lipphaus, P., Hammes, F., Kötzsch, S., Green, J., Gillespie, S., & Nocker, A. (2014). Microbiological tap water profile of a medium-sized building and effect of water stagnation. *Environmental Technology (United Kingdom), 35*(5), 620–628. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2013.839748
- Liu, L., Wang, Y., Che, Y., Chen, Y., Xia, Y., Luo, R., Cheng, S. H., Zheng, C., & Zhang, T. (2020). Highquality bacterial genomes of a partial-nitritation/anammox system by an iterative hybrid assembly method. *Microbiome*, *8*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-020-00937-3
- Liu, L., Yang, Y., Deng, Y., & Zhang, T. (2022). Nanopore long-read-only metagenomics enables complete and high-quality genome reconstruction from mock and complex metagenomes. *Microbiome*, 10(1), 209. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-022-01415-8/FIGURES/2
- Llor, C., & Bjerrum, L. (2014). Antimicrobial resistance: risk associated with antibiotic overuse and initiatives to reduce the problem. *Therapeutic Advance in Drug Safety*, 5(6), 229-41. https://doi.org/10.1177/2042098614554919
- Lowe, C., Willey, B., O'Shaughnessy, A., Lee, W., Lum, M., Pike, K., Larocque, C., Dedier, H., Dales, L., Moore, C., & McGeer, A. (2012). Outbreak of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Klebsiella oxytoca infections associated with contaminated handwashing sinks. *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 18*(8), 1242–1247. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1808.111268

- Luongo, J. C., Barber An, A., Hacker-Cary, R., Morgan, E. E., Miller, S. L., Fierer, N., & Fierer, N. (2017).
 Microbial analyses of airborne dust collected from dormitory rooms predict the sex of occupants.
 Indoor Air, 27, 338–344. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12302
- Mahnert, A., Moissl-Eichinger, C., & Berg, G. (2015). Microbiome interplay: Plants alter microbial abundance and diversity within the built environment. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 6*(AUG), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00887
- Mahnert, A., Moissl-Eichinger, C., Zojer, M., Bogumil, D., Mizrahi, I., Rattei, T., Martinez, J. L., & Berg,
 G. (2019). Man-made microbial resistances in built environments. *Nature Communications,* 10(968). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08864-0
- Maki, A., Salonen, N., Kivisaari, M., Ahonen, M., & Latva, M. (2023). Microbiota shaping and bioburden monitoring of indoor antimicrobial surfaces. *Frontiers in Built Environment, 9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbuil.2023.1063804
- Mann, E., Wetzels, S. U., Wagner, M., Zebeli, Q., & Schmitz-Esser, S. (2018). Metatranscriptome sequencing reveals insights into the gene expression and functional potential of rumen wall bacteria. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*(JAN), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00043
- Mantere, T., Kersten, S., & Hoischen, A. (2019). Long-read sequencing emerging in medical genetics. *Frontiers in Genetics, 10*(426). https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.00426
- Marciano-Cabral, F., Jamerson, M., & Kaneshiro, E. S. (2010). Free-living amoebae, Legionella and Mycobacterium in tap water supplied by a municipal drinking water utility in the USA. *Journal of Water and Health, 8*(1), 71–82. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2009.129
- Martinez, J. L., & Baquero, F. (2000). Mutation frequencies and antibiotic resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *44*(7), 1771-7. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.44.7.1771-1777.2000
- Matsuo, Y., Komiya, S., Yasumizu, Y., Yasuoka, Y., Mizushima, K., Takagi, T., Kryukov, K., Fukuda, A.,
 Morimoto, Y., Naito, Y., Okada, H., Bono, H., Nakagawa, S., & Hirota, K. (2021). Full-length 16S
 rRNA gene amplicon analysis of human gut microbiota using MinIONTM nanopore sequencing
 confers species-level resolution. *BMC Microbiology, 21*(1), 1–13.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-021-02094-5
- Mbareche H., Veillette M., Bilodeau G., Duchaine C. (2020). Comparison of the performance of ITS1 and ITS2 as barcodes in amplicon-based sequencing of bioaerosols. *PeerJ* 8(e8523) http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.8523

- Mcbain, A. J., Bartolo, R. G., Catrenich, C. E., Charbonneau, D., Ledder, R. G., Rickard, A. H., Symmons,
 S. A., & Gilbert, P. (2003). Microbial Characterization of Biofilms in Domestic Drains and the Establishment of Stable Biofilm Microcosms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 69*(1), 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.1.177-185.2003
- McDonagh, A., & Byrne, M. A. (2014). A study of the size distribution of aerosol particles resuspended from clothing surfaces. *Journal of Aerosol Science*, 75, 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaerosci.2014.05.007
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Bateman, A. C., Stenson, J., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B.
 J. M. (2015). Humans differ in their personal microbial cloud. *PeerJ*, 3(e1258). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1258
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., & Green, J. L. (2014a). Mobile phones carry the personal microbiome of their owners. *PeerJ*, *2*(e447). https://doi.org/10.7717/PEERJ.447/SUPP-2
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Kembel, S. W., Kline, J., Mhuireach, G., Moriyama, M., Northcutt, D.,
 O'connor, T. K., Womack, A. M., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2014b). Indoor
 airborne bacterial communities are influenced by ventilation, occupancy, and outdoor air source.
 Indoor Air, 24, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12047
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Kembel, S. W., Moriyama, M., O'connor, T. K., Womack, A. M., Brown,
 G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2014c). Bacterial communities on classroom surfaces
 vary with human contact. *Microbiome*, 2(7). https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.687155
- Miletto, M., & Lindow, S. E. (2015). Relative and contextual contribution of different sources to the composition and abundance of indoor air bacteria in residences. *Microbiome*, 3, 61. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0128-z
- Mkrtchyan, H. V., Russell, C. A., Wang, N., & Cutler, R. R. (2013). Could public restrooms be an environment for bacterial resistomes? *PLoS ONE, 8*(1), e54223. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054223
- Moen, B., Langsrud, S., Berget, I., Maugesten, T., & Møretrø, T. (2023). Mapping the Kitchen Microbiota in Five European Countries Reveals a Set of Core Bacteria across Countries, Kitchen Surfaces, and Cleaning Utensils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 89*(6). https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00267-23

- Moen, B., Røssvoll, E., Måge, I., Møretrø, T., & Langsrud, S. (2015). Microbiota formed on attached stainless steel coupons correlates with the natural biofilm of the sink surface in domestic kitchens. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology, 62*(2), 148–160. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjm-2015-0562
- Mostafa, S., & Sabra, M. (2013). Bacterial Public Health Hazard in the Public Female Restrooms at Taif,
 KSA. Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research, 14(1), 42–187.
 https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.mejsr.2013.14.1.7326
- Mukherjee, N., Dowd, S. E., Wise, A., Kedia, S., Vohra, V., & Banerjee, P. (2014). Diversity of Bacterial Communities of Fitness Center Surfaces in a U.S. Metropolitan Area. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11(12), 12544. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH111212544
- Munita, J. M., & Arias, C. A. (2016). Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance. *Microbiology Spectrum*, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0016-2015
- Nisar, M. A., Ross, K. E., Brown, M. H., Bentham, R., Xi, J., Hinds, J., Jamieson, T., Leterme, S. C., & Whiley, H. (2023). The composition of planktonic prokaryotic communities in a hospital building water system depends on both incoming water and flow dynamics. *Water Research, 243,* 120363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2023.120363
- Nygaard, A. B., & Charnock, C. (2018). Longitudinal development of the dust microbiome in a newly opened Norwegian kindergarten. *Microbiome, 6*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0553-x
- Nurk, S., Meleshko, D., Korobeynikov, A., & Pevzner, P. A. (2017). metaSPAdes: a new versatile metagenomic assembler. *Genome Research*, 27(5), 824-834. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.213959.116
- O'neil, J. (2014). Review on Antimicrobial Resistance Antimicrobial Resistance: Tackling a Crisis for the Health and Wealth of Nations. London: Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. https://wellcomecollection.org/works/rdpck35v
- Opal, S.M. (2010). A Brief History of Microbiology and Immunology. In: Artenstein, A. (eds) Vaccines: A Biography. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1108-7_3
- Otter, J. A., Vickery, K., Walker, J. T., deLancey Pulcini, E., Stoodley, P., Goldenberg, S. D., Salkeld, J. A. G., Chewins, J., Yezli, S., & Edgeworth, J. D. (2015). Surface-attached cells, biofilms and biocide

susceptibility: Implications for hospital cleaning and disinfection. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 89*(1), 16–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2014.09.008

- Paduano, S., Marchesi, I., Casali, M. E., Valeriani, F., Frezza, G., Vecchi, E., Sircana, L., Spica, V. R., Borella, P., & Bargellini, A. (2020). Characterisation of Microbial Community Associated with Different Disinfection Treatments in Hospital hot Water Networks. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(2158). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17062158
- Parcell, B. J., Oravcova, K., Pinheiro, M., Holden, M. T. G., Phillips, G., Turton, J. F., & Gillespie, S. H. (2018). Pseudomonas aeruginosa intensive care unit outbreak: winnowing of transmissions with molecular and genomic typing. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 98*(3), 282–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2017.12.005
- Park, D. U., Yeom, J. K., Lee, W. J., & Lee, K. M. (2013). Assessment of the Levels of Airborne Bacteria, Gram-Negative Bacteria, and Fungi in Hospital Lobbies. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(2), 541–555. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH10020541
- Park, J., Jin Kim, S., Lee, J.-A., Woo Kim, J., & Bum Kim, S. (2017). Microbial forensic analysis of humanassociated bacteria inhabiting hand surface. *Forensic Science International: Genetics Supplement Series, 6*, e510–e512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsigss.2017.09.210
- Parkes, L. O., & Hota, S. S. (2018). Sink-Related Outbreaks and Mitigation Strategies in Healthcare
 Facilities. *Current Infectious Disease Reports, 20*(10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-018-0648-3
- Pasanen, A. L., Rautiala, S., Kasanen, J.-P., Raunio, P., Rantamäki, J., & Kalliokoski, P. (2000). The relationship between measured moisture conditions and fungal concentrations in waterdamaged building materials. *Indoor Air, 10*(2), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1034/J.1600-0668.2000.010002111.X
- Peng, Y., Ou, Q., Lin, D., Xu, P., Li, Y., Ye, X., Zhou, J., & Yao, Z. (2015). Metro system in Guangzhou as a hazardous reservoir of methicillin-resistant Staphylococci: findings from a point-prevalence molecular epidemiologic study. *Scientific Reports*, 5(16087). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16087
- Pinto, A. J., Xi, C., & Raskin, L. (2012). Bacterial Community Structure in the Drinking Water Microbiome Is Governed by Filtration Processes. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(16), 8851-8859. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302042t

- Pitkäranta, M. (2011). Molecular profiling of indoor microbial communities in moisture damaged and non-damaged buildings. *University of Helsinki Open Repository*. http://ethesis.helsinki.fi
- Posten, C. H., & Cooney, C. L. (1993). Growth of Microorganisms. In Biotechnology (eds H.-.-J. Rehm and G. Reed). 111–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527620821.ch3
- Prussin, A. J., & Marr, L. C. (2015). Sources of airborne microorganisms in the built environment. *Microbiome, 3*(78). https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-015-0144-Z
- Prussin II, A. J., Torres, P. J., Shimashita, J., Head, S. R., Bibby, K. J., Kelley, S. T., & Marr, L. C. (2019).
 Seasonal dynamics of DNA and RNA viral bioaerosol communities in a daycare center.
 Microbiome, 7(53). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0672-z
- Qian, J., Hospodsky, D., Yamamoto, N., Nazaroff, W. W., & Peccia, J. (2012). Size-resolved emission rates of airborne bacteria and fungi in an occupied classroom. *Indoor Air, 22*, 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2012.00769.x
- Qian, J., & Ferro, A. R. (2008). Resuspension of Dust Particles in a Chamber and Associated Environmental Factors. *Aerosol Science and Technology*, 42(7), 566–578. https://doi.org/10.1080/02786820802220274
- Qiu, Y., Zhou, Y., Chang, Y., Liang, X., Zhang, H., Lin, X., Qing, K., Zhou, X., & Luo, Z. (2022). The Effects of Ventilation, Humidity, and Temperature on Bacterial Growth and Bacterial Genera Distribution. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(22). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192215345
- Rappé, M. S., & Giovannoni, S. J. (2003). The uncultured microbial majority. Annual review of microbiology, 57, 369–394. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.57.030502.090759
- Rai, S., Singh, D. K., & Kumar, A. (2021). Microbial, environmental and anthropogenic factors influencing the indoor microbiome of the built environment. *Journal of Basic Microbiology*, 61(4), 267–292. https://doi.org/10.1002/JOBM.202000575
- Ramamurthy, T., Ghosh, A., Pazhani, G. P., Shinoda, S., & Pruzzo, C. (2014). Current perspectives on viable but non-culturable (VBNC) pathogenic bacteria. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 2(103). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00103
- Regev-Yochay, G., Smollan, G., Rn, I. T., Pinas, N., Rn, Z., Haviv, Y., Nudelman Rn, V., Gal-Mor Phd, O., Jaber Bsc, H., Zimlichman, E., Keller, N., & Rahav, G. (2018). Sink traps as the source of

transmission of OXA-48-producing Serratia marcescens in an intensive care unit. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 39*, 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2018.235

- Reponen, T., Nevalainen, A., Jantunen, M., Pellikka, M., & Kalliokoski, P. (1992). Normal Range Criteria for Indoor Air Bacteria and Fungal Spores in a Subarctic Climate. *Indoor Air, 2*(1), 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.1992.03-21.x
- Rhoads, W. J., Ji, P., Pruden, A., & Edwards, M. A. (2015). Water heater temperature set point and water use patterns influence Legionella pneumophila and associated microorganisms at the tap. *Microbiome*, 3, 67. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0134-1
- Richardson, M., Gottel, N., Gilbert, J. A., & Lax, S. (2019). Microbial similarity between students in a common dormitory environment reveals the forensic potential of individual microbial signatures. *MBio*, 10(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01054-19
- Rintala, H., Pitkäranta, M., Toivola, M., Paulin, L., & Nevalainen, A. (2008). Diversity and seasonal dynamics of bacterial community in indoor environment. *BMC Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-8-56
- Roberts, M. C., Soge, O. O., & No, D. (2013). Comparison of multi-drug resistant environmental methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolated from recreational beaches and high touch surfaces in built environments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4(74), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00074
- Robertson, C. E., Baumgartner, L. K., Harris, J. K., Peterson, K. L., Stevens, M. J., Frank, D. N., & Pace,
 N. R. (2013). Culture-Independent Analysis of Aerosol Microbiology in a Metropolitan Subway
 System. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 79*(11), 3485–3493.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00331-13
- Roetzer, A., Diel, R., Kohl, T. A., Rückert, C., Nübel, U., Blom, J., Wirth, T., Jaenicke, S., Schuback, S.,
 Rüsch-Gerdes, S., Supply, P., Kalinowski, J., & Niemann, S. (2013). Whole Genome Sequencing versus Traditional Genotyping for Investigation of a Mycobacterium tuberculosis Outbreak: A Longitudinal Molecular Epidemiological Study. *PLoS Medicine, 10*(2), e1001387. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001387
- Roslund, M. I., Puhakka, R., Grönroos, M., Nurminen, N., Oikarinen, S., Gazali, A. M., Cinek, O., Kramná,
 L., Siter, N., Vari, H. K., Soininen, L., Parajuli, A., Rajaniemi, J., Kinnunen, T., Laitinen, O. H., Hyöty,
 H., & Sinkkonen, A. (2020). Environmental Studies biodiversity intervention enhances immune

Chapter 1

regulation and health-associated commensal microbiota among daycare children. *Science Advances, 6*(42), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aba2578

- Ross, A. A., & Neufeld, J. D. (2015). Microbial biogeography of a university campus. *Microbiome, 3*(66), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0135-0
- Ruiz, L., & Alvarez-Ordóñez, A. (2017). The role of the food chain in the spread of antimicrobial resistance (AMR). Functionalized Nanomaterials for the Management of Microbial Infection, Elsevier, pp. 23-47.
- Ruiz-Calderon, J. F., Cavallin, H., Song, S. J., Novoselac, A., Pericchi, L. R., Hernandez, J. N., Rios, R., Branch, O. H., Pereira, H., Paulino, L. C., Blaser, M. J., Knight, R., & Dominguez-Bello, M. G. (2016).
 Walls talk: Microbial biogeography of homes spanning urbanization. *Science Advances, 2*(2), e1501061. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1501061
- Sanderson, N. D., Kapel, N., Rodger, G., Webster, H., Lipworth, S., Street, T. L., Peto, T., Crook, D., & Stoesser, N. (2023). Comparison of R9.4.1/Kit10 and R10/Kit12 Oxford Nanopore flowcells and chemistries in bacterial genome reconstruction. *Microbial Genomics, 9*(1). https://doi.org/10.1099/mgen.0.000910
- Sangwan, N., Xia, F., & Gilbert, J. A. (2016). Recovering complete and draft population genomes from metagenome datasets. *Microbiome*, *4*(8). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0154-5
- Sattar, S. A., Kibbee, R. J., Zargar, B., Wright, K. E., Rubino, J. R., & Ijaz, M. K. (2016). Decontamination of indoor air to reduce the risk of airborne infections: Studies on survival and inactivation of airborne pathogens using an aerobiology chamber. *American Journal of Infection Control, 44*(10), e177–e182. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AJIC.2016.03.067
- Sereika, M., Kirkegaard, R. H., Karst, S. M., Michaelsen, T. Y., Sørensen, E. A., Wollenberg, R. D., & Albertsen, M. (2022). Oxford Nanopore R10.4 long-read sequencing enables the generation of near-finished bacterial genomes from pure cultures and metagenomes without short-read or reference polishing. *Nature Methods, 19*(7), 823–826. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-022-01539-7
- Sexton, T., Clarke, P., O'Neill, E., Dillane, T., & Humphreys, H. (2006). Environmental reservoirs of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in isolation rooms: Correlation with patient isolates and implications for hospital hygiene. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 62*(2), 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2005.07.017

- Sharma, A., Richardson, M., Cralle, L., Stamper, C. E., Maestre, J. P., Stearns-Yoder, K. A., Postolache, T. T., Bates, K. L., Kinney, K. A., Brenner, L. A., Lowry, C. A., Gilbert, J. A., & Hoisington, A. J. (2019). Longitudinal homogenization of the microbiome between both occupants and the built environment in a cohort of United States Air Force Cadets. *Microbiome, 7*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0686-6
- Short, D. P. G., O'Donnel, K., Zhang, N., Juba, J. H., Geiser, D. M. (2011). Widespread occurrence of diverse human pathogenic types of the fungus Fusarium detected in plumbing drains. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology, Dec;49*(12), 4264-72. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.05468-11
- Singleton, C. M., Petriglieri, F., Kristensen, J. M., Kirkegaard, R. H., Michaelsen, T. Y., Andersen, M. H., Kondrotaite, Z., Karst, S. M., Dueholm, M. S., Nielsen, P. H., & Albertsen, M. (2021). Connecting structure to function with the recovery of over 1000 high-quality metagenome-assembled genomes from activated sludge using long-read sequencing. *Nature Communications, 12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22203-2
- Smolders, D., Hendriks, B., Rogiers, P., Mul, M., & Gordts, B. (2019). Acetic acid as a decontamination method for ICU sink drains colonized by carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae and its effect on CPE infections. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 102(1), 82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2018.12.009
- Song, S. J., Lauber, C., Costello, E. K., Lozupone, C. A., Humphrey, G., Berg-Lyons, D., Gregory Caporaso, J., Knights, D., Clemente, J. C., Nakielny, S., Gordon, J. I., Fierer, N., & Knight, R. (2013). Cohabiting family members share microbiota with one another and with their dogs. *ELife, 2*, e00458. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.00458
- Stalder, T., Press, M. O., Sullivan, S., Liachko, I., Top, E. M. (2019). Linking the resistome and plasmidome to the microbiome. *The ISME Journal* 13, 2437–2446. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0446-4
- Staley, J. T., & Konopka, A. (1985). Measurement of in situ activities of nonphotosynthetic microorganisms in aquatic and terrestrial habitats. *Annual review of microbiology*, 39, 321–346. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.mi.39.100185.001541
- Stamper, C. E., Hoisington, A. J., Gomez, O. M., Halweg-Edwards, A. L., Smith, D. G., Bates, K. L., Kinney,
 K. A., Postolache, T. T., Brenner, L. A., Rook, G. A. W., & Lowry, C. A. (2016). The Microbiome of
 the Built Environment and Human Behavior: Implications for Emotional Health and Well-Being

in Postmodern Western Societies. *International Review of Neurobiology, 131* (September), 289–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2016.07.006

- Steen, A. D., Crits-Christoph, A., Carini, P., DeAngelis, K. M., Fierer, N., Lloyd, K. G., & Cameron Thrash,
 J. (2019). High proportions of bacteria and archaea across most biomes remain uncultured. *The ISME Journal*, *13*, 3126-3130. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0484-y
- Stjärne Aspelund, A., Sjöström, K., Olsson Liljequist, B., Mörgelin, M., Melander, E., & Påhlman, L. I. (2016). Acetic acid as a decontamination method for sink drains in a nosocomial outbreak of metallo-β-lactamase-producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 94*(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2016.05.009
- Sukhum, K. V., Newcomer, E. P., Cass, C., Wallace, M. A., Johnson, C., Fine, J., Sax, S., Barlet, M. H., Burnham, C.-A. D., Dantas, G., & Kwon, J. H. (2022). Antibiotic-resistant organisms establish reservoirs in new hospital built environments and are related to patient blood infection isolates. *Communications Medicine*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s43856-022-00124-5
- Suzuki, M. T., & Giovannoni, S. J. (1996). Bias Caused by Template Annealing in the Amplification of Mixtures of 16S rRNA Genes by PCR. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 62(2). http://aem.asm.org/
- Taylor, M., Gaskin, S., Bentham, R., & Pisaniello, D. (2014). Airborne fungal profiles in office buildings in metropolitan Adelaide, South Australia: Background levels, diversity and seasonal variation.
 Indoor and Built Environment, 23(7), 1002–1011. https://doi.org/10.1177/1420326X13499172
- Thompson, L. R., Sanders, J. G., McDonald, D., Amir, A., Ladau, J., Locey, K. J., Prill, R. J., Tripathi, A., Gibbons, S. M., Ackermann, G., Navas-Molina, J. A., Janssen, S., Kopylova, E., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., González, A., Morton, J. T., Mirarab, S., Xu, Z. Z., Jiang, L., ... Zhao, H. (2017). A communal catalogue reveals Earth's multiscale microbial diversity. *Nature*, *551*(7681), 457–463. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24621
- Tong, X., Leung, M. H. Y., Wilkins, D., & Lee, P. K. H. (2017). City-scale distribution and dispersal routes of mycobiome in residences. *Microbiome*, *5*(131), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-017-0346-7
- Torvinen, E., Meklin, T., Torkko, P., Suomalainen, S., Reiman, M., Katila, M.-L., Paulin, L., & Nevalainen,
 A. (2006). Mycobacteria and Fungi in Moisture-Damaged Building Materials. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(10), 6822–6824. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00588-06

- Toyoda, A., Shibata, Y., Matsuo, Y., Terada, K., Sugimoto, H., Higashi, K., Mori, H., Ikeuchi, A., Ito, M.,
 Kurokawa, K., & Katahira, S. (2023). Diversity and compositional differences of the airborne
 microbiome in a biophilic indoor environment. *Scientific Reports, 13*(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-34928-9
- Vaishampayan, P., Probst, A. J., La Duc, M. T., Bargoma, E., Benardini, J. N., Andersen, G. L., & Venkateswaran, K. (2013). New perspectives on viable microbial communities in low-biomass cleanroom environments. *The ISME Journal, 7*(2), 312–324. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2012.114
- Valentin, A. S., Santos, S. Dos, Goube, F., Gimenes, R., Decalonne, M., Mereghetti, L., Daniau, C., van der Mee-Marquet, N., Abdoush, H., Alfandari, S., Allaire, A., Aloe, L., Andreo, A., Antoine, E., Aurel, C., Azaouzi, A., Barry-Perdereau, V., Berrouane, Y., Blaise, S., ... Vanson, M. L. (2021). A prospective multicentre surveillance study to investigate the risk associated with contaminated sinks in the intensive care unit. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 27*(9), 1347.e9-1347.e14. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CMI.2021.02.018
- van der Schoor, A. S., Severin, J. A., Klaassen, C. H. W., Gommers, D., Bruno, M. J., Hendriks, J. M., Voor in 't holt, A. F., & Vos, M. C. (2023). Environmental contamination with highly resistant microorganisms after relocating to a new hospital building with 100% single-occupancy rooms: A prospective observational before-and-after study with a three-year follow-up. International *Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 248*, 114106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2022.114106
- van der Wielen, P. W. J. J., & van der Kooij, D. (2013). Nontuberculous mycobacteria, fungi, and opportunistic pathogens in unchlorinated drinking water in the Netherlands. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 79*(3), 825–834. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02748-12/SUPPL_FILE/ZAM999104048SO1.PDF
- Vergara-Ló Pez, S., Dom Inguez, M. C., Conejo, M. C., Pascual, A. ´, & Rodr Iguez-Bano, J. (2013). Wastewater drainage system as an occult reservoir in a protracted clonal outbreak due to metallo-Î2-lactamase-producing Klebsiella oxytoca. *Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases,* 19(11), E490–E498. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-0691.12288

- Walker, A. W., Martin, J. C., Scott, P., Parkhill, J., Flint, H. J., & Scott, K. P. (2015). 16S rRNA gene-based profiling of the human infant gut microbiota is strongly influenced by sample processing and PCR primer choice. *Microbiome, 3*(26). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0087-4
- Wang, H., Edwards, M. A., Falkinham, J. O., & Pruden, A. (2013). Probiotic approach to pathogen control in premise plumbing systems? A review. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 47(18), 10117–10128. https://doi.org/10.1021/es402455r
- Wang, H., Masters, S., Edwards, M. A., Falkinham, J. O., & Pruden, A. (2014). Effect of Disinfectant,
 Water Age, and Pipe Materials on Bacterial and Eukaryotic Community Structure in Drinking
 Water Biofilm. *Environmental Science & Technology, 48*(3), 1426-1435.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/es402636u
- Wang, H., Masters, S., Hong, Y., Stallings, J., Falkinham, J. O., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2012).
 Effect of Disinfectant, Water Age, and Pipe Material on Occurrence and Persistence of Legionella, mycobacteria, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Two Amoebas. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(21), 11566-11574. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303212a
- Wang, S., Qian, H., Sun, Z., Cao, G., Ding, P., & Zheng, X. (2023). Comparison of airborne bacteria and fungi in different built environments in selected cities in five climate zones of China. *Science of the Total Environment, 860,* 160445. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.160445
- Warmbrod, K. L., Cole, J., Sharkey, C. M., Sengupta, A., Connell, N., Casagrande, R., & Delarosa, P. (2021). Biosafety Professionals: A Role in the Pandemic Response Team. *Health Security*,19(4), 454-458. https://doi.org/10.1089/HS.2021.0015. PMID: 34415789
- Weikl, F., Tischer, C., Probst, A. J., Heinrich, J., Markevych, I., & Jochner, S. (2016). Fungal and Bacterial Communities in Indoor Dust Follow Different Environmental Determinants. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(4), 154131. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0154131
- Wiener, J., Quinn, J. P., Bradford, P. A., Goering, R. V., Nathan, C., Bush, K., & Weinstein, R. A. (1999).
 Multiple antibiotic-resistant Klebsiella and Escherichia coli in nursing homes. *JAMA*, 281(6), 517–523. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.281.6.517
- Wilkins, D., Leung, M. H., & Lee, P. K. (2016). Indoor air bacterial communities in Hong Kong households assemble independently of occupant skin microbiomes. *Environmental Microbiology*, 18(6), 1754–1763. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12889

- Wingender, J., & Flemming, H. C. (2011). Biofilms in drinking water and their role as reservoir for pathogens. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 214(6), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.05.009
- Wolf, I., Bergervoet, P. W. M., Sebens, F. W., van den Oever, H. L. A., Savelkoul, P. H. M., & van der Zwet, W. C. (2014). The sink as a correctable source of extended-spectrum β-lactamase contamination for patients in the intensive care unit. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 87*(2), 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2014.02.013
- Wood, M., Gibbons, S. M., Lax, S., Eshoo-Anton, T. W., Owens, S. M., Kennedy, S., Gilbert, J. A., & Hampton-Marcell, J. T. (2015). Athletic equipment microbiota are shaped by interactions with human skin. *Microbiome*, *3*(25). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0088-3
- Woon, J. J., Ahmad Kamar, A., Teh, C. S. J., Idris, N., Zhazali, R., Saaibon, S., Basauhra Singh, H. K., Charanjeet Singh, J. K. G., Kamarulzaman, A., & Ponnampalavanar, S. (2023). Molecular Epidemiological Investigation and Management of Outbreak Caused by Carbapenem-Resistant Acinetobacter baumannii in a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. *Microorganisms*, *11*(4), 1073. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11041073
- Wu, D., Jin, L., Xie, J., Liu, H., Zhao, J., Ye, D., & Li, X. D. (2022). Inhalable antibiotic resistomes emitted from hospitals: metagenomic insights into bacterial hosts, clinical relevance, and environmental risks. *Microbiome*, 10(19). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-021-01197-5
- Yamamoto, N., Hospodsky, D., Dannemiller, K. C., Nazaroff, W. W., & Peccia, J. (2015). Indoor Emissions as a Primary Source of Airborne Allergenic Fungal Particles in Classrooms. *Environmental Science & Technology, 49*, 5098–5106. https://doi.org/10.1021/es506165z
- Yanagi, U., Kato, S., Nagano, H., Ito, K., Yamanaka, T., Momoi, Y., Kobayashi, H., & Hayama, H. (2022).
 Dispersion characteristics of oral microbial communities in a built environment. *Japan Architectural Review*, 5(2), 225–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/2475-8876.12261
- Yang, J., Wang, H., Roberts, D. J., Du, H. N., Yu, X. F., Zhu, N. Z., & Meng, X. Z. (2020). Persistence of antibiotic resistance genes from river water to tap water in the Yangtze River Delta. *Science of the Total Environment*, 742, 140592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140592
- Yang, Y., Che, Y., Liu, L., Wang, C., Yin, X., Deng, Y., Yang, C., & Zhang, T. (2022). Rapid absolute quantification of pathogens and ARGs by nanopore sequencing. *Science of the Total Environment, 809*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.152190

- Yano, R., Shimoda, T., Watanabe, R., Kuroki, Y., Okubo, T., Nakamura, S., Matsuo, J., Yoshimura, S., & Yamaguchi, H. (2017). Diversity changes of microbial communities into hospital surface environments. Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy, 23(7), 439–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiac.2017.03.016
- Yatsunenko, T., Rey, F. E., Manary, M. J., Trehan, I., Gloria Dominguez-Bello, M., Contreras, M., Magris, M., Hidalgo, G., Baldassano, R. N., Anokhin, A. P., Heath, A. C., Warner, B., Reeder, J., Kuczynski, J., Caporaso, J. G., Lozupone, C. A., Lauber, C., Clemente, J. C., Knights, D., ... Gordon, J. I. (2012).
 Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. *Nature* 486, 222-227. *https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11053*
- Ye, C., Xian, X., Bao, R., Zhang, Y., Feng, M., Lin, W., & Yu, X. (2022). Recovery of microbiological quality of long-term stagnant tap water in university buildings during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Science of The Total Environment, 806*(Pt 2), 150616. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.150616
- Yu, J., Kim, D., Lee, T., & Yu, A. J. (2010). Microbial diversity in biofilms on water distribution pipes of different materials. *Water Science & Technology, 61*(1), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.813
- Zhang, H. H., Chen, S. N., Huang, T. L., Shang, P. L., Yang, X., & Ma, W. X. (2015). Indoor heating drives water bacterial growth and community metabolic profile changes in building tap pipes during the winter season. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(10), 13649–13661. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph121013649
- Zhang, J., Li, W., Chen, J., Wang, F., Qi, W., Li, Y., & Xie, B. (2019). Effect of hydraulic conditions on the prevalence of antibiotic resistance in water supply systems. *Chemosphere*, 235, 354–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.06.157
- Zhao, Y., Wang, Q., Chen, Z., Mao, D., & Luo, Y. (2021). Significant higher airborne antibiotic resistance genes and the associated inhalation risk in the indoor than the outdoor. *Environmental pollution*, 268(Pt B), 115620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115620
- Zhao, W., Zeng, W., Pang, B., Luo, M., Peng, Y., Xu, J., Kan, B., Li, Z., & Lu, X. (2023). Oxford nanopore long-read sequencing enables the generation of complete bacterial and plasmid genomes without short-read sequencing. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 14*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2023.1179966

- Zhong, W., Schröder, T., & Bekkering, J. (2022). Biophilic design in architecture and its contributions to health, well-being, and sustainability: A critical review. *Frontiers of Architectural Research*, 11(1), 114–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foar.2021.07.006
- Zhou, F., & Wang, Y. (2013). Characteristics of antibiotic resistance of airborne Staphylococcus isolated from metro stations. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 10(6), 2412-26. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10062412

Chapter 2. Characterization of Communal Sink Drain Communities of a University Campus

Zoe Withey¹, Tim Goodall², Sheila MacIntyre¹, Hyun S. Gweon¹

¹School of Biological Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, UK

²UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, Wallingford, UK

Published (2021) at *Environmental DNA*, Available online at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.196</u>

2.1 Abstract

Microorganisms are widely distributed throughout the built environment and even those found in concealed environments such as sink p-traps can have an impact on our health. To date, most studies on sink bacterial communities focused on those present in hospitals with no to little information regarding sinks in residential or communal settings. Here, we conducted a characterisation using 16S rRNA sequencing of the bacterial communities of communal restroom sinks located on a university campus to investigate the diversity, prevalence and abundances of the bacteria that reside in this understudied environment. The study found that community composition and structure were highly variable across individual sinks, and there were marginal differences between buildings and the two different parts of sink examined. Proteobacteria were the most abundant phylum in the sink communities, and the families *Burkholderiaceae*, *Moraxellaceae* and *Sphingomonadaceae* were found to be ubiquitous across all sinks. Notably, human skin was identified as a primary contributor to the below-strainer sink bacterial community. These data provide novel insight into the sink bacterial communities' constituents and serve as the foundation for subsequent studies that might explore community stability and resilience of *in situ* sinks.

Keywords

DNA Barcoding, Sink, Microbiome, Built Environment, Environmental Microbiology.

2.2 Introduction

With humans in developed countries spending up to 90% of their lives indoors, there has been an increased effort to understand the mechanisms that influence microorganisms and their community dynamics (Klepesis et al., 2001). It is now necessary to recognise that buildings are complex ecosystems and microbial communities are present throughout the built environment (BE). The interactions microorganisms have with one another, their environment and specifically human occupants can have consequences that may beneficially or negatively affect human health and wellbeing (Hoisington et al., 2015; Stamper et al., 2016).

Indoor BEs are purposely designed to remain dry for human occupants and are therefore expected to be ecological sinks (Pulliam, 1988). Studies have shown this to be the case with BEs consisting of migrant, mainly human-associated microorganism rather than residential microorganisms (Lax et al., 2017). There is a greater influence of dispersal into the BE, for example, by occupants directly and indirectly depositing microorganisms, than by endogenous growth (Coil et al., 2020; Hospodsky et al., 2012; McDonagh et al., 2014). An exception to this may be areas which receive intentional and frequent water use such as bathrooms and their associated sinks and pipes. Periodic water use and flushing of waste fluid down sinks, alongside warmer indoor temperatures, and pipes being a relatively protected environment favours formation of biofilms (Bitton, 2014; Ji et al., 2017). The body of water in P-traps also allows for periodic stagnation, further promoting bacterial growth and biofilm formation (Bédard et al., 2018; Prest et al., 2013). Biofilms display higher tolerance to disinfectants, facilitate resistance to environmental stress, and allows embedded microorganisms to share nutrients and metabolic products (Chao et al., 2015; Douterelo et al., 2018; Poitelon et al., 2010; Revetta et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2004). This suggests the P-traps of sinks, invented to prevents sewer gases rising from the sink drain into the building, are an ideal environment for proliferation of microbial communities.

Built or indoor surfaces experience strong selective pressures (Martin et al., 2015). To a lesser extent, P-traps are also a selective environment due to the presence of antibacterial soap, low available carbon, repeat flushing and competing microorganisms (Douterelo et al., 2016; Hibbing et al., 2010). In restrooms previous work showed that both dispersal and selective pressures determine microbial composition as bathroom surfaces clustered based on their dominant source populations (Flores et al., 2011). Besides humans influencing community composition, environmental influences and building design can have an impact (Kembel et al., 2012; Meadow et al., 2014, 2015). Environmental sources of colonising microorganism can be from pets, air, water, or plants (Hewitt et al., 2012; Kelly & Gilbert, 2013). These microorganisms can form established communities or be transient dependent upon building conditions or routines such as cleaning or remediation (Adams et al., 2016; Wingender

& Flemming, 2011). The P-Trap of sinks is often inaccessible and thorough cleaning is limited suggesting stable communities could form.

Previous studies have highlighted the importance of sinks and their traps as a source in nosocomial outbreaks (Cholley et al., 2008; Gillespie et al., 2000; Lowe et al., 2012). Sink traps harboured opportunistic and antimicrobial resistant bacteria, which were not easily controlled or removed (Hota et al., 2009; Stjärne Aspelund et al., 2016). An experimental study showed how biofilms can extend from the P-trap to basin and upon addition of faucet water, microorganisms can be splashed to the surrounding area (Kotay et al., 2017). More recently a study was released detailing the formation of biofilms in an in vitro drain biofilm model (Ledwoch et al., 2020). This further demonstrated the establishment of a rigid thick layer of embedded cells within eight days in a P-trap simulated environment. Additionally, upon disinfection, the back sections of the trap were not controlled by Sodium Hypochlorite disinfection and within days post treatment the biofilm had recovered. This finding is similar to other studies where biofilms recovered within seven days after treatment with bleach or foaming products (Buchan et al., 2019; Jones et al., 2020). These studies were again hospital associated as they treated sinks found in patient rooms. Ledwoch's and colleagues model provides a reproducible and simple testing methodology for investigating trap formation and disinfection, but it does not represent complex biofilms formed over years of in situ sinks. While other studies have explored the surfaces of universities and restrooms (Dobbler et al., 2017; Flores et al., 2011; Ross & Neufeld, 2015), currently there is no literature describing the microbiome of P-traps of sinks in situ in non-clinical communal or public buildings. Universities offer an interesting study site, because they are subject to high population densities of healthy individuals from culturally diverse backgrounds. Individual behaviour dependent upon building may influence the microbial diversity and composition of sink P-traps.

The objectives of this study were to (i) determine the structure and diversity of bacterial communities in communal sinks across the University campus; (ii) explore if sinks had a core microbiome or if community composition was specific to building and/or restroom gender; and (iii) ascertain the dominant sources of the microorganisms to the university campus sinks.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Sampling sites and procedure

Restroom sinks from nine buildings located on the main campus of the University of Reading were sampled. Five of the buildings belonged to the School of Biological Sciences, two were large humanity teaching buildings and the remaining two buildings were centrally located communal buildings: the
library and student union. Between November to December 2019 during termtime, 123 sinks were sampled, resulting in a total of 215 samples to be sequenced. Routine cleaning of the sinks throughout all buildings was consistent and involved a daily surface wipe down of tap with Virucidal surface cleaner disinfectant. Drains and P-trap are not routinely treated. Each sample was classified by building (nine buildings), drain type (P-trap or below-strainer) and restroom gender (male, female or unisex) (Supplementary File: Figure A.1). For each sink, two samples were taken where possible using sterile, cotton-tipped buds. For the P-trap drain type, the cotton bud was attached to a 40 cm metal rod ("sampling rod"), inserted and swirled in a circular motion for five seconds while touching the surface. For the below-strainer drain type, the circumference of the top of the pipe, just below the drain was swabbed using the same swirling motion. Swabs were then cut using ethanol sterilised scissors directly into beaded microtubes. Prior to swabbing, the sink was flushed with cold water for one minute to eliminate recent usage as a confounding factor. Samples were stored in the freezer at -20°C and thawed before DNA extraction.

2.3.2 DNA extraction and sequencing

Genomic DNA was extracted from the swabs using the HigherPurity Soil DNA Isolation kit (Canvax Biotech), following the manufacturers protocol. The DNA was eluted in a final volume of 50 μ l and stored at -20°C until needed. The first round of PCR targeted the V4 hypervariable region of the 16S ribosomal RNA gene with primers, 515F (Forward: GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA) and 806R (Reverse: GGACTACNVGGGTWTCTAAT) as used by the Earth Microbiome Project (EMP, https://press.igsb.anl.gov/earthmicrobiome/protocols-and-standards/16s/). Each PCR amplification mix contained 8.5 µl of Nuclease-free water, 12.5 µl of 1X PCR Mastermix, 0.5 µl of each 10 µM forward and reverse primers and 3.0 µl of gDNA, resulting in a total volume of 25 µl. Thermocycling conditions were followed as described by the EMP protocol. PCR products were purified with AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter) in accordance with manufacturers PCR purification workflow. The second PCR reaction adds Illumina-specific adapters and unique barcodes to either side of PCR product, allowing for samples to be pooled. The thermocycle conditions for the second round of PCR were 95°C for 2 minutes and 8 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 30 seconds and a final extension of 72°C for 10 minutes. SequalPrep[™] Normalization Plate Kit (ThermoFisher) cleaned and normalised the samples before being pooled. Samples were sequenced on the Illumina Miseq Platform (250PE) at UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.

Chapter 2

2.3.3 Data processing

The sequences were quality filtered and adapters removed using TrimGalore (https://github.com/FelixKrueger/TrimGalore). The resulting quality-filtered reads were processed with R using the DADA2 pipeline (Callahan et al., 2016) generating an Amplicon Sequence Variant (ASV) abundance table. Each ASV was classified using the naive Bayesian classifier (Wang et al., 2007) against SILVA database (Quast et al., 2013) for kingdom to species assignments.

2.3.4 Statistical analysis

All microbial community statistical analyses were conducted in R (v.3.6.3) using the packages vegan (v.2.5-6) and phyloseq (v.1.30.0). Visualisation of results used the ggplot2 (v.3.3.2) package. Prior to statistical analysis ASVs that were classified as Eukaryota, Archaea or unclassified at domain were removed from the ASV abundance table. The ASV table was rarefied to an even sampling depth of 9000 resulting in 199 samples that met the threshold. A further two samples were removed from analyses as they appeared to be outliers. To assess beta diversity, the vegdist function was used to construct Bray-Curtis dissimilarity distances and visualised as a Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS). Then dispersion within groups and between groups (groups being tested were building, drain type and gender) was tested for statistical significance. Betadisper was used to test homogeneity of dispersions among groups, coupled with ANOVA to test for their significance. The adonis function was used to perform permutational analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) to compare Bray-Curtis distances against drain type, building and restroom gender (Oksanen et al., 2020). PERMANOVA tests whether composition among groups are similar or not. The number of permutations was set at the default 999 to calculate P values. Alpha-diversity was assessed with ASV richness and Shannon diversity indices. The Kruskal-Wallis test was applied to look for significant differences in alpha diversity across drain type, building and restroom gender. LEfSe analysis (Segata et al., 2011) was calculated with Galaxy modules provided by the Huttenhower lab. LEfSe was used to compare below-strainer and P-trap samples and find the ASVs that contributed more to differences between the two groups. Statistical analysis of the data set was performed at ASV taxonomic level.

To ascertain the potential sources of bacteria in university restroom sinks, the SourceTracker software package was used (Knights et al., 2013). SourceTracker was supplied with source environments from selected studies accessed from Qiita (Gonzalez et al., 2018) that met the following criteria (i) sequenced V4 region; (ii) processed sequences through Deblur pipeline; (iii) sequence length of 90bp; and (iv) logical source environment for restroom sink. These studies contained samples from humans and outdoor environments (Chase et al., 2016; Flores et al., 2013, 2014; Lax et al., 2014). Biom files

66

for each of these studies were accessible for download from Qiita. The biom tables from Qiita had been processed through the Deblur pipeline, so for compatibility and to merge tables the sink quality-filtered reads were processed again using Deblur QIIME 2 (trimmed to 90 bp) (<u>https://github.com/biocore/deblur</u>). Using sequences with a length of 90bp limits taxonomic resolution but some studies accessible through Qiita only met that length such as soil sources, therefore 90bp was chosen for comparability. Default parameters were used unless otherwise stated.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Sequences and ASVs

The 215 samples from the nine sites across the university campus generated a total of 3,358,721 paired-end raw sequences, with a median/average of 14,821/15,622 sequences per sample. After rarefaction, 1,791,000 sequences remained which were grouped into 2,741 ASVs where they were distributed and classified into 31 phyla, 51 classes, 118 orders and 186 families. An average of 64 ASVs were observed in all the samples (min 18 ASV, max 165 ASVs). In the samples of all university sinks, 95.8% of sequences were assigned to the phylum level, 91.2% to the class level, 82.2% to the order level, 74.1% to the family level, 48.5% to genus level and 6 % to species level.

2.4.2 Sink Bacterial Community Structure and Composition

While there were significant differences in bacterial community structure and composition between buildings, as indicated by the NMDS plot (Figure 2.1A) and R2 the differences were marginal with only 19% of the variation explained (PERMANOVA, DF = 8, F.model = 5.5998, R2 = 0.19243, P = 0.001). Moreover, pairwise comparisons showed that the average R2 of all comparisons was below 0.1 (Supplementary Table A.1). HBS was significantly different from all other buildings (R2 values ranging from 0.06 to 0.15) (Supplementary Table A.1). There was a significant difference in beta diversity between the buildings (ANOVA, DF = 8, F = 2.3291, P < 0.05), where Student Union building had the most homogenous community while Lyle building had the least (Figure 2.1A, Supplementary Table A.2). ASV richness (Figure 2.1C) and diversity (Figure 2.1D) varied significantly between buildings (Kruskal-Wallis test, Richness: DF = 8, *p* <0.05; Shannon: DF = 8, *p* <0.001; Supplementary Table A.3). There was a significant difference in community structure and composition between the upper part of the drain (below-strainer) and the P-Trap albeit with a low R2 (Figure 2.1B; PERMANOVA, DF = 1, F = 24.096, R2 = 0.10998, P = 0.001). The beta diversity between below-strainer and P-trap samples was also shown to be significantly different (ANOVA, DF = 1, F = 4.935, P = 0.027). The difference between buildings was still significant when buildings were analysed in their separate drain types

(Supplementary Table A.4). An average number of 66 ASVs (min 20, max 167) and 61 ASVs (min 18, max 160) were observed in below-strainer samples and P-trap samples, respectively. ASV richness and diversity were not significantly different between the two drain types (Wilcoxon test, Richness: W = 4400, P = 0.32; Shannon: W = 4444, P = 0.38). Rarefaction curves of the two drain types indicated that additional sequencing efforts will not result in changes in abundance (Supplementary Figure A.2). Notably there were no significant difference among sink ASV richness and diversity when categorised by restroom gender (Supplementary Table A.3). Regarding gender beta diversity metrics, the bacterial communities were statistically different, however gender had the lowest variance explained, i.e. only 2% of the variation in bacterial communities was explained by the Gender of restrooms (PERMANOVA, DF = 2, F = 2.1941, R2 = 0.02212, P = 0.002) while the dispersion among gender groups was homogeneous (ANOVA, DF = 2, F = 0.4784, P = 0.62).

LEfSe analysis identified 53 taxa that were more relatively abundant in either of the drain types (below-strainer and P-trap had 29 taxa and 24 taxa, respectively, Supplementary Figure A.3 both with Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) score > 3.0). ASV2 belonging to the family *Burkholderiaceae* and ASV1 belonging to *Moraxellaceae* were the most differentially abundant ASVs in below-strainer and P-trap samples respectively (LDA > 4.5). For restroom gender, three ASVs were identified as discriminatory, one for each category (Female, Male, Unisex) (Supplementary Figure A.4). No discriminatory taxa were found for sink samples between buildings.

At the phylum level, the dominant bacterial phylum across all sink samples was Proteobacteria (88.75% of sequences), followed by Bacteroidetes (5.93%), then Actinobacteria (3.20%). The remaining phyla had mean relative abundances of less than 1%. The relative abundance of Proteobacteria was consistent across samples but the relative abundance of Actinobacteria was higher overall in below-strainer samples whereas, Bacteroidetes was more prevalent in P-trap samples. (Figure 2.2). At the family level, compositional differences were more pronounced as Moraxellaceae was the most prevalent family in below-strainer samples while Burkholderiaceae was more dominant in P-trap samples. Markedly, Acinetobacter of the Family Moraxellaceae was the dominant genera across all sinks (19.7% of reads) with ASV1 accounting for the majority of those (16.8% of reads), followed by Acidovorax (ASV2) of the family Burkholderiaceae, (10.4% of reads). Overall, the five most abundant families (70.86% of sequence) were Moraxellaceae, Burkholderiaceae, Sphingomonadaceae, Rhodocyclaceae and Enterobacteriaceae, all belonging to the phylum Proteobacteria (Supplementary Figure A.5). Analysis of taxonomic composition of individual sinks at the family level showed highly variable taxonomic profiles between sinks (Supplementary Figure A.6).



Figure 2.1. (A) Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) resulting from Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices of community composition between nine different buildings sampled; Distances to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for sink bacterial communities for each building. (B) Aforementioned NMDS and distances to centroid for drain types. (C) ASV richness in sink communities across buildings for each drain type. (D) Shannon diversity index in sink communities across buildings sampled for each drain type. P-Traps in Hopkins building and Lyle building were inaccessible due to the design of the sinks.

Additionally, there were no observable patterns in relative abundances of taxa when grouped by restroom gender or building, except for Henley Business School building which appeared to have higher abundances of *Enterobacteriaceae* in both drain types when compared to other buildings. The 20 most common ASVs represented 60.44% of all reads and all except for 6 ASVs belonged to the 5 most abundant families (Supplementary Figure A.5B). Notably, of all the ASVs classified to genus level, except for two (*Xenophilus and Cloacibacterium*), have been identified in biofilms of drinking water faucet microbiome (Liu et al., 2012).

2.4.3 Core Sink Microbiome

To detect the core microbiome of sinks, shared ASVs were identified by prevalence and their average relative abundance for each of the 2,741 identified ASVs. No ASV was observed in all sink samples, however if split into drain type, one ASV from the genus *Acinetobacter* was identified in all P-trap samples. In this study an ASV was considered to be part of the core microbiome if it was present in at least 70% of samples (Figure 2.3). Seven ASVs were considered to belong to the "core" sink microbiome. Their average relative abundances ranged from 1.21% to 16.81% per ASV. Of the seven ASVs six were Proteobacteria belonging to the four families, *Moraxellaceae*, *Beijerinckiaceae*, *Burkholderiaceae* and *Sphingomonadaceae*. The remaining ASV belonged to the *Weeksellaceae* family of the phylum Bacteroidetes. Differences were seen in the number of ASVs classified as core when the data was split into below-strainer and P-trap where below-strainer and P-trap had 10 core ASVs and six core ASVs respectively (five ASVs were shared in both, Supplementary Figure A.7). When looking at core families, three families, namely *Burkholderiaceae*, *Moraxellaceae* and *Sphingomonadaceae*, were identified in 100% of all sinks sampled.

2.4.4 SourceTracker

Human skin was identified as a primary source of the bacterial taxa found across all sinks and was particularly associated with below-strainer biofilm samples (Figure 2.4). P-trap samples had a less distinct pattern with changes in leading sources dependent upon building. However, "unknown" source, was the second largest overall of the source categories. This is not uncommon in microbial samples as the source samples selected for SourceTracker may not be a complete representation of microorganism found in/on the Reading area and associated occupants.



Figure 2.2. Average relative abundance of the top 5 phyla and top 12 families found in the university restroom sinks. The average data represent pooled sequences from the 9 buildings spilt by drain type. Proteobacteria is the dominant bacterial phylum across all sinks regardless of building and drain type. Taxonomic differences were observed between drain types at family level. *Moraxellaceae* is more prevalent in below-strainer samples while *Burkholderiaceae* is more dominant in P-trap samples.



Figure 2.3. Prevalence of total 2,741 ASVs across 199 sink samples and their average relative abundance. ASVs are coloured by phylum. The dotted line shows the cut-off for taxa defined as core sink ASVs, prevalence \geq 0.7. Seven ASVs were present in the core region belonging to the families; *Moraxellaceae, Beijerinckiaceae, Burkholderiaceae, Sphingomonadaceae* and *Weeksellaceae*.

2.5 Discussion

Through this study, we have investigated the structure of the bacterial community and diversity of communal restroom sinks collected from a university campus. The results indicate that while building sampled as well as drain type had some effect on bacterial community structure (Figure 2.1A), the small effect sizes as well as marginal significant pairwise differences (Supplementary Table A.1) meant that the buildings were not too dissimilar in their restroom sink bacterial communities. It is also worth noting that the significant differences derived from PERMANOVA may have been influenced by the asymmetrical design and heterogeneous dispersions (Figure 2.1A) (Anderson, 2017). Differences in microbial communities between buildings have been previously reported (Rintala et al., 2008; Ross & Neufeld, 2015). Ross and Neufeld (2015) identified temporally stable bacterial communities on university door handles and demonstrated human frequency impacted door handle communities. Similarly, sinks in the Student Union building which is used by primarily students from across campus due to its central locality, had one of the highest alpha diversity. However, the library despite being widely used as well as centrally located did not have a high alpha diversity. This potentially is because the sinks in the library were relatively new as the building had been recently refurbished and subsequently opened only two to three months prior to sampling (opened September 2019).

The bacterial communities of university sinks examined in this study were dominated by Proteobacteria. Previous studies indicate that BE surface bacterial communities are often dominated by Proteobacteria due to the strong influence of humans in an indoor environment (Lax et al., 2014). Within drinking water, Proteobacteria frequently dominate 50-80% of bacterial communities (El-Chakhtoura et al., 2015; Ji et al., 2015; Pinto et al., 2012, 2014). As well as Proteobacteria being associated with the BE, the next top two phyla; Bacteroidetes and Actinobacteria have also been associated with a variety of built environments including restroom surfaces (Flores et al., 2011; Kelley et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2007; McManus & Kelley, 2005; Rintala et al., 2008; Ross & Neufeld, 2015). Similarly, both bulk water and biofilms of drinking water pipes share these top phyla (Inkinen et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2014).

Overall, Proteobacteria was the most dominant phylum in both Drain types, and the phylum Actinobacteria was relatively more abundant in below-strainer samples while Bacteroidetes was more abundant in P-trap samples. Additionally, compositional differences were more pronounced at family level between below-strainer and P-trap samples. *Moraxellaceae* was the most prevalent family in below-strainer samples while *Burkholderiaceae* was more dominant in P-trap samples. Differences may be attributed to the fundamental difference in environmental conditions of the two drain types i.e., the body of water in P-Trap versus the "drier" drain. Differences between the two environments was further supported by LEfSe reporting a large number of bacterial taxa between the two drain

73



Figure 2.4. Predicted source contribution to each building generated from SourceTracker output. Source environments were taken from studies deposited in Qiita. Point size represents predicted source contribution to each building. Human skin is a dominant source across below-strainer communities. P-trap samples do not have a dominating source and there is more variation in contributing sources across buildings.

types. There was also a strong presence of *Enterobacteriaceae* in P-traps particularly in HBS building and the Library building.

ASV level analysis showed many sequences associated with Acinetobacter, which was a genus found in all sink samples. Previous BE studies have identified Acinetobacter as a common BE genus due to its wide distribution from hospitals to subways and even in the international space station (Afshinnekoo et al., 2015; Baron et al., 2014; Castro et al., 2004; Chase et al., 2016; Hsu et al., 2020; Merino et al., 2019; Ross & Neufeld, 2015). Acinetobacter has also been identified on specific water-associated environments such as shower tiles and isolated from drinking water (Allen et al., 2004; Norton & Lechevallier, 2000). Furthermore, it was the most common genus of bacteria found in treated water and was present throughout the water treatment process suggesting they can withstand the harsh treatments (Lin et al., 2014). As well as being a common treated water associated genus, Acinetobacter is also capable of colonising both dry and moist areas of human skin (Powell et al., 2012). Acinetobacter's ability to survive harsh treatments and to colonise human skin may explain why it was the most abundant genus found in sinks. Acinetobacter spp. have been implicated in various nosocomial outbreaks (Hong et al., 2012; Kappstein et al., 2000) and can be resistant to multiple antibiotics (Badave & Dhananjay, 2015; Kumari et al., 2019). Acidovorax, which has been previously identified in hospital sink pipes and drinking water distribution systems (Gilbert et al., 2010; Pinto et al., 2012), was also associated with the core ASV with the second highest prevalence belonged to this genus. Properties of Acidovorax species such as strong autoaggregating abilities and high whole-cell hydrophobicity are important in biofilm development in flowing environments (Rickard et al., 2004). Sink drains experience frequent disruption due to tap usage, and the autoaggregating properties of Acidovorax may explain why it is a successful coloniser of sinks. The third most abundant ASV belonged to the Family Enterobacteriaceae which contains opportunistic and principal pathogens alongside human gut commensals and environmental species. Previously studies in hospitals identified handwashing sinks and drains as a possible reservoir of potentially harmful Klebsiella pneumoniae and Klebsiella oxytoca (Buchan et al., 2019; Leitner et al., 2015). This demonstrates that the sink environment is a suitable environment for clinically significant strains. Further investigation of what genera and species of the family Enterobacteriaceae are found in "healthy" sinks is required to confirm whether they could be a future risk.

One of the notable findings from this study is that human skin was identified as a primary contributor to the sink microbiome (Figure 2.4). Of the 211 Families identified, 32 have been found on human hands including the dominating Family, *Moraxellaceae*. We had expected a higher contribution from the human gut as it had been previously identified as a contributing source for surfaces near toilets (Flores et al., 2011). The low contributions of human gut could be due to either that not all bacteria of

the bulk water are able to attach to the pipe wall biofilms (Inkinen et al., 2016), or more likely that the plumbing is not a suitable environment for proliferation of bacteria found in the gut. Arguably, prevalence of skin and gut bacteria in the sink basin and P-trap is expected as the process of washing hands would remove bacteria present on the skin. Moreover, skin associated bacteria are generally resilient and can survive on surfaces for extended periods of time (Grice & Segre, 2011), and the dead skin, oils from hands and other organic matter such as faeces may supply additional nutrients for microorganisms to form stable communities in sinks. While we would need to investigate the tap water itself in order to determine if it represents the water sources (Freshwater and Groundwater), our results suggests that tap water may be another potential contributor to the sink microbiome, and this may also explain why the larger contribution from groundwater was seen as a source in P-trap samples. Faucet water generally harbours relatively low concentrations of bacteria (Flores et al., 2011), but a study of office drink water pipe biofilms suggested that the supply of fresh water, especially in stagnated areas, promotes new growth of active bacteria (Inkinen et al., 2016). Therefore, we can speculate that the body of water in a P-trap may provide a supply of faucet water microorganisms to the pipe wall biofilms, which is replenished upon sink usage. This study has shown that there was a general lack of ASVs that are ubiquitous in sinks (Figure 2.3). Previous studies have shown that between and within humans, there is great variation in taxonomic composition, and no core temporal microbiome exists at high abundances within a single body site (Caporaso et al., 2011; Turnbaugh et al., 2007). As such, one would expect a similar trend in sink microbiome if humans are driving sink bacterial community. Human palms particularly have a smaller core microbiome when compared to mouth and gut (Caporaso et al., 2011).

One of the limitations of this study is that sampling was restricted to a single time point, and no human occupancy or restroom use data was collected at the time. Also collecting physico-chemical data would have allowed investigating other potential drivers of the community. Furthermore, as previously mentioned faucet water may be sampled to determine its contribution to bacterial communities. While it is beyond the scope of this study, additional high throughput "omics" approaches such as metatranscriptomics may prove to be useful in identifying overall community activities in the sinks.

Overall, the results of this study showed diverse as well as highly variable taxonomic profiles among individual sinks while the differences between buildings were marginal indicating not too dissimilar bacterial community composition and structure. Below-strainer and P-trap were shown to differ in their bacterial communities and specific taxa were found to be more relatively abundant in either of the drain types. Variation in community structures particularly within a given building, could be attributed to differences in human occupants since human skin was a primary contributor. This

76

emphasises the importance of external sources to the sink especially, those arising from human origin. These findings provide the foundation for subsequent studies that might explore community stability and resilience of *in situ* sinks, as well as defining what constitutes a viable population of this understudied ecosystem.

2.6 Declaration

2.6.1 Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable

2.6.2 Consent for publication

Not applicable

2.6.3 Availability of data and materials

The raw sequence data reported in this study have been deposited in the European Nucleotide Archive under the accession number PRJEB42256. The relevant information for each sample is shown in Supplementary Table A.5.

2.6.4 Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest that could be perceived as prejudicing the impartiality of the research reported.

2.6.5 Supplementary material link

The supplementary material for this article can be found at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.196</u>

2.7 Acknowledgements

ZW was supported by UKRI NERC SCENARIO Postgraduate center in the SCience of the Environment: Natural and Anthropogenic pR

2.8 References

- Adams, R. I., Bhangar, S., Dannemiller, K. C., Eisen, J. A., Fierer, N., Gilbert, J. A., Green, J. L., Marr, L. C., Miller, S. L., Siegel, J. A., Stephens, B., Waring, M. S., & Bibby, K. (2016). Ten questions concerning the microbiomes of buildings. *Building and Environment*, 109, 224–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2016.09.001
- Allen, M. J., Edberg, S. C., & Reasoner, D. J. (2004). Heterotrophic plate count bacteria What is their significance in drinking water? *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 92(3), 265–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2003.08.017
- Anderson, M. J. (2017). Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA). *Wiley StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118445112.stat07841
- Badave, G. K., & Dhananjay, K. (2015). Biofilm producing multidrug resistant Acinetobacter baumannii:
 An emerging challenge. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, 9(1), DC08-DC10.
 https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2015/11014.5398
- Bédard, E., Dé Ziel, E., & Vost, M. P. (2018). Impact of stagnation and sampling volume on water microbial quality monitoring in large buildings. *PLoS ONE, 13*(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199429
- Buchan, B. W., Arvan, J. A., Graham, M. B., Tarima, S., Faron, M. L., Nanchal, R., & Munoz--Price, L. S. (2019). Effectiveness of a hydrogen peroxide foam against bleach for the disinfection of sink drains. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 40*(6), 724–726. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2019.72
- Callahan, B. J., Mcmurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: High resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Caporaso, J. G., Lauber, C. L., Costello, E. K., Berg-Lyons, D., Gonzalez, A., Stombaugh, J., Knights, D.,
 Gajer, P., Ravel, J., Fierer, N., Gordon, J. I., & Knight, R. (2011). Moving pictures of the human microbiome. *Genome Biology*, *12*(5), R50. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2011-12-5-r50
- Chao, Y., Mao, Y., Wang, Z., & Zhang, T. (2015). Diversity and functions of bacterial community in drinking water biofilms revealed by high-throughput sequencing. *Scientific Reports*, 5(March), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep10044

- Chase, J., Fouquier, J., Zare, M., Sonderegger, D. L., Knight, R., Kelley, S. T., Siegel, J., Gregory Caporaso,
 J., & Chase, C. J. (2016). Geography and Location Are the Primary Drivers of Office Microbiome
 Composition. *mSystems*, 1(2), e00022. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00022-16
- Cholley, P., Thouverez, M., Floret, N., Bertrand, X., & Talon, D. (2008). The role of water fittings in intensive care rooms as reservoirs for the colonization of patients with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 34(8), 1428–1433. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-008-1110-z
- Coil D. A., Neches R. Y., Lang J. M., Jospin G., Brown W. E., Cavalier D., Hampton-Marcell J., Gilbert J.
 A., Eisen J. A. (2020). Bacterial communities associated with cell phones and shoes. *PeerJ*, 8(e9235). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9235
- Dobbler, P. C. T., Laureano, Á. M., Sarzi, D. S., Cañón, E. R. P., Metz, G. F., Santos de Freitas, A., Takagaki,
 B. M., D'Oliveira, C. B., Pylro, V. S., Copetti, A. C., Victoria, F., Redmile-Gordon, M., Morais, D. K.,
 & Roesch, L. F. W. (2018). Differences in bacterial composition between men's and women's restrooms and other common areas within a public building. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 111*, 551–561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-017-0976-6
- Douterelo, I., Fish, K. E., & Boxall, J. B. (2018). Succession of bacterial and fungal communities within biofilms of a chlorinated drinking water distribution system. *Water Research, 141*, 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.04.058
- Douterelo I., Husband S., Loza V., Boxall J. (2016). Dynamics of biofilm regrowth in drinking water distribution systems. *Appl Environ Microbiol 82*, 4155–4168. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00109-16
- El-Chakhtoura, J., Prest, E., Saikaly, P., van Loosdrecht, M., Hammes, F., & Vrouwenvelder, H. (2015).
 Dynamics of bacterial communities before and after distribution in a full-scale drinking water network. *Water Research*, 74, 180–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.02.015
- Flores, G. E., Bates, S. T., Caporaso, J. G., Lauber, C. L., Leff, J. W., Knight, R., & Fierer, N. (2013). Diversity, distribution and sources of bacteria in residential kitchens. *Environmental Microbiology*, 15(2), 588–596. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12036
- Flores, G. E., Bates, S. T., Knights, D., Lauber, C. L., & Stombaugh, J. (2011). Microbial Biogeography of
 Public Restroom Surfaces. *PLoS ONE, 6*(11), e28132.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028132
- Flores, G. E., Caporaso, J. G., Henley, J. B., Rideout, J. R., Domogala, D., Chase, J., Leff, J. W., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Gonzalez, A., Knight, R., Dunn, R. R., & Fierer, N. (2014). Temporal variability is a

personalized feature of the human microbiome. *Genome Biology,* 15(531). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0531-y

- Gilbert, Y., Veillette, M., & Duchaine, C. (2010). Airborne bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in hospital rooms. *Aerobiologia*, *26*, 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10453-010-9155-1
- Gillespie, T. A., Johnson, P. R. E., Notman, A. W., Coia, J. E., & Hanson, M. F. (2000). Eradication of a resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain after a cluster of infections in a hematology/oncology unit. *Clinical Microbiology Infections, 6*. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-0691.2000.00051.x
- Gonzalez, A., Navas-Molina, J. A., Kosciolek, T., McDonald, D., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Ackermann, G., DeReus, J., Janssen, S., Swafford, A. D., Orchanian, S. B., Sanders, J. G., Shorenstein, J., Holste, H., Petrus, S., Robbins-Pianka, A., Brislawn, C. J., Wang, M., Rideout, J. R., Bolyen, E., ... Knight, R. (2018). Qiita: rapid, web-enabled microbiome meta-analysis. *Nature Methods*, *15*(10), 796–798. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-018-0141-9
- Grice, E. A., & Segre, J. A. (2011). The skin microbiome. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9(4), 244–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2537
- Hewitt, K. M., Gerba, C. P., Maxwell, S. L., & Kelley, S. T. (2012). Office space bacterial abundance and diversity in three metropolitan areas. *PLoS ONE, 7*(5), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0037849
- Hibbing, M. E., Fuqua, C., Parsek, M. R., & Peterson, S. B. (2010). Bacterial competition: surviving and thriving in the microbial jungle. *Nature Reviews Microbiology, 8*(1), 15–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2259
- Hoisington, A. J., Brenner, L. A., Kinney, K. A., Postolache, T. T., & Lowry, C. A. (2015). The microbiome of the built environment and mental health. *Microbiome* 3(60). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0127-0
- Hospodsky, D., Qian, J., Nazaroff, W. W., Yamamoto, N., & Bibby, K. (2012). Human Occupancy as a Source of Indoor Airborne Bacteria. *PLoS ONE, 7*(4), 34867. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034867
- Hota, S., Hirji, Z., Stockton, K., Lemieux, C., Dedier, H., Wolfaardt, G., & Gardam, M. A. (2009). Outbreak of Multidrug-Resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa Colonization and Infection Secondary to Imperfect Intensive Care Unit Room Design. *Infection control and hospital epidemiology, 30*(1), 25-33. https://doi.org/10.1086/592700

- Inkinen, J., Jayaprakash, B., Santo Domingo, J. W., Keinänen-Toivola, M. M., Ryu, H., & Pitkänen, T. (2016). Diversity of ribosomal 16S DNA- and RNA-based bacterial community in an office building drinking water system. *Journal of Applied Microbiology, 120*(6), 1723–1738. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13144
- Inkinen, J., Kaunisto, T., Pursiainen, A., Miettinen, I. T., Kusnetsov, J., Riihinen, K., & Keinänen-Toivola,
 M. M. (2014). Drinking water quality and formation of biofilms in an office building during its first
 year of operation, a full scale study. *Water Research, 49*, 83–91.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.11.013
- Ji, P., Parks, J., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2015). Impact of water chemistry, pipe material and stagnation on the building plumbing microbiome. *PLoS ONE*, 10(10), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141087
- Kelley, S. T., & Gilbert, J. A. (2013). Studying the microbiology of the indoor environment. *Genome Biology*, *14*(202). https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-2-202
- Kelley, S. T., Theisen, U., Angenent, L. T., St Amand, A., & Pace, N. R. (2004). Molecular Analysis of Shower Curtain Biofilm Microbes. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(7), 4187–4192. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.7.4187-4192.2004
- Kembel, S. W., Jones, E., Kline, J., Northcutt, D., Stenson, J., Womack, A. M., Bohannan, B. J., Brown, G. Z., & Green, J. L. (2012). Architectural design influences the diversity and structure of the built environment microbiome. *The ISME Journal, 6,* 1469–1479. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.211
- Klepeis, N. E., Nelson, W. C., Ott, W. R., Robinson, J. P., Tsang, A. M., Switzer Paul, Behar Joseph V, Hern, S. C., & Engelmann, W. H. (2001). The National Human Activity Pattern Survey (NHAPS): a resource for assessing exposure to environmental pollutants. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 11(3), 231–252. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jea.7500165
- Knights, D., Kuczynski, J., Charlson, E. S., Zaneveld, J., Mozer, M. C., Collman, R. G., Bushman, F. D.,
 Knight, R., & Kelley, S. T. (2013). Bayesian community-wide culture-independent microbial source tracking. *Nature Methods*, 8(9), 761–763. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1650
- Kotay, S., Chai, W., Guilford, W., Barry, K., & Mathers, A. J. (2017). Spread from the Sink to the Patient: In Situ Study Using Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP)-Expressing Escherichia coli To Model Bacterial Dispersion from Hand-Washing Sink-Trap Reservoirs. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 83*(8), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03327-16

- Kumari, M., Batra, P., Malhotra, R., & Mathur, P. (2019). A 5-year surveillance on antimicrobial resistance of Acinetobacter isolates at a level-I trauma centre of India. *Journal of Laboratory Physicians*, 11(01), 034–038. https://doi.org/10.4103/jlp.jlp_72_18
- Lax, S., Sangwan, N., Smith, D., Larsen, P., Handley, K. M., Richardson, M., Guyton, K., Krezalek, M.,
 Shogan, B. D., Defazio, J., Flemming, I., Shakhsheer, ‡ Baddr, Weber, S., Landon, E., Garcia-Houchins, S., Siegel, J., Alverdy, J., Knight, R., Stephens, B., & Gilbert, J. A. (2017). Bacterial colonization and succession in a newly opened hospital. *Science Translational Medicine*, *9*, eaah6500. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aah6500 A
- Lax, S., Smith, D. P., Hampton-Marcell, J., Owens, S. M., Handley, K. M., Scott, N. M., Gibbons, S. M.,
 Larsen, P., Shogan, B. D., Weiss, S., Metcalf, J. L., Ursell, L. K., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Van Treuren,
 W., Hasan, N. A., Gibson, M. K., Colwell, R., Dantas, G., Knight, R., & Gilbert, J. A. (2014).
 Longitudinal analysis of microbial interaction between humans and the indoor environment. *Science*, 345(6200), 1048–1052. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1254529
- Ledwoch, K., Robertson, A., Lauran, J., Norville, P., & Maillard, J.-Y. (2020). It's a trap! The development of a versatile drain biofilm model and its susceptibility to disinfection. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 106*(4), 757–764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.08.010
- Lee, L., Tin, S., & Kelley, S. T. (2007). Culture-independent analysis of bacterial diversity in a child-care facility. *BMC Microbiology*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-7-27
- Lin, W., Yu, Z., Zhang, H., & Thompson, I. P. (2014). Diversity and dynamics of microbial communities at each step of treatment plant for potable water generation. *Water Research, 52*, 218–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.10.071
- Liu, G., Bakker, G. L., Li, S., Vreeburg, J. H. G., Verberk, J. Q. J. C., Medema, G. J., Liu, || W. T., & Van Dijk, J. C. (2014). Pyrosequencing Reveals Bacterial Communities in Unchlorinated Drinking Water Distribution System: An Integral Study of Bulk Water, Suspended Solids, Loose Deposits, and Pipe Wall Biofilm. *Environmental Science & Technology, 48*, 5467-5476. https://doi.org/10.1021/es5009467
- Liu, R., Yu, Z., Guo, H., Liu, M., Zhang, H., & Yang, M. (2012). Pyrosequencing analysis of eukaryotic and bacterial communities in faucet biofilms. *Science of the Total Environment*, 435–436, 124–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.07.022
- Lowe, C., Willey, B., O'Shaughnessy, A., Lee, W., Lum, M., Pike, K., Larocque, C., Dedier, H., Dales, L., Moore, C., & McGeer, A. (2012). Outbreak of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing

Klebsiella oxytoca infections associated with contaminated handwashing sinks. *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 18*(8), 1242–1247. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1808.111268

- Martin, L. J., Adams, R. I., Bateman, A., Bik, H. M., Hawks, J., Hird, S. M., Hughes, D., Kembel, S. W.,
 Kinney, K., Kolokotronis, S. O., Levy, G., McClain, C., Meadow, J. F., Medina, R. F., Mhuireach, G.,
 Moreau, C. S., Munshi-South, J., Nichols, L. M., Palmer, C., ... Dunn, R. R. (2015). Evolution of the
 indoor biome. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 30*(4).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.02.001
- McDonagh, A., & Byrne, M. A. (2014). A study of the size distribution of aerosol particles resuspended from clothing surfaces. *Journal of Aerosol Science*, 75, 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaerosci.2014.05.007
- McManus, C. J., & Kelley, S. T. (2005). Molecular survey of aeroplane bacterial contamination. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *99*(3), 502–508. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02651.x
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Bateman, A. C., Stenson, J., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B.
 J. M. (2015). Humans differ in their personal microbial cloud. *PeerJ*, 3(e1258). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1258
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Kembel, S. W., Kline, J., Mhuireach, G., Moriyama, M., Northcutt, D.,
 O'connor, T. K., Womack, A. M., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2014). Indoor
 airborne bacterial communities are influenced by ventilation, occupancy, and outdoor air source.
 Indoor Air, 24, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12047
- Norton, C. D., & Lechevallier, M. W. (2000). A Pilot Study of Bacteriological Population Changes through Potable Water Treatment and Distribution. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 66*(1), 268-276. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.66.1.268-276.2000
- Oksanen, A. J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Mcglinn, D., Minchin, P. R., Hara,
 R. B. O., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., & Szoecs, E. (2020). vegan: Community
 Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-7. (Issue March 2017).
- Pinto, A. J., Schroeder, J., Lunn, M., Sloan, W., & Raskin, L. (2014). Spatial-Temporal Survey and Occupancy-Abundance Modeling To Predict Bacterial Community Dynamics in the Drinking Water Microbiome. *mBio*, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01135-14
- Pinto, A. J., Xi, C., & Raskin, L. (2012). Bacterial Community Structure in the Drinking Water Microbiome Is Governed by Filtration Processes. *Environmental Science & Technology, 46*, 8851-8859. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302042t

- Poitelon, J. B., Joyeux, M., Welté, B., Duguet, J. P., Prestel, E., & Dubow, M. S. (2010). Variations of bacterial 16S rDNA phylotypes prior to and after chlorination for drinking water production from two surface water treatment plants. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 37(2), 117–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-009-0653-5
- Powell, D. A., & Marcon, M. J. (2012). Chapter-149 Acinetobacter species. In S. S. Long, L. Pickering, & C. Prober (Eds.), Principles and practice of pediatric infectious disease (4th edn., pp. 824-826).
 Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978--0--7020--3468--8.50155 --3
- Prest, E. I., Hammes, F., Kötzsch, S., van Loosdrecht, M. C. M., & Vrouwenvelder, J. S. (2013).
 Monitoring microbiological changes in drinking water systems using a fast and reproducible flow cytometric method. *Water Research*, 47(19), 7131–7142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.07.051
- Pulliam, H. R. (1988). Sources, sinks and population regulation. *American Naturalist*, 132(5), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1086/284880
- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., & Glöckner, F. O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: Improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*(D1), 590–596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- Revetta, R. P., Pemberton, A., Lamendella, R., Iker, B., & Santo Domingo, J. W. (2010). Identification of bacterial populations in drinking water using 16S rRNA-based sequence analyses. *Water Research*, 44(5), 1353–1360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.11.008
- Rickard, A. H., Mcbain, A. J., Stead, A. T., & Gilbert, P. (2004). Shear Rate Moderates Community Diversity in Freshwater Biofilms. *Applied and Environmental*, 70(12), 7426–7435. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.12.7426-7435.2004
- Rintala, H., Pitkäranta, M., Toivola, M., Paulin, L., & Nevalainen, A. (2008). Diversity and seasonal dynamics of bacterial community in indoor environment. *BMC Microbiology*, 8(56). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-8-56
- Ross, A. A., & Neufeld, J. D. (2015). Microbial biogeography of a university campus. *Microbiome, 3*(66), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0135-0
- Segata, N., Izard, J., Waldron, L., Gevers, D., Miropolsky, L., Garrett, W. S., & Huttenhower, C. (2011).
 Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. *Genome Biology*, *12*(R60).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2011-12-6-r60

- Stamper, C. E., Hoisington, A. J., Gomez, O. M., Halweg-Edwards, A. L., Smith, D. G., Bates, K. L., Kinney,
 K. A., Postolache, T. T., Brenner, L. A., Rook, G. A. W., & Lowry, C. A. (2016). The Microbiome of
 the Built Environment and Human Behavior: Implications for Emotional Health and Well-Being
 in Postmodern Western Societies. *International Review of Neurobiology, 131* (September), 289–
 323. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2016.07.006
- Stjärne Aspelund, A., Sjöström, K., Olsson Liljequist, B., Mörgelin, M., Melander, E., & Påhlman, L. I. (2016). Acetic acid as a decontamination method for sink drains in a nosocomial outbreak of metallo-β-lactamase-producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 94*(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2016.05.009
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ley, R. E., Hamady, M., Fraser-Liggett, C. M., Knight, R., & Gordon, J. I. (2007). The Human Microbiome Project. *Nature*, 449(7164), 804–810. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06244
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G. M., Tiedje, J. M., & Cole, J. R. (2007). Naïve Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(16), 5261–5267. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00062-07
- Williams, M. M., Domingo, J. W. S., Meckes, M. C., Kelty, C. A., & Rochon, H. S. (2004). Phylogenetic diversity of drinking water bacteria in a distribution system simulator. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 96(5), 954–964. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02229.x

Appendix A

Supplementary material for Chapter 2

Characterization of communal sink drain communities of a university campus

This appendix includes:

- Figure A.1 Image showing the buildings sampled. 1. Henley Business School (HBS) n= 43, 2. Knights (Kni) n= 17, 3. Edith Morley (EdM) n= 42, 4. Student Union (StU) n= 24, 5. Library (Lib) n= 15, 6. Hopkins (Hop) n= 16, 7. Polly Vacher (PoV) n= 16, 8. Harborne (Har) n= 22, 9. Lyle (Lyl) n= 4 (taken from www.openstreetmap.org). n = number of samples taken from that building.
- Figure A.2 Rarefaction curves comparing the number of reads with the number of ASVs.
- Figure A.3 LEfSe at ASV level. Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) combined with effect size measurements revealed a list of features that enable discrimination between below-strainer and P-Trap sink samples. A P-value of <0.05 and an LDA score of ≥ 3 were used to identify bacterial groups with statistical significance.
- Figure A.4 LEfSe at ASV level. Three ASVs identified as discriminatory based on gender. A Pvalue of <0.05 and an LDA score of ≥ 3 were used to identify bacterial groups with statistical significance.
- Figure A.5 The top 20 (A) Families and (B) ASVs that accounted for the highest percentage of reads.
- **Figure A.6** Bacterial composition at family across all samples, ordered by building. 23 families are shown, "Other" groups families that had <0.1% mean relative abundance.
- Figure A.7 Diagram comparing the core ASVs when the data is split into the two drain types and cores ASVs identified. Below-strainer has 10 core AVSs (identified in 70% of all below-strainer samples). P-trap has 6 core ASVs (identified in 70% of all P-trap samples). 5 ASVs were common between the two sets of core ASVs.
- Table A.1 Pairwise comparisons for all pairs of levels of the factor "Building" by using PERMANOVA. P-Bonferroni corrected p-values shown, stars indicated the p-value significance p < 0.05; *. The R2 values indicate the amount of variation explained by the comparisons in the model.

- **Table A.2** Mean distance to centroid from multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for bacterial communities in each building sampled. SD represents Standard Deviation.
- Table A.3A & B Results of Kruskal-Wallis test. Chi-Squared, degrees of freedom (DF) and P-values are given.
- Table A.4 Results of PERMANOVA analysis of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity distances for bacterial ASVs community structure in relation to sample variables. Abbreviations: Df, degrees of freedom; SS sum of squares; MS, mean sum of squares, F, F value by permutation. p-values are based on 999 permutations. Stars indicate the p-value significance p < 0.05; *, p < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001; ***.
- **Table A.5** Information for each sample including what part of the sink drain was sampled, where the sink was, and the restroom gender associated with the sink.



Figure A.1. Image showing the buildings sampled. 1. Henley Business School (HBS) n= 43, 2. Knights (Kni) n= 17, 3. Edith Morley (EdM) n= 42, 4. Student Union (StU) n= 24, 5. Library (Lib) n= 15, 6. Hopkins (Hop) n= 16, 7. Polly Vacher (PoV) n= 16, 8. Harborne (Har) n= 22, 9. Lyle (Lyl) n= 4 (taken from www.openstreetmap.org). n = number of samples taken from that building.



Figure A.2. Rarefaction curves comparing the number of reads with the number of ASVs.



Figure A.3. LEfSe at ASV level. Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) combined with effect size measurements revealed a list of features that enable discrimination between Below-Strainer and P-Trap sink samples. A P-value of <0.05 and an LDA score of \geq 3 were used to identify bacterial groups with statistical significance.



Figure A.4 - LEfSe at ASV level. Three ASVs identified as discriminatory based on gender. A P-value of <0.05 and an LDA score of \geq 3 were used to identify bacterial groups with statistical significance.







Figure A.5. The top 20 (A) Families and (B) ASVs that accounted for the highest percentage of reads.



Figure A.6. Bacterial composition at family across all samples, ordered by building. 23 families are shown, "Other" groups families that had <0.1% mean relative abundance.



Figure A.7. Diagram comparing the core ASVs when the data is split into the two drain types and cores ASVs identified. Below-strainer has 10 core AVSs (identified in 70% of all below-strainer samples). P-trap has 6 core ASVs (identified in 70% of all P-trap samples). 5 ASVs were common between the two sets of core ASVs.

Pairwise Comparison	F	R2	p-value (Bonferroni corrected)	Significance
HBS x StU	9.335706	0.125588	0.036	*
HBS x Har	10.79826	0.150397	0.036	*
HBS x EdM	16.67572	0.1673	0.036	*
HBS x Lyl	4.258423	0.086451	0.036	*
HBS x Hop	10.21354	0.151957	0.036	*
HBS x PoV	7.925529	0.122071	0.036	*
HBS x Kni	9.243968	0.137469	0.036	*
HBS x Lib	3.680807	0.061675	0.036	*
StU x Har	3.720334	0.081372	0.036	*
StU x EdM	6.444907	0.091489	0.036	*
StU x Lyl	3.076216	0.105798	0.144	
StU x Hop	5.602858	0.128497	0.036	*
StU x PoV	3.503905	0.084423	0.108	
StU x Kni	3.668394	0.085975	0.036	*
StU x Lib	3.713513	0.091211	0.036	*
Har x EdM	4.245332	0.06608	0.072	
Har x Lyl	2.479082	0.101273	0.504	
Har x Hop	5.145021	0.131435	0.036	*
Har x PoV	2.070745	0.057408	0.936	
Har x Kni	1.795356	0.048793	1	
Har x Lib	3.172374	0.087702	0.252	
EdM x Lyl	2.233738	0.048314	0.936	
EdM x Hop	4.351099	0.072096	0.036	*
EdM x PoV	3.772481	0.063114	0.108	
EdM x Kni	4.166259	0.068114	0.072	
EdM x Lib	5.162415	0.085808	0.036	*
Lyl x Hop	2.142518	0.106368	0.54	
Lyl x PoV	2.59143	0.12585	0.216	
Lyl x Kni	1.616193	0.078394	1	
Lyl x Lib	3.071188	0.153015	0.216	
Hop x PoV	3.855428	0.113879	0.036	*

Hop x Kni	3.237939	0.094572	0.036	*
Hop x Lib	5.044158	0.148165	0.036	*
PoV x Kni	2.640585	0.078494	0.036	*
PoV x Lib	2.423092	0.077112	0.468	
Kni x Lib	3.698353	0.109749	0.036	*

Table A.1. Pairwise comparisons for all pairs of levels of the factor "Building" by using PERMANOVA.P-Bonferroni corrected p-values shown, stars indicated the p-value significance p < 0.05; *. The R2values indicate the amount of variation explained by the comparisons in the model.

Building	Mean Distance to the Centroid	SD
Edith Morley	0.4859015	0.09478499
Harborne	0.5024314	0.08940724
Henley Business School	0.5238127	0.07757995
Hopkins	0.4791152	0.08730570
Knights	0.5475142	0.09447974
Library	0.5050253	0.09959272
Lyle	0.3984704	0.12768986
Polly Vacher	0.4980293	0.09825886
Student Union	0.5341402	0.05538182

Table A.2. Mean distance to centroid from multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis forbacterial communities in each building sampled. SD represents Standard Deviation.

A. Observed ASVs/Richness

Drain Type	Group	DF	Chi-squared	P-value
Below-Strain	Building	8	22.05	0.004824
	Gender	2	1.1074	0.5748
P-Trap	Building	6	27.977	0.000095
	Gender	2	1.4213	0.4913

B. Shannon Diversity

Drain Type	Group	DF	Chi-squared	P-value
Below- Strain	Building	8	17.196	0.02814
	Gender	2	0.31114	0.8559
P-Trap	Building	6	17.863	0.006583
	Gender	2	2.2147	0.3304

 Table A.3A & B. Results of Kruskal-Wallis test. Chi-Squared, degrees of freedom (DF) and P-values are given.

. i valacs
4654 0.001 ***
2901 0.021*
7852 0.001 ***
4615 0.004 **

Table A.4. Results of PERMANOVA analysis of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity distances for bacterial ASVs community structure in relation to sample variables. Abbreviations: Df, degrees of freedom; SS sum of squares; MS, mean sum of squares, F, F value by permutation. p-values are based on 999 permutations. Stars indicate the p-value significance p < 0.05; *, p < 0.01; **, P < 0.001; ***.

ID	Sample	Drain Type	Sample Location	Floor	Gender
	Number				
ZW.E01.S100B	100B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S100T	100T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S101T	101T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S102B	102B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S102T	102T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S103B	103B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S103T	103T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S104B	104B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S104T	104T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S105B	105B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S105T	105T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S106B	106B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S106T	106T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S107B	107B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S107T	107T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S108B	108B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S108T	108T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S109B	109B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S109T	109T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S10B	10B	P-Trap	Harborne	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S10T	10T	Below-Strain	Harborne	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S110B	110B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S110T	110T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S111T	111T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S112B	112B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S112T	112T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S113B	113B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Female
ZW.E01.S113T	113T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Female
ZW.E01.S114B	114B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Unisex
ZW.E01.S114T	114T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Unisex
ZW.E01.S115B	115B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Female
--------------	------	--------------	------------------------	--------	--------
ZW.E01.S115T	115T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Female
ZW.E01.S116B	116B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Female
ZW.E01.S116T	116T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Female
ZW.E01.S117B	117B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Female
ZW.E01.S117T	117T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Female
ZW.E01.S118B	118B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S118T	118T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S119B	119B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S119T	119T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S11B	11B	P-Trap	Harborne	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S11T	11T	Below-Strain	Harborne	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S120B	120B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S120T	120T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S121B	121B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S121T	121T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S122B	122B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S122T	122T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S123B	123B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S123T	123T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S12T	12T	Below-Strain	Harborne	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S13B	13B	P-Trap	Harborne	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S13T	13T	Below-Strain	Harborne	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S14T	14T	Below-Strain	Lyle	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S15T	15T	Below-Strain	Lyle	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S16T	16T	Below-Strain	Lyle	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S17T	17T	Below-Strain	Lyle	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S18T	18T	Below-Strain	Lyle	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S19T	19T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S1B	1B	P-Trap	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.S1T	1T	Below-Strain	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.A0T	20T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.A1T	21T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Ground	Male

ZW.E01.A2T	22T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.A3T	23T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.A4T	24T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.A5T	25T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	First	Female
ZW.E01.A6T	26T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	First	Female
ZW.E01.A7T	27T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	First	Female
ZW.E01.A8T	28T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	First	Male
ZW.E01.A9T	29T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	First	Male
ZW.E01.AB	2B	P-Trap	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.AT	2T	Below-Strain	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.B0T	30T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	First	Male
ZW.E01.B1T	31T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Second	Female
ZW.E01.B2T	32T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Second	Female
ZW.E01.B3T	33T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Second	Female
ZW.E01.B4T	34T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Second	Male
ZW.E01.B5T	35T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Second	Male
ZW.E01.B6T	36T	Below-Strain	Hopkins	Second	Male
ZW.E01.B7B	37B	P-Trap	Polly Vacher	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.B7T	37T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.B8B	38B	P-Trap	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.B8T	38T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.B9T	39T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.BB	3B	P-Trap	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.BT	3T	Below-Strain	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.C0T	40T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C1T	41T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C2B	42B	P-Trap	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C2T	42T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C3B	43B	P-Trap	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C3T	43T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C4B	44B	P-Trap	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C4T	44T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C5B	45B	P-Trap	Polly Vacher	Ground	Female

ZW.E01.C5T	45T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.C6B	46B	P-Trap	Polly Vacher	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.C6T	46T	Below-Strain	Polly Vacher	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.C7B	47B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C7T	47T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C8B	48B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C8T	48T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C9B	49B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.C9T	49T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.CB	4B	P-Trap	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.CT	4T	Below-Strain	Harborne	First	Male
ZW.E01.S50B	50B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S50T	50T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S51B	51B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S51T	51T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S52B	52B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S52T	52T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S53B	53B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S53T	53T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S54B	54B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S54T	54T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S55B	55B	P-Trap	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S55T	55T	Below-Strain	Knight	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S56B	56B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S56T	56T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S57B	57B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S57T	57T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S58B	58B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S58T	58T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S59B	59B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S59T	59T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S5T	5T	Below-Strain	Harborne	First	Female
ZW.E01.S60B	60B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Male

ZW.E01.S60T	60T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S61B	61B	P-Trap	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S61T	61T	Below-Strain	Student Union	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S62B	62B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S62T	62T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S63B	63B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S63T	63T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S64B	64B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S64T	64T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S65B	65B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S65T	65T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S66B	66B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Male
ZW.E01.S66T	66T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Male
ZW.E01.S67B	67B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Unisex
ZW.E01.S67T	67T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Unisex
ZW.E01.S68B	68B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	First	Male
ZW.E01.S68T	68T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	First	Male
ZW.E01.S69B	69B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S69T	69T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S6T	6Т	Below-Strain	Harborne	First	Female
ZW.E01.S70B	70B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Second	Unisex
ZW.E01.S70T	70T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Second	Unisex
ZW.E01.S71B	71B	P-Trap	Edith Morley	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S71T	71T	Below-Strain	Edith Morley	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S72B	72B	P-Trap	Library	Fifth	Female
ZW.E01.S72T	72T	Below-Strain	Library	Fifth	Female
ZW.E01.S73B	73B	P-Trap	Library	Fifth	Female
ZW.E01.S73T	73T	Below-Strain	Library	Fifth	Female
ZW.E01.S74B	74B	P-Trap	Library	Fifth	Male
ZW.E01.S74T	74T	Below-Strain	Library	Fifth	Male
ZW.E01.S75B	75B	P-Trap	Library	Fifth	Male
ZW.E01.S75T	75T	Below-Strain	Library	Fifth	Male
ZW.E01.S76B	76B	P-Trap	Library	Fourth	Unisex

ZW.E01.S76T	76T	Below-Strain	Library	Fourth	Unisex
ZW.E01.S77B	77B	P-Trap	Library	Third	Unisex
ZW.E01.S77T	77T	Below-Strain	Library	Third	Unisex
ZW.E01.S78B	78B	P-Trap	Library	Second	Unisex
ZW.E01.S78T	78T	Below-Strain	Library	Second	Unisex
ZW.E01.S79B	79B	P-Trap	Library	First	Unisex
ZW.E01.S79T	79T	Below-Strain	Library	First	Unisex
ZW.E01.S7B	7B	P-Trap	Harborne	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S7T	7T	Below-Strain	Harborne	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S80B	80B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S80T	80T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S81B	81B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S81T	81T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Second	Female
ZW.E01.S82B	82B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S82T	82T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S83B	83B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S83T	83T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S84B	84B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S84T	84T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Second	Male
ZW.E01.S85B	85B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	First	Female
ZW.E01.S85T	85T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	First	Female
ZW.E01.S86B	86B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	First	Female
ZW.E01.S86T	86T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	First	Female
ZW.E01.S87B	87B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	First	Female
ZW.E01.S87T	87T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	First	Female
ZW.E01.S88B	88B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Unisex
ZW.E01.S88T	88T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Unisex
ZW.E01.S89B	89B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Unisex
ZW.E01.S89T	89T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Unisex
ZW.E01.S8B	8B	P-Trap	Harborne	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S8T	8T	Below-Strain	Harborne	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S90B	90B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Unisex
ZW.E01.S90T	90T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Unisex

ZW.E01.S91B	91B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S91T	91T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S92B	92B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S92T	92T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S93B	93B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S93T	93T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S94B	94B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S94T	94T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S95B	95B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S95T	95T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S96B	96B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S96T	96T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S97B	97B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S97T	97T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Female
ZW.E01.S98B	98B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S98T	98T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S99B	99B	P-Trap	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S99T	99T	Below-Strain	Henley Business School	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S9B	9B	P-Trap	Harborne	Ground	Male
ZW.E01.S9T	9Т	Below-Strain	Harborne	Ground	Male

Table A.5. Information for each sample including what part of the sink drain was sampled, where the sink was, and the restroom gender associated with the sink.

Chapter 3. Mycobial Community Assemblages in Sink Drains across a University Campus

Zoe Withey¹, Alisha Awan¹, Naol Duguma¹, Elsie Fell¹, Naomi J. Martinez¹, Ed Neary¹, Tim Goodall², Sheila MacIntyre¹, Hyun S. Gweon¹ ¹School of Biological Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, UK

²UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, Wallingford, UK

Published (2022) at Environmental DNA, Available online at: https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.375

3.1 Abstract

Multiple fungal species, including potential opportunistic pathogens have been previously identified in water systems. Here, we investigated over 250 restroom sink fungal communities across a university campus and evaluated their diversity and core taxa present. Remarkable similarity in mycobial community composition was observed across buildings with Ascomycota consistently dominating. We found a core mycobiome independent of the building sampled, that included Exophiala species, potential opportunistic pathogenic black yeasts. Other prevalent and dominant taxa included *Saccharomyces* and *Fusarium*, common built environment fungi. The frequent presence of *Malassezia*, a common skin commensal, showed the external influence of human activities as a source of fungi to sinks. The study represents a novel exploration of sink P-traps mycobial communities from a public area and highlights their importance as reservoirs of possible pathogenic fungi, as well as emphasizing the relevance of further research in this understudied ecosystem within the built environment.

Keywords

Built environment, Mycobiome, Mycobial community, Fungi, Sink, P-trap, Next-generation sequencing

3.2 Introduction

Buildings have become our most intimate ecosystems, and our interactions with microorganisms that colonize the built environment (BE) can help shape our microbiome and can have effects on inhabitants' health. Fungi are a highly diverse domain, and their presence has long been established in the BE (Solomon, 1975). Previous studies have shown the BE mycobiome is composed mainly of saprotrophs; mold and yeasts such as Alternaria, Aspergillus, Cladosporium, Penicillium, and Wallemia (Martin-Sanchez et al., 2021; Ren et al., 2001; Samson et al., 2011; Taylor et al., 2014). Research has focused on buildings with excess moisture due to leaks caused by building damage, plumbing faults, or condensation (Adams et al., 2020; Jayaprakash et al., 2017; Pasanen et al., 2000; Sudakin, 1998; Torvinen et al., 2006; Trout et al., 2001). Under these conditions, fungi can flourish and function as sources of indoor pollutants by emitting spores, fungal fragments, mycotoxins, and volatile organic compounds which can exacerbate the onset of disease including asthma, trigger allergies, and have been associated with sick building syndrome and other respiratory diseases (Cooley et al., 1998; Fu et al., 2021; Karvala et al., 2010; Li & Yang, 2004; Simon-Nobbe et al., 2008; Soeria-Atmadja et al., 2010; Trout et al., 2001). Besides the health concerns, fungi can also cause structural damage to buildings resulting in considerable economic costs (Gámez-Espinosa et al., 2020; Haas et al., 2019; Schmidt, 2007).

Seasonal patterns, environmental gradients and other extrinsic factors primarily determine the indoor fungal diversity and composition, but more local features such as building function and construction can also contribute to shaping the mycobiome within individual buildings (Adams et al., 2013a, 2014, 2016; Amend et al., 2010; Barberán, et al., 2015b; Martin-Sanchez et al., 2021; Stephens, 2016; Wong et al., 2008). Outdoor air is an important source of indoor fungi. Culturable and non-culturable fungi concentrations and composition of species correlate in outdoor and indoor air and other BE surfaces (Adams et al., 2014, 2013a, 2013b). However, the most common indoor fungi are not necessarily identical to that of outdoors; for example, *Penicillium* is usually more common in indoor air (Hyvarinen et al., 1993; Li & Kendrick, 1995). Interestingly, while occupants are the primary source of bacteria to the BE (Hospodsky et al., 2012; Lax et al., 2014; Meadow et al., 2014), residents have been shown to either minimally (Adams et al., 2014) influence or not determine fungal community structure (Dannemiller et al., 2016; Martin-Sanchez et al., 2021). A study comparing indoor air (private homes) and outdoor air, revealed a positive correlation between occupants and mycobiome composition (Martin-Sanchez et al., 2021). The study showed that increased number of occupants resulted in higher exchange and transport of air particles which drove indoor communities toward outdoor species composition. It is evident that humans can be a direct source of fungi especially dermatophytes such as Malassezia (Adams et al., 2013b; Pitkäranta et al., 2008). Restroom surfaces

in particular were found to host highly diverse mycobiomes, and evidence suggests that they are sourced from human activities such as shoes (Fouquier et al., 2016).

The plumbing or water distribution systems (WDS) are one of the most favorable environments for microbial growth in healthy buildings (Adams et al., 2013b). Experiments with temporarily wetted surfaces have shown to encourage the growth of fungi within days or weeks (Pasanen et al., 1992). Endogenous growth has been shown on sink surfaces, in sink drains and the wider WDS (Adams et al., 2013b; Hamada & Abe, 2010; Short et al., 2011; Zupančič et al., 2016). Adams et al. (2013b) revealed differences in drains between kitchens and bathrooms in private homes and suggested a distant drain niche due to the high frequency of which thermotolerant fungi were observed, namely Fusarium and Exophiala. Aerosolization of fungal material rather than direct contact poses a greater risk for health (Górny et al., 2002; Kuhn & Ghannoum, 2003), and WDS including sinks have demonstrated aerosolization of fungi resulting in adverse effects on health (Anaissie, et al., 2001a, 2001b; Chang et al., 2006; Short et al., 2011). Moreover, drains have been suggested to be a reservoir of potentially serious fungal pathogens that could result in outbreaks through droplet-mediated dispersion (Hino et al., 2020). Despite the importance, there has been relatively little research into how fungal communities in WDS and drainage piping are structured, particularly in the public domain. In this study we investigated mycobial community composition and structure of sink P-traps distributed across a university campus, specifically addressing the following research questions: (i) which fungi dominate P-trap mycobiome and do they correspond to taxa previously found in similar environments; (ii) whether the identified dominant taxa are found ubiquitously across all sinks; and (iii) how the mycobial communities are structured and whether or not they are influenced by the BE types.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Sample collection and DNA extraction

Samples from P-traps were collected from 20 different buildings across the University of Reading's Whiteknights campus during early November 2021. All buildings selected had accessible restrooms. Buildings selected were mainly those used for teaching; however, some buildings were used for dining or recreational activities. A total of 412 samples were collected. The methods for collecting P-trap samples were the same as described in Withey et al., 2021. Briefly, sterile cotton swabs were inserted using a sampling rod into the P-Traps and circumference of pipe swabbed for 5 s. Swabs were stored in 1.5 ml tubes in a freezer at -20°C until required for DNA extraction. Metadata was recorded on each of the swabs collected (Table B.1). Genomic DNA was isolated from the swabs using HigherPurity Soil

DNA Isolation kit (Canvax Biotech), according to the manufacturers protocol. Negative controls were blank swabs extracted by the same method.

3.3.2 PCR amplification and Illumina sequencing

The ITS2 region of the extracted DNA was amplified using forward primer fITS7 (GTGARTCATCGAATCTTTG) and reverse primer ITS4 (TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC) (Ihrmark et al., 2012). Each PCR reaction contained the following components; 22 µl of ReadyMix Taq PCR Reaction Mix (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.5 µl of each 10 µM forward and reverse primers, 5 µl of template DNA, and 22 µl of UltraPure DNase/RNase-free distilled water (Invitrogen). Thermocycling conditions were 30 s initial denaturation at 95°C, followed by 35 cycles of 30 s denaturation at 95°C, 30 s annealing at 50°C, 2 min extension at 72°C, and a final elongation at 72°C for 5 min. PCR reactions included negative template controls in which the template DNA was replaced with 5µl of UltraPure DNase/RNase-free distilled water to ensure PCR reagents and equipment were not contaminated. After PCR amplification, PCR products were purified with Agencourt AMPure XP magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter).

Samples that did not amplify, and those post clean-up that had no band present on gel were excluded from barcoding and subsequent sequencing. Those samples that did not amplify were mostly associated with particular building (Table B.2). A total of 343 purified PCR products underwent a second PCR reaction to add Illumina-specific adapters and unique barcodes. In short, 25 μ l reaction mixtures were prepared by adding 9.5 μ l of ReadyMix Taq PCR Reaction Mix (Sigma-Aldrich), 2.5 μ l of both forward index and reverse index primers (4 μ M each), 9.5 μ l Nuclease-free water and 1 μ l of the purified PCR product. The thermocycle conditions for the second round of PCR were initial denaturation of 95°C for 2 min, and then 8 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15 s, annealing at 55°C for 30 s and extension at 72°C for 30 s, followed by a final extension of 72°C for 10 min. NGS normalization 96-Well Kit (Norgen) purified and normalized the samples before being pooled. An amplicon library spanning ITS2 region was sequenced at a concentration of 10 pM and merged with 5% PhiX on an Illumina Miseq platform using V3 chemistry (Illumina Inc.) at UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.

3.3.3 Bioinformatics pipeline and Statistical analyses

The obtained sequenced paired-end reads were processed using PIPITS (Gweon et al., 2015). All further data processing and statistical analysis was performed in R, version 3.6.3 (R Core Team, 2022) through RSTUDIO.

Phyloseq version 1.30.0, Tidyverse version 1.3.1, and vegan version 2.5.7, were used for data manipulation, plotting, and ecological analyses (Mcmurdie & Holmes, 2013; Oksanen et al., 2020; Wickham et al., 2019). Plots were further refined, and results visualized using ggplot2 version 3.3.5. Initially, low abundant OTUs (<10 reads) were removed from the ITS data, to reduce spurious taxa, and only OTUs identifiable to phylum were included for analysis. Three buildings were then removed from subsequent statistical analysis due to 5 or less samples remaining after rarefaction.

Beta diversity was evaluated and visualized with non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination of sink samples using Bray-Curtis dissimilarity distances and Jaccard indices constructed using the *vegdist* function. To assess the correlation between environmental variables (Building and Gender of restroom sampled) permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA; 999 permutations) was performed individually on the two variables using *adonis*. Additionally, Tukey's test was used for post-hoc analysis to further investigate the significant differences or similarities between pairs of buildings. *Betadisper* was used to test the homogeneity of variance among groups and analysis of variance (ANOVA) tested for the significant difference in these variances. Alpha diversity was also assessed by calculating species richness (number of OTUs), Shannon diversity and Pielous evenness. Significant differences in alpha diversity across building and restroom gender were calculated using the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test. Taxonomic analysis of the data was performed from Phylum to Genus and core mycobiome identified by their prevalence and relative abundance. *Plot_core* from the microbiome package version 1.8.0, was applied to visualize the core OTUs (Lahti & Shetty, 2017).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Data Features

After bioinformatic processing through PIPITS, the fungal data set contained 3862 OTUS (9,265,250 sequences), distributed across 343 samples from 20 buildings throughout the University of Readings campus. The number of reads per sample varied between two to 81,693 (mean/median = 27,012/27,215). Rarefying to an even sequencing depth of 5000 reads per sample resulted in 42 samples being removed (301 samples remaining) (Figure B.5). Further, removal of buildings with not enough individual samples, resulted in a total of 289 samples for downstream analysis. The remaining data comprised 2432 OTUs, with an average of 217 OTUS per sample (Min 36 OTUs, Max 417 OTUs) (Table B.3). The highly abundant fungal OTUs (relative abundance below 1%) were also widely distributed (prevalence of 50% or more). Of the OTUs assigned to the domain fungi, there were seven identifiable phyla. Those identified to phylum, were further classified into 25 known classes, 88 orders, 220 families, 375 genera and 605 species (>85% percentage identity).

3.4.2 Taxonomic distribution

The fungi identified to Phylum were represented by seven phyla, of which two accounted for the majority of taxa (<99%); Ascomycota (91.89%) and Basidiomycota (7.99%). Ascomycota dominated across all buildings sampled (Figure 3.1A, Figure B.1A). The top three classes were Sordariomycetes (39%), Eurotiomycetes (24.37%) and Saccharomycetes (12.46%). The main orders were Hypocreales (37.26%), Chaetothyriales (23.9%), Saccharomycetales (12.46%). The dominant identifiable families were Nectriaceae (21.87%), Herpotrichiellaceae (20.06%) and Saccharomycetaceae (10.94%). Of the 375 genera classified, Exophiala (19.33%), Saccharomyces (10.92%), Fusarium (5.36%), Cyphellophora (3.42%), Malassezia (2.87%), BisiFusarium (1.51%), and Ramularia (1.35%) had a relative abundance greater than 1%. The majority of the genus Exophiala was identified as the species Exophiala lecaniicorni (61.2 % of the reads classified as the genus Exophiala). Exophiala lecanii-corni was the top identifiable species and accounted for 11.84% of reads across all species. The OTUs that had >1% RA accounted for 60.82% of all reads (Table 3.1). Moreover, the phyla Ascomycota was highly prevalent (100% of samples) and, across buildings a notable similarity was observed in phyla and family taxonomic compositions as well as at the genus level when looking at the average relative abundance (Figure 3.1B, 2A Figure B.1B). However, taxonomic analysis of individual samples showed variation in relative abundances of the top genera between some sinks within a building (Figure B.2, B.3, Table B.4).



Figure 3.1. Taxonomic analysis. A) Boxplot showing the distribution of the dominant phyla. "Other" represents remaining 5 phyla. B) Bubble plot of mean relative abundance of the most abundant fungal families (>1%) by building. Across all buildings, the mean distribution of families is generally uneven as a few taxa tend to dominate. No strong compositional difference is observed between buildings based on families when comparing mean relative abundances. Circle size indicates relative abundance and colour of bubble represents the phylum from which the family is found. Abbreviations on x-axis correspond to the following buildings; AGR: Agriculture, ARC: Archaeology, ART: Art, CHE: Chemistry, EAT: Eat at the Square, EDM: Edith Morely, HNU: Harry Nunsten, HBS: Henley Business School, JJT: JJ Thompson, LIB: Library, MAT: Maths, MINL: Mingella, PAH: Park House, RSP: Sports Park, STU: Student Union, URS: URS, WHK: Whiteknights.

		Total Reads (%)	Prevalence (%)
OTU2835	f_Nectriaceae	11.67	88.59
OTU1942	g_Saccharomyces	9.89	96.31
OTU2067	o_Hypocreales	9.07	89.60
OTU956	s_Exophiala_lecanii-corni_SH1508706.08FU	6.59	88.59
OTU1988	o_Hypocreales	3.38	71.48
OTU1844	s_Cyphellophora_europaea_SH1636081.08FU	2.90	60.07
OTU2526	f_Didymellaceae	2.69	71.81
OTU712	s_Exophiala_aquamarina_SH1240520.08FU	2.13	65.77
OTU1710	g_Fusarium	2.01	85.23
OTU196	s_Malasseziaceae_sp_SH1547563.08FU	1.90	91.28
OTU1289	f_Sympoventuriaceae	1.80	65.77
OTU1713	g_Bisifusarium	1.51	70.13
OTU1607	g_Fusarium	1.49	79.53
OTU3500	f_Helotiales_fam_Incertae_sedis	1.35	57.72
OTU1264	s_Exophiala_equina_SH1635779.08FU	1.35	56.04
OTU919	s_Exophiala_phaeomuriformis_SH1529587.08FU	1.09	52.01

Table 3.1. Identity of top OTUs (>1% Relative abundance). Overall abundance (total percentage of reads) and prevalence shown.



Figure 3.2. Composition of mycobial communities by building. A) Fungal composition: Relative abundances of top genera (>1%) by building shown. Family of genera is italicised and in brackets below genus in the legend. B) Beta Diversity. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plots of dissimilarity metrics. Each point represents a sample, colour indicated building. (Left) Bray-Curtis (abundance) and (Right) Jaccard (presence-absence). C) Post-hoc Tukey Analysis: Percentage on y-axis of non-significant (P > 0.05), significant ($0.05 \ge P > 0.01$) and highly significant ($P \le 0.01$), as indicated by colour, building interactions. Henley business school (HBS) had the highest percentage of significant values (50% or more) therefore, its composition significantly differed from half or more of the buildings. Building abbreviations as follows; AGR: Agriculture, ARC: Archaeology, ART: Art, CHE: Chemistry, EAT: Eat at the Square, EDM: Edith Morely, HNU: Harry Nunsten, HBS: Henley Business School, JJT: JJ Thompson, LIB: Library, MAT: Maths, MINL: Mingella, PAH: Park House, RSP: Sports Park, STU: Student Union, URS: URS, WHK: Whiteknights.

3.4.3 Core mycobiome

Thousand eight ninty one OTUs were found in <10% of samples. No OTU was identified in all samples, however the three OTUS with RA >1% were present in 90% or more of sinks samples. The most prevalent OTU (OTU1942, 96% of samples) was also the second most abundant and was classified to the genus *Saccharomyces* (Table B.3). A core microbiome analysis was performed to check the prevalence of OTUs across sinks sampled. An OTU was considered part of the core mycobiome if it was present in at least 80% of samples. Eight OTUs were considered part of the core mycobiome (Figure 3.3). Following OTU1942 (classified as g_*Saccharomyces*), maximum prevalence was shown by OTU196 (91% of samples, classified as g_*Malassezia*), OTU2067 (90%, o_Hypocreales), OTU2835 (89%, f_*Nectriaceae*), OTU956 (89%, s_*Exophiala_lecanii-corni_SH1508706.08FU*), OTU1710 (85%, g_*Fusarium*), OTU204 (84%, g_*Saccharomyces*), OTU1607 (80%, g_*Fusarium*). The second most prevalent OTU was classified to the genus *Malassezia*. The remaining six core OTUs corresponded to three orders Saccharomycetales (one OTU), Hypocreales (four OTUs), Chaetothyriales (one OTUs). Although these eight OTUs represent a small fraction of the total number of OTUs they were among some of the most abundant OTUs (together accounting for 42.97% of all reads). If the threshold for what was considered a core OTU was lowered to more than 70%, 30 OTUs would be deemed core.



Figure 3.3. Heatmap of the core microbiome analysis. Shows the eight OTUs that were considered part of the core mycobiome (>80% prevalence of 289 samples). The y-axis shows the eight core OTUs. The relative abundance derived from count data is plotted on the x-axis. The gradient of colour indicates the variation of prevalence of each OTU.

3.4.4 Mycobiome Composition and Diversity

Associations of microbiome compositions with factors were assessed qualitatively and quantitatively using PERMANOVA and two beta-diversity metrics (Bray-Curtis distance and Jaccard index), respectively. For both metrics, there was no clear separation observed in the NMDS plot of samples by their building (Figure 3.2B). PERMANOVA showed groups to be significantly different when samples were grouped by building (F.model = 2.379, $R^2 = 0.12643$, P = 0.001 (Bray-Curtis); F.model = 1.6981, $R^2 = 0.09364$, P = 0.001 (Jaccard)), however only a low proportion of the variance in mycobial community composition was explained. A post-hoc Tukey test showed that a few specific buildings were significantly different from others and could be partly accountable for the significant PERMANOVA result (Figure 3.2C, Table B.5). But overall, post-hoc analysis showed that the majority of building were not significantly different from one another. One building in particular, Henley Business School (HBS) differed significantly from 50% or more of buildings. However, removing this building from PERMANOVA did not change the overall result (F.model = 2.0739, R² = 0.11267, P = 0.001 (Bray-Curtis); F.model = 1.5774, $R^2 = 0.08807$, P = 0.001 (Jaccard). There were also significant differences in beta diversity (homogeneity of group dispersions) between the buildings (ANOVA, DF = 16, F = 6.9652, p < 0.001 (Bray-Curtis); DF = 16, F = 5.7269, P < 0.001 (Jaccard)) (Figure B.4). It is important to note that PERMANOVA is sensitive to heterogeneous group dispersions within an unbalanced design (Anderson, 2017), and the unequal number of samples across buildings could be partially responsible for the significant differences between the buildings. PERMNAOVA is conservative when high dispersions occur in larger groups and liberal when high dispersion occur in smaller groups (Anderson & Walsh, 2013). High dispersion was observed in many of the smaller groups (i.e. Art and Math), potentially causing increased rejection rates of the null hypothesis, thus more likely to find a significant result. Gender had no significant effect on community composition (PERMANOVA, F.model = 0.98694, R² = 0.01064, P = 0.469 (Bray-Curtis); F.model = 0.97977, R² = 0.01054, P = 0.49 (Jaccard)), and their dispersions were homogenous when using both indices (ANOVA, DF = 3, F = 2.5618, p = 0.05519 (Bray-Curtis) ;DF = 3, F = 1.4294, P = 0.2344 (Jaccard)).

Variation in alpha diversities across the buildings sampled were analyzed (Figure 3.4). Among buildings, Henley Business School (HBS) was observed to have the highest mean richness (mean 295 OTUs). This finding was replicated with the two other alpha-diversity metrics. Whereas, Student Union (STU) was found to have the lowest means for all alpha diversity metrics. Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to determine the influence of building on community alpha-diversity (Figure 3.4). OTU richness, diversity (Shannon) and Pielou's evenness differed significantly by building. Pairwise comparisons for buildings were calculated using Wilcoxon tests for each of the alpha diversity metrics (Table B.6). Multiple pairs of buildings were highly significant from one another which may contribute to the



Figure 3.4. Fungal alpha diversity. Boxplot of alpha diversity of fungal communities by building sampled. Species richness (number of OTUs), Shannon and Pielou's evenness shown. Each point represents a sample. P-value obtained from Kruskal-Wallis test shown above each plot.

overall significant difference across all buildings. No significant associations of alpha diversity were detected with restroom gender (DF, = 3, Observed p = 0.09388, Shannon diversity index p = 0.09433, Pielou's evenness p = 0.1852).

3.5 Discussion

Sinks, drains and their associated pipes offer a unique niche in the BE due to their continuous moisture, temporary fluctuations in temperature, high pH due to regular use of detergents and potentially increased concentrations of organic matter. In this study, we observed that the sink P-traps of various university buildings harbored diverse mycobial communities, which were markedly similar between most buildings. There was a distinct core mycobiome with the most dominant taxa present across the majority of samples (>70%). Drains in residential settings were previously established to have shown clear evidence of both, harboring fungi due to deposition patterns and endogenous growth (Adams et al., 2013b). This agreed with findings of this study, with the high abundance and prevalence of *Exophiala* and *Fusarium* suggesting their presence due to endogenous growth and the occurrence of *Malassezia* likely present due to deposition from handwashing. Bacterial taxa found in our study not only overlapped with those from Adams et al., 2013b but also have been found in other culture dependent and culture independent studies of fungi identified in the BE, specifically restroom and plumbing environments.

In our study, of the identifiable genera, *Exophiala* was found to be the most abundant and ubiquitous. Exophiala is a saprotrophic "black yeast" and includes both terrestrial and waterborne species. It has also been shown to be oligotrophic, thermotolerant, survive high pH, and able to utilize surfactants as a source of carbon, namely detergents (Hamada & Abe, 2009; Isola et al., 2013; Nishimura et al., 1987; Zalar et al., 2011). Exophiala species can be considered opportunistic pathogens causing cutaneous and superficial infections (Chromomycosis) however, fatal systemic infections have been documented (Fothergill, 1996; Gold et al., 1994; Greig et al., 2003; Hiruma et al., 1993; Hopf et al., 2020; Martínez-González et al., 2008; Nachman et al., 1996; Woo et al., 2013; Zeng et al., 2007). This genus has previously been isolated from other water sources in the BEs such as, dishwashers, steam bath facilities, swimming pools, bathrooms, and associated drainpipes (Babič et al., 2015; Hamada & Abe, 2009; Lian & de Hoog, 2010; Matos et al., 2002; Nishimura et al., 1987; Porteous et al., 2003; Ruoff, 2002; Zalar et al., 2011). As well as isolated from potable water sources i.e., tap water and public drinking reservoirs (Biedunkiewicz & Schulz, 2012; Göttlich et al., 2002; Heinrichs, et al., 2013a,2013b). The most common identifiable species present in sinks P-traps was Exophiala lecaniicorni which was formerly proven to be a dominant component of water tap biofilms (Heinrichs et al.,

2013a). Moreover, it is known to efficiently remove volatile organic compounds (VOC) from the air, therefore potentially explaining its dominance in biofilms growing at the water-air interface (Pirnie-Fisker & Woertz, 2007; Woertz et al., 2001). *Exophiala lecanii-cornii* has been reported to mainly result in superficial mycoses affecting skin and nails but, in a rare occurrence caused keratitis (Lee et al., 2016; Miyakubo et al., 2020; Zeng et al., 2007). *Exophiala*'s widespread distribution across a variety of indoor water source environments, and its ability to survive more challenging ecological pressures results in its unsurprising presence and dominance across sinks samples.

The second most dominant classifiable genus was *Saccharomyces* and like *Exophiala* was highly prevalent (96% of samples). *Saccharomyces* is a common genus in indoor environments (i.e., dust) and is usually associated with humans (Barberán, et al., 2015a, 2015b; Dannemiller et al., 2016; Estensmo et al., 2021; Fouquier et al., 2016; Gupta et al., 2020; Martin-Sanchez et al., 2021; Viel et al., 2017). Fouquier and colleagues identified it as the most abundant and ubiquitous fungi in restrooms floors. Furthermore, the most prevalent OTU (OTU1942) belonged to this genus and was also the second most abundant OTU. OTU1942 was blasted against the NCBI database and classified as *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* at 97.05% percentage identity giving some clarity on what this OTU might be or its closest relative. *S. cerevisiae* is found in many natural niches in the environment and is also known for being a common fruit-associated fungus, gastronomically relevant, and is used in research laboratories (Moon & Lo, 2014). Similar to *Exophiala* spp., *S. cerevisiae* can utilize VOCs and is also tolerant to metals (Krauter & Krauter, 2002; Pirnie-Fisker & Woertz, 2007).

Fusarium of the family *Nectriaceae* (most abundant family in present study) was another highly prevalent and abundant genus. Members of the family *Nectriaceae* are important plant and human pathogens, specifically, some *Fusarium* spp. are emerging fungal pathogens of increasing importance (Batista et al., 2020; Garber, 2001; O'Donnell et al., 2010; Pfaller & Diekema, 2004). It is thought that there are approximately 10 *Fusarium* species complexes that are related to human pathogens, of these, the notable two complexes are members of the *Fusarium solani* species complex (FSSC), and the *Fusarium oxysporum* species complex (FOSC) which together comprise ~80% of infections (Batista et al., 2020). Moreover, certain FSSC and FOSC appear to be common in water systems, including those of hospitals, posing a significant risk for nosocomial infections (Anaissie et al., 2001a; Babič et al., 2015; Hageskal et al., 2006; O'Donnell et al., 2004, 2007; Oliveira et al., 2016; Short et al., 2011). Infections caused by *Fusarium* spp. range from superficial and locally invasive to disseminated (van Diepeningen et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2002; Nucci & Anaissie, 2007). Additionally, the most abundant OTU (OTU2835) was classified to the family *Nectriaceae*. Upon blasting against NCBI database this OTU was further identified as a *Fusarium* (closest relative was *Fusarium foetens*, 96.71% percentage identity).

Thus, the overall relative abundance of the genus *Fusarium* may be underrepresented, as only OTUs classified to genus were included. Therefore, the overall relative abundance of *Fusarium* may be similar to that of *Exophiala* (~19%). Alongside *Exophiala*, *Fusarium* was more frequently detected on drains of bathrooms and kitchens when compared to other residential surfaces and, in another bathroom study, *Fusarium* was identified as one of the most common fungi (Adams et al., 2013a; Hamada & Abe, 2009). It is worth noting, however, that the ITS region has been shown to work poorly in differentiating between species of Fusarium as well as other highly speciose genera including *Aspergillus, Fusarium, Penicillium* and *Trichoderma* (Al-Hatmi et al., 2016; Stielow et al., 2015).

The remaining top genera from the phylum Ascomycota; *Cyphellophora*, *BisiFusarium* and *Ramularia* have been found in the BE. *Cyphellophora* and *BisiFusarium* have been identified in drinking and environmental water supplies, indoor water fittings, and drain outlets (Babič et al., 2017; Góralska et al., 2020; Heinrichs et al., 2013a; Hino et al., 2020; Lian & de Hoog, 2010). Moreover, *Cyphellophora* is another black yeast-like fungi, with several species previously isolated from clinical samples, mostly nails and skin (Feng et al., 2014; Lian & de Hoog, 2010). The genus *Ramularia* includes numerous plant pathogens, and its presence has been detected in indoor dust (Adams et al., 2020; Martin-Sanchez et al., 2021; Videira et al., 2016).

Notably, *Malassezia* was frequently detected. *Malassezia* are dominant members of the human skin mycobiome; therefore, their presence in P-traps is expected due to the shedding of fungi from skin during handwashing (Findley et al., 2013; Hospodsky et al., 2012; Theelen et al., 2018; Xu, 2015). This is further supported by Adams et al., who detected *Malassezia* in bathroom drains but not kitchen drains (Adams et al., 2013b). These commensal yeasts can be associated with common skin disorders such as dandruff and eczema (Thayikkannu et al., 2015; Theelen et al., 2018). Additionally, *Malassezia* has been shown to be far more abundant in indoor dust than outdoors and particularly abundant in bathrooms (Martin-Sanchez et al., 2021). Surprisingly, the study of restroom surfaces found only trace evidence of *Malassezia*, however the samples analysed were limited to one surface, floors, as the other two surfaces tested did not yield many fungi (Fouquier et al., 2016). The other two surfaces were those in contact with skin more frequently, toilet seats and soap dispensers. However, these exposed dry surfaces may not provide ideal conditions for sustaining microbial life. Furthermore, multiple species of *Malassezia* have demonstrated adherence to and formation of biofilms on abiotic surfaces, namely polyurethane (Angiolella et al., 2018; Cannizzo et al., 2007; Zareei et al., 2018), suggesting that they are capable of colonizing P-traps.

Overall, taxa that dominated, consistently had high prevalence and have been previously identified in other similar wet indoor environments. The black yeasts from *Exophiala*, the filamentous fungi of

Fusarium, and the white yeast from *Saccharomyces* were common inhabitants of P-traps and have all been retrieved from tap water (Anaissie et al., 2001a; Gonçalves et al., 2006; Göttlich et al., 2002; Hageskal et al., 2007, 2009). Their large contribution to the total composition of P-traps was expected and agrees with published research, specifically, studies that sampled the external drain of domestic sinks (Adams et al., 2013b).

The most striking findings from our results was that there was little difference in mycobial communities between buildings. While we cannot suggest what variables are specifically responsible for the differences between buildings due to lack of metadata collected, we speculate that the sinks sampled across a campus will largely experience similar usage as they are primarily for handwashing and under a strict as well as consistent cleaning regime. Gender of restroom had no effect on mycobial community composition. Previous studies have shown that there was no difference in bacterial and fungal communities between male and female restroom floor surfaces (Fouquier et al., 2016; Gibbons et al., 2015). It is also worth mentioning that this was the case for bacterial communities in P-traps (Withey et al., 2021).

Here, we provide a first insight into the mycobial communities of sink P-traps across publicly accessible and frequently used restrooms. The large sample size, in comparison to previous studies of domestic drains, has permitted a more extensive and generalizable observation of the communities present. Future studies may determine the community formation, stability over time and, responses to perturbations or stressors such as increased vigor and frequency of cleaning regimes. Furthermore, understanding mechanisms and routes of dispersion for fungi from sinks into the surrounding environment particularly in public areas is essential. This knowledge will inform future architectural and sink design, mitigation and prevention of any prospective outbreaks. Little is known about the microbiology of sinks and their associate pipes, which we encounter in everyday life. Our findings present a glimpse of the mycobial community present in these understudied environments. Overall, we found that a diverse community of fungi are present in many sink P-traps, and P-traps appear to share similarities in their compositions, suggesting some stability to perturbations from differing sink usage. We also found that potentially pathogenic black fungi were prevalent in P-traps. Occurrence of black fungi in healthcare facilities with a large number of immunocompromised patients is of concern, but in areas such as universities the risk may be negligible. That said, maintaining good hygiene practices and regular cleaning should not be ignored.

3.6 Declaration

3.6.1 Data Availability

The sequencing data have been deposited with links to BioProject accession number PRJNA860571 in the NCBI BioProject database (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bioproject/PRJNA860571). The relevant information for each sample is shown in Supplementary Table B.1.

3.6.2 Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest that could be perceived as prejudicing the impartiality of the research reported.

3.6.3 Supplementary material link

The supplementary material for this article can be found at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.375</u>

3.7 Acknowledgements

ZW was supported by UKRI NERC SCENARIO Postgraduate center in the SCience of the Environment: Natural and Anthropogenic pRocesses, Impacts and Opportunities (NE/L002566/1).

3.8 References

- Adams, R. I., Bhangar, S., Dannemiller, K. C., Eisen, J. A., Fierer, N., Gilbert, J. A., Green, J. L., Marr, L. C., Miller, S. L., Siegel, J. A., Stephens, B., Waring, M. S., & Bibby, K. (2016). Ten questions concerning the microbiomes of buildings. *Building and Environment, 109*, 224-234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2016.09.001
- Adams, R. I., Miletto, M., Lindow, S. E., Taylor, J. W., & Bruns, T. D. (2014). Airborne Bacterial Communities in Residences: Similarities and Differences with Fungi. *PLoS ONE, 9*(3), 91283. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091283
- Adams, R. I., Miletto, M., Taylor, J. W., & Bruns, T. D. (2013a). Dispersal in microbes: fungi in indoor air are dominated by outdoor air and show dispersal limitation at short distances. *The ISME Journal*, 7, 1262–1273. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.28
- Adams, R. I., Miletto, M., Taylor, J. W., & Bruns, T. D. (2013b). The Diversity and Distribution of Fungi on Residential Surfaces. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(11), 78866. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078866
- Adams, R. I., Sylvain, I., Spilak, M. P., Taylor, J. W., Waring, M. S., & Mendell, M. J. (2020). Fungal Signature of Moisture Damage in Buildings: Identification by Targeted and Untargeted Approaches with Mycobiome Data. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 86*(17). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01047-20
- Al-Hatmi, A. M. S., van den Ende, A. H. G. G., Stielow, J. B., van Diepeningen, A. D., Seifert, K. A., McCormick, W., Assabgui, R., Gräfenhan, T., de Hoog, G. S., & Levesque, C. A. (2016). Evaluation of two novel barcodes for species recognition of opportunistic pathogens in fusarium. *Fungal Biology*, 120(2), 231–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUNBIO.2015.08.006
- Amend, A. S., Seifert, K. A., Samson, R., Bruns, T. D., & Lindow, S. E. (2010). Indoor fungal composition is geographically patterned and more diverse in temperate zones than in the tropics. *PNAS*, 107(31). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000454107
- Anaissie, E., & Nucci, M. (2002). Cutaneous infection by fusarium species in healthy and immunocompromised hosts: Implications for diagnosis and management. *Clinical Infectious Diseases: An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, 35(8), 909–920. https://doi.org/10.1086/342328
- Anaissie, E. J., Kuchar, R. T., Rex, J. H., Francesconi, A., Kasai, M., Mü, F.-M. C., Lozano-Chiu, M., Summerbell, R. C., Dignani, M. C., Chanock, S. J., & Walsh, T. J. (2001a). Fusariosis Associated with Pathogenic Fusarium Species Colonization of a Hospital Water System: A New Paradigm for

the Epidemiology of Opportunistic Mold Infections. *Clinical Infectious Diseases, 33*(11), 1871–-1878. https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/33/11/1871/445317

- Anaissie, E. J., Stratton, S. L., Dignani, M. C., Lee, C.-K., Mahfouz, T. H., Rex, J. H., Summerbell, R. C., & Walsh, T. J. (2001b). Cleaning Patient Shower Facilities: A Novel Approach to Reducing Patient Exposure to Aerosolized Aspergillus Species and Other Opportunistic Molds. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 35(8), E86-E88. https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/35/8/e86/331573
- Anderson, M. J. (2017). Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA). *Wiley StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1002/97811 18445 112.stat0 7841
- Anderson, M. J., & Walsh, D. C. I. (2013). PERMANOVA, ANOSIM, and the Mantel test in the face of heterogeneous dispersions: What null hypothesis are you testing? *Ecological Monographs*, 83(4), 557–574.
- Angiolella, L., Leone, C., Rojas, F., Mussin, J., Angeles Sosa, M. de los, & Giusiano, G. (2018). Biofilm, adherence, and hydrophobicity as virulence factors in Malassezia furfur. *Medical Mycology, 56*(1), 110–116. https://doi.org/10.1093/MMY/MYX014
- Babič, M. N., Gunde-Cimerman, N., Vargha, M., Tischner, Z., Magyar, D., Veríssimo, C., Sabino, R.,
 Viegas, C., Meyer, W., & Brandão, J. (2017). Fungal contaminants in drinking water regulation? A
 tale of ecology, exposure, purification and clinical relevance. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14060636
- Babič, M. N., Zalar, P., Ženko, B., Schroers, H. J., Džeroski, S., & Gunde-Cimerman, N. (2015). Candida and Fusarium species known as opportunistic human pathogens from customer-accessible parts of residential washing machines. *Fungal Biology, 119*(2–3), 95–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funbio.2014.10.007
- Barberán, A., Dunn, R. R., Reich, B. J., Pacifici, K., Laber, E. B., Menninger, H. L., Morton, J. M., Henley, J. B., Leff, J. W., Miller, S. L., & Fierer, N. (2015a). The ecology of microscopic life in household dust. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282*(1814). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2015.1139
- Barberán, A., Ladau, J., Leff, J. W., Pollard, K. S., Menninger, H. L., Dunn, R. R., & Fierer, N. (2015b).
 Continental-scale distributions of dust-associated bacteria and fungi. *PNAS*, *112*(18), 5756–5761. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1420815112

- Batista, B. G., de Chaves, M. A., Reginatto, P., Saraiva, O. J., & Fuentefria, A. M. (2020). Human fusariosis: An emerging infection that is difficult to treat. *Revista Da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical, 53*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1590/0037-8682-0013-2020
- Biedunkiewicz, A., & Schulz, L. (2012). Fungi of the genus exophiala in tap water Potential etiological factors of phaeohyphomycoses. *Mikologia Lekarska*, *19*(1), 23–26.
- Cannizzo, F. T., Eraso, E., Ezkurra, P. A., Villar-Vidal, M., Bollo, E., Castellá, G., Cabañes, F. J., Vidotto,
 V., & Quindós, G. (2007). Biofilm development by clinical isolates of Malassezia pachydermatis.
 Medical Mycology, 45(4), 357–361. https://doi.org/10.1080/13693780701225767
- Chang, D. C., Grant, G. B., O'Donnell, K., Wannemuehler, K. A., Noble-Wang, J., Rao, C. Y., Jacobson, L. M., Crowell, C. S., Sneed, R. S., Lewis, F. M. T., Schaffzin, J. K., Kainer, M. A., Genese, C. A., Alfonso, E. C., Jones, D. B., Srinivasan, A., Fridkin, S. K., & Park, B. J. (2006). Multistate Outbreak of Fusarium Keratitis Associated with Use of a Contact Lens Solution. *JAMA*, *296*(8), 953–963. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.296.8.953
- Cooley, J. D., Wong, W. C., Jumper, C. A., & Straus, D. C. (1998). Correlation between the prevalence of certain fungi and sick building syndrome. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 55(9), 579. https://doi.org/10.1136/OEM.55.9.579
- Dannemiller, K. C., Gent, J. F., Leaderer, B. P., & Peccia, J. (2016). Influence of housing characteristics on bacterial and fungal communities in homes of asthmatic children. *Indoor Air, 26*(2), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/INA.12205
- Estensmo, E. L. F., Morgado, L., Maurice, S., Martin-Sanchez, P. M., Engh, I. B., Mattsson, J., Kauserud,
 H., & Skrede, I. (2021). Spatiotemporal variation of the indoor mycobiome in daycare centers. *Microbiome, 9*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-021-01167-X/FIGURES/4
- Feng, P., Lu, Q., Najafzadeh, M. J., Gerrits Van Den Ende, A. H. G., Sun, J., Li, R., Xi, L., Vicente, V. A., Lai, W., Lu, C., de Hoog, G. S., Feng, P., Lai, W., Lu, C., Lu, Q., Lu, Q., Li, R., de Hoog, G. S., Sun, J., & Xi, L. (2014). Cyphellophora and its relatives in Phialophora: biodiversity and possible role in human infection. *Fungal Diversity*, *65*, 17–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13225-012-0194-5
- Findley, K., Oh, J., Yang, J., Conlan, S., Deming, C., Meyer, J. A., Schoenfeld, D., Nomicos, E., Park, M.,
 NIH Intramural Sequencing Center Comparative Sequencing Programme, Kong, H. H., & Segre, J.
 A. (2013). Topographic diversity of fungal and bacterial communities in human skin. *Nature, 498*, 367–370. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12171

- Fothergill, A. W. (1996). Identification of Dematiaceous Fungi and Their Role in Human Disease. ClinicalInfectiousDiseases,22(Supplement_2),S179–S184.https://doi.org/10.1093/CLINIDS/22.SUPPLEMENT_2.S179
- Fouquier, J., Schwartz, T., & Kelley, S. T. (2016). Rapid assemblage of diverse environmental fungal communities on public restroom floors. *Indoor Air, 26*, 869–879. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12279
- Fu, X., Ou, Z., Zhang, M., Meng, Y., Li, Y., Wen, J., Hu, Q., Zhang, X., Norbäck, D., Deng, Y., Zhao, Z., & Sun, Y. (2021). Indoor bacterial, fungal and viral species and functional genes in urban and rural schools in Shanxi Province, China–association with asthma, rhinitis and rhinoconjunctivitis in high school students. *Microbiome*, 9(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-021-01091-0
- Gámez-Espinosa, E., Bellotti, N., Deyá, C., & Cabello, M. (2020). Mycological studies as a tool to improve the control of building materials biodeterioration. *Journal of Building Engineering, 32*, 101738. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOBE.2020.101738
- Garber, G. (2001). An Overview of Fungal Infections. Drugs, 61, 1–12.
- Gibbons, S. M., Schwartz, T., Fouquier, J., Mitchell, M., Sangwan, N., Gilbert, J. A., & Kelley, S. T. (2015).
 Ecological Succession and Viability of Human-Associated Microbiota on Restroom Surfaces.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 81, 765–773. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03117-14
- Gold, W. L., Vellend, H., Salit, I. E., Campbell, I., Summerbell, R., Rinaldi, M., & Simor, A. E. (1994).
 Successful Treatment of Systemic and Local Infections Due to Exophiala Species. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *19*(2), 339–341. https://doi.org/10.1093/CLINIDS/19.2.339
- Gonçalves, A. B., Paterson, R. R. M., & Lima, N. (2006). Survey and significance of filamentous fungi from tap water. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 209*(3), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHEH.2005.12.001
- Góralska, K., Błaszkowska, J., & Dzikowiec, M. (2020). The occurrence of potentially pathogenic filamentous fungi in recreational surface water as a public health risk. *Journal of Water and Health*, *18*(2), 127–144. https://doi.org/10.2166/WH.2020.096
- Górny, R. L., Reponen, T., Willeke, K., Schmechel, D., Robine, E., Boissier, M., & Grinshpun, S. A. (2002).
 Fungal fragments as indoor air biocontaminants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 68*(7), 3522–3531. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.7.3522-3531.2002/ASSET/2676C4C4-4A10-43E7-9B96-467ADF72AB59/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/AM0720120005.JPEG

- Göttlich, E., van der Lubbe, W., Lange, B., Fiedler, S., Melchert, I., Reifenrath, M., Flemming, H. C., & de Hoog, S. (2002). Fungal flora in groundwater-derived public drinking water. International *Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 205*(4), 269–279. https://doi.org/10.1078/1438-4639-00158
- Greig, J., Harkness, M., Taylor, P., Hashmi, C., Liang, S., & Kwan, J. (2003). Peritonitis due to the dermatiaceous mold Exophiala dermatitidis complicating continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 9*(7), 713–715. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1469-0691.2003.00569.X
- Gupta, S., Hjelmsø, M. H., Lehtimäki, J., Li, X., Mortensen, M. S., Russel, J., Trivedi, U., Rasmussen, M. A., Stokholm, J., Bisgaard, H., & Sørensen, S. J. (2020). Environmental shaping of the bacterial and fungal community in infant bed dust and correlations with the airway microbiota. *Microbiome*, 8(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-020-00895-W/FIGURES/6
- Gweon, H. S., Oliver, A., Taylor, J., Booth, T., Gibbs, M., Read, D. S., Griffiths, R. I., & Schonrogge, K. (2015). PIPITS: an automated pipeline for analyses of fungal internal transcribed spacer sequences from the Illumina sequencing platform. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 6*(8), 973–980. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12399
- Haas, D., Mayrhofer, H., Habib, J., Galler, H., Reinthaler, F. F., Fuxjäger, M. L., & Buzina, W. (2019).
 Distribution of building-associated wood-destroying fungi in the federal state of Styria, Austria. *European Journal of Wood and Wood Products, 77*(4), 527–537.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/S00107-019-01407-W/TABLES/5
- Hageskal, G., Gaustad, P., Heier, B. T., & Skaar, I. (2007). Occurrence of moulds in drinking water. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 102(3), 774–780. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2672.2006.03119.X
- Hageskal, G., Knutsen, A. K., Gaustad, P., de Hoog, G. S., & Skaar, I. (2006). Diversity and significance of mold species in Norwegian drinking water. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(12), 7586–7593. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01628-06
- Hageskal, G., Lima, N., & Skaar, I. (2009). The study of fungi in drinking water. *Mycological Research,* 113(2), 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MYCRES.2008.10.002
- Hamada, N., & Abe, N. (2009). Physiological characteristics of 13 common fungal species in bathrooms. *Mycoscience*, *50*(6), 421–429. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10267-009-0500-6

- Hamada, N., & Abe, N. (2010). Comparison of fungi found in bathrooms and sinks. *Biocontrol Science*, *15*(2), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.4265/bio.15.51
- Heinrichs, G., Hü, I., Carsten, Schmidt, K., Sybren De Hoog, G., & Haase, G. (2013a). Analysis of Black
 Fungal Biofilms Occurring at Domestic Water Taps (II): Potential Routes of Entry.
 Mycopathologia, 175, 399–412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11046-013-9619-2
- Heinrichs, G., Hübner, I., Schmidt, C. K., de Hoog, G. S., & Haase, G. (2013b). Analysis of Black Fungal Biofilms Occurring at Domestic Water Taps (I): Compositional Analysis Using Tag-Encoded FLX Amplicon Pyrosequencing. *Mycopathologia*, 175(5–6), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11046-013-9618-3
- Hino, Y., Muraosa, Y., Oguchi, M., Yahiro, M., Yarita, K., Watanabe, A., Sakaida, E., Yokote, K., & Kamei,
 K. (2020). Drain outlets in patient rooms as sources for invasive fusariosis: an analysis of patients
 with haematological disorders. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 105(3), 518–526.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.04.029
- Hiruma, M., Kawada, A., Ohata, H., Ohnishi, Y., Takahashi, H., Yamazaki, M., Ishibashi, A., Hatsuse, K.,
 Kakihara, M., & Yoshida, M. (1993). Systemic phaeohyphomycosis caused by Exophiala
 dermatitidis. *Mycoses*, *36*(1–2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1439-0507.1993.TB00679.X
- Hopf, C., Graham, E. A., Gibas, C. F. C., Sanders, C., Mele, J., Fan, H., Garner, M. M., Wiederhold, N. P., Ossiboff, R., & Abou-Madi, N. (2020). A Novel Exophiala Species Associated With Disseminated Granulomatous Inflammation in a Captive Eastern Hellbender (Cryptobranchus alleganiensis alleganiensis). *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7, 25. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2020.00025/BIBTEX
- Hospodsky, D., Qian, J., Nazaroff, W. W., Yamamoto, N., & Bibby, K. (2012). Human Occupancy as a Source of Indoor Airborne Bacteria. *PLoS ONE, 7*(4), 34867. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034867
- Hyvarinen, A., Reponen, T., Husman, T., Ruuskanen, J., & Nevalainen, A. (1993). Characterizing Mold Problem Buildings – Concentrations And Flora Of Viable Fungi. *Indoor Air, 3*(4), 337–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0668.1993.00017.X
- Ihrmark, K., Bö deker, I. T., Cruz-Martinez, K., Friberg, H., Kubartova, A., Schenck, J., Strid, Y., Stenlid, J., Brandströ m-Durling, M., Clemmensen, K. E., & rn Lindahl, B. D. (2012). New primers to amplify the fungal ITS2 region-evaluation by 454-sequencing of artificial and natural communities. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 82*, 666–677. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01437.x

- Isola, D., Selbmann, L., de Hoog, G. S., Fenice, M., Onofri, S., Prenafeta-Boldú, F. X., & Zucconi, L. (2013). Isolation and Screening of Black Fungi as Degraders of Volatile Aromatic Hydrocarbons. *Mycopathologia*, 175(5–6), 369–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11046-013-9635-2
- Jayaprakash, B., Adams, R. I., Kirjavainen, P., Karvonen, A., Vepsäläinen, A., Valkonen, M., Järvi, K., Sulyok, M., Pekkanen, J., Hyvärinen, A., & Täubel, M. (2017). Indoor microbiota in severely moisture damaged homes and the impact of interventions. *Microbiome*, *5*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-017-0356-5
- Karvala, K., Toskala, E., Luukkonen, R., Lappalainen, S., Uitti, J., & Nordman, H. (2010). New-onset adult asthma in relation to damp and moldy workplaces. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health, 83*(8), 855–865. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00420-010-0507-5/TABLES/7
- Krauter, P. A. W., & Krauter, G. W. (2002). Water treatment process and system for metals removal using Saccharomyces cerevisiae. United States. https://www.osti.gov/doepatents/biblio/874400
- Kuhn, D. M., & Ghannoum, M. A. (2003). Indoor Mold, Toxigenic Fungi, and Stachybotrys chartarum: Infectious Disease Perspective. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 16(1), 144-172. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.16.1.144-172.2003
- Lahti, L., & Shetty, S. (2017). Tools for microbiome analysis in R. Version 1.16.0. http://microbiome.github.com/microbiome
- Lax, S., Smith, D. P., Hampton-Marcell, J., Owens, S. M., Handley, K. M., Scott, N. M., Gibbons, S. M.,
 Larsen, P., Shogan, B. D., Weiss, S., Metcalf, J. L., Ursell, L. K., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Van Treuren,
 W., Hasan, N. A., Gibson, M. K., Colwell, R., Dantas, G., Knight, R., & Gilbert, J. A. (2014).
 Longitudinal analysis of microbial interaction between humans and the indoor environment. *Science*, 345(6200), 1048–1052. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1254529
- Lee, H. J., Koh, B. K., Moon, J. S., Kim, S. O., Kim, S. J., Ha, S. J., Cho, B. K., & Kim, J. W. (2002). A case of melanonychia caused by Fusarium solani. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 147(3), 607–-608. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365--2133.2002.48433.X
- Lee, W. J., Lee, K. C., Kim, M. J., Chae, S. Y., Lee, H. S., Jang, Y. H., Lee, S.-J., & Kim, W. (2016). A Case of Phaeohyphomycosis Caused by Exophiala lecanii-corni. *Annals of Dermatology*, 28(3), 385– 387. https://doi.org/10.5021/ad.2016.28.3.385
- Li D. W., & Kendrick B. (1995). Indoor aeromycota in relation to residential characteristics and allergic symptoms. *Mycopathologia,* 131, 149–157.

https://www.academia.edu/6866450/Indoor_aeromycota_in_relation_to_residential_characte ristics_and_allergic_symptoms

- Li, D. W., & Yang, C. S. (2004). Fungal Contamination as a Major Contributor to Sick Building Syndrome. Advances in Applied Microbiology, 55, 31–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2164(04)55002-5
- Lian, X., & de Hoog, G. S. (2010). Indoor wet cells harbour melanized agents of cutaneous infection. *Medical Mycology, 48*(4), 622–628. https://doi.org/10.3109/13693780903405774
- Martínez-González, M. C., Verea, M. M., Velasco, D., Sacristán, F., del Pozo, J., García-Silva, J., & Fonseca, E. (2008). Three cases of cutaneous phaeohyphomycosis by Exophiala jeanselmei. *European Journal of Dermatology : EJD, 18*(3), 313–316. https://doi.org/10.1684/EJD.2008.0395
- Martin-Sanchez, P. M., Estensmo, E. L. F., Morgado, L. N., Maurice, S., Engh, I. B., Skrede, I., & Kauserud, H. (2021). Analysing indoor mycobiomes through a large-scale citizen science study in Norway. *Molecular Ecology*, 30(11), 2689–2705. https://doi.org/10.1111/MEC.15916
- Matos, T., de Hoog, G. S., de Boer, A. G., de Crom, I., & Haase, G. (2002). High prevalence of the neurotrope Exophiala dermatitidis and related oligotrophic black yeasts in sauna facilities. *Mycoses*, 45(9–10), 373–377. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1439-0507.2002.00779.X
- Mcmurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. (2013). phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLoS ONE, 8*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Kembel, S. W., Kline, J., Mhuireach, G., Moriyama, M., Northcutt, D., O'connor, T. K., Womack, A. M., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2014). Indoor airborne bacterial communities are influenced by ventilation, occupancy, and outdoor air source. *Indoor Air, 24*, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12047
- Miyakubo, T., Todokoro, D., Satake, Y., Makimura, K., Miyakubo, S., & Akiyama, H. (2020). Exophiala lecanii-corni keratitis presenting as a serpiginous pigmented superficial lesion: a case report. *Medicine*, *99*(36), e22121. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000022121
- Moon, B., & Lo, Y. M. (2014). Conventional and Novel Applications of Edible Mushrooms In Today's Food Industry. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 38*, 2146–2153. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.12185
- Nachman, S., Alpan, O., Malowitz, R., & Spitzer, E. D. (1996). Catheter-associated fungemia due to
 Wangiella (Exophiala) dermatitidis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 34(4), 1011–1013.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.34.4.1011-1013.1996

- Nishimura, K., Miyaji, M., Taguchi, H., & Tanaka, R. (1987). Fungi in bathwater and sludge of bathroom drainpipes.
 1. Frequent isolation of Exophiala species. *Mycopathologia*, 97(1), 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00437326
- Nucci, M., & Anaissie, E. (2007). Fusarium infections in immunocompromised patients. Clinical *Microbiology Reviews*, *20*(4), 695–-704. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00014 --07
- O'Donnell, K., Sarver, B. A. J., Brandt, M., Chang, D. C., Noble--Wang, J., Park, B. J., Sutton, D. A., Benjamin, L., Lindsley, M., Padhye, A., Geiser, D. M., & Ward, T. J. (2007). Phylogenetic diversity and microsphere array--based genotyping of human pathogenic Fusaria, including isolates from the multistate contact lens-associated U.S. keratitis outbreaks of 2005 and 2006. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(7), 2235–2248. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00533 --07
- O'Donnell, K., Sutton, D. A., Rinaldi, M. G., Magnon, K. C., Cox, P. A., Revankar, S. G., Sanche, S., Geiser, D. M., Juba, J. H., van Burik, J. A. H., Padhye, A., Anaissie, E. J., Francesconi, A., Walsh, T. J., & Robinson, J. S. (2004). Genetic diversity of human pathogenic members of the Fusarium oxysporum complex inferred from multilocus DNA sequence data and amplified fragment length polymorphism analyses: Evidence for the recent dispersion of a geographically widespread clonal lineag. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 42*(11), 5109–5120. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.42.11.5109-5120.2004
- O'Donnell, K., Sutton, D. A., Rinaldi, M. G., Sarver, B. A. J., Balajee, S. A., Schroers, H. J., Summerbell,
 R. C., Robert, V. A. R. G., Crous, P. W., Zhang, N., Aoki, T., Jung, K., Park, J., Lee, Y. H., Kang, S.,
 Park, B., & Geiser, D. M. (2010). Internet-accessible DNA sequence database for identifying fusaria from human and animal infections. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 48*(10), 3708–3718. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00989-10/ASSET/CDCF1F09-595B-410F-A8AA-BE8691648861/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZJM9990901150002.JPEG
- Oksanen, A. J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Mcglinn, D., Minchin, P. R., Hara,
 R. B. O., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., & Szoecs, E. (2020). vegan: Community
 Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-7. (Issue March 2017).
- Oliveira, H. M. B., Santos, C., Russell, R., Paterson, M., Gusmão, N. B., & Lima, N. (2016). Fungi from a Groundwater-Fed Drinking Water Supply System in Brazil. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health Article, 13*(304). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13030304
- Pasanen, A. L., Heinonen-Tanski, H., Kalliokoski, P., & Jantunen, M. J. (1992). Fungal microcolonies on indoor surfaces an explanation for the base-level fungal spore counts in indoor air. *Atmospheric*

Environment. Part B, Urban Atmosphere, 26(1), 117–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/0957-1272(92)90043-R

- Pasanen, A. L., Rautiala1, S., Kasanen1, J.-P., Raunio1, P., Rantamäki2, J., & Kalliokoski1, P. (2000). The relationship between measured moisture conditions and fungal concentrations in waterdamaged building materials. *Indoor Air, 10*(2), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1034/J.1600-0668.2000.010002111.X
- Pfaller, M. A., & Diekema, D. J. (2004). Rare and emerging opportunistic fungal pathogens: Concern for resistance beyond Candida albicans and Aspergillus fumigatus. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 42(10), 4419–4431. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.42.10.4419-4431.2004
- Pirnie-Fisker, E. F., & Woertz, J. R. (2007). Degradation of ethanol plant by-products by Exophiala lecanii-corni and Saccharomyces cerevisiae in batch studies. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 74(4), 902–910. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00253-006-0726-6/FIGURES/6
- Pitkäranta, M., Meklin, T., Hyvärinen, A., Paulin, L., Auvinen, P., Nevalainen, A., & Rintala, H. (2008).
 Analysis of Fungal Flora in Indoor Dust by Ribosomal DNA Sequence Analysis, Quantitative PCR, and Culture. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 74*(1), 233. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00692-07
- Porteous, N. B., Grooters, A. M., Redding, S. W., Thompson, E. H., Rinaldi, M. G., de Hoog, G. S., & Sutton, D. A. (2003). Identification of Exophiala mesophila isolated from treated dental unit waterlines. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *41*(8), 3885–3889. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.8.3885-3889.2003
- R Core Team. (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Ren, P., Jankun, T. M., Belanger, K., Bracken, M. B., & Leaderer, B. P. (2001). The relation between fungal propagules in indoor air and home characteristics. *Allergy*, 56(5), 419–424. https://doi.org/10.1034/J.1398-9995.2001.056005419.X
- Ruoff, K. L. (2002). Miscellaneous catalase-negative, gram-positive cocci: Emerging opportunists. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 40(4), 1129–1133. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.40.4.1129-1133.2002
- Samson, R. A., Houbraken, J., Summerbell, R. C., Flannigan, B., & Miller, J. D. (2011). Common and important species of fungi and actinomycetes in indoor environments. In *Microorganisms in*

Home and Indoor Work Environments: Diversity, Health Impacts, Investigation and Control. CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203302934-11

- Schmidt, O. (2007). Indoor wood-decay basidiomycetes: damage, causal fungi, physiology, identification and characterization, prevention and control. *Mycological Progress*, 6(4), 261–279. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11557-007-0534-0
- Short, D. P. G., O'Donnell, K., Zhang, N., Juba, J. H., & Geiser, D. M. (2011). Widespread occurrence of diverse human pathogenic types of the fungus Fusarium detected in plumbing drains. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 49(12), 4264–4272. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.05468-11/SUPPL_FILE/JCM5468-11_ST3.DOC
- Simon-Nobbe, B., Denk, U., Pöll, V., Rid, R., & Breitenbach, M. (2008). The spectrum of fungal allergy. International Archives of Allergy and Immunology, 145(1), 58–86. https://doi.org/10.1159/000107578
- Soeria-Atmadja, D., Önell, A., & Borgå, Å. (2010). IgE sensitization to fungi mirrors fungal phylogenetic systematics. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125(6), 1379-1386.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2010.02.028
- Solomon, W. R. (1975). Assessing fungus prevalence in domestic interiors. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *56*(3), 235–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-6749(75)90095-0
- Stephens, B. (2016). What Have We Learned about the Microbiomes of Indoor Environments? *MSystems*, 1(4). https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.3459257.v1
- Stielow, J. B., Lévesque, C. A., Seifert, K. A., Meyer, W., Irinyi, L., Smits, D., Renfurm, R., Verkley, G. J.
 M., Groenewald, M., Chaduli, D., Lomascolo, A., Welti, S., Lesage--Meessen, L., Favel, A., Al--Hatmi, A. M. S., Damm, U., Yilmaz, N., Houbraken, J., Lombard, L., ... Robert, V. (2015). One fungus, which genes? Development and assessment of universal primers for potential secondary fungal DNA barcodes. *Persoonia: Molecular Phylogeny and Evolution of Fungi, 35*(1), 242–263. https://doi.org/10.3767/00315 8515X 689135
- Sudakin, D. L. (1998). Toxigenic Fungi in a Water-Damaged Building: An Intervention Study. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 34, 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0274(199808)34:2
- Taylor, M., Gaskin, S., Bentham, R., & Pisaniello, D. (2014). Airborne fungal profiles in office buildings in metropolitan Adelaide, South Australia: Background levels, diversity and seasonal variation.
 Indoor and Built Environment, 23(7), 1002–1011. https://doi.org/10.1177/1420326X13499172

- Thayikkannu, A. B., Kindo, A. J., & Veeraraghavan, M. (2015). Malassezia-Can it be ignored? *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, *60*(4), 332–339. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.160475
- Theelen, B., Cafarchia, C., Gaitanis, G., Bassukas, I. D., Boekhout, T., & Dawson, T. L. (2018). Malassezia ecology, pathophysiology, and treatment. *Medical Mycology*, 56, 10–25. https://doi.org/10.1093/mmy/myx134
- Torvinen, E., Meklin, T., Torkko, P., Suomalainen, S., Reiman, M., Katila, M.-L., Paulin, L., & Nevalainen,
 A. (2006). Mycobacteria and Fungi in Moisture-Damaged Building Materials. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(10), 6822–6824. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00588-06
- Trout, D., Bernstein, J., Martinez, K., Biagini, R., & Wallingford, K. (2001). Bioaerosol lung damage in a worker with repeated exposure to fungi in a water-damaged building. *Environmental Health Perspectives, 109*(6), 641–644. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.01109641
- van Diepeningen, A. D., Feng, P., Ahmed, S., Sudhadham, M., Bunyaratavej, S., & de Hoog, G. S. (2015). Spectrum of Fusarium infections in tropical dermatology evidenced by multilocus sequencing typing diagnostics. *Mycoses, 58*(1), 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/MYC.12273
- Videira, S. I. R., Groenewald, J. Z., Braun, U., Shin, H. D., & Crous, P. W. (2016). All that glitters is not Ramularia. *Studies in Mycology, 83*, 49–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.simyco.2016.06.001
- Viel, A., Legras, J. L., Nadai, C., Carlot, M., Lombardi, A., Crespan, M., Migliaro, D., Giacomini, A., & Corich, V. (2017). The geographic distribution of saccharomyces cerevisiae isolates within three Italian neighboring winemaking regions reveals strong differences in yeast abundance, genetic diversity and industrial strain dissemination. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 8*, 1595. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2017.01595/BIBTEX
- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., D', L., Mcgowan, A., François, R., Grolemund, G., Hayes,
 A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Lin Pedersen, T., Miller, E., Bache, S. M., Müller, K., Ooms, J.,
 Robinson, D., Seidel, D. P., ... Yutani, H. (2019). Welcome to the Tidyverse. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 4(43), 1686. https://doi.org/10.21105/JOSS.01686
- Withey, Z., Goodall, T., MacIntyre, S., & Gweon, H. S. (2021). Characterization of communal sink drain communities of a university campus. *Environmental DNA, 3*(5), 901–911. https://doi.org/10.1002/EDN3.196
- Woertz, J. R., Kinney, K. A., McIntosh, N. D. P., & Szaniszlo, P. J. (2001). Removal of toluene in a vapor--phase bioreactor containing a strain of the dimorphic black yeast Exophiala lecanii--corni. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 75(5), 550–558. https://doi.org/10.1002/BIT.10066
- Wong, L. T., Mui, K. W., Hui, P. S., Chan, W. Y., & Law, A. K. Y. (2008). Indoor and Built uilt Environment Thermal Environmental Interference with Airborne Bacteria and Fungi Levels in Air-Conditioned Offices. *Indoor and Built Environment, 17*(2), 122–127. https://doi.org/10.1177/1420326X08089260
- Woo, P. C. Y., Ngan, A. H. Y., Tsang, C. C. C., Ling, I. W. H., Chan, J. F. W., Leung, S.-Y., Yuen, K.-Y., & Lau, S. K. P. (2013). Clinical Spectrum of Exophiala Infections and a Novel Exophiala Species, Exophiala hongkongensis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *51*(1), 260–270. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02336-12
- Xu, W. C. (2015). Genus-Wide Comparative Genomics of Malassezia Delineates Its Phylogeny, Physiology, and Niche Adaptation on Human Skin. *PLoS Genetics*, *11*(11), 1005614. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005614
- Zalar, P., Novak, M., de Hoog, G. S., & Gunde-Cimerman, N. (2011). Dishwashers A man-made ecological niche accommodating human opportunistic fungal pathogens. *Fungal Biology*, 115(10), 997–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUNBIO.2011.04.007
- Zareei, M., Mohammadi, S. R., Shahbazi, S., Roudbary, M., & Borujeni, Z. B. (2018). Evaluation of the ability of malassezia species in biofilm formation. *Archives of Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 13(4). https://doi.org/10.5812/archcid.62223
- Zeng, J. S., Sutton, D. A., Fothergill, A. W., Rinaldi, M. G., Harrak, M. J., & de Hoog, G. S. (2007). Spectrum of clinically relevant Exophiala species in the United States. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(11), 3713–3720. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02012-06
- Zupančič, J., Babič, M. N., Zalar, P., & Gunde-Cimerman, N. (2016). The Black Yeast Exophiala dermatitidis and Other Selected Opportunistic Human Fungal Pathogens Spread from Dishwashers to Kitchens. *PLoS ONE, 11*(2), e0148166. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0148166

Appendix B

Supplementary material for Chapter 3

Mycobial community assemblages in sink drains across a university campus

This appendix includes:

- **Figure B.1** Mycobiome composition by building. Colours indicate the average fungal phylum/family distribution in different buildings. A) At the Phylum level. B) At the genus level. Ascomycota dominate across buildings at the phylum level.
- Figure B.2 Genus level composition of the sink mycobiome from public restrooms. Each line represents a single sample. Coloured bar underneath bar plot shows from which building the sample was taken. Sink samples grouped by building along x-axis.
- **Figure B.3** The top three genera and their contribution across all samples plotted as a rank abundance curve. Red dotted line represents the mean relative abundance for the genus and the dark blue represents the median. Figure shows some variation in relative abundances of the top genera across and within buildings. Coloured bar underneath plot corresponds to building from which that sample was taken.
- **Figure B.4** Distances (Bray-Curtis and Jaccard matrices used) to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for sink fungal communities for each building. The spread of some buildings is more variable in comparison to others.
- **Figure B.5** Rarefaction analysis: Most of the samples, showed rarefaction curves that did not reach a plateau suggesting further sequencing may be required for a full taxonomic representation of the fungal community.
- **Figure B.6** Document of beta diversity analysis including all samples. NMDS of Bray-Curtis and Jaccard, betadisper results and statistical analysis shown. Overall results were no different from when the outliers were removed (data presented in manuscript).
- **Table B.1** Table of sample metadata.
- **Table B.2** Number of samples successfully amplified ITS2 region and purified using Agencourt AMPure XP magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter).
- **Table B.3** OTU table with associated taxonomy (not included, link provided as table too large to include)

- **Table B.4** Average relative abundance (RA) of top classified genera by A) Building and B) Gender of restroom from which sample was taken. Some samples were collected from kitchens, so this was included as an additional group under gender.
- Table B.5 Post hoc Tukey test results. A) Using Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix, B) Jaccard.
 Pairs of buildings shown in tables are only those with significant differences observed. Stars indicate the p-value significance * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.
- Table B.6 Results of Paired Wilcoxon comparisons between buildings based on alpha diversity measures A) Observed, B) Shannon, C) Evenness. Pairs of buildings shown in tables are only those with significant differences observed. P.adj shows the P-Bonferroni corrected p-values, stars indicate the p-value significance * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.



Figure B.1. Mycobiome composition by building. Colours indicate the average fungal phylum/family distribution in different buildings. A) At the Phylum level. B) At the genus level. Ascomycota dominate across buildings at the phylum level



Figure B.2. Genus level composition of the sink mycobiome from public restrooms. Each line represents a single sample. Coloured bar underneath bar plot shows from which building the sample was taken. Sink samples grouped by building along x-axis.



Figure B.3. The top three genera and their contribution across all samples plotted as a rank abundance curve. Red dotted line represents the mean relative abundance for the genus and the dark blue represents the median. Figure shows some variation in relative abundances of the top genera across and within buildings. Coloured bar underneath plot corresponds to building from which that sample was taken.



Figure B.4. Distances (Bray-Curtis and Jaccard matrices used) to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for sink fungal communities for each building. The spread of some buildings is more variable in comparison to others.



Figure B.5. Rarefaction analysis: Most of the samples, showed rarefaction curves that did not reach a plateau suggesting further sequencing may be required for a full taxonomic representation of the fungal community.

Figure B.6. (Below) Document of beta diversity analysis including all samples. NMDS of Bray-Curtis and Jaccard, betadisper results and statistical analysis shown. Overall results were no different from when the outliers were removed (data presented in manuscript).

Three samples were removed (two from Park House, one from Edith Morley) for analysis in the main text of the paper due to them being outliers. Analysis as performed in main text, was also carried out on the full dataset of 289 samples for comparison and completeness. As concluded in the main text no clear separation of buildings was observed in NMDS (below). Centroids of building groups are also shown in NMDS plot.



PERMANOVA was performed and the null hypothesis rejected. There are significant differences among different buildings (F.model = 2.3225, R2 = 0.12019, P = 0.001 (Bray-Curtis); F.model = 1.6907, R2 = 0.09046, P = 0.001 (Jaccard)). This further agrees with results stated in main text. Results from betadisper are shown below:



ANOVA, DF = 16, F = 6.7917 p < 0.001 (Bray-Curtis); DF = 16, F = 5.4683, P < 0.001 (Jaccard)).

Overall results were no different from when the outliers were removed (data presented in manuscript).

Seq ID	Building	Gender	Floor	Building Purpose	Location	P-Trap material	Sink Trap design	Building Temperature (°C)
ND.E01.SU01	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	14.5
ND.E01.SU02	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	14.5
ND.E01.SU03	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	14.5
ND.E01.SU04	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	14.5
ND.E01.SU05	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	14.5
ND.E01.SU06	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	14.5
ND.E01.SU07	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	14.5
ND.E01.SU08	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	16.8
ND.E01.SU10	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	16.8
ND.E01.SU11	Student Union	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	16.8
ND.E01.SU12	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU13	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU14	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU15	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU16	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU17	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU18	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU19	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	16.9
ND.E01.SU20	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	16.9
ND.E01.SU21	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	16.9
ND.E01.SU23	Student Union	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	16.9
ND.E01.SU24	Student Union	Neutral	First	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU26	Student Union	Neutral	First	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.EATS12	Eat at the Square	Neutral	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	20.1
ND.E01.SU27	Student Union	Neutral	First	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.SU28	Student Union	Neutral	First	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.9
ND.E01.EATS01	Eat at the Square	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.7
ND.E01.EATS02	Eat at the Square	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.7
ND.E01.EATS03	Eat at the Square	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.7

ND.E01.EATS04	Eat at the Square	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.7
ND.E01.EATS05	Eat at the Square	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	24
ND.E01.EATS06	Eat at the Square	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	24
ND.E01.EATS07	Eat at the Square	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	24
ND.E01.EATS08	Eat at the Square	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	24
ND.E01.EATS09	Eat at the Square	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	24
ND.E01.EATS10	Eat at the Square	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	24
ND.E01.EATS11	Eat at the Square	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	24
ND.E01.HN01	Harry Nunsten	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	26.4
ND.E01.HN02	Harry Nunsten	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	26.4
ND.E01.HN03	Harry Nunsten	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	25.1
ND.E01.HN04	Harry Nunsten	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	25.1
ND.E01.HN05	Harry Nunsten	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	28.3
ND.E01.HN06	Harry Nunsten	Kitchen	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	25.4
ND.E01.HN07	Harry Nunsten	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	21.6
ND.E01.HN08	Harry Nunsten	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.6
ND.E01.HN09	Harry Nunsten	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.6
ND.E01.HN10	Harry Nunsten	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	30.6
ND.E01.HN11	Harry Nunsten	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	30.6
EF.E01.URS03	URS Building	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11
EF.E01.URS04	URS Building	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11
EF.E01.URS05	URS Building	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8.1
EF.E01.URS06	URS Building	Kitchen	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	11.2
EF.E01.URS07	URS Building	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	15.6
EF.E01.URS08	URS Building	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18.8
EF.E01.MILL01	Miller	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8
EF.E01.MILL02	Miller	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8
EF.E01.MILL03	Miller	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8.9
EF.E01.MILL05	Miller	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8.9
EF.E01.MILL07	Miller	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	12.5

EF.E01.EDM03	Edith Morley	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	8.6
EF.E01.EDM04	Edith Morley	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	8.6
EF.E01.EDM05	Edith Morley	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.8
EF.E01.EDM06	Edith Morley	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.8
EF.E01.EDM07	Edith Morley	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	10.1
EF.E01.EDM08	Edith Morley	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	10.1
EF.E01.EDM10	Edith Morley	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	12.6
EF.E01.MAT01	Maths	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.1
EF.E01.MAT02	Maths	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.1
EF.E01.MAT03	Maths	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.1
EF.E01.MAT04	Maths	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	19.1
EF.E01.MAT05	Maths	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	19.1
EF.E01.EDM09	Edith Morley	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	12.6
EF.E01.MAT06	Maths	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	19.1
EF.E01.MAT07	Maths	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	22.8
EF.E01.MAT08	Maths	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	22.8
EF.E01.MAT09	Maths	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	22.8
EF.E01.MAT10	Maths	Male	Third	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	19
EF.E01.MAT12	Maths	Male	Third	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	19
EF.E01.URS11	URS Building	Neutral	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	13.4
EF.E01.EDM12	Edith Morley	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.2
EF.E01.EDM18	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EF.E01.EDM20	Edith Morley	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.7
EF.E01.EDM26	Edith Morley	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.8
EF.E01.EDM34	Edith Morley	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	19.4
EF.E01.EDM36	Edith Morley	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	15.7
EF.E01.EDM38	Edith Morley	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	7.8
EF.E01.EDM41	Edith Morley	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	18.1
EF.E01.EDM42	Edith Morley	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	15
EF.E01.EDM44	Edith Morley	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	11.7

EF.E01.EDM52	Edith Morley	Kitchen	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	18.5
NJ.E01.AGR05	Agriculture	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR10	Agriculture	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR13	Agriculture	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	26.4
NJ.E01.AGR15	Agriculture	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	24.6
NJ.E01.AGR16	Agriculture	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	20
NJ.E01.AGR17	Agriculture	Male	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	32
NJ.E01.RC06	Russell & Chancellors	Female	Ground	Teaching	West Side	Plastic	Uknown	18.9
NJ.E01.RC07	Russell & Chancellors	Female	Ground	Teaching	West Side	Plastic	Uknown	18.9
NJ.E01.RC08	Russell & Chancellors	Female	Ground	Teaching	West Side	Plastic	Uknown	18.9
NJ.E01.RC10	Russell & Chancellors	Female	Ground	Teaching	West Side	Plastic	Uknown	18.9
NJ.E01.RC11	Russell & Chancellors	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	West Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16
NJ.E01.MIN01	Mingella	Male	Ground	Theather	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	17.1
NJ.E01.MIN03	Mingella	Neutral	First	Theather	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	17.8
NJ.E01.MIN05	Mingella	Female	Ground	Theather	Central	Unknown	Uknown	17.2
NJ.E01.MIN06	Mingella	Female	Ground	Theather	Central	Unknown	Uknown	17.2
NJ.E01.MIN07	Mingella	Female	Ground	Theather	Central	Unknown	Uknown	17.2
NJ.E01.MIN09	Mingella	Neutral	First	Theather	Central	Unknown	Uknown	15.5
NJ.E01.MIN11	Mingella	Neutral	First	Theather	Central	Unknown	Uknown	18.2
NJ.E01.MIN12	Mingella	Neutral	First	Theather	Central	Unknown	Uknown	18.2
NJ.E01.MIN13	Mingella	Neutral	Second	Theather	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	19.8
NJ.E01.MIN14	Mingella	Neutral	Ground	Theather	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	14.6
NJ.E01.AGR18	Agriculture	Male	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	32
NJ.E01.AGR20	Agriculture	Male	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	32
NJ.E01.AGR22	Agriculture	Female	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	29.9
NJ.E01.AGR24	Agriculture	Female	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR26	Agriculture	Female	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR27	Agriculture	Neutral	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	27.3
NJ.E01.AGR32	Agriculture	Neutral	Second	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	24.6
NJ.E01.AGR35	Agriculture	Female	Third	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	20

NJ.E01.AGR38	Agriculture	Kitchen	Third	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	19.4
NJ.E01.AGR39	Agriculture	Male	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	19.6
NJ.E01.AGR42	Agriculture	Male	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	16.7
NJ.E01.AGR43	Agriculture	Female	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	16.4
NJ.E01.AGR44	Agriculture	Female	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	16.4
NJ.E01.AGR45	Agriculture	Female	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	12.7
NJ.E01.AGR46	Agriculture	Female	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	12.7
NJ.E01.AGR47	Agriculture	Neutral	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	14.5
EN.E01.LIB01	Library	Neutral	First	Study	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
AA.E01.ART01	Art	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	15.8
AA.E01.ART02	Art	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	10.2
AA.E01.ART03	Art	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	10.2
AA.E01.ART04	Art	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	6.5
AA.E01.ART05	Art	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	6.5
AA.E01.ART06	Art	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	6
AA.E01.ART07	Art	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Metal	S-Trap	6
AA.E01.ART08	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	5
AA.E01.ART09	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.4
AA.E01.ART10	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.4
AA.E01.ART13	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	5
AA.E01.ART14	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	5
AA.E01.ART15	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	5
AA.E01.ART16	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	5
AA.E01.ART17	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	5
AA.E01.ART18	Art	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11.4
AA.E01.PAH13	Park House	Female	First	Recreational	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	14.7
AA.E01.PAH14	Park House	Kitchen	First	Recreational	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	14.1
AA.E01.PAH1	Park House	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	12
AA.E01.PAH2	Park House	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	12
AA.E01.PAH3	Park House	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	12

AA.E01.PAH4	Park House	Male	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	12
AA.E01.PAH5	Park House	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11.5
AA.E01.PAH6	Park House	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11.5
AA.E01.PAH7	Park House	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11.5
AA.E01.PAH8	Park House	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11.5
AA.E01.PAH9	Park House	Female	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	11.5
AA.E01.PAH10	Park House	Neutral	Ground	Recreational	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.8
AA.E01.PAH11	Park House	Male	First	Recreational	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	13.8
AA.E01.PAH12	Park House	Female	First	Recreational	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	14.7
AA.E01.ARC01	Archaeology	Male	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	17.6
AA.E01.ARC02	Archaeology	Male	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	17.6
AA.E01.ARC03	Archaeology	Male	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	17.6
AA.E01.ARC04	Archaeology	Female	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	15.4
AA.E01.ARC05	Archaeology	Female	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	15.4
AA.E01.ARC06	Archaeology	Female	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	15.4
AA.E01.ARC07	Archaeology	Male	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	14.2
AA.E01.ARC08	Archaeology	Male	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	14.2
AA.E01.ARC09	Archaeology	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	19.2
AA.E01.ARC10	Archaeology	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	19.2
AA.E01.ARC11	Archaeology	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	7.8
AA.E01.ARC13	Archaeology	Kitchen	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	S-Trap	11.3
AA.E01.ARC14	Archaeology	Kitchen	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	S-Trap	13
AA.E01.ARC15	Archaeology	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Unknown	Uknown	7.8
AA.E01.ARC16	Archaeology	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Unknown	Uknown	7.8
AA.E01.ART19	Art	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	S-Trap	5
AA.E01.SPK01	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK02	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK03	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK04	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK05	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5

AA.E01.SPK06	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK07	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK08	Sports Park	Male	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK09	Sports Park	Female	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	18.7
AA.E01.SPK10	Sports Park	Female	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Unknown	Bottle Trap	18.7
AA.E01.SPK11	Sports Park	Female	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK12	Sports Park	Female	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.5
AA.E01.SPK13	Sports Park	Neutral	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	17
AA.E01.SPK14	Sports Park	Neutral	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	17
AA.E01.SPK15	Sports Park	Neutral	Ground	Recreational	West Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.3
EN.E01.POV03	Polly Vacher	Male	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	P-Trap	14.5
EN.E01.POV05	Polly Vacher	Male	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	P-Trap	13.3
EN.E01.POV07	Polly Vacher	Male	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	P-Trap	13.3
EN.E01.LIB02	Library	Neutral	First	Study	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EN.E01.LIB04	Library	Neutral	Second	Study	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	21.2
EN.E01.LIB05	Library	Neutral	Third	Study	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	22.5
EN.E01.LIB06	Library	Neutral	Third	Study	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	22.5
EN.E01.LIB07	Library	Neutral	Fourth	Study	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	22.2
EN.E01.LIB09	Library	Neutral	Fifth	Study	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	24.8
EN.E01.LIB10	Library	Male	Fifth	Study	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	25
EN.E01.WHI24	Whiteknights	Female	Third	Office	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	17.5
EN.E01.WHI20	Whiteknights	Neutral	Ground	Office	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18.4
EN.E01.WHI19	Whiteknights	Female	Second	Office	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	17.3
EN.E01.WHI17	Whiteknights	Female	Second	Office	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	17.3
EN.E01.WHI16	Whiteknights	Female	Second	Office	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.4
EN.E01.HBS01	Henley Business School	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.4
EN.E01.HBS02	Henley Business School	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	
EN.E01.HBS03	Henley Business School	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	
EN.E01.HBS04	Henley Business School	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	
EN.E01.HBS05	Henley Business School	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	16.4

EN.E01.HBS06	Henley Business School	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	24.9
EN.E01.HBS08	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18
EN.E01.HBS09	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18
EN.E01.HBS10	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18
EN.E01.HBS12	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18
EN.E01.HBS13	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18
EN.E01.HBS14	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18
EN.E01.HBS15	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	24.4
EN.E01.HBS18	Henley Business School	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	21.4
EN.E01.HBS19	Henley Business School	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	21.4
EN.E01.HBS17	Henley Business School	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	21.4
EN.E01.HBS26	Henley Business School	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18.1
EN.E01.HBS27	Henley Business School	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18.1
EN.E01.HBS29	Henley Business School	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	20
EN.E01.HBB0	Henley Business School	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	20
EN.E01.HBB1	Henley Business School	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	20
EN.E01.HBB6	Henley Business School	Neutral	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	17.9
EN.E01.HBB7	Henley Business School	Kitchen	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	24.3
EN.E01.HBB8	Henley Business School	Kitchen	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	25
EF.E01.URS12	URS Building	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	7.7
EF.E01.URS13	URS Building	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8.8
EF.E01.URS14	URS Building	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8.8
EF.E01.URS15	URS Building	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8.8
EF.E01.URS16	URS Building	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	8.8
EF.E01.EDM11	Edith Morley	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.2
EF.E01.EDM13	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EF.E01.EDM14	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EF.E01.EDM15	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EF.E01.EDM16	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EF.E01.EDM17	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9

EF.E01.EDM19	Edith Morley	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.7
EF.E01.EDM21	Edith Morley	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	17.9
EF.E01.EDM22	Edith Morley	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	17.9
EF.E01.EDM23	Edith Morley	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	17.2
EF.E01.EDM24	Edith Morley	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	17.2
EF.E01.EDM25	Edith Morley	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.8
EF.E01.EDM28	Edith Morley	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	15.5
EF.E01.EDM29	Edith Morley	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EF.E01.EDM30	Edith Morley	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.9
EF.E01.EDM32	Edith Morley	Neutral	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.2
EF.E01.EDM33	Edith Morley	Kitchen	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	18.9
EF.E01.EDM35	Edith Morley	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	19.4
EF.E01.EDM37	Edith Morley	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	15.7
EF.E01.EDM39	Edith Morley	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	7.8
EF.E01.EDM40	Edith Morley	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	18.1
EF.E01.EDM43	Edith Morley	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	15
EF.E01.EDM46	Edith Morley	Neutral	Second	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.3
EF.E01.EDM47	Edith Morley	Male	Third	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	13.9
EF.E01.EDM49	Edith Morley	Female	Third	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	15.7
EF.E01.EDM50	Edith Morley	Female	Third	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	15.7
EF.E01.EDM51	Edith Morley	Male	Fourth	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	11.8
EF.E01.EDM54	Edith Morley	Female	Fourth	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	13.6
EF.E01.EDM55	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.1
EF.E01.EDM56	Edith Morley	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	16.1
ND.E01.CHEM01	Chemistry	Male	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	8.4
ND.E01.CHEM02	Chemistry	Male	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	8.4
ND.E01.CHEM03	Chemistry	Male	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	8.4
ND.E01.CHEM04	Chemistry	Male	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	8.4
ND.E01.CHEM05	Chemistry	Male	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	8.4
ND.E01.CHEM06	Chemistry	Female	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	S-Trap	4.2

ND.E01.CHEM07	Chemistry	Female	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	S-Trap	4.2
ND.E01.CHEM08	Chemistry	Female	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	S-Trap	4.2
ND.E01.CHEM09	Chemistry	Neutral	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	12.5
ND.E01.CHEM10	Chemistry	Neutral	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	12.5
ND.E01.CHEM11	Chemistry	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	19
ND.E01.CHEM13	Chemistry	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	18.7
ND.E01.CHEM14	Chemistry	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	18.7
ND.E01.CHEM15	Chemistry	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	18.7
ND.E01.CHEM16	Chemistry	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	18.7
ND.E01.CHEM17	Chemistry	Female	First	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	18.7
ND.E01.CHEM18	Chemistry	Male	Third	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	13.5
ND.E01.CHEM19	Chemistry	Male	Third	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	13.5
ND.E01.CHEM20	Chemistry	Male	Third	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	13.5
ND.E01.CHEM21	Chemistry	Male	Third	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	13.5
ND.E01.CHEM22	Chemistry	Male	Third	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	13.5
ND.E01.CHEM23	Chemistry	Neutral	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	12.5
ND.E01.CHEM24	Chemistry	Neutral	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	12.5
ND.E01.CHEM25	Chemistry	Neutral	Second	Teaching	South Central	Plastic	Uknown	12.5
AA.E01.JJT01	JJ Thompson	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	18.5
AA.E01.JJT02	JJ Thompson	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	18.5
AA.E01.JJT03	JJ Thompson	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	18.2
AA.E01.JJT04	JJ Thompson	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	18.2
AA.E01.JJT05	JJ Thompson	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	18.2
AA.E01.JJT06	JJ Thompson	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18.9
AA.E01.JJT08	JJ Thompson	Neutral	First	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	17.7
AA.E01.JJT09	JJ Thompson	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.2
AA.E01.JJT10	JJ Thompson	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	21.2
AA.E01.JJT11	JJ Thompson	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Unknown	Bottle Trap	19.8
AA.E01.JJT12	JJ Thompson	Kitchen	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	22.1
AA.E01.JJT13	JJ Thompson	Neutral	Third	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	22.7

AA.E01.JJT14	JJ Thompson	Neutral	Third	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	22.7
AA.E01.JJT15	JJ Thompson	Neutral	Third	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	22.7
NJ.E01.AGR06	Agriculture	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	22.9
NJ.E01.AGR07	Agriculture	Male	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	22.9
NJ.E01.AGR08	Agriculture	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	27.4
NJ.E01.AGR09	Agriculture	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR11	Agriculture	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR12	Agriculture	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	26.4
NJ.E01.AGR14	Agriculture	Female	Ground	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	24.6
NJ.E01.AGR19	Agriculture	Male	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	32
NJ.E01.AGR21	Agriculture	Male	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	32
NJ.E01.AGR23	Agriculture	Female	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR25	Agriculture	Female	First	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR28	Agriculture	Male	Second	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	23
NJ.E01.AGR30	Agriculture	Female	Second	Teaching	East Side	Unknown	Uknown	22.7
NJ.E01.AGR31	Agriculture	Female	Second	Teaching	East Side	Unknown	Uknown	22.7
NJ.E01.AGR33	Agriculture	Male	Third	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	19
NJ.E01.AGR34	Agriculture	Male	Third	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	19
NJ.E01.AGR36	Agriculture	Female	Third	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	20
NJ.E01.AGR37	Agriculture	Neutral	Third	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	
NJ.E01.AGR41	Agriculture	Male	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	P-Trap	16.7
NJ.E01.AGR48	Agriculture	Neutral	Fourth	Teaching	East Side	Plastic	Bottle Trap	13.4
EN.E01.WHI05	Whiteknights	Female	Ground	Office	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.8
EN.E01.WHI06	Whiteknights	Kitchen	Ground	Office	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	5.7
EN.E01.WHI07	Whiteknights	Male	First	Office	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	19
EN.E01.WHI08	Whiteknights	Male	First	Office	Central	Plastic	S-Trap	19
EN.E01.WHI09	Whiteknights	Female	First	Office	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	21.2
EN.E01.WHI10	Whiteknights	Female	First	Office	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	19.2
EN.E01.WHI11	Whiteknights	Female	First	Office	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	19.2
EN.E01.WHI12	Whiteknights	Male	Second	Office	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	14.5

EN.E01.HBS07	Henley Business School	Male	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	24.9
EN.E01.HBS11	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	18
EN.E01.HBS16	Henley Business School	Female	Ground	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	24.5
EN.E01.HBS20	Henley Business School	Neutral	Ground	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	20.8
EN.E01.HBS21	Henley Business School	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	24.3
EN.E01.HBS22	Henley Business School	Male	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	24.3
EN.E01.HBS23	Henley Business School	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	26.2
EN.E01.HBS24	Henley Business School	Female	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	26.2
EN.E01.HBS28	Henley Business School	Neutral	First	Teaching	Central	Metal	Bottle Trap	20.2
EN.E01.HBB2	Henley Business School	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	13.9
EN.E01.HBB3	Henley Business School	Male	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	13.9
EN.E01.HBB4	Henley Business School	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	17.9
EN.E01.HBB5	Henley Business School	Female	Second	Teaching	Central	Plastic	P-Trap	17.9
EN.E01.HBB9	Henley Business School	Kitchen	First	Teaching	Central	Plastic	Bottle Trap	19

Table B.1. Table of sample metadata.

Duilding name	Total number of	Number of samples	Amplification success
Building name	samples collected	that did not amplify	percentage
Whiteknights	24	11	54.17
Library	13	5	61.54
Henley Business School	38	0	100.00
Polly Vacher	13	10	23.08
Sports Park	15	0	100.00
Park House	14	0	100.00
JJ Thompson	15	1	93.33
Archeology	16	1	93.75
Art	19	2	89.47
Math	12	1	91.67
Edith Morley	51	2	96.08
URS	14	2	85.71
Miller	8	3	62.50
Mingella	14	4	71.43
Agriculture	46	4	91.30
Russell & Chancellors	24	19	20.83
Student Union	28	3	89.29
Eat at the Square	12	0	100.00
Chemistry	25	1	96.00
Harry Nursten	11	0	100.00
Total	412	69	83.25

Table B.2. Number of samples successfully amplified ITS2 region and purified using Agencourt AMPureXP magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter).

Please use the link for Supplementary Table B: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.375</u>. The csv file contains over 2000 rows of OTUs therefore is too large to include in the appendix.

 Table B.3. OTU table with associated taxonomy.

A. Building

	AGR	ARC	ART	CHE	EAT	EDM	HNU	HBS	JJT	LIB	MAT	MIN	PAH	RSP	STU	URS	WHK
Exophiala	17.17	28.69	28.82	18.63	29.40	19.54	19.04	20.19	16.93	19.10	9.53	15.69	17.43	10.98	17.01	17.11	22.21
Saccharomyces	6.88	4.63	4.83	10.68	23.21	13.15	22.25	7.51	5.06	4.11	22.67	4.12	3.20	3.95	25.01	13.32	6.85
Fusarium	4.49	1.59	6.01	4.77	5.09	4.45	4.79	4.51	2.92	3.82	6.20	2.31	9.46	4.23	13.22	5.53	5.81
Cyphellophora	4.15	4.54	2.60	5.53	0.35	3.11	0.12	5.28	5.37	3.17	0.01	5.76	0.40	5.27	0.13	4.01	6.33
Malassezia	1.95	2.04	3.30	1.33	7.21	2.53	8.70	1.09	0.76	0.39	7.33	3.45	2.54	1.99	3.23	6.20	1.21
Bisifusarium	3.07	0.10	2.22	1.66	0.57	1.87	0.49	0.89	0.93	0.44	5.43	0.28	2.16	0.06	0.95	0.58	0.69
Ramularia	2.25	3.08	3.65	0.57	1.29	0.43	0.37	0.66	0.49	0.52	0.34	3.14	3.84	3.24	0.31	0.29	0.50

B. Gender

	Female	Kitchen	Male	Neutral
Exophiala	22.29	18.95	16.92	16.93
Saccharomyces	11.37	7.97	10.78	10.60
Fusarium	4.99	3.41	6.64	4.12
Cyphellophora	3.60	2.40	3.29	3.44
Malassezia	2.37	1.20	3.75	2.65
Bisifusarium	1.72	0.45	1.67	0.88
Ramularia	1.29	1.65	1.18	1.78

Table B.4. Average relative abundance (RA) of top classified genera by A) Building and B) Gender of restroom from which sample was taken. Some samples were collected from kitchens, so this was included as an additional group under gender.

A. Bray Curtis

Building Comparison			P value	Significance
Student Union	VS	Henley Business School	2.77E-06	****
Henley Business School	VS	Art	9.86E-06	****
Sports Park	VS	Henley Business School	1.59E-05	****
Henley Business School	VS	Archaeology	5.74E-05	****
Henley Business School	VS	Agriculture	0.000309	***
Park House	VS	Henley Business School	0.000313	***
Student Union	VS	Chemistry	0.002079	**
Sports Park	VS	JJ Thompson	0.002929	**
Student Union	VS	JJ Thompson	0.003112	**
Sports Park	VS	Chemistry	0.003182	**
Chemistry	VS	Art	0.003489	**
Mingella	VS	Henley Business School	0.003587	**
JJ Thompson	VS	Art	0.003851	**
JJ Thompson	VS	Archaeology	0.007806	**
Chemistry	VS	Archaeology	0.009563	**
Whiteknights	VS	Sports Park	0.009598	**
Henley Business School	VS	Harry Nunsten	0.010558	**
Whiteknights	VS	Student Union	0.011923	**
Henley Business School	VS	Eat at the Square	0.012574	**
Park House	VS	JJ Thompson	0.012791	**
Whiteknights	VS	Art	0.01334	**
Park House	VS	Chemistry	0.020586	*
Maths	VS	Henley Business School	0.021488	*
Whiteknights	VS	Archaeology	0.023459	*
Whiteknights	VS	Park House	0.03282	*
Student Union	VS	Edith Morley	0.033004	*
Sports Park	VS	Edith Morley	0.038545	*
Edith Morley	VS	Art	0.046949	*

A. Jaccard

Building Comparisons			P values	Significance
Student Union	VS	Henley Business School	0.001212	***
Henley Business School	VS	Art	0.001461	***
Henley Business School	VS	Archaeology	0.001476	***
JJ Thompson	VS	Archaeology	0.001747	**
JJ Thompson	VS	Art	0.002099	**
Sports Park	VS	Henley Business School	0.002141	**
Sports Park	VS	JJ Thompson	0.002204	**
Student Union	VS	JJ Thompson	0.002361	**
Park House	VS	JJ Thompson	0.003432	**
Park House	VS	Henley Business School	0.004684	**
Henley Business School	VS	Agriculture	0.008715	**
JJ Thompson	VS	Agriculture	0.013638	**
Chemistry	VS	Archaeology	0.021354	*
Chemistry	VS	Art	0.025149	*
Sports Park	vs	Chemistry	0.026921	*

Student Union	VS	Chemistry	0.027229	*
Maths	VS	JJ Thompson	0.029625	*
Mingella	VS	JJ Thompson	0.032579	*
Park House	VS	Chemistry	0.040516	*
Edith Morley	vs	Archaeology	0.050522	*
Maths	VS	Henley Business School	0.051766	*

Table B.5. Post hoc Tukey test results. A) Using Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix, B) Jaccard. Pairs of buildings shown in tables are only those with significant differences observed. Stars indicate the p-value significance * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

A. Observed

Building Comparison			p-value	p.adj	Significance
Archaeology	VS	Chemistry	0.000335	0.046	*
Archaeology	VS	Henley Business School	6.61E-05	0.009	**
Art	VS	Chemistry	1.92E-05	0.003	**
Art	VS	Henley Business School	4.50E-07	6.12E-05	****
Art	VS	JJ Thompson	0.000221	0.03	*
Chemistry	VS	Eat at the Square	0.000107	0.015	*
Chemistry	VS	Harry Nunsten	0.000107	0.015	*
Chemistry	VS	Maths	0.000177	0.024	*
Chemistry	VS	Park House	9.22E-05	0.013	*
Chemistry	VS	Student Union	9.92E-07	0.000135	***
Eat at the Square	VS	Henley Business School	9.27E-06	0.001	**
Eat at the Square	VS	JJ Thompson	8.51E-05	0.012	*
Edith Morley	VS	Student Union	3.53E-05	0.005	**
Harry Nunsten	VS	Henley Business School	2.19E-05	0.003	**
Harry Nunsten	VS	JJ Thompson	6.80E-05	0.009	**
Henley Business School	VS	Maths	1.33E-05	0.002	**
Henley Business School	VS	Park House	6.72E-06	0.000914	* * *
Henley Business School	VS	Sports Park	1.92E-05	0.003	**
Henley Business School	VS	Student Union	2.14E-08	2.91E-06	****
JJ Thompson	VS	Park House	9.91E-05	0.013	*
JJ Thompson	VS	Student Union	3.14E-05	0.004	**
Student Union	VS	Whiteknights	9.56E-05	0.013	*

B. Shannon Diversity

Building Comparison			p-value	p.adj	Significance
Agriculture	VS	Student Union	0.000268	0.036	*
Chemistry	vs	Harry Nunsten	0.000313	0.043	*
Chemistry	vs	Student Union	4.88E-07	6.64E-05	****
Eat at the Square	vs	Henley Business School	2.69E-05	0.004	**
Edith Morley	vs	Student Union	0.000102	0.014	*
Harry Nunsten	vs	Henley Business School	2.57E-05	0.003	**
Henley Business School	vs	Maths	0.000298	0.041	*
Henley Business School	vs	Student Union	3.93E-09	5.34E-07	****
JJ Thompson	vs	Student Union	3.33E-05	0.005	**
Student Union	VS	Whiteknights	0.000233	0.032	*

C. Pielou's Evenness

Building Cor	nparison			p-value	p.adj	Significance
Chemistry		VS	Student Union	3.33E-06	0.000453	***
Edith Morley		VS	Student Union	0.000186	0.025	*
Harry Nunsten		VS	Henley Business School	0.000105	0.014	*
Henley	Business	VS	Student Union	1.31E-07	1.78E-05	***
School						
JJ Thompsor	า	vs	Student Union	6.66E-05	0.009	* *

Table B.6. Results of Paired Wilcoxon comparisons between buildings based on alpha diversity measures A) Observed, B) Shannon, C) Evenness. Pairs of buildings shown in tables are only those with significant differences observed. P.adj shows the P-Bonferroni corrected p-values, stars indicate the p-value significance * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

Chapter 4. Longitudinal Bacterial Community Dynamics and Sodium Hypochlorite Intervention in a Newly Built University Building

Zoe Withey¹ and Hyun S. Gweon¹

¹School of Biological Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, UK

In preparation for publication

4.1 Abstract

Sink P-traps harbour diverse bacterial communities that are increasingly acknowledged as potential reservoirs for pathogens and antimicrobial resistance in clinical settings. Yet, they remain understudied in environments outside of hospital settings. Over two and a half years, this study examined the diversity, temporal dynamics, and resilience of bacterial communities in restroom sink P-traps in a newly built university building. Structured into two phases, the first phase consisted of continuous monitoring of bacterial community dynamics for two years (n=352), while the second phase involved an intervention with sodium hypochlorite (bleach) and subsequent sampling (n = 132). In the first phase, we show that sink communities converge, becoming more compositionally similar to other sinks within the building. Bacterial families such as Rhodocyclaceae and Flavobacteriaceae dominated across the sinks, and others such as Comamonadaceae, Moraxellaceae and Enterbacteriaceae were highly prevalent. When comparing bacterial structure and composition to other sinks located on the university campus, the mean bacterial dissimilarity (Bray-Curtis) decreased over time, indicating compositional similarity, particularly with the newer buildings on campus. The second phase demonstrated resilience by the bacterial sink communities. Following bleach treatments, a distinct increase in Acinetobacter was observed. However, by the fourth week after bleach invention, bacterial communities had reestablished to levels observed prior to treatment. This study had the unique opportunity to sample a newly built building before occupancy and for the subsequent two and a half years. The findings provide crucial insights into the development and resilience of sink P-trap bacterial communities in restrooms, laying the groundwork for more targeted approaches to disinfection strategies.

4.2 Introduction

Urbanisation and improvement of our building utilities have created novel niches and opportunities for microbial colonisation and proliferation within our indoor environment, altering the exposure and interactions we have with microbial inhabitants. With an increasingly indoor bound human population, we are continuously exposed to indoor microorganisms which can differ substantially from those present in natural environments (Lee et al., 2021a; Lehtimäki et al., 2017; Meadow et al., 2014; Rai et al., 2021). The indoor built environment provides a unique site for interactions between microorganisms arising from human and non-human origins that could favour negative health outcomes particularly regarding antibiotic resistance. Owing to adverse abiotic conditions, including water scarcity, extreme temperatures, and exposure to stressors like antimicrobial chemicals or sodium hypochlorite solutions in indoor environments, the selection of the most resilient microbial species may be favoured. This selection process may promote the exchange of genetic material and retention of antibiotic resistance genes. Moreover, studies have demonstrated that microorganisms within indoor settings can contribute to allergies and infectious disease, particularly in vulnerable populations such as immunocompromised individuals and infants (Borella et al., 2004; Kool et al., 1999; Richardson et al., 2019; Soeria-Atmadja et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2016).

Microorganisms enter buildings from a variety of sources, from humans and their pets to outdoor air, soil, plants, and water (Fujimura et al., 2010; Hospodsky et al., 2012; Mahnert et al., 2015; Meadow et al., 2014). Before entering indoor systems, water sourced from either groundwater or surface water undergoes diverse treatment procedures aimed at removing microorganisms and other particulate matter. However, the microorganisms that can survive harsh treatment procedures may be further enriched in indoor habitats, and their potential impact on human inhabitants could be underestimated. While research on microbiomes within drinking water distribution systems have received more focus due to the direct implications for human health (Berry et al., 2006; Bitton, 2014; Lee et al., 2021b; Meier & Bendinger, 2016), investigations into water pipes associated with wastewater are equally crucial, particularly in areas where occupants may be exposed. Sinks and their connected pipes, including the P-traps, harbour microbial communities and have been identified as significant reservoirs of pathogens in clinical settings, posing serious health risks to patients (Kotsanas et al., 2013; Snitkin, 2019; Williams et al., 2013). Water from taps not only serves as an important source of microorganisms to sink traps, but also contributes to the core composition of the sink microbiome, likely originating from humans (Withey et al., 2021). Previous studies have highlighted the high variability of sink drain biofilm microbial communities due to diverse environmental factors influencing sink conditions (Furuhata et al., 2010; Moen et al., 2015). Given their open nature, the

166

continuous flow of waste containing various nutrients, and consistent hydration, sink traps present a challenging environment for monitoring and control (Ledwoch et al., 2020).

The proliferation of microorganisms in water distribution systems has long been recognised as a concern for public health due to biofilm formation, pathogen growth and water quality deterioration (Boe-Hansen et al., 2002; Lee, 2013). Biofilms are often regarded as chronic containments of drinking water distribution systems, providing several advantages to bacteria (Gomes et al., 2016). They facilitate the sharing of nutrients and metabolic products, provide protection against environmental stress and antimicrobial agents, and promote the development and transfer of antibiotic resistance genes (Douterelo et al., 2018; Garrett et al., 2008; Wingender & Flemming, 2011).

There are multiple strategies to control microbial adhesion and biofilm formation in water systems and sinks, the most common method being chemical disinfectant, in particular the use of sodium hypochlorite (bleach) (Caselli et al., 2016; Cole & Talmadge, 2019; Mi et al., 2015; Nocker et al., 2021). Household bleach contains 5% - 9% sodium hypochlorite and is used widely due to having a broad spectrum of antimicrobial activity (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022; Rutala & Weber, 2015). Sodium hypochlorite has been shown to have varying effects on microorganisms and biofilms. Studies focusing on the effects of sodium hypochlorite on specific and isolated microbial species have shown that variations in strain and species, bactericidal concentration and the presence of organic matter led to differing efficacies of bacterial reduction (Elmaksoud et al., 2014; Gomes et al., 2016; Köhler et al., 2018; Reynolds et al., 2012). Moreover, following biofilm formation in certain strains, there is a shift in their resistance levels to disinfectants (Lim et al., 2017). When compared to these individual species biofilms, multispecies biofilms exhibit greater resistance to chlorine inactivation (Simões et al., 2010). Research into disinfection of microbial communities from water distribution systems has found that chlorine treatment alters composition, lowers microbial richness and diversity (Mi et al., 2015; Paduano et al., 2020; Roeder et al., 2010; Vaz-Moreira et al., 2013). Despite treatment of water in these systems, certain bacterial phyla can dominate during chlorination or colonize after (Mi et al., 2015; Vaz-Moreira et al., 2013). Additionally, in environments where disinfectants are present at elevated concentrations, certain bacterial biofilms display resilience to chlorine and minimal cellular damage (Lin et al., 2017). In contrast, Mi et al. (2015) demonstrated that at low concentrations of chlorine disinfectants, there was an increase in diversity, underscoring their inefficacy and the importance of employing the appropriate dosage.

Biofilms in microbial sink drains, particularly in hospital settings, pose a persistent challenge in terms of eradication and control. Recolonisation often occurs due to exposure to contaminated material deposited in the sink or upward growth from P-traps (Bourdin et al., 2023; Kotay et al., 2017).

Numerous studies and reports highlight the intricacies of removing pathogens and controlling outbreaks from sink and drain environments. The predominant strategies to combat these outbreaks involve repeated exposure to sodium hypochlorite or complete removal and replacement of contaminated components such as the P-trap (Ahmad et al., 2004; Bert et al., 1998; Chapuis et al., 2016; Clarivet et al., 2016; Hota et al., 2009; Ling & How, 2013; Wendel et al., 2015). Alternative interventions include heating devices or other chemical treatments such as formalin, peracetic acid, Virox and foaming hydrogen peroxide (Döring et al., 1991; Jones et al., 2020; Lowe et al., 2012; Stjärne Aspelund et al., 2016; Wolf et al., 2014). In the most cases, intervention successfully reduced or prevented further cases. However, some instances required additional interventions before successful eradication, and certain studies lacked clarity on durability due to no long-term follow up. More recently, Lechwoch et al. (2020) investigated the efficacy of a variety of disinfectant chemicals in reducing viable cell counts in an in-vitro sink drain environment. They found bleach only partially effective against drain biofilms and that bacterial regrowth occurs within four days of the final treatment. Notably, none of these studies explored how the microbial communities changed upon exposure to the treatments.

Overall, disinfectants have a major impact on biofilm communities; however, it is of concern that intervention may favour the selection of persisters and more resilient microorganisms (Jin et al., 2020; Roeder et al., 2010). Many of these studies overlook the long-term consequences on biofilm communities and the success of the treatment (Buchan et al., 2019). A recent study by Zhang et al. (2021) demonstrated that chlorine disinfection can stimulate transformation of plasmid-encoded antimicrobial resistance genes (Zhang et al., 2021). Although chlorine-based water disinfection processes are widely used and can inactivate antibiotic resistant bacteria, they may induce the release of antibiotic resistance genes that can naturally transform into other microorganisms. Another study corroborated these findings and highlighted the transfer of chlorine-injured opportunistic pathogens from non-antibiotic-resistant bacteria to antibiotic-resistant bacteria (Jin et al., 2020). Thus, effective treatment and a comprehensive understanding of the long-term effects of disinfectants on microbial communities is imperative to mitigate public health risks and manage antibiotic resistance in our sinks and water systems.

This present study aims to understand the temporal dynamics of sink bacterial communities in sinks within a newly built university building and further investigate their responses to an intervention consisting of applying sodium hypochlorite (bleach). To this end, we conducted initial sampling before the building's occupation, followed by a two-year sampling regimen focussing on all accessible restroom sinks. The objectives were to: (i) assess the long-term variations and stability of bacterial communities within restroom sink P-traps over a two-year period; (ii) identify the bacterial colonizers

168

and ascertain their integration into the core microbiome; (iii) determine how diversity may change over time; (iv) determine the impact of bleach on bacterial structure and diversity, and assess whether communities could revert to their previous structure and composition. This long-term study, incorporating intervention, provides a unique perspective into the dynamics of sink bacterial communities and a basis for identifying cleaning regimes to ensure the safety of the occupants and the stability of a "healthy" sink microbiome.

4.3 Methodology

4.3.1 Location and Sample Collection

As part of the first phase of this study, sampling took place in the newly built university building, Health and Life Sciences (HLS) (Figure 4.1). A total of 22 sinks on the first three floor levels were selected for the study. On floor level one, sinks were open to the public and served the large teaching laboratory, while the remaining two floor levels were accessible only to authorized users and employees. The sampling initiative commenced on 23 August 2020, the day before the construction had completed. Subsequently, samples were collected approximately every six weeks over the span of two years concluding on 4 September 2022. This resulted in a total of 16 time points and 352 samples. The methods for collecting P-trap samples were consistent with previous studies (Withey et al., 2021, 2023). Briefly, a sterile cotton bud was attached to a 40 cm metal rod ("sampling rod"), inserted and swirled in a circular motion for 5 seconds while touching the inner P-trap surface. All samples were stored in a -20°C freezer pending further processing. Occupancy data for the building was obtained by monitoring users' card access from 1 August 2022 to 30 September 2023. While this number provided an approximate occupancy, it may not capture all individuals entering without card access, and it does not account for large practicals occurring on floor level one (data prior to August 2022 was unobtainable).

4.3.2 Bleach Intervention

The second phase of this study implemented an intervention using 10% sodium hypochlorite (Honeywell Fluka) (Figure 4.1). On 24 December 2022, sinks were subjected to resampling, and subsequently, two-thirds of the sinks underwent bleach treatment the following week. Each restroom had at least one "control" sink left untreated (Table C.1). The bleach treatment entailed pouring 500 ml of 10% bleach into the selected sinks in the evening and allowing it to sit overnight. The following morning, 500 ml of sodium thiosulfate (70mg/l) was added to quench any residual reactions and the sinks were flushed with tap water for five minutes. Samples were collected in the morning after

treatment, as well as one week, two weeks, four weeks, and five weeks following the initial treatment. The sampling methodology differed slightly from the previous approach. Briefly, similar to the previous method, sterile cotton swabs were inserted using a sampling rod into the P-traps. However, instead of swabbing the circumference of the pipe, only one ordinal point of the circular P-trap was swabbed per sampling time point. The swab was carefully rotated and moved up and down for 10 seconds in the designated P-trap area to ensure sufficient biomass collection. This adjustment was necessitated by the more frequent collection of samples, as destructive sampling was considered potentially problematic.

4.3.3 Sample Processing and data processing

Following the manufacturer's instructions, the HigherPurity Soil DNA Isolation kit from Canvax Biotech was used to extract genomic DNA from the swabs. Samples collected for the bleach intervention study and negative controls were quantified using Qubit fluorometer 3.0 (High Sensitivity assay). Samples that had no detectable DNA were excluded from subsequent downstream processing, encompassing all bleach-treated samples from the morning after intervention (WK139), three from the bleach-treated samples after one week (WK140) and all negative controls (Table C.1). The amplification of the V4 region of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene and metabarcoding was performed using 515F (Forward: GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA) and 806R (Reverse: GGACTACNVGGGTWTCTAAT) primers (Thompson et al., 2017). The reaction quantities and thermocycling conditions for PCR remained consistent with those previously described in Withey et al. (2021). Ampure XP beads (Beckman Coulter) were used to purify the PCR products, and their concentration was assessed using the Qubit fluorometer 3.0. Subsequently, the purified PCR products were sent to Novogene (UK) for sequencing on the Illuminia MiSeq platform (2x250 bp paired-end).

The raw pair-end sequences were demultiplexed, then quality filtered and trimmed using TrimGalore (v.0.6.10, https://github.com/FelixKrueger/TrimGalore). The quality filtered reads were then dereplicated, denoised and merged using DADA2 (v.1.26.0, Callahan et al., 2016) and produced an amplicon sequence variant (ASV) abundance table. ASVs were classified using the naïve Bayesian classifier (Wang et al., 2007) against the SILVA database (v.138, Quast et al., 2013). ASVs were subjected to filtering, excluding those not assigned to the bacterial domain and also implementing a length filter to exclude those exceeding 300bp. ASVs with low abundance below 10 counts across the feature table were systematically removed to reduce the likelihood of spurious taxa.



Figure 4.1. Summary diagram outlining the two phases of the study and providing details of the study site (Health and Life Sciences, HLS). Phase 1 sampling began on the 23 August 2020 one day before the construction of the building completed. Sampling occurred approximately every six weeks across the first three floor levels of the HLS building, comprising a total of 22 sinks. Phase 1 sampling finished 4 September 2022. Phase 2 sampling commenced on the 24 December 2022. Sinks were treated with sodium hypochlorite on the evening of 31 December 2022 and left overnight. The following morning, 1 January 2023, samples were collected, subsequently collection occurred two, four and five weeks from treatment.

Chapter 4

4.3.4 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in R (v.4.3.1, R Core Team, 2022) using the packages phyloseq (v.1.44.0, Mcmurdie & Holmes, 2013) and vegan (v.2.6-4, Oksanen et al., 2020). To account for uneven sampling depth, the samples were rarefied to 5000 reads per sample (Weiss et al., 2017), resulting in the loss of 28 samples. The data analysis was divided into three parts. Initially, the focus was on the development of bacterial communities and temporal dynamics during the first two years of the recently built university building. Subsequently, analysis of the bleach intervention study was conducted, and finally, a comparison was made between all untreated sinks in the new HLS building across all sampling time points, along with sinks from other campus buildings sampled in 2019 (Withey et al., 2021).

The alpha diversity indices were computed using the phyloseq (v.1.44.0, Mcmurdie & Holmes, 2013) R package and microbiome R package (v1.23.1, http://microbiome.github.com/microbiome) from the ASV relative abundance table. Linear mixed effects models from Ime4 R package (1.1-35.1, Bates et al., 2015), featuring both a random intercept and random slope, were employed to investigate trends in alpha diversity including Shannon diversity, ASV richness and Pielou's evenness, and the interaction between treatment with sampling time point.

To estimate beta diversity, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity was determined from the ASV relative abundance tables. The beta diversity was visualised using the NMDS through the vegan R package. The amonggroup and sampling time point differences in sink microbial composition were tested through the PERMANOVA with function adonis from the vegan R package. Adonis.pair() from the R package EcolUtils (v.0.1, Salazar, 2023) was used for pairwise beta diversity comparisons. The p-values for multiple comparisons were adjusted using the Benjamini-Hochberg method.

Additionally, the CODYN package (v.2.0.5, Hallett et al., 2016) was used to elucidate trends in temporal dynamics for the first two phases including mean rank shift using their rank_shift() function and turnover calculated using turnover() (Hallett et al., 2016).

Assessing the potential convergence in composition between HLS building and other campus buildings involved plotting Bray-Curtis distance against sampling time points. This comparison was made with a subset of sinks from HLS that were untreated during the bleach intervention, providing an extended timeseries (two and a half years) for comparison. A linear model was used as the smoothing method in these plots.
To identify bacterial genera that significantly differ between untreated and treated sinks at each sampling time point during bleach intervention, wilcox.test() was used to compare their relative abundances.

4.4 Results

Processing and filtering of reads resulted in a feature table containing 11,212,944 merged reads from 484 samples (384 from the time series and 100 from the bleach intervention). After rarefaction, 456 samples (365 from the time series samples and 91 from the bleach intervention), comprising a total of 1731 ASVs remained. On average, each sample contained 38 ASVs, with a minimum of 5 and a maximum of 145. The ASVs were taxonomically classified into 27 identified phyla, 47 classes, 107 orders, 181 families, 296 genera, and 124 species.

Regarding the building's occupancy, an average of 93 people registered into the building daily from 1 August 2022 to 30 September 2023, with a minimum of eight and a maximum 176 individuals. Occupancy remained relatively consistent throughout the year, with an average of 130 individuals checking into the building on weekdays and 20 individuals on weekends (Figure C.1). The last week of December and first week of January had the lowest number of occupants, followed by a slight decrease in entries in months of April, August and September.

4.4.1 Diversity and composition of university sinks over two years

Alpha diversity, measured by ASV richness (Figure 4.2a), Shannon diversity (Figure 4.2b) and Pielou's evenness (Figure 4.2c) exhibited a decreasing trend over time, with the variation in diversity among individual sinks converging to the median. Linear mixed effects models were used to test the association between alpha diversity indices and sampling time points. Sampling time point was a significant predictor of Shannon diversity and ASV richness (Shannon, p <0.001; ASV richness, p < 0.001, Table C.2). Gender and floor level were shown not to significantly predict Shannon diversity or ASV richness. For Pielou's evenness, restroom gender was the only significant predictor, although not highly statistically significant (p > 0.01, Table C.2). While showing an overall decrease over time, the ASV richness exhibited fluctuation throughout the sampling time points. Periodic spikes in ASV richness occurred at WK49 (28 July 2021), WK74 (22 January 2022) and WK98 (9 July 2022). Shannon diversity remained relatively unaffected as these influxes of ASVs during these periods had low relative abundances. Peaks at these six-month intervals were also evident in total turnover (Figure 4.2d) aligning with an increase in ASV appearance and mean rank shift (Figure 4.2e). A reduction in evenness

was observed at these sampling time points (Figure 4.2c) suggesting that the increase in diversity did not result from a more even distribution within the community. Subsequent weeks exhibited a recovery to the levels of richness or evenness observed before, remaining relatively stable until the sampling point six months later. During weeks, WK49, WK74 and WK98, characterised by elevated ASV richness, 7, 17 and 22 ASVs, respectively, were identified with significant differences in their relative abundances compared to the preceding week (Table C.3). Although these ASVs significantly increased in relative abundance, their overall contribution to the bacterial community remained small (relative abundances < 1%).

There were overall significant differences among the bacterial communities across different sampling time points (PERMANOVA, DF = 16, F model = 8.2682, R2 = 0.25570, p = 0.001, Table 4.1, C.4). The variation in bacterial communities was most strongly associated with sampling time point, explaining 25% of the variation, whereas gender and floor level explained only 4.5% and 3.6%, respectively. The association between sampling time point and beta diversity (distances to centroid) was shown to be significant using linear mixed effects models and became more homogenous over time (Linear mixed effects model: Sum sq = 5.5116, Mean sq = 5.5116, Num DF = 1, Den DF = 341.35, F value = 382.52, p < 2.2e-16). The non-metric multidimensional scaling (NDMS) based on Bray-Curtis distance matrix (Figure 4.2h) and distances to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for sink bacterial communities over sampling time points, showed separation among the initial sampling time points, followed by a gradual clustering of later sampling time points. Overall beta diversity showed communities becoming more compositionally similar over time (Figure 4.2g).

Throughout all time points, sink communities were predominantly composed of sequences classified to the phyla Proteobacteria (71.23%) and Bacteroidota (27.34%). The top families with an overall relative abundance greater than 1% included Rhodocyclaceae (36.93%), Flavobacteriaceae (25.86%), Sphingomonadaceae (8.56%), Comamonadaceae (6%), Xanthomonadaceae (3.98%), Pseudomonadaceae (3.60%), Caulobacteraceae (3.30%), Enterobacteriaceae (3.05%) and Moraxellaceae (2.41%). The remaining 175 identifiable families collectively accounted for 5.78% of all reads, while 0.59% of reads were unidentifiable to family. All families belonged to Proteobacteria, except for Flavobacteriaecae which is part of Bacteroidota. Figure 4.3 shows Rhodocyclaceae increased in relative abundance over the first four sampling time points (WK1 – WK27) then remained between 25-50% in relative abundance for the remaining duration. By the following sampling time points (WK33), Rhodocyclaceae occurred in all sampled sinks. Flavobacteriaceae took longer to reach its maximum relative abundance, starting to plateau by WK55, although it was already present in all sinks by this week. While there was more variation in relative abundances between sinks in earlier sampling time points for all families, overall, there appeared to be less variation by WK49. The top two

genera, comprising over 50% of the total reads, were *Azospira* (34.58%) and *Flavobacterium* (25.86%). Of the aforementioned nine core ASVs, eight were identified to the genus level (Table C.5). The most prevalent and abundant ASV was classified as *Azospira oryzae* establishing itself in all sinks after WK27.

Factor	DF	SS	F	R2	P-value
Sampling Round	16	15.888	8.2682	0.25570	0.001 ***
Gender	2	2.792	11.6241	0.04494	0.001 ***
Floor Level	2	2.261	9.4150	0.03640	0.001 ***

Table 4.1. Results of PERMANOVA analysis of similarity based on ASVs tables of Bray-Curtis distance matrices. Abbreviations: DF degrees of freedom; SS sum of squares; F, F value by permutation. p-values are based on 999 permutations. Stars indicate the p-value significance p < 0.05; *, p < 0.01; ***. P < 0.001; ***.



Figure 4.2. Alpha and beta diversity. (a - c) Alpha diversity indices over sampling round. Dark blue line is the median of the diversity metric, lighter grey lines represent individual sinks. Alpha diversity indices exhibit a decreasing trend over time, with the variation in diversity among individual sinks converging to the median. (c) Turnover of ASVs. (d) Mean rank shifts. Note that in (c) and (d) x axis starts at sampling time point WK7, but this refers to a difference between sampling timepoints thus sampling WK1 refers to the turnover (or mean rank shift) from WK1 to WK7, sapling time point WK13 in x axis refers to difference between WK7 and WK13 and so on. (f) Time scale in years for the sampling time points (weeks). (g) Distances to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for sink bacterial communities over sampling time points. (h) Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) resulting from Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices of community composition between sampling time points (weeks). Blue circles indicate centroid of sampling time points and black arrows indicates direction in time. Communities are becoming more similar and homogenous over time.



Figure 4.3. Relative abundances (%) of the top genera over the sampling period. The darker blue line is the median relative abundance across all sink samples, the lighter blue lines represent individual sinks. Prevalence at each time point of top genera is indicated by the red line. *Rhodocyclaceae* was the abundant bacterial family across all samples and by WK33 was present in all sink samples. All families in the plot, by the final sampling time point (WK107) were prevalent (> 70% of sink samples).

4.4.2 Bleach Intervention

Following the bleach treatment (the day before WK139), the intervened sinks showed an absence of quantifiable DNA the morning after (WK139), indicating a significant impact of the bleach on bacterial community and composition (Figure C.2). From WK140, there was no difference among the treatment groups across alpha diversity indices when analysing trends post intervention (WK140-WK144, Shannon, p = 0.4515; ASV richness, p = 0.3039; Pielou's evenness, p = 0.4732, Table C.6). In terms of beta-diversity, significant differences were observed between two treatments during the immediate three weeks post-intervention, namely WK139, WK140, WK141 (PERMANOVA: WK140, DF = 1, F.model = 7.2776, R2 = 0.34203, P < 0.001; WK141, DF = 1, F.model = 3.2289, R2 = 0.26404, P = 0.004, Figure 4.4b). It was only from WK143 onward that no significant differences were observed between the treatments (PERMANOVA: WK143, DF = 1, F.model = 1.861, R2 = 0.09867, P = 0.102; WK144, DF = 1, F.model = 1.0731, R2 = 0.07625, P = 0.405). From WK140 there were no differences among treatment groups in terms of their distances to centroids (Linear mixed effects model: Treatment, Sum sq = 0.034417, Mean sq = 0.034417, Num DF = 1, Den DF = 13.682, F value = 2.5625, p = 0.1322550; Week, Sum sq = 0.195514, Mean sq = 0.195514, Num DF = 1, Den DF = 46.393, F value = 14.5568, p = 0.0004009, Figure C.3). Overall, it required four weeks for the bacterial community and structure to homogenize with the treated sinks.

The week immediately following the bleach treatment (WK140), a distinct increase in the mean relative abundance of *Acinetobacter* was observed in bleached sinks at (Figure 4.4a). This distinctive peak in *Acinetobacter* appears in most bleached sinks at the individual level (Figure C.4, C.5). By WK141 the mean relative abundance of *Acinetobacter* had greatly diminished. Six bacterial genera, including *Acinetobacter*, were identified as significantly different in their relative abundances between untreated and bleached sinks at WK140 (Figure C.6). In bleached sinks compared to untreated sinks, there was an elevation in the relative abundances of *Acinetobacter* and a decrease in *Azospira*, *Flavobacterium*, and *Acidovorax*. Although there was more variation in *Acinetobacter* relative abundances (3.16% - 74.26%) among bleached sinks at WK140, the median/mean (median 24.76%, mean 38.76%) was higher than those untreated sinks at WK140 (median 4.06%, mean 3.97%) and WK138 (median 0.3%, mean 0.53%, before intervention). No significantly different genera were identified between untreated and treated sinks in the subsequent sampling time points (WK141, WK143, WK144). Moreover, Figure 4.4a shows that the bacterial community of bleach-treated sinks had, by WK141, returned to taxonomic compositions that were more similar to WK138 (before treatment) and the untreated sinks.



Figure 4.4. (a) Average relative abundance of the top bacterial genera found in restroom sinks. The average data represent pooled sequences of sinks, split by treatment. "Other" represents all other genera and sequences unclassified to the genus level. Abbreviations: B.I Before Intervention; A.I After Intervention. WK139 (A.I)* No data was present for bleach treated samples at this time point due to no quantifiable DNA. WK139 was plotted at zero for relative abundance visualisations. Taxonomic differences were observed after treatment. *Acinetobacter* was more prevalent in bleached samples at WK140 than untreated. For untreated samples, taxonomic composition appeared relatively stable. (b) Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) resulting from Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices of community composition at each sampling time point. Centroid of group is represented by darker coloured point. Bottom of each plot displays the result from PERMANOVA. Prior to bleach treatment (W138) sink samples were similar in composition, following bleach intervention, treated sinks diverged from untreated sinks in their bacterial community composition and structure. By WK143 (four weeks after intervention) communities overlapped and there were no significant differences between the treatment groups.

4.4.3 Comparison to other buildings on campus

The bacterial communities within the newly built university building (HLS) gradually became more similar in structure and composition to the sinks sampled from other buildings on the same university campus in 2019. Despite significant differences in community structure and composition between HLS and other university buildings across sampling time points (PERMANOVA: DF = 31, F = 7.5285, R2 = 0.44422, p < 0.001 ***), the NMDS analysis indicated that the later sampling time points of HLS were closer to the campus sinks (Figure 4.5). Notably, the mean bacterial dissimilarity (Bray-Curtis) between HLS sinks and campus sinks decreased over time, indicating compositional similarity (Figure C.7). By the final sampling time points (WK144), the bacterial communities of HLS were most similar to Polly Vacher (Mean Bray-Curtis Distance = 0.63), followed by Library (Mean Bray-Curtis Distance = 0.73) and Henley Business School (Mean Bray-Curtis Distance = 0.72) (Figure C.8). Concerning common taxa between HLS sinks across all sampling time points, WK1 to WK144, and campus sinks, there were 82 families and 134 genera in common. When comparing the final timepoint of the HLS sinks to all campus sinks, out of 23 identified families in the HLS sinks (WK144), 21 families were shared with campus sinks. For the 32 identified genera in the final sampling time point of HLS, 24 were present in campus sinks. Core sink families including Comamonadaceae (100% prevalence), Sphingomonadaceae (99%), Rhodocyclaceae (98%), Xanthomonadaceae (94%) and Moraxellaceae (91%) were present in at least 90% of sinks (289 out of 321 sinks; 91 campus sinks, 230 HLS sinks). These core sink families were also some of the most abundant. At the genus level Sphingobium (96% prevalence), Azospira (95%) and Acidovorax (90%) were identified as core sink taxa. Overall, the bacterial communities of the sinks located in HLS became more similar to the bacterial communities in sinks from the surrounding campus over the two years of sampling, sharing numerous bacterial taxa.

Chapter 4



Figure 4.5. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) resulting from Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices of community composition between buildings from the university campus, including the new HLS building by sampling rounds. Centroids for each sampling round for HLS and ellipses for all other buildings are shown on the plot. Arrows indicates HLS communities becoming more similar over time in composition to the other sinks present on campus.

Chapter 4

4.5 Discussion

In this study, we observed the stabilisation and increased similarity among bacterial communities over an extended observation period spanning over two years. Alpha diversity showed a reduction in variability among individual sinks over time, and beta diversity indicated a trend towards sinks becoming more homogenous and compositionally similar. After 28 May 2021 (WK49) similar bacterial community compositions were consistently observed across individual sinks, with occasional variations in proportions of each top genera in specific sinks (Figure C.4, C.5).

One possible explanation for this convergence and relative stability is that sinks within a building, primarily designated for handwashing in restrooms as sampled in this study, should generally be exposed to similar sources of microbial taxa and nutrients. Previous work has identified human skin as a primary contributor to the sink microbiome (Withey et al., 2021), reinforcing the expectation of compositional similarity among sinks within the same building. However, variations in the relative abundances of genera in specific sinks could be attributed to additional waste or products being poured down the sinks, or other unconventional use of sinks. Without surveying occupants' behaviour in the building, it remains inconclusive whether this is the case.

Another justification for sink stability lies in the environmental conditions sinks impose on microbial communities. Although sink P-traps may be conducive to microbial colonisation, the bacteria persisting in sinks must withstand temperature fluctuations due to hot tap water usage, physical disturbance from water pressure, the use of chemicals (i.e., soap and disinfectants), and survive in a low-nutrient environment. Thus, the sink environment selects for bacteria that can endure these conditions.

Additionally, we observed periodic spikes (WK49, WK74, WK98) in ASV richness during the study, coinciding with a decrease in Pielou's evenness. A similar phenomenon was observed at WK21, though the peak was less evident, possibly due to larger variations in alpha diversity indices earlier in the sampling regimen. These spikes occurred in January and July, corresponding to months with closure periods. Stagnation in the water pipes during closure periods may contribute to an increase in ASVs (Ji et al., 2015; Lautenschlager et al., 2010; Ling et al., 2018; Lipphaus et al., 2014; Ye et al., 2022). However, occupancy data from 2023 indicated low occupancy only in the first week of January, and overall, the month had the average number of daily occupants. For July there was no apparent reduction in the number of daily occupants. Alternatively, changes in tap water treatment by the supplying company every six months might influence tap water community and, consequently, bacterial sink diversity. However, this theory remains unconfirmed. The following six months after

these spikes, richness and evenness recovered to levels observed before, further demonstrating the stability of sink bacterial communities.

In alignment with previous studies of sinks and water distribution systems, the dominant phylum observed was Proteobacteria (Dai et al., 2020; El-Chakhtoura et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2018; Withey et al., 2021). The second most abundant phylum, Bacteroidota, has been identified in various stages of drinking water treatment, from river water to drinking water (Pinar-Méndez et al., 2022). The prominent families identified in this study have also been documented as dominant in tap water, wastewater and sink drains (Douterelo et al., 2014; Eichler et al., 2006; Numberger et al., 2019; Pinto et al., 2012; Pirzadian et al., 2020; Saunders et al., 2016; Vaz-Moreira et al., 2013).

Clear shifts in bacterial community composition were evident at the onset of the sampling regime. The most abundant family *Rhodocyclaceae*, increased in relative abundance until February 2021 (WK27), after which it plateaued (median relative abundance above 25%). Present from the initial sampling time point, *Rhodocyclaceae* may have been among the first bacteria to colonise and establish itself. This family, known for degrading various carbon sources, has been isolated from diverse environments, including sewage, polluted and unpolluted pond waters, and aquifers (Oren, 2014). The most abundant ASV identified, *Azospira oryzae*, accounted for the majority of reads classified as *Rhodocyclaceae*. *Azospira sp*. are perchlorate reducers found in biological reactors, wastewater, aquifers, heavily polluted river water and rivers (Adedire et al., 2022; Bellini et al., 2013; Guarino et al., 2020; Hunter, 2007; Jiao et al., 2023; Li et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2020).

Following *Azospira oryzae*, the second most abundant ASVs were classified to the genus *Flavobacterium*. Similarly, to *Azospira*, *Flavobacterium* has been isolated from wastewater, drinking water systems and sinks (LaMartina et al., 2021; Pirzadian et al., 2020; Schmeisser et al., 2003; Simões et al., 2010). Moreover, *Flavobacterium* readily adhere to surfaces, forming multispecies biofilms, and can withstand intermediate hydrodynamic pressures, making these taxa ideal colonisers of sink environments. Overall, *Flavobacterium* (*Flavobacteriaceae*) took longer to plateau but became established and remained at a relative abundance of ~30% in most sinks for the remainder of the timeseries. Notably, *Flavobacterium* sp. are known opportunistic pathogens in humans and have been associated with sinks and their taps (Hoque et al., 2001).

The third most abundant ASV belonged to *Sphingobium yanoikuyae*. *Sphingobium* are metabolically versatile and well-studied due to their capabilities to degrade environmentally important pollutants (Balkwill et al., 2006; Mitra et al., 2020; Nielsen et al., 2017). These bacteria are able to degrade ibuprofen and are important microorganisms in wastewater settings (Balciunas et al., 2020; Nielsen et al., 2017). High abundances of *Sphingobium* have been identified in hospital sink drain outlets and

specifically *Sphingobium yanoikuyae* has been isolated (Pirzadian et al., 2020). Other notable taxa, *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Moraxellaceae* had a lower prevalence at the beginning of the study but became prevalent in almost all sink samples. These families contain many taxa associated with humans, suggesting that their increased prevalence may coincide with an increase in use by occupants (Conti et al., 2009; Pandey et al., 1999; Martins and Merquior, 2014).

Microbial communities tend to shift towards a stable state in the absence of external influences. Change in community state can be initiated by changes in the external conditions or perturbations that push the system into a new state (Faust et al., 2015). Following bleach intervention bacterial sink communities shifted away from untreated bacterial sink communities, with significant differences in relative abundances of certain taxa between the two groups. Acinetobacter became more abundant in sinks treated with bleach. However, by WK143, Acinetobacter had greatly reduced in relative abundance, and the bacterial communities of treated sinks had returned to a similar state as before intervention and the untreated sinks. Acinetobacter has been found in chemically treated waters (i.e., hydrogen peroxide, chlorine dioxide and monochloramine), and the family it belongs to, Moraxellaceae, has been described as chlorine-resistant (Paduano et al., 2020; Peters et al., 2018). Disinfection with bleach exerts selective pressures on the sink microbiome and may promote persisters, selecting for microorganisms able to utilise decayed microbial products (Dai et al., 2020). As well as being having resistant properties, Acinetobacter form a part of the human skin flora and utilise a wide variety of substrates. Consequently, it could be deposited in the sink drain environment after handwashing by occupants and exploiting the sink niche post bleach treatment (Carvalho et al., 2023; Seifert et al., 1997).

Intervention with bleach had a transient influence on the sink community, inducing a temporary selection pressure that led to a population shift. Disturbances such as bleach intervention, acted as a selection pressure by increasing mortality and decreasing biomass (Zhou et al., 2014). This was confirmed experimentally when no genomic DNA was recovered the morning following treatment. Due to the drastic shift in population, the growth of bacterial species reliant on interactions within the biofilm may have been constrained, resulting in an extended duration for their reestablishment. Moreover, niche selection will be stronger after a disturbance, providing an opportunity for some species to proliferate. In a fluidic system such as the sink system, any residual bleach (the disturbance) can be removed, and higher population dispersal rates could lead communities to converge towards the original ones after the disturbance effect is gone, as observed in this study. The sink communities had a high degree of resilience, returning to their original state.

Previous studies have found eradicating microorganisms from sinks challenging, with biofilms forming days after treatment (Ledwoch et al., 2020; Nocker et al., 2021; Stjärne Aspelund et al., 2016; Wendel et al., 2015). The disinfection strategy and age of biofilm in water distribution pipes can influence how disinfectants affect bacterial community structure (Liu et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2019). In a model system, bleach was only partially effective against the drain biofilm (Ledwoch et al., 2020). Alternatives to bleach may provide more effective long-term solutions. Peracetic acid was highly successful at eradicating and preventing biofilm regrowth in every part of the drain model (Ledwoch et al., 2020). Other disinfectant alternatives include foam-based disinfectants (Jones et al., 2020), probiotic cleaning solutions (Caselli, 2017; Saito et al., 2016), and steam (Umemura et al., 2023). This study did not explore these or other methods of disinfectants on in-situ sinks, but further work could be conducted to observe how communities change in response and if they follow similar patterns of recovery, exhibiting a high degree of resilience.

This study also compared the communities of the newly built building to data previously collected on other sinks of the same campus. The results demonstrated that the newer HLS sinks were becoming more similar in composition to other campus sinks. The sinks from HLS were more similar to the newer buildings; Library (constructed in 2019) and Henley Business School (constructed in 2009), but also to Polly Vacher building which was most similar in composition to all buildings.

Limitations of this study include the insufficient metadata collected on the occupancy and behaviour of occupants. However, we did acquire approximate occupancy data for the latter phase of the study, providing insights into the occupancy levels during full operational capacity of the building. For the bleach intervention, the inability to lock restroom meant that sinks treated with bleach may have been interrupted by the occupants. However, by implementing treatments after the working hours and overnight with access of the building restricted to most occupants, potential interruptions were minimised. While not included in this study, the inclusion of a method to differentiate between live and dead bacterial cells, such as propidium monoazide, would provide insights into the persistence of viable cells in sink drains (Nocker & Camper, 2008).

In conclusion we have demonstrated that the temporal variation between samples reduced over time, leading to the formation of established bacterial communities in sink P-traps. Moreover, following an intervention with bleach, bacterial communities deviated from the structure of untreated sinks, and notably, this effect persisted for a four-week period. This study highlights the critical role of temporal studies across sinks, enhancing our understanding of the anthropogenic influences on these microbial communities and their potential implications for human health.

4.6 References

- Ahmad, K., Khan, U. F., & Hafeez, A. (2004). Control of Burkholderia (Pseudomonas) bacteraemia in the intensive care and paediatric units. *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons-Pakistan : JCPSP, 14*(2), 102–104.
- Balciunas, E. M., Kappelmeyer, U., Harms, H., & Heipieper, H. J. (2020). Increasing ibuprofen degradation in constructed wetlands by bioaugmentation with gravel containing biofilms of an ibuprofen-degrading Sphingobium yanoikuyae. *Engineering in Life Sciences, 20*(5–6), 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201900097
- Balkwill, D. L., Fredrickson, J. K., & Romine, M. F. (2006). Sphingomonas and Related Genera. In M.
 Dworkin, S. Falkow, E. Rosenberg, K.-H. Schleifer, & E. Stackebrandt (Eds.), The Prokaryotes:
 Volume 7: Proteobacteria: Delta, Epsilon Subclass (pp. 605–629). Springer New York.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-30747-8_23
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bellini, M. I., Gutiérrez, L., Tarlera, S., & Scavino, A. F. (2013). Isolation and functional analysis of denitrifiers in an aquifer with high potential for denitrification. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 36(7), 505–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2013.07.001
- Berry, D., Xi, C., & Raskin, L. (2006). Microbial ecology of drinking water distribution systems. Current *Opinion in Biotechnology*, *17*(3), 297–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2006.05.007
- Bert, F., Maubec, E., Bruneau, B., Berry, P., & Lambert-Zechovsky, N. (1998). Multi-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa outbreak associated with contaminated tap water in neurosurgery intensive care unit. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 39*(1), 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-6701(98)90243-2
- Bitton, G. (2014). Drinking Water Distribution Systems: Biofilm Microbiology. *Microbiology of Drinking Water*, 91–115. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118743942.ch4
- Boe-Hansen, R., Albrechtsen, H.J., Arvin, E., & Jrgensen, C. (2002). Bulk water phase and biofilm growth in drinking water at low nutrient conditions. *Water Research, 36*, 4477–4486. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0043-1354(02)00191-4
- Borella, P., Motagna, M. teresa, Romano-Spica, V., Stampi, S., Stancanelli, G., Triassi, M., Neglia, R.,
 Marchese, I., Fantuzzi, G., Tato, D., Napoli, C., Quaranta, G., Laurenti, P., Leoni, E., De Luca, G.,
 Ossi, C., Moro, M., & D'Alcala Gabriella Ribera. (2004). Legionella Infection Risk from Domestic

 Hot
 Water.
 Emerging
 Infectious
 Diseases,
 10(3),
 457–464.

 https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1003.020707

- Bourdin, T., Benoit, M.È., Monnier, A., Bédard, E., Prévost, M., Charron, D., Audy, N., Gravel, S., Sicard, M., Quach, C., Déziel, E., & Constant, P. (2023). Serratia marcescens Colonization in a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit Has Multiple Sources, with Sink Drains as a Major Reservoir. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *89*(5). https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00105-23
- Callahan, B. J., Mcmurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: High resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Carvalho, M., Bento de Carvalho, T., Barbosa, J. B., Teixeira, P., & Bergogne-Bérézin, E. (2023). Acinetobacter. In G. W. Smithers (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Food Safety (Second Edition) (pp. 58–67). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-822521-9.00212-4
- Caselli, E. (2017). Hygiene: microbial strategies to reduce pathogens and drug resistance in clinical settings. *Microbial Biotechnology*, *10*(5), 1079–1083. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12755
- Caselli, E., D'Accolti, M., Vandini, A., Lanzoni, L., Camerada, M. T., Coccagna, M., Branchini, A., Antonioli, P., Balboni, P. G., Di Luca, D., & Mazzacane, S. (2016). Impact of a Probiotic-Based Cleaning Intervention on the Microbiota Ecosystem of the Hospital Surfaces: Focus on the Resistome Remodulation. *PloS ONE, 11*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0148857
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). Cleaning and Disinfecting With Bleach. Https://Www.Cdc.Gov/Hygiene/Cleaning/Disinfecting-Bleach.Html#:~:Text=Most%20household%20bleach%20contains%205,Are%20not%20appropri ate%20for%20disinfection.
- Chapuis, A., Amoureux, L., Bador, J., Gavalas, A., Siebor, E., Chrétien, M. L., Caillot, D., Janin, M., De Curraize, C., & Neuwirth, C. (2016). Outbreak of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase Producing Enterobacter cloacae with high MICs of quaternary ammonium compounds in a hematology ward associated with contaminated sinks. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 7*(JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01070
- Clarivet, B., Grau, D., Jumas-Bilak, E., Jean-Pierre, H., Pantel, A., Parer, S., & Lotthé, A. (2016). Persisting transmission of carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae due to an environmental reservoir in a university hospital, France, 2012 to 2014. *Eurosurveillance, 21*(17). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.17.30213

- Cole, K., & Talmadge, J. E. (2019). Mitigation of microbial contamination from waste water and aerosolization by sink design. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 103(2), 193–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHIN.2019.05.011
- Conti, S., Soléo Ferreira dos SANTOS, S., Yumi KOGA-ITO, C., Olavo Cardoso JORGE, A., & Soléo Ferreira dos Santos Rua Victor Barbosa Guisard, S. (2009). Enterobacteriaceae and Pseudomonadaceae on the dorsum of the human tongue. *Journal of Applied Oral Science, 17*(5). https://doi.org/10.1590/S1678-77572009000500005
- Dai, Z., Sevillano-Rivera, M. C., Calus, S. T., Melina Bautista-de los Santos, Q., Murat Eren, A., van der Wielen, P. W. J. J., Ijaz, U. Z., & Pinto, A. J. (2020). Disinfection exhibits systematic impacts on the drinking water microbiome. *Microbiome*, 8(42), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1101/828970
- Döring, G., Ulrich, M., Müller, W., Bitzer, J., Schmidt-Koenig, L., Münst, L., Grupp, H., Wolz, C., Stern,
 M., & Botzenhart, K. (1991). Generation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa aerosols during handwashing from contaminated sink drains, transmission to hands of hospital personnel, and its prevention by use of a new heating device. *Zentralblatt Fur Hygiene Und Umweltmedizin = International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Medicine*, *191*(5–6), 494–505.
- Douterelo, I., Boxall, J. B., Deines, P., Sekar, R., Fish, K. E., & Biggs, C. A. (2014). Methodological approaches for studying the microbial ecology of drinking water distribution systems. *Water Research, 65*, 134–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.07.008
- Douterelo, I., Fish, K. E., & Boxall, J. B. (2018). Succession of bacterial and fungal communities within biofilms of a chlorinated drinking water distribution system. *Water Research, 141,* 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.04.058
- Eichler, S., Christen, R., Höltje, C., Westphal, P., Bötel, J., Brettar, I., Mehling, A., & Höfle, M. G. (2006).
 Composition and dynamics of bacterial communities of a drinking water supply system as assessed by RNA- and DNA-based 16S rRNA gene fingerprinting. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(3), 1858–1872. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.3.1858-1872.2006
- El-Chakhtoura, J., Prest, E., Saikaly, P., van Loosdrecht, M., Hammes, F., & Vrouwenvelder, H. (2015).
 Dynamics of bacterial communities before and after distribution in a full-scale drinking water network. *Water Research*, 74, 180–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.02.015
- Elmaksoud, S. A., Patel, N., Maxwell, S. L., Sifuentes, L. Y., & Gerba, C. P. (2014). Use of household bleach for emergency disinfection of drinking water. *Journal of Environmental Health*, *76*(9), 22– 25. http://www.jstor.org/stable/26330033

- Faust, K., Lahti, L., Gonze, D., de Vos, W. M., & Raes, J. (2015). Metagenomics meets time series analysis: Unraveling microbial community dynamics. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 25, 56–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2015.04.004
- Fujimura, K. E., Johnson, C. C., Ownby, D. R., Cox, M. J., Brodie, E. L., Havstad MA, S. L., Zoratti, E. M., Woodcroft, K. J., Bobbitt, K. R., Wegienka, G., Boushey, H. A., & Lynch, S. v. (2010). Man's best friend? The effect of pet ownership on house dust microbial communities. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 126(2), 410-412.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.004
- Furuhata, K., Ishizaki, N., & Fukuyama, M. (2010). Characterization of Heterotrophic Bacteria Isolated from the Biofilm of a Kitchen Sink. *Biocontrol Science*, 15(1), 21–25. https://doi.org/10.4265/bio.15.21
- Garrett, T. R., Bhakoo, M., & Zhang, Z. (2008). Bacterial adhesion and biofilms on surfaces. *Progress in Natural Science*, *18*(9), 1049–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnsc.2008.04.001
- Gomes, I. B., Simões, M., & Simões, L. C. (2016). The effects of sodium hypochlorite against selected drinking water-isolated bacteria in planktonic and sessile states. *Science of the Total Environment*, *565*, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.136
- Guarino, F., Motta, O., Turano, M., Proto, A., & Vigliotta, G. (2020). Preferential use of the perchlorate over the nitrate in the respiratory processes mediated by the Bacterium Azospira sp. OGA 24.
 Water (Switzerland), 12(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/w12082220
- Hallett, L. M., Jones, S. K., MacDonald, A. A. M., Jones, M. B., Flynn, D. F. B., Ripplinger, J., Slaughter,
 P., Gries, C., & Collins, S. L. (2016). codyn: An r package of community dynamics metrics. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(10), 1146–1151. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12569
- Hoque, S. N., Graham, J., Kaufmann, M. E., & Tabaqchali, S. (2001). Chryseobacterium (Flavobacterium) meningosepticum outbreak associated with colonization of water taps in a neonatal intensive care unit. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 47*(3), 188–192. https://doi.org/10.1053/jhin.2000.0908
- Hospodsky, D., Qian, J., Nazaroff, W. W., Yamamoto, N., & Bibby, K. (2012). Human Occupancy as a Source of Indoor Airborne Bacteria. *PLoS ONE, 7*(4), 34867. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034867
- Hota, S., Hirji, Z., Stockton, K., Lemieux, C., Dedier, H., Wolfaardt, G., & Gardam, M. A. (2009). Outbreak of Multidrug-Resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa Colonization and Infection Secondary to

Imperfect Intensive Care Unit Room Design. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 30*(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1086/592700

- Hunter, W. J. (2007). An Azospira oryzae (syn Dechlorosoma suillum) strain that reduces selenate and selenite to elemental red selenium. *Current Microbiology*, 54(5), 376–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-006-0474-y
- Ji, P., Parks, J., Edwards, M. A., & Pruden, A. (2015). Impact of water chemistry, pipe material and stagnation on the building plumbing microbiome. *PLoS ONE*, 10(10), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141087
- Jiao, X., Guo, W., Li, X., Yao, F., Zeng, M., Yuan, Y., Guo, X., Wang, M., Xie, Q. D., Cai, L., Yu, F., Yu, P., & Xia, Y. (2023). New insight into the microbiome, resistome, and mobilome on the dental waste water in the context of heavy metal environment. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 14*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2023.1106157
- Jones, L. D., Mana, T. S. C., Cadnum, J. L., Jencson, A. L., Silva, S. Y., Wilson, B. M., & Donskey, C. J. (2020). Effectiveness of foam disinfectants in reducing sink-drain gram-negative bacterial colonization. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 41(3), 280–285. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2019.325
- Köhler, A. T., Rodloff, A. C., Labahn, M., Reinhardt, M., Truyen, U., & Speck, S. (2018). Efficacy of sodium hypochlorite against multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 100*(3), e40–e46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2018.07.017
- Kool, J. L., Bergmire-Sweat, D., Butler, J. C., Brown, E. W., Peabody, D. J., Massi, D. S., Carpenter, J. C., Pruckler, J. M., Benson, R. F., & Fields, B. S. (1999). Hospital Characteristics Associated With Colonization of Water Systems by Legionella and Risk of Nosocomial Legionnaires' Disease: A Cohort Study of 15 Hospitals. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 20*(12), 798–805. https://doi.org/10.1086/501587
- Kotay, S., Chai, W., Guilford, W., Barry, K., & Mathers, A. J. (2017). Spread from the Sink to the Patient: In Situ Study Using Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP)-Expressing Escherichia coli To Model Bacterial Dispersion from Hand-Washing Sink-Trap Reservoirs. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 83*(8), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03327-16
- Kotsanas, D., Wijesooriya, W. R. P. L. I., Korman, T. M., Gillespie, E. E., Wright, L., Snook, K., Williams, N., Bell, J. M., Li, H. Y., & Stuart, R. L. (2013). "Down the drain": Carbapenem-resistant bacteria

in intensive care unit patients and handwashing sinks. *Medical Journal of Australia, 198*(5), 267–269. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja12.11757

- LaMartina, E. Lou, Mohaimani, A. A., & Newton, R. J. (2021). Urban wastewater bacterial communities assemble into seasonal steady states. *Microbiome, 9*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-021-01038-5
- Lautenschlager, K., Boon, N., Wang, Y., Egli, T., & Hammes, F. (2010). Overnight stagnation of drinking water in household taps induces microbial growth and changes in community composition. *Water Research*, 44(17), 4868–4877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.032
- Ledwoch, K., Robertson, A., Lauran, J., Norville, P., & Maillard, J.-Y. (2020). It's a trap! The development of a versatile drain biofilm model and its susceptibility to disinfection. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 106*(4), 757–764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.08.010
- Lee, B. G., Yang, J. I. L., Kim, E., Geum, S. W., Park, J. H., & Yeo, M. K. (2021a). Investigation of bacterial and fungal communities in indoor and outdoor air of elementary school classrooms by 16S rRNA gene and ITS region sequencing. *Indoor Air, 31*(5), 1553-1562. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12825
- Lee, D., Calendo, G., Kopec, K., Henry, R., Coutts, S., McCarthy, D., & Murphy, H. M. (2021b). The Impact of Pipe Material on the Diversity of Microbial Communities in Drinking Water Distribution Systems. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2021.779016
- Lee, Y. (2013). An evaluation of microbial and chemical contamination sources related to the deterioration of tap water quality in the household water supply system. *International Journal* of Environmental Research and Public Health, 10(9), 4143–4160. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10094143
- Lehtimäki, J., Karkman, A., Laatikainen, T., Paalanen, L., von Hertzen, L., Haahtela, T., Hanski, I., & Ruokolainen, L. (2017). Patterns in the skin microbiota differ in children and teenagers between rural and urban environments. *Scientific Reports, 7*, 45651. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45651
- Li, X., Upadhyaya, G., Yuen, W., Brown, J., Morgenroth, E., & Raskin, L. (2010). Changes in the structure and function of microbial communities in drinking water treatment bioreactors upon addition of phosphorus. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 76*(22), 7473–7481. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01232-10

- Lim, E. S., Lee, J. E., Kim, J. S., & Koo, O. K. (2017). Isolation of indigenous bacteria from a cafeteria kitchen and their biofilm formation and disinfectant susceptibility. *LWT*, 77, 376–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2016.11.060
- Lin, H., Zhu, X., Wang, Y., & Yu, X. (2017). Effect of sodium hypochlorite on typical biofilms formed in drinking water distribution systems. *Journal of Water and Health*, 15(2), 218–227. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2017.141
- Ling, F., Whitaker, R., Lechevallier, M. W., & Liu, W.T. (2018). Drinking water microbiome assembly induced by water stagnation. *The ISME Journal*, *12*, 1520–1531. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0101-5
- Ling, M. L., & How, K. B. (2013). Pseudomonas aeruginosa outbreak linked to sink drainage design. *Healthcare Infection, 18*(4), 143–146. https://doi.org/10.1071/HI13015
- Lipphaus, P., Hammes, F., Kötzsch, S., Green, J., Gillespie, S., & Nocker, A. (2014). Microbiological tap water profile of a medium-sized building and effect of water stagnation. *Environmental Technology (United Kingdom), 35*(5), 620–628. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2013.839748
- Liu, G., Van Der Mark, E. J., Verberk, J. Q. J. C., & Van Dijk, J. C. (2013). Flow Cytometry Total Cell Counts: A Field Study Assessing Microbiological Water Quality and Growth in Unchlorinated Drinking Water Distribution Systems. *BioMed Research International, 2013*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/595872
- Liu, G., Zhang, Y., van der Mark, E., Magic-Knezev, A., Pinto, A., van den Bogert, B., Liu, W., van der Meer, W., & Medema, G. (2018). Assessing the origin of bacteria in tap water and distribution system in an unchlorinated drinking water system by SourceTracker using microbial community fingerprints. *Water Research*, 138, 86–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.03.043
- Lowe, C., Willey, B., O'Shaughnessy, A., Lee, W., Lum, M., Pike, K., Larocque, C., Dedier, H., Dales, L., Moore, C., & McGeer, A. (2012). Outbreak of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Klebsiella oxytoca infections associated with contaminated handwashing sinks. *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 18*(8), 1242–1247. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1808.111268
- Mahnert, A., Moissl-Eichinger, C., & Berg, G. (2015). Microbiome interplay: Plants alter microbial abundance and diversity within the built environment. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 6*(AUG), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00887

- Mcmurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. (2013). phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLoS ONE, 8*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Kembel, S. W., Kline, J., Mhuireach, G., Moriyama, M., Northcutt, D., O'connor, T. K., Womack, A. M., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2014). Indoor airborne bacterial communities are influenced by ventilation, occupancy, and outdoor air source. *Indoor Air, 24*, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12047
- Meier, T., & Bendinger, B. (2016). Survival of pathogens in drinking water plumbing systems: impact factors and sanitation options. *Water Sciences & Technology: Water Supply, 16*(4), 931–941. https://doi.org/10.2166/ws.2016.040
- Mi, Z., Dai, Y., Xie, S., Chen, C., & Zhang, X. (2015). Impact of disinfection on drinking water biofilm bacterial community. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 37, 200–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2015.04.008
- Mitra, M., Nguyen, K. M. A. K., Box, T. W., Gilpin, J. S., Hamby, S. R., Berry, T. L., & Duckett, E. H. (2020).
 Isolation and characterization of a novel Sphingobium yanoikuyae strain variant that uses
 biohazardous saturated hydrocarbons and aromatic compounds as sole carbon sources.
 F1000Research, *9*. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.25284.1
- Moen, B., Røssvoll, E., Måge, I., Møretrø, T., & Langsrud, S. (2015). Microbiota formed on attached stainless steel coupons correlates with the natural biofilm of the sink surface in domestic kitchens. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology, 62*(2), 148–160. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjm-2015-0562
- Nielsen, T. K., Carstens, A. B., Browne, P., Lametsch, R., Neve, H., Kot, W., & Hansen, L. H. (2017). The first characterized phage against a member of the ecologically important sphingomonads reveals high dissimilarity against all other known phages. *Scientific Reports, 7*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13911-1
- Nocker, A., & Camper, A. K. (2008). Novel approaches toward preferential detection of viable cells using nucleic acid amplification techniques. *FEMS*, 291, 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2008.01429.x
- Nocker, A., Lindfeld, E., Wingender, J., Schulte, S., Dumm, M., & Bendinger, B. (2021). Thermal and chemical disinfection of water and biofilms: Only a temporary effect in regard to the

autochthonous bacteria. *Journal of Water and Health, 19*(5), 808–822. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2021.075

- Numberger, D., Ganzert, L., Zoccarato, L., Mühldorfer, K., Sauer, S., Grossart, H.P., & Greenwood, A.
 D. (2019). Characterization of bacterial communities in wastewater with enhanced taxonomic resolution by full-length 16S rRNA sequencing. *Scientific Reports, 9*(9673). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-46015-z
- Oksanen, A. J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Mcglinn, D., Minchin, P. R., Hara,R. B. O., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., & Szoecs, E. (2020). vegan: CommunityEcology Package. R package version 2.5-7. (Issue March 2017).
- Oren, A. (2014). The Family Rhodocyclaceae. In E. F. and L. S. and S. E. and T. F. Rosenberg Eugene and DeLong (Ed.), The Prokaryotes: Alphaproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria (pp. 975–998). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-30197-1_292
- Paduano, S., Marchesi, I., Casali, M. E., Valeriani, F., Frezza, G., Vecchi, E., Sircana, L., Spica, V. R., Borella, P., & Bargellini, A. (2020). Characterisation of Microbial Community Associated with Different Disinfection Treatments in Hospital hot Water Networks. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(2158). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17062158
- Pandey, A., Joshi, V. K., Nigam, P., & Soccol, C. R. (1999). Enterobacteriaceae, Coliforms and E. coli |
 Introduction. In Encyclopedia of Food Microbiology (pp. 604–610). Elsevier.
 https://doi.org/10.1006/rwfm.1999.0510
- Peters, M. C. F. M., Keuten, M. G. A., Knezev, A., Van Loosdrecht, M. C. M., Vrouwenvelder, J. S., Rietveld, L. C., & de Kreuk, M. K. (2018). Characterization of the bacterial community in shower water before and after chlorination. *Journal of Water and Health*, 16(2), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2017.189
- Pinar-Méndez, A., Wangensteen, O. S., Præbel, K., Galofré, B., Méndez, J., Blanch, A. R., & García-Aljaro, C. (2022). Monitoring Bacterial Community Dynamics in a Drinking Water Treatment Plant: An Integrative Approach Using Metabarcoding and Microbial Indicators in Large Water Volumes. *Water (Switzerland), 14*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/w14091435
- Pinto, A. J., Xi, C., & Raskin, L. (2012). Bacterial Community Structure in the Drinking Water Microbiome Is Governed by Filtration Processes. *Environmental Science & Technology, 46*, 8851–8859. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302042t

- Pirzadian, J., Harteveld, S. P., Ramdutt, S. N., van Wamel, W. J. B., Klaassen, C. H. W., Vos, M. C., & Severin, J. A. (2020). Novel use of culturomics to identify the microbiota in hospital sink drains with and without persistent VIM-positive Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Scientific Reports, 10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73650-8
- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., & Glöckner, F. O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: Improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*(D1), 590–596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- R Core Team. (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rai, S., Singh, D. K., & Kumar, A. (2021). Microbial, environmental and anthropogenic factors influencing the indoor microbiome of the built environment. *Journal of Basic Microbiology*, 61(4), 267–292. https://doi.org/10.1002/JOBM.202000575
- Reynolds, K. A., Boone, S., Bright, K. R., & Gerba, C. P. (2012). Occurrence of household mold and efficacy of sodium hypochlorite disinfectant. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, *9*(11), 663–669. https://doi.org/10.1080/15459624.2012.724650
- Richardson, M., Gottel, N., Gilbert, J. A., Gordon, J., Gandhi, P., Reboulet, R., & Hampton-Marcell, J. T. (2019). Concurrent measurement of microbiome and allergens in the air of bedrooms of allergy disease patients in the Chicago area. *Microbiome*, 7(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-019-0695-5/FIGURES/5
- Roeder, R. S., Lenz, J., Tarne, P., Gebel, J., Exner, M., & Szewzyk, U. (2010). Long-term effects of disinfectants on the community composition of drinking water biofilms. *International Journal of Hygiene* and *Environmental Health*, 213(3), 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2010.04.007
- Rutala, W. A., & Weber, D. J. (2015). Disinfection, Sterilization, and Control of Hospital Waste. In Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases (pp. 3294-3309.e4). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4557-4801-3.00301-5
- Saito, I., Shintani, M., Murakami, N., Aoki, Y., & Higa, T. (2016). Establishment of human and environmentally friendly hospital with consideration for human and environmental microbiome. The 3rd International Conference of Universal Village.
- Salazar G. (2023). EcolUtils: Utilities for community ecology analysis_. R package version 0.1. Https://Github.Com/GuillemSalazar/EcolUtils.

- Saunders, A. M., Albertsen, M., Vollertsen, J., & Nielsen, P. H. (2016). The activated sludge ecosystem contains a core community of abundant organisms. *The ISME Journal, 10,* 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.117
- Schmeisser, C., Stöckigt, C., Raasch, C., Wingender, J., Timmis, K. N., Wenderoth, D. F., Flemming, H.
 C., Liesegang, H., Schmitz, R. A., Jaeger, K. E., & Streit, W. R. (2003). Metagenome Survey of
 Biofilms in Drinking-Water Networks. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 69*(12), 7298–7309. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.12.7298-7309.2003
- Seifert, H., Dijkshoorn, L., Gerner-Smidt, P., Pelzer, N., Tjernberg, I., & Vaneechoutte, M. (1997).
 Distribution of Acinetobacter Species on Human Skin: Comparison of Phenotypic and Genotypic
 Identification Methods. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 35*(11), 2819–2825.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.35.11.2819-2825.1997
- Simões, L. C., Simões, M., & Vieira, M. J. (2010). Influence of the diversity of bacterial isolates from drinking water on resistance of biofilms to disinfection. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(19), 6673–6679. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00872-10
- Snitkin, E. S. (2019). Contamination of Hospital Plumbing: A Source or a Sink for Antibiotic-ResistantOrganisms?JAMANetworkOpen,2(2),e187660.https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7660
- Soeria-Atmadja, D., Önell, A., & Borgå, Å. (2010). IgE sensitization to fungi mirrors fungal phylogenetic systematics. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125(6), 1379-1386.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2010.02.028
- Stjärne Aspelund, A., Sjöström, K., Olsson Liljequist, B., Mörgelin, M., Melander, E., & Påhlman, L. I. (2016). Acetic acid as a decontamination method for sink drains in a nosocomial outbreak of metallo-β-lactamase-producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 94*(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2016.05.009
- Martins, T. L., & Merquior, V. L. C. (2014). The Family Moraxellaceae. In E. F. and L. S. and S. E. and T.
 F. Rosenberg Eugene and DeLong (Ed.), The Prokaryotes: Gammaproteobacteria (pp. 443–476).
 Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-38922-1_245
- Thompson, L. R., Sanders, J. G., McDonald, D., Amir, A., Ladau, J., Locey, K. J., Prill, R. J., Tripathi, A., Gibbons, S. M., Ackermann, G., Navas-Molina, J. A., Janssen, S., Kopylova, E., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., González, A., Morton, J. T., Mirarab, S., Xu, Z. Z., Jiang, L., ... Zhao, H. (2017). A communal

catalogue reveals Earth's multiscale microbial diversity. *Nature, 551*(7681), 457–463. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24621

- Umemura, T., Mutoh, Y., Sukawa, M., Hioki, T., Sakanashi, D., Kato, H., Hagihara, M., Yamada, T., Ikeda,
 Y., Mikamo, H., & Ichihara, T. (2023). Diminishment of Carbapenemase-Producing
 Enterobacterales from Sink Outlets Using a Steam Cleaner. *Hygiene*, 3(1), 13–17.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/hygiene3010003
- Vaz-Moreira, I., Egas, C., Nunes, O. C., & lia Manaia, C. M. (2013). Bacterial diversity from the source to the tap: a comparative study based on 16S rRNA gene-DGGE and culture-dependent methods.
 Microbiology Ecology, 83, 361–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12002
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G. M., Tiedje, J. M., & Cole, J. R. (2007). Naïve Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(16), 5261–5267. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00062-07
- Weiss, S., Xu, Z. Z., Peddada, S., Amir, A., Bittinger, K., Gonzalez, A., Lozupone, C., Zaneveld, J. R.,
 Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Birmingham, A., Hyde, E. R., & Knight, R. (2017). Normalization and microbial
 differential abundance strategies depend upon data characteristics. *Microbiome*, 5(27).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0237-y
- Wendel, A. F., Kolbe-Busch, S., Ressina, S., Schulze-Röbbecke, R., Kindgen-Milles, D., Lorenz, C., Pfeffer,
 K., & MacKenzie, C. R. (2015). Detection and termination of an extended low-frequency hospital
 outbreak of GIM-1–producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa ST111 in Germany. *American Journal of Infection Control, 43*(6), 635–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2015.02.024
- Williams, M. M., Armbruster, C. R., & Arduino, M. J. (2013). Plumbing of hospital premises is a reservoir for opportunistically pathogenic microorganisms: A review. *Biofouling*,29(2), 147–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2012.757308
- Wingender, J., & Flemming, H. C. (2011). Biofilms in drinking water and their role as reservoir for pathogens. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 214(6), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.05.009
- Withey, Z., Awan, A., Duguma, N., Fell, E., Martinez, N. J., Neary, E., Goodall, T., & Gweon, H. S. (2023).
 Mycobial community assemblages in sink drains across a university campus. *Environmental DNA*, 5(1), 212–224. https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.375

- Withey, Z., Goodall, T., MacIntyre, S., & Gweon, H. S. (2021). Characterization of communal sink drain communities of a university campus. *Environmental DNA, 3*(5), 901–911. https://doi.org/10.1002/EDN3.196
- Wolf, I., Bergervoet, P. W. M., Sebens, F. W., van den Oever, H. L. A., Savelkoul, P. H. M., & van der Zwet, W. C. (2014). The sink as a correctable source of extended-spectrum β-lactamase contamination for patients in the intensive care unit. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 87*(2), 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2014.02.013
- Ye, C., Xian, X., Bao, R., Zhang, Y., Feng, M., Lin, W., & Yu, X. (2022). Recovery of microbiological quality of long-term stagnant tap water in university buildings during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Science of The Total Environment, 806*, 150616. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.150616
- Zhang, H., Tian, Y., Kang, M., Chen, C., Song, Y., & Li, H. (2019). Effects of chlorination/chlorine dioxide disinfection on biofilm bacterial community and corrosion process in a reclaimed water distribution system. *Chemosphere, 215, 62–73.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.09.181
- Zhang, S., Wang, Y., Lu, J., Yu, Z., Song, H., Bond, P. L., & Guo, J. (2021). Chlorine disinfection facilitates natural transformation through ROS-mediated oxidative stress. *The ISME Journal*, 15(10), 2969– 2985. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-021-00980-4
- Zhang, Z., Reponen, T., & Khurana Hershey, G. K. (2016). Fungal Exposure and Asthma: IgE and Non-IgE-Mediated Mechanisms. *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports, 16*(86). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-016-0667-9
- Zhang, Z., Xiong, Y., Chen, H., & Tang, Y. (2020). Understanding the composition and spatial distribution of biological selenate reduction products for potential selenium recovery. *Environmental Science: Water Research and Technology, 6*(8), 2153–2163. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ew00376j
- Zhou, J., Deng, Y., Zhang, P., Xue, K., Liang, Y., Van Nostrand, J. D., Yang, Y., He, Z., Wu, L., Stahl, D. A., Hazen, T. C., Tiedje, J. M., & Arkin, A. P. (2014). Stochasticity, succession, and environmental perturbations in a fluidic ecosystem. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(9). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1324044111

Appendix C

Supplementary material for Chapter 4

Longitudinal bacterial community dynamics and sodium hypochlorite intervention in a newly built university building

This appendix includes:

- Figure C.1 Plot of the approximate occupancy of HLS from August 2022 to September 2023.
 Data obtained from the recorded number of entries into the building via the use of the card reader. Entries recorded into the building prior to August 2022 was not obtainable.
- Figure C.2 Alpha diversity indices between bleach treated and untreated samples. (A) Shannon Diversity, (B) ASV Richness, (C) Pielou's Evenness, (D) Total Turnover. Thicker line indicates mean by treatment. For the bleached sinks with no DNA (all sinks at WK139 and three sinks at WK140), these samples were included with the values as zero for the plots. Note that in (D) for untreated sinks the x axis starts at WK139, but this refers to the difference between sampling time points (weeks), WK138 to WK139. WK140 refers to difference between WK139 and WK140 and so on. For WK139 total turnover was plotted as 1 as there was a complete removal of the community between WK138 and WK139. WK140 (WK139 to WK140) was also plotted as 1 as a new community had established. Abbreviations: B.I Before Intervention; A.I After Intervention.
- **Figure C.3** Distances (Bray-Curtis matrices) to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for sink bacterial communities for untreated and treated over sampling rounds.
- Figure C.4 Bacterial composition at genus level across sampling rounds of all sinks treated with bleach. Includes the data from the timeseries. "Other" groups genera that had less than 1% mean relative abundance and those reads unclassified to the genus level. Blank spaces indicate where there was no data present due to no quantifiable DNA.
- Figure C.5 Bacterial composition at genus level across sampling rounds of all untreated sinks. Includes the data from the timeseries. "Other" groups genera that had less than 1% mean relative abundance and those reads unclassified to the genus level. Sink IDs starting with D were only included in the timeseries study.

- Figure C.6 Relative abundance of significant genera between untreated and bleach treated samples at WK140. Median and interquartile range displayed for each genus by treatment.
 WK138 included as reference to relative abundances of these genera prior to treatment.
- **Figure C.7** Mean beta dissimilarity between sinks in HLS by sampling time point (week) and other buildings on campus. Based on Bray-Curtis distances. Over time sinks from HLS are becoming more similar in community composition to sinks from the surrounding campus.
- **Figure C.8** Comparisons of the mean Bray-Curtis distance of the last sampling time point (WK107) of HLS and the other individual buildings. Lower values indicate higher similarity in composition.
- **Table C.1** Data collected for each sink P-trap sample for both studies. Bleach study also includes the gDNA concentrations recorded for each sample.
- Table C.2 Results table from ANOVA of linear mixed effects model for the alpha diversity indices for phase 1. Sum Sq, sum of squares; Mean Sq, mean square; Num DF, degrees of freedom, DEN DF, denominator degrees of freedom. Stars indicate the p-value significance p < 0.05; *, p < 0.01; **, P < 0.001; ***.
- Table C.3 Significant ASVs between WKS with increased peak in ASV richness. (A) WK39 vs WK49, (B) WK68 vs WK74, (C) WK93 vs WK98. Mean relative abundances of ASVs at WKs being compared and p-adjusted values from Wilcox test. P values adjusted with Benjamini-Hochberg (BH). Highlighted cells indicate ASVs shared between the peaks. Taxonomy of ASVs included.
- **Table C.4** Pairwise comparisons for all significant pairs of levels of sampling time point (week) by using PERMANOVA. P values corrected with Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) are shown. The R2 values indicated the amount of variation explained.
- **Table C.5** ASVs classified as core (>70% prevalence). Overall abundance (counts), prevalence and classification are shown.
- Table C.6 Results table from ANOVA of linear mixed effects model for the alpha diversity indices for phase 2. Sum Sq, sum of squares; Mean Sq, mean square; Num DF, degrees of freedom, DEN DF, denominator degrees of freedom. Stars indicate the p-value significance p < 0.05; *, p < 0.01; **, P < 0.001; ***.



Figure C.1. Plot of the approximate occupancy of HLS from August 2022 to September 2023. Data obtained from the recorded number of entries into the building via the use of the card reader. Entries recorded into the building prior to August 2022 was not obtainable.



Treatment - Bleach - Untreated

Figure C.2. Alpha diversity indices between bleach treated and untreated samples. (A) Shannon Diversity, (B) ASV Richness, (C) Pielou's Evenness, (D) Total Turnover. Thicker line indicates mean by treatment. For the bleached sinks with no DNA (all sinks at WK139 and three sinks at WK140), these samples were included with the values as zero for the plots. Note that in (D) for untreated sinks the x axis starts at WK139, but this refers to the difference between sampling time points (weeks), WK138 to WK139. WK140 refers to difference between WK139 and WK140 and so on. For WK139 total turnover was plotted as 1 as there was a complete removal of the community between WK138 and WK139. WK140 (WK139 to WK140) was also plotted as 1 as a new community had established. Abbreviations: B.I Before Intervention; A.I After Intervention.



Figure C.3. Distances (Bray-Curtis matrices) to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for sink bacterial communities for untreated and treated over sampling rounds.

Chapter 4



Figure C.4. Bacterial composition at genus level across sampling rounds of all sinks treated with bleach. Includes the data from the timeseries. "Other" groups genera that had less than 1% mean relative abundance and those reads unclassified to the genus level. Blank spaces indicate where there was no data present due to no quantifiable DNA.



Figure C.5. Bacterial composition at genus level across sampling rounds of all untreated sinks. Includes the data from the timeseries. "Other" groups genera that had less than 1% mean relative abundance and those reads unclassified to the genus level. Sink IDs starting with D were only included in the timeseries study.



Figure C.6. Relative abundance of significant genera between untreated and bleach treated samples at WK140. Median and interquartile range displayed for each genus by treatment. WK138 included as reference to relative abundances of these genera prior to treatment.



Figure C.7. Mean beta dissimilarity between sinks in HLS by sampling time point (week) and other buildings on campus. Based on Bray-Curtis distances. Over time sinks from HLS are becoming more similar in community composition to sinks from the surrounding campus.



Figure C.8. Comparisons of the mean Bray-Curtis distance of the last sampling time point (WK107) of HLS and the other individual buildings. Lower values indicate higher similarity in composition.
										gDNA
seq_id	sample_id	s_id	sample_date	sample_week	round_id	dataset	treatment	gender	floor	ng/ul
ZW.E03.HLS391	FG01_1B_T0	FG01_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	27.7
ZW.E03.HLS392	FG01_2B_T0	FG01_2B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	23.9
ZW.E03.HLS393	FG01_3B_T0	FG01_3B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	6.32
ZW.E03.HLS394	FG01_4B_T0	FG01_4B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	17.2
ZW.E03.HLS395	FG01_5B_T0	FG01_5B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	19.2
ZW.E03.HLS396	FG01_6B_T0	FG01_6B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	9.57
ZW.E03.HLS397	MG01_1B_T0	MG01_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	4.94
ZW.E03.HLS398	MG01_2B_T0	MG01_2B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	3.26
ZW.E03.HLS399	MG01_3B_T0	MG01_3B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	3.27
ZW.E03.HLS400	DG02_1B_T0	DG02_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Unisex	Ground	2.75
ZW.E03.HLS401	F101_1B_T0	F101_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	6.24
ZW.E03.HLS402	F101_2B_T0	F101_2B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	0.963
ZW.E03.HLS403	F101_3B_T0	F101_3B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	2.61
ZW.E03.HLS404	M101_1B_T0	M101_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Male	First	3.61
ZW.E03.HLS405	M101_2B_T0	M101_2B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Male	First	3.69
ZW.E03.HLS406	D101_1B_T0	D101_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Unisex	First	7.6
ZW.E03.HLS407	F201_1B_T0	F201_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	6.32
ZW.E03.HLS408	F201_2B_T0	F201_2B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	17.7
ZW.E03.HLS409	F201_3B_T0	F201_3B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	15.1
ZW.E03.HLS410	M201_1B_T0	M201_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Second	7.53
ZW.E03.HLS411	M201_2B_T0	M201_2B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Second	3.13
ZW.E03.HLS412	D201_1B_T0	D201_1B	24/12/2022	138	Т0	Bleach	Untreated	Unisex	Second	1.7
ZW.E03.HLS415	FG01_1B_T1	FG01_1B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	24.5
ZW.E03.HLS416	FG01_2B_T1	FG01_2B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	7.12
ZW.E03.HLS417	FG01_3B_T1	FG01_3B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	2.34
ZW.E03.HLS418	FG01_4B_T1	FG01_4B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS419	FG01_5B_T1	FG01_5B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS420	FG01_6B_T1	FG01_6B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS421	MG01_1B_T1	MG01_1B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	1.33

ZW.E03.HLS422	MG01_2B_T1	MG01_2B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS423	MG01_3B_T1	MG01_3B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS424	F101_1B_T1	F101_1B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	0.72
ZW.E03.HLS425	F101_2B_T1	F101_2B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS426	F101_3B_T1	F101_3B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS427	M101_1B_T1	M101_1B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Male	First	4.45
ZW.E03.HLS428	M101_2B_T1	M101_2B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Male	First	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS429	F201_1B_T1	F201_1B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	5.4
ZW.E03.HLS430	F201_2B_T1	F201_2B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS431	F201_3B_T1	F201_3B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS432	M201_1B_T1	M201_1B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Second	7.43
ZW.E03.HLS433	M201_2B_T1	M201_2B	01/01/2023	139	T1	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Second	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS434	FG01_1B_T2	FG01_1B	07/01/2023	140	T2	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	8.47
ZW.E03.HLS435	FG01_2B_T2	FG01_2B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	4.17
ZW.E03.HLS436	FG01_3B_T2	FG01_3B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	1.8
ZW.E03.HLS437	FG01_4B_T2	FG01_4B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	0.2
ZW.E03.HLS438	FG01_5B_T2	FG01_5B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS439	FG01_6B_T2	FG01_6B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	0.229
ZW.E03.HLS440	MG01_1B_T2	MG01_1B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	8.68
ZW.E03.HLS441	MG01_2B_T2	MG01_2B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	1.16
ZW.E03.HLS442	MG01_3B_T2	MG01_3B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS443	F101_1B_T2	F101_1B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	11.9
ZW.E03.HLS444	F101_2B_T2	F101_2B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	0.743
ZW.E03.HLS445	F101_3B_T2	F101_3B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	Too low
ZW.E03.HLS446	M101_1B_T2	M101_1B	07/01/2023	140	T2	Bleach	Untreated	Male	First	43.9
ZW.E03.HLS447	M101_2B_T2	M101_2B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Male	First	1.64
ZW.E03.HLS448	F201_1B_T2	F201_1B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	1.56
ZW.E03.HLS449	F201_2B_T2	F201_2B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	0.422
ZW.E03.HLS450	F201_3B_T2	F201_3B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	1.14
ZW.E03.HLS451	M201_1B_T2	M201_1B	07/01/2023	140	T2	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Second	11.2
ZW.E03.HLS452	M201_2B_T2	M201_2B	07/01/2023	140	Т2	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Second	0.675

ZW.E03.HLS453	FG01_1B_T3	FG01_1B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	10.3
ZW.E03.HLS454	FG01_2B_T3	FG01_2B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	12.1
ZW.E03.HLS455	FG01_3B_T3	FG01_3B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	7.88
ZW.E03.HLS456	FG01_4B_T3	FG01_4B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	7.36
ZW.E03.HLS457	FG01_5B_T3	FG01_5B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	4.4
ZW.E03.HLS458	FG01_6B_T3	FG01_6B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	2.44
ZW.E03.HLS459	MG01_1B_T3	MG01_1B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	32.8
ZW.E03.HLS460	MG01_2B_T3	MG01_2B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	14.2
ZW.E03.HLS461	MG01_3B_T3	MG01_3B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	3.14
ZW.E03.HLS462	F101_1B_T3	F101_1B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	20.3
ZW.E03.HLS463	F101_2B_T3	F101_2B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	42.7
ZW.E03.HLS464	F101_3B_T3	F101_3B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	5.17
ZW.E03.HLS465	M101_1B_T3	M101_1B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Male	First	34.7
ZW.E03.HLS466	M101_2B_T3	M101_2B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Male	First	6.29
ZW.E03.HLS467	F201_1B_T3	F201_1B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	22.4
ZW.E03.HLS468	F201_2B_T3	F201_2B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	10.6
ZW.E03.HLS469	F201_3B_T3	F201_3B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	15
ZW.E03.HLS470	M201_1B_T3	M201_1B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Second	54
ZW.E03.HLS471	M201_2B_T3	M201_2B	14/01/2023	141	Т3	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Second	0.998
ZW.E03.HLS472	FG01_1B_T4	FG01_1B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	4.39
ZW.E03.HLS473	FG01_2B_T4	FG01_2B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	4.99
ZW.E03.HLS474	FG01_3B_T4	FG01_3B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	3.99
ZW.E03.HLS475	FG01_4B_T4	FG01_4B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	5.99
ZW.E03.HLS476	FG01_5B_T4	FG01_5B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	1.17
ZW.E03.HLS477	FG01_6B_T4	FG01_6B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	9.47
ZW.E03.HLS478	MG01_1B_T4	MG01_1B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	21.2
ZW.E03.HLS479	MG01_2B_T4	MG01_2B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	14.1
ZW.E03.HLS480	MG01_3B_T4	MG01_3B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	3.17
ZW.E03.HLS481	F101_1B_T4	F101_1B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	8.53
ZW.E03.HLS482	F101_2B_T4	F101_2B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	46
ZW.E03.HLS483	F101_3B_T4	F101_3B	01/02/2023	143	T4	Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	2.42

		101101_10	01/02/2023	145	14		Bleach	Untreated	Male	First	54
ZW.E03.HLS485	M101_2B_T4	M101_2B	01/02/2023	143	T4		Bleach	Bleach	Male	First	5.27
ZW.E03.HLS486	F201_1B_T4	F201_1B	01/02/2023	143	T4		Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	14.8
ZW.E03.HLS487	F201_2B_T4	F201_2B	01/02/2023	143	T4		Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	1.69
ZW.E03.HLS488	F201_3B_T4	F201_3B	01/02/2023	143	T4		Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	5.53
ZW.E03.HLS489	M201_1B_T4	M201_1B	01/02/2023	143	T4		Bleach	Untreated	Male	Second	29.6
ZW.E03.HLS490	M201_2B_T4	M201_2B	01/02/2023	143	T4		Bleach	Bleach	Male	Second	8.55
ZW.E03.HLS491	FG01_1B_T5	FG01_1B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	3.47
ZW.E03.HLS492	FG01_2B_T5	FG01_2B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	12
ZW.E03.HLS493	FG01_3B_T5	FG01_3B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Female	Ground	10.8
ZW.E03.HLS494	FG01_4B_T5	FG01_4B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	3.56
ZW.E03.HLS495	FG01_5B_T5	FG01_5B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	12.6
ZW.E03.HLS496	FG01_6B_T5	FG01_6B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Female	Ground	9.82
ZW.E03.HLS497	MG01_1B_T5	MG01_1B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Male	Ground	6.11
ZW.E03.HLS498	MG01_2B_T5	MG01_2B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	0.582
ZW.E03.HLS499	MG01_3B_T5	MG01_3B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Male	Ground	9.45
ZW.E03.HLS500	F101_1B_T5	F101_1B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Female	First	Too High
ZW.E03.HLS501	F101_2B_T5	F101_2B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	10.4
ZW.E03.HLS502	F101_3B_T5	F101_3B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Female	First	6.1
ZW.E03.HLS503	M101_1B_T5	M101_1B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Male	First	44.2
ZW.E03.HLS504	M101_2B_T5	M101_2B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Male	First	15.2
ZW.E03.HLS505	F201_1B_T5	F201_1B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Female	Second	17.4
ZW.E03.HLS506	F201_2B_T5	F201_2B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	3.93
ZW.E03.HLS507	F201_3B_T5	F201_3B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Female	Second	9.96
ZW.E03.HLS508	M201_1B_T5	M201_1B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Untreated	Male	Second	15.9
ZW.E03.HLS509	M201_2B_T5	M201_2B	11/02/2023	144	T5		Bleach	Bleach	Male	Second	5.54
ZW.E02.HLS003R	FG01_3B_00	FG01_3B	23/08/2020	1		0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS006R	FG01_6B_00	FG01_6B	23/08/2020	1		0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS029R	MG01_1B_01	MG01_1B	07/10/2020	7		1	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS037R	M101_2B_01	M101_2B	07/10/2020	7		1	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
	M101 1P 02	M101 1B	21/11/2020	13		2	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA

ZW.E02.HLS064R	M201_1B_02	M201_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS133R	F101_3B_05	F101_3B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS159R	M101_2B_06	M101_2B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS166R	D201_1B_06	D201_1B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS169	FG01_1B_07	FG01_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS170	FG01_2B_07	FG01_2B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS171	FG01_3B_07	FG01_3B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS172	FG01_4B_07	FG01_4B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS173	FG01_5B_07	FG01_5B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS174	FG01_6B_07	FG01_6B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS175	MG01_1B_07	MG01_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS176	MG01_2B_07	MG01_2B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS177	MG01_3B_07	MG01_3B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS178	DG02_1B_07	DG02_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS179	F101_1B_07	F101_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS180	F101_2B_07	F101_2B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS181	F101_3B_07	F101_3B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS182	M101_1B_07	M101_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS183	M101_2B_07	M101_2B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS184	D101_1B_07	D101_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS185	F201_1B_07	F201_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS186	F201_2B_07	F201_2B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS187	F201_3B_07	F201_3B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS188	M201_1B_07	M201_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS189	M201_2B_07	M201_2B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS190	D201_1B_07	D201_1B	28/07/2021	49	7	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS191	FG01_1B_08	FG01_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS192	FG01_2B_08	FG01_2B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS193	FG01_3B_08	FG01_3B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS194	FG01_4B_08	FG01_4B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS195	FG01_5B_08	FG01_5B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA

ZW.E03.HLS196	FG01_6B_08	FG01_6B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS197	MG01_1B_08	MG01_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS198	MG01_2B_08	MG01_2B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS199	MG01_3B_08	MG01_3B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS200	DG02_1B_08	DG02_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS201	F101_1B_08	F101_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS202	F101_2B_08	F101_2B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS203	F101_3B_08	F101_3B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS204	M101_1B_08	M101_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS205	M101_2B_08	M101_2B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS206	D101_1B_08	D101_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS207	F201_1B_08	F201_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS208	F201_2B_08	F201_2B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS209	F201_3B_08	F201_3B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS210	M201_1B_08	M201_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS211	M201_2B_08	M201_2B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS212	D201_1B_08	D201_1B	08/09/2021	55	8	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS213	FG01_1B_09	FG01_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS214	FG01_2B_09	FG01_2B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS215	FG01_3B_09	FG01_3B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS216	FG01_4B_09	FG01_4B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS217	FG01_5B_09	FG01_5B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS218	FG01_6B_09	FG01_6B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS219	MG01_1B_09	MG01_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS220	MG01_2B_09	MG01_2B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS221	MG01_3B_09	MG01_3B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS222	DG02_1B_09	DG02_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS223	F101_1B_09	F101_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS224	F101_2B_09	F101_2B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS225	F101_3B_09	F101_3B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS226	M101_1B_09	M101_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA

ZW.E03.HLS227	M101_2B_09	M101_2B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS228	D101_1B_09	D101_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS229	F201_1B_09	F201_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS230	F201_2B_09	F201_2B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS231	F201_3B_09	F201_3B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS232	M201_1B_09	M201_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS233	M201_2B_09	M201_2B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS234	D201_1B_09	D201_1B	20/10/2021	61	9	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS235	FG01_1B_10	FG01_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS236	FG01_2B_10	FG01_2B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS237	FG01_3B_10	FG01_3B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS238	FG01_4B_10	FG01_4B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS239	FG01_5B_10	FG01_5B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS240	FG01_6B_10	FG01_6B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS241	MG01_1B_10	MG01_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS242	MG01_2B_10	MG01_2B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS243	MG01_3B_10	MG01_3B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS244	DG02_1B_10	DG02_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS245	F101_1B_10	F101_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS246	F101_2B_10	F101_2B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS247	F101_3B_10	F101_3B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS248	M101_1B_10	M101_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS249	M101_2B_10	M101_2B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS250	D101_1B_10	D101_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS251	F201_1B_10	F201_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS252	F201_2B_10	F201_2B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS253	F201_3B_10	F201_3B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS254	M201_1B_10	M201_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS255	M201_2B_10	M201_2B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS256	D201_1B_10	D201_1B	11/12/2021	68	10	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS259	FG01_1B_11	FG01_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA

ZW.E03.HLS260	FG01_2B_11	FG01_2B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS261	FG01_3B_11	FG01_3B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS262	FG01_4B_11	FG01_4B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS263	FG01_5B_11	FG01_5B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS264	FG01_6B_11	FG01_6B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS265	MG01_1B_11	MG01_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS266	MG01_2B_11	MG01_2B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS267	MG01_3B_11	MG01_3B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS268	DG02_1B_11	DG02_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS269	F101_1B_11	F101_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS270	F101_2B_11	F101_2B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS271	F101_3B_11	F101_3B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS272	M101_1B_11	M101_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS273	M101_2B_11	M101_2B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS274	D101_1B_11	D101_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS275	F201_1B_11	F201_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS276	F201_2B_11	F201_2B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS277	F201_3B_11	F201_3B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS278	M201_1B_11	M201_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS279	M201_2B_11	M201_2B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS280	D201_1B_11	D201_1B	22/01/2022	74	11	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS281	FG01_1B_12	FG01_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS282	FG01_2B_12	FG01_2B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS283	FG01_3B_12	FG01_3B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS284	FG01_4B_12	FG01_4B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS285	FG01_5B_12	FG01_5B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS286	FG01_6B_12	FG01_6B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS287	MG01_1B_12	MG01_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS288	MG01_2B_12	MG01_2B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS289	MG01_3B_12	MG01_3B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS290	DG02_1B_12	DG02_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA

ZW.E03.HLS291	F101_1B_12	F101_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS292	F101_2B_12	F101_2B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS293	F101_3B_12	F101_3B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS294	M101_1B_12	M101_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS295	M101_2B_12	M101_2B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS296	D101_1B_12	D101_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS297	F201_1B_12	F201_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS298	F201_2B_12	F201_2B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS299	F201_3B_12	F201_3B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS300	M201_1B_12	M201_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS301	M201_2B_12	M201_2B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS302	D201_1B_12	D201_1B	05/02/2022	76	12	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS303	FG01_1B_13	FG01_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS304	FG01_2B_13	FG01_2B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS305	FG01_3B_13	FG01_3B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS306	FG01_4B_13	FG01_4B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS307	FG01_5B_13	FG01_5B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS308	FG01_6B_13	FG01_6B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS309	MG01_1B_13	MG01_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS310	MG01_2B_13	MG01_2B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS311	MG01_3B_13	MG01_3B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS312	DG02_1B_13	DG02_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS313	F101_1B_13	F101_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS314	F101_2B_13	F101_2B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS315	F101_3B_13	F101_3B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS316	M101_1B_13	M101_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS317	M101_2B_13	M101_2B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS318	D101_1B_13	D101_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS319	F201_1B_13	F201_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS320	F201_2B_13	F201_2B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS321	F201_3B_13	F201_3B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA

ZW.E03.HLS322	M201_1B_13	M201_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS323	M201_2B_13	M201_2B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS324	D201_1B_13	D201_1B	16/04/2022	86	13	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS325	FG01_1B_14	FG01_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS326	FG01_2B_14	FG01_2B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS327	FG01_3B_14	FG01_3B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS328	FG01_4B_14	FG01_4B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS329	FG01_5B_14	FG01_5B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS330	FG01_6B_14	FG01_6B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS331	MG01_1B_14	MG01_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS332	MG01_2B_14	MG01_2B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS333	MG01_3B_14	MG01_3B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS334	DG02_1B_14	DG02_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS335	F101_1B_14	F101_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS336	F101_2B_14	F101_2B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS337	F101_3B_14	F101_3B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS338	M101_1B_14	M101_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS339	M101_2B_14	M101_2B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS340	D101_1B_14	D101_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS341	F201_1B_14	F201_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS342	F201_2B_14	F201_2B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS343	F201_3B_14	F201_3B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS344	M201_1B_14	M201_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS345	M201_2B_14	M201_2B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS346	D201_1B_14	D201_1B	29/05/2022	93	14	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS347	FG01_1B_15	FG01_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS348	FG01_2B_15	FG01_2B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS349	FG01_3B_15	FG01_3B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS350	FG01_4B_15	FG01_4B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS351	FG01_5B_15	FG01_5B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS352	FG01_6B_15	FG01_6B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA

ZW.E03.HLS353	MG01_1B_15	MG01_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS354	MG01_2B_15	MG01_2B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS355	MG01_3B_15	MG01_3B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS356	DG02_1B_15	DG02_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS357	F101_1B_15	F101_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS358	F101_2B_15	F101_2B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS359	F101_3B_15	F101_3B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS360	M101_1B_15	M101_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS361	M101_2B_15	M101_2B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS362	D101_1B_15	D101_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS363	F201_1B_15	F201_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS364	F201_2B_15	F201_2B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS365	F201_3B_15	F201_3B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS366	M201_1B_15	M201_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS367	M201_2B_15	M201_2B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS368	D201_1B_15	D201_1B	09/07/2022	98	15	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS369	FG01_1B_16	FG01_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS370	FG01_2B_16	FG01_2B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS371	FG01_3B_16	FG01_3B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS372	FG01_4B_16	FG01_4B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS373	FG01_5B_16	FG01_5B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS374	FG01_6B_16	FG01_6B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS375	MG01_1B_16	MG01_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS376	MG01_2B_16	MG01_2B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS377	MG01_3B_16	MG01_3B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS378	DG02_1B_16	DG02_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E03.HLS379	F101_1B_16	F101_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS380	F101_2B_16	F101_2B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS381	F101_3B_16	F101_3B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS382	M101_1B_16	M101_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS383	M101_2B_16	M101_2B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA

ZW.E03.HLS384	D101_1B_16	D101_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E03.HLS385	F201_1B_16	F201_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS386	F201_2B_16	F201_2B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS387	F201_3B_16	F201_3B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS388	M201_1B_16	M201_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS389	M201_2B_16	M201_2B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E03.HLS390	D201_1B_16	D201_1B	04/09/2022	107	16	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS1	FG01_1B_00	FG01_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS10	DG02_1B_00	DG02_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS100	F101_2B_04	F101_2B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS101	F101_3B_04	F101_3B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS102	M101_1B_04	M101_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS103	M101_2B_04	M101_2B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS104	D101_1B_04	D101_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS105	F201_1B_04	F201_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS106	F201_2B_04	F201_2B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS107	F201_3B_04	F201_3B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS108	M201_1B_04	M201_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS109	M201_2B_04	M201_2B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS11	F101_1B_00	F101_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS110	D201_1B_04	D201_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS12	F101_2B_00	F101_2B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS121	FG01_1B_05	FG01_1B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS122	FG01_2B_05	FG01_2B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS123	FG01_3B_05	FG01_3B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS124	FG01_4B_05	FG01_4B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS125	FG01_5B_05	FG01_5B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS126	FG01_6B_05	FG01_6B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS127	MG01_1B_05	MG01_1B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS128	MG01_2B_05	MG01_2B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS129	MG01_3B_05	MG01_3B	01/04/2021	33	5	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA

F101_3B_00	F101_3B	23/08/2020		1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
DG02_1B_05	DG02_1B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
F101_1B_05	F101_1B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
F101_2B_05	F101_2B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
F101_3B_05	F101_3B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
M101_1B_05	M101_1B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
M101_2B_05	M101_2B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
D101_1B_05	D101_1B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
F201_1B_05	F201_1B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
F201_2B_05	F201_2B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
F201_3B_05	F201_3B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
M101_1B_00	M101_1B	23/08/2020		1	0	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
M201_1B_05	M201_1B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
M201_2B_05	M201_2B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
D201_1B_05	D201_1B	01/04/2021	3	3	5	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
HLS_Water	HLS_Water	01/04/2021	NA	٦	Tap_water	Timeseries	NA	Source	Source	NA
FG01_1B_06	FG01_1B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
FG01_2B_06	FG01_2B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
FG01_3B_06	FG01_3B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
FG01_4B_06	FG01_4B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
FG01_5B_06	FG01_5B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
M101_2B_00	M101_2B	23/08/2020		1	0	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
FG01_6B_06	FG01_6B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
MG01_1B_06	MG01_1B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
MG01_2B_06	MG01_2B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
MG01_3B_06	MG01_3B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
DG02_1B_06	DG02_1B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
F101_1B_06	F101_1B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
F101_2B_06	F101_2B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
F101_3B_06	F101_3B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
M101_1B_06	M101_1B	22/05/2021	3	9	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
	F101_3B_00 DG02_1B_05 F101_1B_05 F101_2B_05 M101_1B_05 M101_2B_05 D101_1B_05 F201_1B_05 F201_2B_05 F201_3B_05 M101_1B_00 M201_1B_05 M201_2B_05 D201_1B_05 HLS_Water FG01_1B_06 FG01_2B_06 FG01_3B_06 FG01_5B_06 M101_2B_06 MG01_1B_06 MG01_3B_06 MG01_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06 F101_3B_06	F101_3B_00F101_3BDG02_1B_05DG02_1BF101_1B_05F101_1BF101_2B_05F101_2BF101_3B_05F101_3BM101_1B_05M101_1BM101_2B_05M101_2BD101_1B_05F201_1BF201_2B_05F201_2BF201_3B_05F201_3BM101_1B_00M101_1BM201_2B_05M201_2BD201_1B_05D201_1BM201_2B_05M201_2BD201_1B_05D201_1BHLS_WaterHLS_WaterFG01_3B_06FG01_3BFG01_3B_06FG01_3BFG01_5B_06FG01_5BM101_2B_00M101_2BFG01_6B_06FG01_6BMG01_1B_06MG01_1BMG01_2B_06MG01_1BMG01_3B_06MG01_2BFG01_3B_06F101_1BF101_2B_06F101_2BMG01_3B_06F101_1BF101_3B_06F101_1BF101_3B_06F101_3BM101_1B_06M101_1B	F101_3B_00F101_3B23/08/2020DG02_1B_05DG02_1B01/04/2021F101_1B_05F101_1B01/04/2021F101_2B_05F101_2B01/04/2021M101_1B_05M101_1B01/04/2021M101_1B_05M101_2B01/04/2021D101_1B_05D101_1B01/04/2021F201_1B_05F201_1B01/04/2021F201_2B_05F201_2B01/04/2021F201_3B_05F201_2B01/04/2021F201_3B_05F201_3B01/04/2021M101_1B_00M101_1B23/08/2020M201_1B_05M201_1B01/04/2021M201_2B_05M201_2B01/04/2021FG01_1B_06FG01_1B22/05/2021FG01_2B_06FG01_2B22/05/2021FG01_3B_06FG01_3B22/05/2021FG01_4B_06FG01_5B22/05/2021FG01_5B_06FG01_6B22/05/2021FG01_6B_06FG01_6B22/05/2021MG01_1B_06MG01_1B22/05/2021MG01_3B_06MG01_2B22/05/2021MG01_3B_06F101_2B22/05/2021MG01_3B_06F101_2B22/05/2021F101_1B_06F101_1B22/05/2021F101_3B_06F101_3B22/05/2021F101_3B_06F101_3B22/05/2021F101_3B_06F101_3B22/05/2021F101_3B_06F101_3B22/05/2021F101_3B_06F101_3B22/05/2021F101_3B_06F101_3B22/05/2021F101_3B_06F101_3B22/05/2021	F101_3B_00 F101_3B 23/08/2020 DG02_1B_05 DG02_1B 01/04/2021 33 F101_1B_05 F101_1B 01/04/2021 33 F101_3B_05 F101_3B 01/04/2021 33 M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 M101_2B_05 M101_2B 01/04/2021 33 D101_1B_05 D101_1B 01/04/2021 33 F201_1B_05 F201_1B 01/04/2021 33 F201_2B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 F201_3B_05 F201_3B 01/04/2021 33 M101_1B_00 M101_1B 23/08/2020 34 M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 M201_2B_06 FG01_1B 22/05/2021 33 FG01_1B_06 FG01_2B 22/05/2021 33 FG01_3B_06	F101_3B_00F101_3B23/08/20201DG02_1B_05DG02_1B01/04/202133F101_1B_05F101_1B01/04/202133F101_2B_05F101_2B01/04/202133M101_1B_05M101_1B01/04/202133M101_2B_05M101_2B01/04/202133D101_1B_05D101_1B01/04/202133F201_1B_05F201_1B01/04/202133F201_2B_05F201_2B01/04/202133F201_2B_05F201_2B01/04/202133F201_3B_05F201_3B01/04/202133M101_1B_05M201_1B01/04/202133M201_1B_05M201_1B01/04/202133D201_1B_05M201_2B01/04/202133D201_1B_05D201_1B01/04/202133D201_1B_05D201_1B01/04/202133HLS_WaterHLS_Water01/04/202133HLS_WaterHLS_Water01/04/202139FG01_3B_06FG01_3B22/05/202139FG01_3B_06FG01_3B22/05/202139FG01_5B_06FG01_5B22/05/202139MG01_1B_06MG01_1B22/05/202139MG01_2B_06MG01_2B22/05/202139MG01_3B_06FG01_1B22/05/202139MG01_3B_06F101_1B22/05/202139F101_1B_06F101_1B22/05/202139F101_2B_06F101_2B22/05/202139F101_3B_06F101_3B	F101_3B_00 F101_3B 23/08/2020 1 0 DG02_1B_05 DG02_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 F101_1B_05 F101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 F101_2B_05 F101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 M101_2B_05 M101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 D101_1B_05 D101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 D101_1B_05 D101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 F201_2B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 F201_2B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 F201_2B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 M101_1B_00 M101_1B 23/08/2020 1 0 M201_1B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 M201_2B_05 M201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 M201_2B_05 M201_2B 01/04/2021 33	F101_3B_00 F101_3B 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries DG02_1B_05 DG02_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries F101_2B_05 F101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries F101_2B_05 F101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries M101_2B_05 M101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries F201_1B_05 F201_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries F201_1B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries M101_1B_00 M101_1B 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries M201_1B_00 M101_1B 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 NA Tap_water Timeseries	F101_3B_00 F101_3B 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries NA DG02_1B_05 DG02_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA F101_1B_05 F101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA F101_3B_05 F101_3B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA M101_2B_05 M101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA D101_1B_05 D101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA F201_2B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA M101_1B_00 M101_1B 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries NA M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA M201_1B_05 D201_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA M201_2B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 NA Tap_water	F101_3B_00 F101_3B 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries NA Female DC02_1B_05 DC02_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Unisex F101_1B_05 F101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female F101_2B_05 F101_3B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Male D101_2B_05 D101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Hale F201_1B_05 D101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female F201_1B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female F201_1B_05 F201_3B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Male M101_1B_00 M101_1B 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries NA Male M201_2B_05 M201_2B 01/04/2021	F101_38_00 F101_38 23/08/2020 1 0 Timeseries NA Female First DG02_1B_05 F001_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female First F101_2B_05 F101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female First F101_3B_05 F101_3B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female First M101_1B_05 M101_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Male First D101_1B_05 M101_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Hale First F201_3B_05 F201_2B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female Second F201_3B_05 F201_3B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Female Second M201_1B_05 M201_1B 01/04/2021 33 5 Timeseries NA Male Second M201_2B_05 M201_2B 01/04/2021

ZW.E02.HLS159	M101_2B_06	M101_2B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS16	D101_1B_00	D101_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS160	D101_1B_06	D101_1B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS161	F201_1B_06	F201_1B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS162	F201_2B_06	F201_2B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS163	F201_3B_06	F201_3B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS164	M201_1B_06	M201_1B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS165	M201_2B_06	M201_2B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS166	D201_1B_06	D201_1B	22/05/2021	39	6	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS17	F201_1B_00	F201_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS18	F201_2B_00	F201_2B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS19	F201_3B_00	F201_3B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS2	FG01_2B_00	FG01_2B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS20	M201_1B_00	M201_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS21	M201_2B_00	M201_2B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS22	D201_1B_00	D201_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS23	FG01_1B_01	FG01_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS24	FG01_2B_01	FG01_2B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS25	FG01_3B_01	FG01_3B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS26	FG01_4B_01	FG01_4B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS27	FG01_5B_01	FG01_5B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS28	FG01_6B_01	FG01_6B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS29	MG01_1B_01	MG01_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS3	FG01_3B_00	FG01_3B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS30	MG01_2B_01	MG01_2B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS31	MG01_3B_01	MG01_3B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS32	DG02_1B_01	DG02_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS33	F101_1B_01	F101_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS34	F101_2B_01	F101_2B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS35	F101_3B_01	F101_3B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS36	M101_1B_01	M101_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA

ZW.E02.HLS37	M101_2B_01	M101_2B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS38	D101_1B_01	D101_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS39	F201_1B_01	F201_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS4	FG01_4B_00	FG01_4B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS40	F201_2B_01	F201_2B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS41	F201_3B_01	F201_3B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS42	M201_1B_01	M201_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS43	M201_2B_01	M201_2B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS44	D201_1B_01	D201_1B	07/10/2020	7	1	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS45	FG01_1B_02	FG01_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS46	FG01_2B_02	FG01_2B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS47	FG01_3B_02	FG01_3B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS48	FG01_4B_02	FG01_4B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS49	FG01_5B_02	FG01_5B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS5	FG01_5B_00	FG01_5B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS50	FG01_6B_02	FG01_6B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS51	MG01_1B_02	MG01_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS52	MG01_2B_02	MG01_2B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS53	MG01_3B_02	MG01_3B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS54	DG02_1B_02	DG02_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS55	F101_1B_02	F101_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS56	F101_2B_02	F101_2B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS57	F101_3B_02	F101_3B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS58	M101_1B_02	M101_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS59	M101_2B_02	M101_2B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS6	FG01_6B_00	FG01_6B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS60	D101_1B_02	D101_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS61	F201_1B_02	F201_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS62	F201_2B_02	F201_2B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS63	F201_3B_02	F201_3B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS64	M201_1B_02	M201_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA

ZW.E02.HLS65	M201_2B_02	M201_2B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS66	D201_1B_02	D201_1B	21/11/2020	13	2	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS67	FG01_1B_03	FG01_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS68	FG01_2B_03	FG01_2B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS69	FG01_3B_03	FG01_3B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS7	MG01_1B_00	MG01_1B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS70	FG01_4B_03	FG01_4B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS71	FG01_5B_03	FG01_5B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS72	FG01_6B_03	FG01_6B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS73	MG01_1B_03	MG01_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS74	MG01_2B_03	MG01_2B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS75	MG01_3B_03	MG01_3B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS76	DG02_1B_03	DG02_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS77	F101_1B_03	F101_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS78	F101_2B_03	F101_2B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS79	F101_3B_03	F101_3B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS8	MG01_2B_00	MG01_2B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS80	M101_1B_03	M101_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS81	M101_2B_03	M101_2B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Male	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS82	D101_1B_03	D101_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	First	NA
ZW.E02.HLS83	F201_1B_03	F201_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS84	F201_2B_03	F201_2B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS85	F201_3B_03	F201_3B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Female	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS86	M201_1B_03	M201_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS87	M201_2B_03	M201_2B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Male	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS88	D201_1B_03	D201_1B	09/01/2021	21	3	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Second	NA
ZW.E02.HLS89	FG01_1B_04	FG01_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS9	MG01_3B_00	MG01_3B	23/08/2020	1	0	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS90	FG01_2B_04	FG01_2B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS91	FG01_3B_04	FG01_3B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS92	FG01_4B_04	FG01_4B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA

ZW.E02.HLS93	FG01_5B_04	FG01_5B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS94	FG01_6B_04	FG01_6B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS95	MG01_1B_04	MG01_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS96	MG01_2B_04	MG01_2B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS97	MG01_3B_04	MG01_3B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Male	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS98	DG02_1B_04	DG02_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Unisex	Ground	NA
ZW.E02.HLS99	F101_1B_04	F101_1B	19/02/2021	27	4	Timeseries	NA	Female	First	NA

Table C.1. Data collected for each sink P-trap sample for both studies. Bleach study also includes the gDNA concentrations recorded for each sample.

Term	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	P Value	Significance
Shannon							
Week	11.311	11.311	1	341.51	36.1193	4.76E- 09	* * *
Floor Level	0.9184	0.4592	2	16.94	1.4663	0.25863	NS
Gender	1.9719	0.9859	2	17.02	3.1484	0.06864	NS
ASV Richness							
Week	50604	50604	1	341.47	98.8665	<2E-16	* * *
Floor Level	1710	855	2	16.74	1.6702	0.2181	NS
Gender	1769	884	2	16.85	1.7278	0.2077	NS
Pielou Evennes	s						
Week	0.000756	0.000756	1	341.72	0.058	0.8098	NS
Floor Level	0.045749	0.022875	2	17.07	1.7542	0.2028	NS
Gender	0.113894	0.056947	2	17.17	4.367	0.0293	*

Table C.2. Results table from ANOVA of linear mixed effects model for the alpha diversity indices for phase 1. Sum Sq, sum of squares; Mean Sq, mean square; Num DF, degrees of freedom, DEN DF, denominator degrees of freedom. Stars indicate the p-value significance p < 0.05; *, p < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001; ***.

A. WK39 vs

WK49

	WK39 Mean	WK49 Mean	p-	Change in						
ASV	RA (%)	RA (%)	adjust	RA	Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Species
ASV_0000000			0.00168		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Enterobactera	Enterobacteriac		Unclassif
006	0.8400	3.7236	84	Increase	eria	cteria	les	eae	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00263		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Comamonadac		Unclassif
011	1.2819	0.0000	95	Decrease	eria	cteria	es	eae	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000			0.01941		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Pseudomonad	Pseudomonada		Unclassif
021	1.2857	2.9527	84	Increase	eria	cteria	ales	ceae	Pseudomonas	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00353		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Enterobactera	Alteromonadac		Unclassif
034	0.9029	0.4773	28	Decrease	eria	cteria	les	eae	Rheinheimera	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00353		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Caulobacteral	Caulobacterace		Unclassif
044	0.0305	0.4955	28	Increase	eria	eria	es	ae	Caulobacter	ied
ASV_0000000			0.01941		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Pseudomonad	Pseudomonada		Unclassif
055	0.1467	0.0000	84	Decrease	eria	cteria	ales	ceae	Pseudomonas	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00168		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Caulobacteral	Caulobacterace		Unclassif
108	0.0819	0.2955	84	Increase	eria	eria	es	ae	Phenylobacterium	ied

B. WK68 vs

WK74

	WK68 Mean	WK74 Mean	p-	Change in						
ASV	RA (%)	RA (%)	adjust	RA	Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Species
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Pseudomonad			Unclassif
005	0.0355	0.3073	0.0210	Increase	eria	cteria	ales	Moraxellaceae	Acinetobacter	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Caulobacteral	Caulobacterace		Unclassif
022	0.3064	0.3955	0.0343	Increase	eria	eria	es	ae	Brevundimonas	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Sphingomona	Sphingomonad		Unclassif
027	0.0000	0.2045	0.0130	Increase	eria	eria	dales	aceae	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Alphaproteobact		Beijerinckiacea	Methylobacterium-	Unclassif
030	0.0127	0.4618	0.0036	Increase	eria	eria	Rhizobiales	е	Methylorubrum	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Sphingomona	Sphingomonad		Unclassif
037	0.1909	0.1164	0.0425	Decrease	eria	eria	dales	aceae	Sphingomonas	ied
ASV_0000000					Bacteroido		Flavobacterial			
067	0.0000	0.5300	0.0058	Increase	ta	Bacteroidia	es	Weeksellaceae	Cloacibacterium	haliotis
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Methylophilace		Unclassif
069	0.0027	0.0573	0.0058	Increase	eria	cteria	es	ae	Methylotenera	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Rhodocyclacea		Unclassif
073	0.0564	0.1382	0.0337	Increase	eria	cteria	es	e	Unclassified	ied

ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Sphingomona	Sphingomonad		Unclassif
074	0.1218	0.1100	0.0210	Decrease	eria	eria	dales	aceae	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Sphingomona	Sphingomonad		Unclassif
077	0.0209	0.0927	0.0130	Increase	eria	eria	dales	aceae	Novosphingobium	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Comamonadac		Unclassif
096	0.0100	0.3291	0.0092	Increase	eria	cteria	es	eae	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000								Streptococcace		Unclassif
102	0.0000	0.0482	0.0058	Increase	Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	ae	Streptococcus	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Salinisphaeral	Solimonadacea		
110	0.0000	0.0255	0.0092	Increase	eria	cteria	es	е	Nevskia	ramosa
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Enterobactera			Unclassif
174	0.0000	0.0809	0.0130	Increase	eria	cteria	les	Unclassified	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Oxalobacterace		Unclassif
253	0.0000	0.0645	0.0130	Increase	eria	cteria	es	ae	Herminiimonas	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Rhodocyclacea		Unclassif
305	0.0000	0.0764	0.0224	Increase	eria	cteria	es	е	Azospira	ied
ASV_0000000					Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Rhodobactera	Rhodobacterac		Unclassif
915	0.0000	0.0464	0.0397	Increase	eria	eria	les	eae	Unclassified	ied

C. WK93 vs

WK98

	WK93 Mean	WK98 Mean	p-	Change in						
ASV	RA (%)	RA (%)	adjust	RA	Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Species
ASV_0000000			0.00306		Bacteroido		Flavobacterial	Flavobacteriace		Unclassif
002	46.08526316	31.00727273	42	Decrease	ta	Bacteroidia	es	ae	Flavobacterium	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00610		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Pseudomonad			Unclassif
005	0.041052632	0.381818182	57	Increase	eria	cteria	ales	Moraxellaceae	Acinetobacter	ied
ASV_0000000			0.03873		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Xanthomonad	Xanthomonada		mexican
008	0.173684211	0.707272727	79	Increase	eria	cteria	ales	ceae	Pseudoxanthomonas	а
ASV_0000000			0.00422		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Pseudomonad			aerosacc
010	2.032631579	0.623636364	83	Decrease	eria	cteria	ales	Moraxellaceae	Enhydrobacter	us
ASV_0000000			0.00422		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact		Beijerinckiacea		Unclassif
015	0.069473684	0.389090909	83	Increase	eria	eria	Rhizobiales	e	Bosea	ied
ASV_0000000			0.01880		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Caulobacteral	Caulobacterace		Unclassif
022	0.041052632	0.117272727	53	Increase	eria	eria	es	ae	Brevundimonas	ied
ASV_0000000			0.01137		Bacteroido		Flavobacterial			
024	0.051578947	0.383636364	87	Increase	ta	Bacteroidia	es	Weeksellaceae	Chryseobacterium	hominis
ASV_0000000			0.03873		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Sphingomona	Sphingomonad		Unclassif
025	0.018947368	0.079090909	79	Increase	eria	eria	dales	aceae	Sphingomonas	ied

ASV_0000000			0.02328		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Sphingomona	Sphingomonad		Unclassif
027	0	0.076363636	13	Increase	eria	eria	dales	aceae	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00422		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact		Beijerinckiacea	Methylobacterium-	Unclassif
030	0.016842105	0.180909091	83	Increase	eria	eria	Rhizobiales	e	Methylorubrum	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00188		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Enterobactera	Alteromonadac		Unclassif
034	0.013684211	0.249090909	63	Increase	eria	cteria	les	eae	Rheinheimera	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00023		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Pseudomonad	Pseudomonada		Unclassif
035	0	0.968181818	06	Increase	eria	cteria	ales	ceae	Pseudomonas	ied
ASV_0000000			0.03873		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Rhodocyclacea		Unclassif
042	0	0.062727273	79	Increase	eria	cteria	es	e	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00077		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact		Xanthobacterac		Unclassif
051	0	0.078181818	83	Increase	eria	eria	Rhizobiales	eae	Bradyrhizobium	ied
ASV_0000000			0.02328		Bacteroido		Flavobacterial			
067	0.127368421	0.33	13	Increase	ta	Bacteroidia	es	Weeksellaceae	Cloacibacterium	haliotis
ASV_0000000			0.00077		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Enterobactera	Aeromonadace		Unclassif
075	0	0.434545455	83	Increase	eria	cteria	les	ae	Aeromonas	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00023		Proteobact	Alphaproteobact	Sphingomona	Sphingomonad		Unclassif
077	0	0.522727273	06	Increase	eria	eria	dales	aceae	Novosphingobium	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00105					Streptococcace		Unclassif
102	0.004210526	0.135454545	39	Increase	Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	ae	Streptococcus	ied
ASV_0000000			0.00492		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Enterobactera	Enterobacteriac		Unclassif
161	0.014736842	0.151818182	39	Increase	eria	cteria	les	eae	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000			0.03144		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Rhodocyclacea		Unclassif
274	0.335789474	0.000909091	72	Decrease	eria	cteria	es	е	Unclassified	ied
ASV_0000000			0.04731		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Rhodocyclacea		Unclassif
285	0.083157895	0.006363636	55	Decrease	eria	cteria	es	е	Azospira	ied
ASV_0000000			0.02328		Proteobact	Gammaproteoba	Burkholderial	Rhodocyclacea		Unclassif
305	0.010526316	0.130909091	13	Increase	eria	cteria	es	е	Azospira	ied

Table C.3. Significant ASVs between WKS with increased peak in ASV richness. (A) WK39 vs WK49, (B) WK68 vs WK74, (C) WK93 vs WK98. Mean relative abundances of ASVs at WKs being compared and p-adjusted values from Wilcox test. P values adjusted with Benjamini-Hochberg (BH). Highlighted cells indicate ASVs shared between the peaks. Taxonomy of ASVs included.

Pairwise Comparison	F	R2	p-value	p-value (BH corrected)
WK1 <-> WK68	16.73797	0.295005	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK74	17.21606	0.300896	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK76	15.6223	0.280864	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK86	15.88807	0.294835	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK93	18.39703	0.332094	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK98	18.60311	0.317442	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK107	16.70981	0.294655	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK13	4.263949	0.09633	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK21	5.789699	0.126441	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK27	9.728388	0.19563	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK33	10.58741	0.209289	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK39	9.65515	0.19844	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK49	15.91851	0.284673	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK55	17.32599	0.302236	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK61	17.39464	0.308445	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK68	12.53712	0.234176	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK74	13.31768	0.245181	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK76	12.3965	0.232159	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK86	13.04361	0.250628	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK93	15.38396	0.288176	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK98	15.22992	0.270851	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK107	13.97673	0.25423	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK27	6.991765	0.145687	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK33	7.392485	0.152761	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK39	6.772136	0.14479	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK49	11.69943	0.222003	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK55	12.72807	0.236898	0.001	0.001494505
WK7 <-> WK61	13.33673	0.250048	0.001	0.001494505
WK68 <-> WK98	5.423883	0.11437	0.001	0.001494505
WK68 <-> WK107	6.447961	0.13309	0.001	0.001494505
WK68 <-> WK13	6.348626	0.131309	0.001	0.001494505
WK68 <-> WK21	5.076403	0.107833	0.001	0.001494505
WK68 <-> WK27	8.449328	0.167481	0.001	0.001494505
WK68 <-> WK33	6.822522	0.139741	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK98	8.317885	0.165307	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK107	8.812343	0.173429	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK13	8.176745	0.162959	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK21	6.602662	0.13585	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK27	13.05917	0.237184	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK33	11.62423	0.216772	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK39	7.479216	0.154277	0.001	0.001494505
WK74 <-> WK49	6.847661	0.140184	0.001	0.001494505
WK76 <-> WK98	5.612926	0.117887	0.001	0.001494505
WK76 <-> WK107	5.83821	0.122041	0.001	0.001494505
WK76 <-> WK13	7.244369	0.147111	0.001	0.001494505
WK76 <-> WK21	5.985482	0.124735	0.001	0.001494505
WK76 <-> WK27	10.79677	0.204497	0.001	0.001494505

WK76 <-> WK33	9.352544	0.182124	0.001	0.001494505
WK76 <-> WK39	5.751007	0.123014	0.001	0.001494505
WK76 <-> WK49	5.405528	0.114027	0.001	0.001494505
WK86 <-> WK13	7.16036	0.15183	0.001	0.001494505
WK86 <-> WK21	6.235371	0.134861	0.001	0.001494505
WK86 <-> WK27	9.85343	0.197648	0.001	0.001494505
WK86 <-> WK33	8.545432	0.17603	0.001	0.001494505
WK86 <-> WK39	5.338289	0.120399	0.001	0.001494505
WK86 <-> WK49	5.567526	0.122182	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK98	8.307988	0.175615	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK107	8.045862	0.171022	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK13	9.025514	0.187932	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> Wk21	9.604729	0.197609	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK27	13.3613	0.255175	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK33	11.23599	0.223664	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK39	8.275405	0.178829	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK49	12.7375	0.246195	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK55	9.041611	0.188204	0.001	0.001494505
WK93 <-> WK61	5.549203	0.127424	0.001	0.001494505
WK98 <-> WK13	7.188149	0.146136	0.001	0.001494505
WK98 <-> WK21	7.985398	0.159755	0.001	0.001494505
WK98 <-> WK27	7.666728	0.154363	0.001	0.001494505
WK98 <-> WK33	6.391885	0.132086	0.001	0.001494505
WK98 <-> WK39	4.770288	0.104222	0.001	0.001494505
WK98 <-> WK49	5.236448	0.110856	0.001	0.001494505
WK98 <-> WK55	5.421358	0.114323	0.001	0.001494505
WK107 <-> WK13	6.709633	0.137748	0.001	0.001494505
WK107 <-> WK21	7.29461	0.14798	0.001	0.001494505
WK107 <-> WK27	7.196389	0.146279	0.001	0.001494505
WK107 <-> WK33	6.099104	0.126803	0.001	0.001494505
WK107 <-> WK39	4.400009	0.096916	0.001	0.001494505
WK107 <-> WK55	5.623601	0.118084	0.001	0.001494505
WK13 <-> WK49	5.141575	0.109067	0.001	0.001494505
WK13 <-> WK55	6.017066	0.125311	0.001	0.001494505
WK13 <-> WK61	5.843955	0.124754	0.001	0.001494505
WK21 <-> WK49	4.262777	0.092143	0.001	0.001494505
WK21 <-> WK55	5.015723	0.106682	0.001	0.001494505
WK21 <-> WK61	6.055262	0.128684	0.001	0.001494505
WK27 <-> WK49	6.457525	0.133262	0.001	0.001494505
WK27 <-> WK55	7.768238	0.156088	0.001	0.001494505
WK27 <-> WK61	6.012536	0.127892	0.001	0.001494505
WK33 <-> WK49	5.423208	0.114358	0.001	0.001494505
WK33 <-> WK55	6.801147	0.139364	0.001	0.001494505
WK39 <-> WK49	3.308372	0.074667	0.001	0.001494505
WK1 <-> WK7	2.341813	0.056645	0.002	0.002804124
WK7 <-> WK21	3.271064	0.073887	0.002	0.002804124
WK74 <-> WK61	5.261664	0.113737	0.002	0.002804124
WK107 <-> WK49	5.196732	0.110108	0.002	0.002804124

WK33 <-> WK61	4.925192	0.107244	0.002	0.002804124
WK39 <-> WK55	4.12133	0.091339	0.002	0.002804124
WK68 <-> WK93	4.433064	0.102067	0.003	0.003961165
WK68 <-> WK39	4.460308	0.098114	0.003	0.003961165
WK76 <-> WK61	3.635245	0.081443	0.003	0.003961165
WK86 <-> WK107	4.535934	0.101849	0.003	0.003961165
WK39 <-> WK61	3.237588	0.074879	0.003	0.003961165
WK49 <-> WK61	3.652051	0.081789	0.003	0.003961165
WK74 <-> WK93	4.29653	0.099235	0.004	0.005180952
WK86 <-> WK98	4.445496	0.100021	0.004	0.005180952
WK107 <-> WK61	3.910899	0.087081	0.005	0.006415094
WK76 <-> WK55	3.234693	0.071509	0.006	0.007626168
WK68 <-> WK49	4.110368	0.089142	0.007	0.008733945
WK74 <-> WK55	4.103967	0.089015	0.007	0.008733945
WK98 <-> WK61	3.183823	0.072059	0.008	0.009890909
WK86 <-> WK55	3.223608	0.07458	0.01	0.012035398
WK21 <-> WK27	2.568024	0.05762	0.01	0.012035398
WK21 <-> WK33	2.539984	0.057027	0.01	0.012035398
WK76 <-> WK93	3.112666	0.073913	0.012	0.014315789
WK7 <-> WK13	2.063697	0.047922	0.019	0.022469565
WK86 <-> WK61	2.693311	0.064598	0.024	0.028137931
WK86 <-> WK93	2.655923	0.066974	0.029	0.033709402

Table C.4. Pairwise comparisons for all significant pairs of levels of sampling time point (week) by usingPERMANOVA. P values corrected with Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) are shown. The R2 values indicatedthe amount of variation explained.

	Total	Total	Preval	Prevalenc	Dom						
ASV ID	Count	Count (%)	ence	e (%)	ain	Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Species
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Gammaproteo	Burkholderi	Rhodocyclace		
00001	630036	34.52	354	97.25	eria	cteria	bacteria	ales	ае	Azospira	oryzae
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Alphaproteoba	Sphingomon	Sphingomona		yanoiku
00004	114099	6.25	349	95.88	eria	cteria	cteria	adales	daceae	Sphingobium	yae
ASV_00000					Bact	Bacteroid		Flavobacteri	Flavobacteria	Flavobacteriu	Unclass
00002	470522	25.78	347	95.33	eria	ota	Bacteroidia	ales	ceae	m	ified
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Gammaproteo	Xanthomon	Xanthomona	Pseudoxanth	mexica
00008	42058	2.3	301	82.69	eria	cteria	bacteria	adales	daceae	omonas	na
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Alphaproteoba	Caulobacter	Caulobactera	Brevundimon	Unclass
00009	35097	1.92	295	81.04	eria	cteria	cteria	ales	ceae	as	ified
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Gammaproteo	Burkholderi	Comamonada		Unclass
00003	68508	3.75	291	79.95	eria	cteria	bacteria	ales	ceae	Acidovorax	ified
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Alphaproteoba		Beijerinckiace		Unclass
00015	9682	0.53	270	74.18	eria	cteria	cteria	Rhizobiales	ae	Bosea	ified
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Gammaproteo	Burkholderi	Comamonada		Unclass
00017	15677	0.86	262	71.98	eria	cteria	bacteria	ales	ceae	Unclassified	ified
ASV_00000					Bact	Proteoba	Gammaproteo	Pseudomon	Moraxellacea	Enhydrobacte	aerosac
00010	22993	1.26	258	70.88	eria	cteria	bacteria	adales	е	r	cus

 Table C.5. ASVs classified as core (>70% prevalence). Overall abundance (counts), prevalence and classification are shown.

Term	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	P Value	Significance		
Shannon									
Week	2.39032	2.39032	1	45.644	23.4437	1.51E- 05	***		
Treatment	0.06037	0.06037	1	18.139	0.5921	0.4515	NS		
ASV Richness									
Week	30.517	30.517	1	48.31	0.4383	0.5111	NS		
Treatment	78.571	78.571	1	15.927	1.1286	0.3039	NS		
Pielou Evenness									
Week	0.226209	0.226209	1	46.016	36.3099	2.65E- 07	***		
Treatment	0.003342	0.003342	1	18.245	0.5364	0.4732	NS		

Table C.6. Results table from ANOVA of linear mixed effects model for the alpha diversity indices for phase 2. Sum Sq, sum of squares; Mean Sq, mean square; Num DF, degrees of freedom, DEN DF, denominator degrees of freedom. Stars indicate the p-value significance p < 0.05; *, p < 0.01; ***.

Chapter 5. Microbial Landscape of Public Urinals: a 16S rRNA Survey of the Bacterial Communities in Urinal P-traps and the Discovery of Their Most Abundant and Prevalent Species

Zoe Withey¹ and Hyun S. Gweon¹

¹School of Biological Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, UK

In preparation for publication

5.1 Abstract

Efforts to characterise the surfaces of the built environment (BE) have significantly increased, revealing the colonization of microorganisms associated with humans and the outdoor environment. Indoor spaces exhibit higher levels of pathogenic microbes, emphasising the need to understand microbial communities in the BE, given humans' predominant indoor presence. Shared public restrooms are a unique environment for potential microorganism transmission, with distinct microbial patterns observed in different areas. Notably, the plumbing and drainage pipes found within restrooms, may serve as reservoirs for pathogenic bacteria and antibiotic-resistant strains. Urinals, designed for operational efficiency, share commonalities with sinks in their exposure to wetting and potential microbial contamination. Urine, a variable composition fluid, introduces enzymes, pharmaceuticals, and antibiotics into urinals, raising concerns about bacterial resistance. Despite the critical role of urinals in potential microbial transmission, there has been very little study on the urinal microbiome. Recognising this gap and the need for a comprehensive investigation into the microbial community composition of the urinal environment, we investigated over 100 urinal P-trap bacterial communities using 16S rRNA sequencing from across a university campus and a train station. The focus of our research was on bacterial communities in urinal P-traps across a university campus, aiming to analyse the impact of different buildings, understand composition and identify core bacterial families. The study revealed considerable variability in community composition and structure between buildings and individual sinks. Despite these differences, Proteobacteria and Firmicutes were the predominant phyla in urinal communities. Notably, a species from the genus Dolosicoccus highly dominated the urinal P-traps in terms of both prevalence and abundance. Further investigation indicated significant differences from the only known species in the genus, Dolosicoccus paucivorans. Several top genera identified in the study had been previously detected in urine, although studies referencing Dolosicoccus were scarce. This research provides valuable insights into bacterial community members and highlights the need for further exploration of specific bacteria to better understand potential risks posed by urinals to human occupants.

Chapter 5

5.2 Introduction

The efforts to characterise the surfaces of the built environment (BE) have increased dramatically over the years. The BE consistently undergoes colonisation by microorganisms associated with humans and the outdoor environment (Kembel et al., 2012; Rintala et al., 2008). It has been observed that the relative abundances of human pathogenic microbes are higher indoors than outdoors (Carrazana et al., 2023; Kembel et al., 2014). Given that humans spend the majority of their lives indoors, understanding microbial communities within the BE is crucial for gaining insights into their potential impact on our lives. This understanding can aid in the development of strategies to minimize associated risks.

Shared public spaces, such as restrooms, provide a unique setting for the potential transmission of microorganisms, including pathogens (Flores et al., 2011; Fouquier et al., 2016). This is due to the substantial number and diversity of users. Moreover, individual variations in hygiene practices contribute to the potential transmission of viable pathogens from surfaces (Gibbons et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2019). Previous studies have investigated the bacterial communities of surfaces in public restrooms have revealed a prevalence of human-associated bacteria on most surfaces, with distinct patterns of microorganisms associated with specific areas (Flores et al., 2011). For example, surfaces or areas near toilets had higher levels of gut-associated bacteria. Contact with these surfaces could facilitate the spread and transmission of bacterial enteropathogens. Furthermore, an analysis of restroom dust identified that two of the most common Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) in men's restrooms were assigned to the family *Enterobacteriaceae* (Dobbler et al., 2018). Both studies identified gender-specific microbial signatures, such as *Lactobacillaceae* in women's restrooms and *Corynebacterium* in men's restrooms (Dobbler et al., 2018; Flores et al., 2011). These genera are typically part of the healthy urinary tract microbiota (Fouts et al., 2012; Modena et al., 2017).

Some pathogenic bacteria are able to endure on surfaces for extended periods, suggesting that restrooms might serve as "hot spots" for bacterial contamination (Barker & Bloomfield, 2000; Bures et al., 2000; Islam et al., 2001; Noskin et al., 1995; Webster et al., 2000). Additionally, non-healthcare restrooms have been identified as sources of antibiotic-resistant bacteria, potentially forming bacterial resistomes (Mkrtchyan et al., 2013). The prevalence of skin and outdoor-associated microorganisms was observed after a decontamination event on restroom surfaces, alongside the presence and persistence of faecal matter (Gibbons et al., 2015). This indicates the significance of external sources in determining the microbial composition within the restroom environment.

Within restroom environments, various potential microhabitats exist, including those found in plumbing and drainage pipes. Many studies have investigated microbial communities of Drinking

Water Distribution Systems (DWDS) due to the direct impact they can have on human health (Bitton, 2014; Douterelo et al., 2016; Perrin et al., 2019. Waste drains and associated pipes, such as P-traps, have received less attention, particularly in public areas, due to the misconception that they operate as one-way systems. Biofilms in P-traps have been shown to grow vertically and spread to the surrounding area, with instances of being responsible for nosocomial outbreaks in clinical settings (Cholley et al., 2008; Gillespie et al., 2000; Kotay et al., 2017; Lowe et al., 2012). There is a notable scarcity of research conducted on P-traps in non-clinical settings (Lim et al., 2022; Mcbain et al., 2003; Withey et al., 2021, 2023), particularly those associated with urinals.

In the majority of public restrooms designated for males, the installation of urinals is implemented to enhance operational efficiency. When contrasted with conventional toilets, the use of urinals presents advantages such as space saving, ease of use and reduced water usage. These urinals, akin to sinks, share a design principle that exposes them to regular wetting through urine or automatic flushing with tap water. In recent years, advancements in bacterial assessment have demonstrated that the bladder is not inherently sterile (Thomas-White et al., 2016). Notably, contemporary techniques and technologies such as 16S rRNA gene sequencing, have enabled the identification of previously uncultured microorganisms and highlighted the existence of a urinary microbiome. Despite ongoing investigations into the composition, characteristics, and functional role of microbiota in the urinary tract (Ackerman & Chai, 2019; Li et al., 2019), it is evident that urine can potentially serve as a source of microbiota within the urinal environment, some of which may have pathogenic implications.

While both tap water and urine exhibit low bacterial biomass (Neugent et al., 2020; Putri et al., 2021), the P-trap of urinals may create conducive conditions for the establishment of stable bacterial communities, as observed in model sinks and water pipes (Douterelo et al., 2016, 2018; Ledwoch et al., 2020). However, given the comparatively less diverse input source of bacteria to urinals than sinks, nutrients availability may be limited, creating potentially more competitive microbe environment.

Apart from its potential as a source of microbiota, human-produced urine, amounting to approximately 1.2 liters per day, exhibits a variable composition that includes enzymes, organic substances, heavy metals, pharmaceuticals, and hormones (Jia et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2013). Notably, antibiotics, crucial in treating various human diseases, are only partially metabolized, with 30%–90% being excreted through urine and faeces (Frade et al., 2014). This disposal process raises the possibility that certain bacteria may develop resistance to specific chemicals or adapt to utilizing these chemicals as nutrients for growth under challenging conditions (Boyle et al., 2020; Nizer et al., 2020). Moreover, due to urinal design, bacteria could proliferate along pipe walls and disseminate through droplet transmission. A recent study indicates that urinal flushing generates a large number of droplets,

reaching heights of 1.2 metre above the urinal bowl and remaining suspended in the air for extended periods due to their small size (<3µm) (Schreck et al., 2021). The generation of these droplets during flushing poses a significant transmission risk if they contain infectious or pathogenic microorganisms. A simulation of particle movement from urinal flushing revealed that over 57% of particles travelled away from the urinal, reaching the height of a man's thigh in only 5.5 seconds, showcasing higher diffusion performance compared to toilet-induced diffusion (Wang et al., 2020). While previous studies have mainly investigated toilet flushing mechanisms, which share similarities with urinals, there is evidence that airborne microbes can be disseminated through flushing, leading to potential surface contamination (Barker & Jones, 2005). In a previous investigation into hand hygiene practices, it was found that 57.5% of males said that they washed their hands prior to leaving the toilet, with fewer washing with soap (29.5%). Given that person-to-person transmission via contact surfaces is a recognised route in public toilets, there exists a potential for microorganisms from the urinal disseminate into the wider BE (Gerhardts et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2015). Under the right conditions, the infection risks from these disseminating microorganisms could be heightened.

Public restrooms may not conform to the perceived microbial wasteland within the BE and could pose health challenges for regular users, especially in inadequately ventilated, confined, irregularly cleaned, and frequently used restrooms (Lee & Tham, 2021). In such environments, bacteria and fungi may contribute to the occurrence of disease or allergic reactions (Douglas & Lumati, 2018). It is, therefore, imperative to identify the reservoirs and enhance our understanding of bacterial communities and their diversity within the BE, particularly in areas with potential transmission of pathogenic microbes. In this study, we utilised 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing to study bacterial communities of urinal Ptraps across a university campus. The primary objectives were to (1) analyse the effect of different buildings and their use on bacterial populations, (2) understand the composition of bacterial communities in urinal P-Traps, (3) identify core bacterial families and genera, and (4) determine if urinal P-Traps reflect human associated bacterial signatures especially those related to the urogenital tract or urine.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Sample Collection and Isolation of genomic DNA

Sampling was conducted during the period of June to July 2021. Swab samples from the P-trap of urinals were collected from 43 male restrooms situated across 15 different buildings. The selected buildings primarily consisted mainly of those located on the University of Reading's main Whiteknights campus (13 buildings), one building from the University of Reading London Road Campus, and a public

train station (Reading West). This resulted in a total of 107 urinal P-trap samples that were processed for amplicon sequencing (Table D.1). The methods for collecting P-trap samples followed procedure employed in previous studies (Withey et al., 2021, 2023). Briefly, prior to sampling, each urinal was flushed with two litres of water. Subsequently, sterile cotton swabs were inserted into the P-traps using a sampling rod, and the circumference of the pipe was swabbed for 10 seconds. The swabs were then stored in 1.5 ml tubes within a freezer at -20°C until required for DNA extraction. Genomic DNA isolation from the samples, along with three unused swabs as negative controls was performed using the HigherPurity Soil DNA Isolation kit (Canvax Biotech), following the manufacturers protocol. The DNA was eluted in 50 μ l of UltraPure Dnase/Rnase-Free Distilled Water (Invitrogen) in the final step, and the extracted genomic DNA was stored at -20°C until required.

5.3.2 Library Preparation and Sequencing

The V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene were amplified by the recommended Earth Microbiome Project (EMP, https://earthmicrobiome.org; Thompson et al., 2017; Walters et al., 2016): 515F (Forward: GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA) and 806R (Reverse: GGACTACNVGGGTWTCTAAT) primers. The PCR reaction mixtures (50 µl) contained 0.25 µl Sigma JumpStart_™ REDTaq[®] DNA Polymerase, 5 µl Sigma 10X PCR Buffer with MgCL₂, 1 μ l Sigma Deoxynucleotide Mix (10mM), 0.5 μ l forward primer (10 μ M), 0.5 μ l reverse primer (10 μ M), 37.75 μ l Nuclease-free water and 5 μ l of genomic DNA (<10 ng/ μ l). Negative template controls (NTCs, Nuclease-free water) were used in all PCR reactions. The PCR thermocycling conditions were followed as described by the EMP protocol (Initial denature at 94°C for 3 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of 45 s denature at 94°C, 60 s annealing at 50°C, 90 s extension at 72°C, then final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes). Post PCR clean-up was done with AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter) in accordance with manufacturers PCR purification workflow. Purified PCR products underwent a second PCR rection to add Illumina-specific adapters and unique barcodes as described in Withey et al., 2021. Briefly, thermocycle conditions for the second round of PCR were 95°C for 2 minutes and 8 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 55°C for 30 s, 72°C for 30 s, and a final extension of 72°C for 10 minutes. NGS Normalisation 96-Well Kit (Norgen) was used to purify and normalise samples before being pooled. The library was sequenced at a concentration of 10pM and merged with 5% PhiX on an Illuminia MiSeq Platform (2x 250PE) at UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.

5.3.3 Bioinformatics and Statistical Analysis

The Illumina raw paired-end sequences were quality filtered using FASTP (v.0.23.2, Chen et al., 2018), and CUTADAPT (v.4.2, Martin, 2011), https://cutadapt.readthedocs.io/en/stable/) was used to

remove sequencing adaptors and primers. Sequences were further dereplicated, denoised, merged and assessed for chimeras to produce amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) using DADA2 (v.1.26.0, Callahan et al., 2016). Taxonomy was then assigned to ASVs using a naïve Bayesian classifier against SILVA database (v.138, Quast et al., 2013). Based on the generated taxonomy, the ASV table was filtered to exclude all ASVs not assigned to the bacterial domain. Further filtering of the ASV table was implemented to remove ASVs with low abundance (less than 10 counts, 0.67% of reads were removed). One building had only one urinal sample associated with it, so this was removed from subsequent analysis.

Statistical analyses were performed in R (v. 4.3.1, R Core Team, 2022). The diversity and richness of all samples across all buildings were compared using alpha (ASV richness, Shannon diversity and Pielou's evenness) and beta (Bray-Curtis dissimilarity) diversity indices using the vegan package (v.2.6-4, Oksanen et al., 2020). For all analyses, the samples were rarefied to a depth of 9,314. This threshold was selected to avoid sample loss (lowest reads in a sample), and the rarefaction curves had plateaued, indicating sufficient sequencing depth. Negative controls, which did not yield quantifiable DNA, were excluded from subsequent analysis. Differences between buildings were tested with Kruskal-Wallis and permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) for alpha and beta diversities, respectively. Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) based on Bray-Curtis was used to visualise beta diversity. Pairwise comparisons between groups were tested using Dunns test for alpha diversity and Adonis.pair() from the package EcolUtils (Salazar, 2023) for beta diversity. The p-values for multiple comparisons were adjusted using the Benjamini-Hochberg method. Further, Betadisper() tested homogeneity of dispersions among buildings and ANOVA assessed significance.

Core ASVs were determined by setting a prevalence threshold of 70%. The ASVs that made up the most abundant genera, *Dolosicoccus*, were further investigated. The ASVs classified to the genus *Dolosicoccus* were aligned in Geneious Prime (v.2023.2, https://www.geneious.com) based using Clustal Omega (Goujon et al., 2010; Sievers et al., 2011) against each other and then the most abundant ASVs aligned to the 16S gene of *Dolosicoccus Paucivorans* (15742, Type Strain).

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Sequencing information

The sequencing of 106 samples yielded 2,562 Amplicon Sequence Variants (ASVs) obtained from 2,335,073 paired-end sequences, with an average and median of 22,029 and 20,812 sequences per sample, respectively. Reads unclassified at the phylum level were excluded, and low abundance ASVs with fewer than 10 total counts were filtered out, leading to the removal of 338 ASVs (this accounted

for 0.3% of the sequences, indicating minimal data loss). Following rarefaction, a dataset of 2,137 ASVs was retained across 105 samples. On average, each sample exhibited 66 ASVs, with a range from 12 to 203 ASVs. Taxonomic profiles and relative abundances (RA) were determined at the phylum, class, order, family, and genus levels (Table D.2).

5.4.2 Diversity and composition of urinal P-trap microbiome

5.4.2.1 Beta and alpha diversities

The ASVs richness differed significantly between buildings (Kruskal-Wallis: P = 0.0104). Pairwise comparisons showed that samples from Polly Vacher building had a significantly higher ASV richness compared to Agriculture building, Mathematics building, Park Eat building and the Train Station (Kruskal-Wallis: P = 0.0423, P = 0.414, P = 0.0131, P = 0.0139, respectively). No significant differences in ASV richness were detected between other combinations of buildings (Figure 5.1a). Pielou's evenness (Figure 5.1b) did not differ significantly between all samples (Kruskal-Wallis: P = 0.0349). Pairwise comparisons showed significantly higher Shannon diversity in samples from Polly Vacher building compared to those from the Train Station (Kruskal-Wallis: P = 0.0426). No significant differences in Shannon diversity were recorded between other pairs of buildings (Figure 5.1c). Notably, the rank abundance curve based on ASVs showed very few ASVs with high relative abundance and many with abundances less than 0.1% (2,006 ASVs, Figure 5.2a).

The beta diversity analysis based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity showed significant overall differences in the structure and composition of bacterial communities across all buildings (PERMANOVA: F.model = 2.0006, R2 = 0.22228, P = 0.001). NMDS did not show obvious clustering between buildings (Figure 1.1d), and pairwise comparisons for the PERMANOVA of buildings confirmed significant differences in all pairs of buildings (Table D.3). Additionally, there was a significant difference in the homogeneity of group dispersions (variances) between the buildings (ANOVA, DF = 13, F = 5.0594, p < 0.001, Figure 5.1e). Pairwise comparison of mean dispersions for buildings showed that the Agriculture building significantly differed from most of the other buildings (Table D.4). These observations suggest significant variability in the bacterial communities of urinals across different buildings.

5.4.2.2 Taxonomic Composition and Core Bacterial Taxa

Three phyla constituted the majority of sequences: Proteobacteria (70.72%), Firmicutes (22.24%) and Bacteroidota (2.6%), and the remaining reads (4.44%) were classified to 21 other Phyla. Proteobacteria

dominated the sink communities in most buildings, accounting for more than 50% of the total relative abundance (Figure 5.2b). The ASVs present in the Train Station were mainly classified as Proteobacteria (96.61%).

The 24 phyla were further classified into classes (n = 42), orders (n =95) and families (n = 174). The major classes were Gammaproteobacteria (54.39%), Bacilli (20.1%) and Alphaproteobacteria (16.33%). The main orders were Burkholderiales (23.84%), Lactobacillales (19.72%), Pseudomonadales (12.28%) and Enterobacterales (9.94%). At the family level, the top six families accounted for >50% of the reads, with *Comamonadaceae* (13.7%), *Aerococcaceae* (12.52%), *Pseudomonadaceae* (10.35%), *Carnobacteriaceae* (6.41%), *Alcaligenaceae* (5.65%) and *Xanthomonadaceae* (5.58%).

At the genus level, taxonomic classification identified 314 known genera. The most abundant genera were *Dolosicoccus* (11.65%) and *Pseudomonas* (7.15%), with 19 classified genera having a relative abundance greater than 1% (Table D.2E). The relative abundances of these top genera varied between buildings (Figure 5.2c). For example, *Dolosicoccus* dominated in most buildings including Agriculture building (17.09%), Henley Business School building (22.57%), Meteorology building (18.9%), Park Eat building (13.77%), The Dairy building (39.37%), while *Pseudomonas* was most abundant in Chemistry building (11.89%) and Edith Morley building (23.39%). *Acinetobacter* was most abundant in the Train Station (mean 36.71%).

In terms of prevalence, *Pseudomonas* (84%), *Stenotrophomonas* (79%), *Achromobacter* (73%), *Brevundimonas* (70%) and *Dolosicoccus* (70%) were the most commonly occurring genera, with the remaining genera exhibiting prevalence below 70% (Table D.2E). Notably, the most abundant genera, *Dolosicoccus* and *Pseudomonas*, were particularly prevalent, indicating widespread presence in urinal P-traps. *Dolosicoccus*, with the highest mean relative abundance (11.7%) across all samples, also displayed the largest maximum relative abundance in a single sample at 93.9% (Figure D.1). Its occurrence was noted in at least two urinals per building (Table D.5, Figure D.1).

No individual ASV was present in more than 70% of samples. Notably, however, three ASVs had a prevalence greater than 60%. These ASVs belonged to the genera *Dolosicoccus* (family *Aerococcaceae*) at 69% (ASV_0000000004), and the families *Comamonadaceae* at 67% (ASV_0000000008), and *Carnobacteriaceae* at 63% (ASV_0000000013). Cumulatively, these three ASVs, among a total of 2,137 ASVs, represented 18.32% of total reads.



Figure 5.1. Alpha and Beta Diversity. (a-c) Alpha diversity measurements (ASV richness (a), Pielou's evenness (b) and Shannon diversity (c)) in urinal communities across buildings sampled. ASV richness differed significantly between buildings. (d) NMDS resulting from Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices of community composition between the different buildings samples. (e) Distances to centroid in multivariate homogeneity of group variance analysis for urinal bacterial communities for each building.


Figure 5.2. (a) Rank abundance curve of bacterial ASVs derived from all urinal samples. x-axis indicates the richness of urinals (number of ASVs), slope of curve indicates evenness. (b) Average relative abundance of the top phyla and (b) top 15 taxa at the genus level by building. The phylum Proteobacteria dominate across most buildings. There are more variations between building in relative abundance at the genus level. *Dolosicoccus* is one of the more prevalent and abundant genera.

5.4.3 Comparison of Dolosicoccus ASVs

To further explore the most abundant and prevalent species of the urinals, we examined all 25 ASVs classified to the genus Dolosicoccus (Table D.6). The most abundant ASV (ASV_0000000004) constituted the majority of reads representing 87.2% of the total ASVs classified to Dolosicoccus. ASV 000000038 and ASV 000000061 were the next most abundant, representing 7.7% and 3.9% of all reads, respectively. As noted above, ASV_0000000004 was the most prevalent and abundant ASV. ASV_000000038 was present in 30% of urinals sampled, while ASV_0000000061 occurred in 20%. These two ASVs exhibited a diverse presence across various buildings, as illustrated by ASV_0000000038 exclusively appearing in 100% of samples from the Dairy building but not in the Student Union building (Figure 5.3). The 16S rRNA V4 sequences of the 25 Dolosicoccus ASVs were aligned using Clustal Omega (Figure D.3). The sequence percentage identity among the top three Dolosicoccus ASVs was greater than 99%. It is worth noting that if sequences had been clustered based on a similarity threshold (97%) during data processing, they would have been clustered as the same operational taxonomic unit (OTU). However, since DADA2 corrects errors, these observed differences in bases may indeed reflect genuine biological differences. The top three Dolosicoccus ASVs, which accounted for 98.8% of all Dolosicoccus ASVs, were aligned to the 16S rRNA of Dolosicoccus Paucivorans retrieved from NCBI accession number AJ012666.1. Based in the V4 region alone, clear differences were evident between the sequences from the urinals and Dolosicoccus Paucivorans (Figure D.4).



Figure 5.3. Relative abundances (%) of the top 3 *Dolosicoccus* ASVs by building. Points represent individual urinal samples. Red dots indicate relative abundance of zero, green indicate urinals with *Dolosicoccus* present. The top ASV (ASV_0000000004) is observed in all buildings, with the Meteorology building having the highest relative abundance of ASV_00000000004 in an individual urinal.

5.5 Discussion

This study provides the insight into the bacterial community structure and composition of urinal Ptraps. Over 100 urinals located in various public restrooms within university buildings and a train station were analysed through amplicon sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene. Given the limited existing research on the bacterial communities specific to urinals, only limited comparative information was available. However, studies on the urinary tract microbiome enable us to draw comparisons between bacterial taxa identified in urine and those present in urinals for discussion. Our results demonstrate that the bacterial communities of urinal P-traps are diverse and vary significantly both within and between urinals situated in different buildings. The most abundant ASV identified also the had the highest prevalence and belonged to a genus with little reference in current literature.

5.5.1 Diversity and Composition of Urinal P-traps

The bacterial community of urinal P-traps was less diverse in terms of alpha diversity in comparison to other samples from outdoor environments such as soil, high-touch surfaces in built environments, and skin (Banerjee & van der Heijden, 2023; Kim et al., 2022; Ross & Neufeld, 2015; Wetzels et al., 2021). However, the number of ASVs obtained from urinals was comparable to those found in sink P-traps (Withey et al., 2021). Although not as rich as other environments, P-traps still harboured a diverse number of bacterial taxa. Proteobacteria was the dominant phylum, followed by Firmicutes (Figure 5.2b). Proteobacteria has the largest phylogenetic composition and are found in various environments including the built environment and water-associated indoor areas (Chase et al., 2016; Douterelo et al., 2018; Park et al., 2021; Shin et al., 2015). Firmicutes are one of the two major phyla in the human gut, but they are also found widely e.g., households, hospital environments, schools, river sediments and marine sites (Rinninella et al., 2019; Rosenberg et al., 2011). Many Firmicutes can form spores that are highly resistant to environmental stresses such as desiccation (Galperin, 2013; Paredes-Sabja et al., 2014). Moreover, depending on the study, both Proteobacteria and Firmicutes have been reported to the most abundant bacteria in urine (Karstens et al., 2016; Ning et al., 2020; Perez-Carrasco et al., 2021; Siddiqui et al., 2011, 2012; Thomas-White et al., 2017).

Of the top ten identifiable genera, seven have been detected in urine from previous studies (Figure 5.2c, Table D.2E). The genera *Pseudomonas, Oligella* and *Atopostipes* were identified in healthy male urine (Bajic et al., 2020; Lewis et al., 2013; Perez-Carrasco et al., 2021). From female urine *Pseudomonas, Oligella, Acinetobacter* and *Dolosicoccus* species have been isolated (Miller-Ensminger et al., 2018). *Stenotrophomonas* has been detected in healthy female urine using amplicon pyrosequencing (Lewis et al., 2013). The remaining genera, *Reyranella* and *Bosea* have been isolated

248

from hospital water and water piping (Li et al., 2022; Nisar et al., 2023) and Nevskia found in water i.e., aquifers, lakes and aquariums (Cui et al., 2019; Leandro et al., 2012; Sturmeyer et al., 1998). Moreover, in some cases these bacterial genera can be pathogenic namely, Acinetobacter, Bosea, Pseudomonas, Stenotrophomonas, Oligella and Achromobacter (Nisar et al., 2023). Achromobacter species which have been previously isolated from hospitals, washing sinks and showers (Amoureux et al., 2013; Franco et al., 2020; Marion-Sanchez et al., 2020) can, although rare, cause urinary tract infections (Elston & Hoffman, 1966; Sarı et al., 2018; Tena et al., 2008). Stenotrophomonas has also been associated with urinary tract infections (UTI) (Vartivarian et al., 1996), and in rare cases Oligella was an infectious agent related with bacteraemia (Pagotto et al., 2016; Simmons et al., 2015). Research of the male urinary microbiota has found Corynebacterium to be the main genus (Fouts et al., 2012). However, in the present study, Corynebacterium was detected in urinal P-traps at very low abundances and prevalence (< 0.1% total relative abundance, 15% prevalence). This suggests that Corynebacterium is unable to proliferate in the P-trap environment and what is observed is a result of Corynebacterium cells, dead or alive, passing through the system. Whereas the top genera, particularly those with greater prevalence such as Pseudomonas, Stenotrophomonas, Achromobacter, Dolosicoccus are probably able to persist and tolerate the hostile environment of the P-trap. The elevated levels of ammonia and variation in pH of the P-trap will select for bacteria that can survive. A study by Lim and colleagues, 2021, characterising the ureolytic biomineralization from public restrooms identified Oligella in low-flow and waterless urinals, and Atopostipes and Dolosicoccus in waterless urinals. Compared to the current study they had a very limited sample size (n=11) and the focused on different types of urinals whereas on the university campus all urinals are conventional washdown urinals that experience flushing at regular timed intervals.

For all alpha diversity indices, the highest values were observed in Polly Vacher building. Since the building had a high Pielou's evenness and the highest ASV richness this could mean the bacterial community in this building is made up of many ASVs at relatively equally small abundances. When investigating the individual urinal P-traps from Polly Vacher, compositionally they appear similar and around 50% of genera are grouped as other due to low abundances except for one urinal which is dominated by *Nevskia*: thus, the reason for the highest mean relative abundance of *Nevskia* in this building (Figure 5.2c). Considering the samples in this building are from one of two restrooms it is unclear as to why the great abundance of *Nevskia* without monitoring patterns of behaviour in the urinals beforehand. In comparison the Train Station had the lowest Shannon diversity, Pielou's evenness values, and one of lowest ASV richness. The lower richness observed in the Train station could be explained by patterns of human usage. The Train Station when compared to university buildings will experience a higher traffic of human occupants therefore, the urinal although potentially

exposed to a wider variety of bacteria, will experience more frequent flushing after use thus, increased disturbance and turnover of bacteria in the P-traps. Moreover, the Train Station was clustered together on NMDS quite distinct from the other buildings and had a relatively homogeneous community (Figure 5.1d, e). As this building was at a different location, served a different purpose and may experience a more diverse set of users with differing behaviours, it is logical to infer that the bacterial community may differ. Additionally, three out of the four urinal P-traps located in the train station were dominated by the genus Acinetobacter and no other urinal from the campus showed relative abundances comparable to those from the Train station (Figure D.1). As noted, members of this genus can be pathogenic, but they can also be part of the human skin microflora and present in urine (Badave & Dhananjay, 2015; Powell et al., 2008). This increased signature of Acinetobacter could be again related to increased use but without occupancy numbers, this is speculation. Also, the cleaning practices of the Train station will differ compared to those of the university which are managed and cleaned consistently. Unfortunately, no data was obtained regarding cleaning practices, however in our previous study (Chapter 4) we showed that after bleach intervention in sink traps there was an increase in Acinetobacter. In the case of these urinals, they potentially may have been bleached prior to sampling hence the high relative abundance of Acinetobacter observed.

Overall, the results indicated building sampled had some effect on bacterial community structure and pairwise comparisons showed the majority of buildings were compositionally significantly different from one another with variable effect sizes (R² values ranging from 0.04 to 0.45, Table D.3). The smaller study of urinals and associated pipe biomineral deposits also found strong significant difference between samples grouped by location when using PERMANOVA. However, they elucidate to an interaction between sampling location and urinal type, and the presence of water in some urinals and its effects on nutrient concentrations. Therefore, the observed effects on biomineral microbial communities from sampling locations may depend on the urinal type (Lim et al., 2022). In the present study we demonstrate the effect of sampling location on bacterial community and the high variability across individual urinal P-traps. Thus, that urinal P-traps bacterial communities are shaped by restroom users, as is the case for many indoor built environment microbial communities (Hospodsky et al., 2012; Meadow et al., 2015). Generally, Pielou's evenness was high across all P-traps and buildings did not significantly differ. Ecosystems under high environmental stress often exhibit low species evenness as certain resilient species dominate (Scrosati et al., 2011). Urinal P-traps could be considered a difficult environment to proliferate due to chemical properties and differing microbial profiles of urine as this would be the primary source of microorganisms and nutrients to the environment (Pohl et al., 2020). In the case of the Train station, with the lowest evenness, this could be observed as Acinetobacter dominated and these urinals may experience more frequent

disturbances and increased diversity of microorganisms. For the buildings from campus, there was large variation in evenness within some buildings i.e., Agriculture building. Further investigation of individual urinal P-traps show domination by some bacterial taxa such as *Dolosicoccus*. The variations observed could be related to human use and behaviour. For example, preferential selection over certain urinals or incorrect use such as spitting (Wu et al., 2019). Many ASVs were observed at low relative abundances, these bacterial ASVs are possibly transient, passing through the system and a signature of the last user.

5.5.2 Core bacterial taxa of urinal P-traps

Despite the high number of low abundant ASVs a core microbiome was observed in urinals. Five genera were classified as part of the core urinal P-trap microbiome due to their high prevalence. Phenotypic features that enable bacteria to tolerate the elevated pH and ammonia levels or utilise nutrients from urine will facilitate their establishment in urinal P-traps. The most prevalent genera identified was Pseudomonas. Some Pseudomonas spp. can be ureolytic and can increase in relative abundance in the presence of urea, therefore able to exploit this environment (Goswami et al., 2015; Jin et al., 2016; Jyothi & Rao, 2013; Subramaniyan et al., 2023). Furthermore, species of Stenotrophomonas and Achromobacter can also be ureolytic and can form biofilms (Jalilvand et al., 2020; Konstantinovic et al., 2017; Prasad, 1978; Umar et al., 2022). Additionally, Achromobacter has shown tolerance to stressful environments, a study demonstrated Achromobacter entered a viable but non-culturable (VBNC) state after chlorine disinfection and after approximately 25h the injured VBNC Achromobacter were resuscitated (Hu & Bai, 2023). Brevundimonas although not one of the top ten most abundant genera was present in 73% of urinal P-traps. Like the other highly prevalent genera, Brevundimonas spp. have been isolated from urine as well as from numerous aquatic habitats and can grow in nutrient limited conditions and form biofilms (Gricajeva et al., 2022; Karstens et al., 2016; Ryan & Pembroke, 2018). The final core genus, *Dolosicoccus* will be discussed in the following section. It is expected that the microbial communities present in urinals are also influenced by the surrounding environment and its users and in the case of the core bacterial genera many are associated with urine and have properties that enable their exploitation of this niche. Note, identification to species of these bacteria would be required to confirm their properties and would provide additional information on why these bacteria survive and proliferate in urinals.

Chapter 5

5.5.3 The presence of Dolosicoccus

One of the most notable findings from this study was the high prevalence and abundance of the genus Dolosicoccus. Dolosicoccus is one of the "minor" genera of the gram-stain positive family Aerococcaceae and only one species, Dolosicoccus paucivorans has been documented (Collins et al., 1999; Huch et al., 2014). Dolosicoccus paucivorans was originally isolated in 1995 from human blood, yet further research since then has been limited with few references to this genus in the literature (Collins et al., 1999). Using 16S rRNA sequencing, Dolosicoccus has been found in a variety of sample types including, human skin samples, rat guts, salvia from ticks, shrimp gut and, sediment from shrimp ponds (Lin et al., 2022; Qi et al., 2017; XiaoMing et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2018). In these studies, the relative abundances of Dolosicoccus were consistently very low, with one notable exception found in a study of tick saliva where the dominant bacteria had highly similar sequences to Dolosicoccus paucivorans (XiaoMing et al., 2016). Interestingly, Dolosicoccus has been reported more frequently in samples associated with the urinary tract. Specifically, vaginal swabs from beagles and human urine samples taken directly from the bladder have identified Dolosicoccus paucivorans (Du et al., 2023; Hu et al., 2022; Miller-Ensminger et al., 2018). However, neither study identified *Dolosicoccus* as a majorly abundant genus. The sole urinal microbial community study that did identify Dolosicoccus reported its presence in waterless urinals, with a relative abundance of around 12% (Lim et al., 2022). This information was inferred from a figure in the paper, as there is no other explicit mention of the genus in the text. In contrast to the findings of these studies, our research demonstrates the presence of Dolosicoccus in conventional urinals, and notably, at varying yet high abundances depending on the building. The disparities observed could be attributed to the limited sampling size of conventional urinals (n=2), resulting in insufficient data was collection. In the present study, Dolosicoccus was detected at low prevalence (25% of urinals) in certain buildings, whereas in others, it was found in all urinals. This variability underscores the importance of a more extensive sampling approach to capture the nuanced distribution of *Dolosicoccus* in different environments. By solely comparing the 16S rRNA V4 region of the Dolosicoccus ASV found in urinals to Dolosicoccus paucivorans, notable differences in the sequences were observed, surpassing what would typically be expected from sequencing and data processing errors alone. This suggests the possibility of genuine biological distinctions; however, further investigation is essential to solidify this conclusion. Subsequent research efforts could be directed towards obtaining the metagenome-assembled genome (MAG) of the Dolosicoccus strain present in urinals from metagenomic samples. Successful recovery of the MAG would pave the way for selective isolation from fresh samples. This comprehensive approach would allow for a thorough comparison of the urinal Dolosicoccus genome to the complete genome of the Dolosicoccus paucivorans type strain, which has been assembled as part of this study. Additionally, this investigation

could involve the exploration of genes that contribute to the survival and proliferation of *Dolosicoccus* within the urinal environment.

5.5.4 Limitations and concluding remarks

Limitations of this study include that environmental variables were not measured which could potentially influence bacterial community composition. However, within the BE conditions are kept relatively consistent for comfort of the occupants but this will be dependent on the BE purpose. Furthermore, collection of data regarding activities in restrooms and frequency of urinal use would provide greater insight to why we might observe some differences. Factors such as cleaning strategies and intensity will impact communities. While this should be consistent across the university managed sites, we were unable to obtain information regarding cleaning practices of the Train station urinals. Further, age of P-traps and associated pipes could affect the physical and community composition. Moreover, although our results show high abundances of certain bacterial genera, further work could be included to establish if the communities particularly the transient bacteria are live or dead. Either by applying additional high throughput "omics" approaches to detect what genes are active or metabolites being produced, or by using a viability dye such as PMA (Nocker & Camper, 2008; Shaffer et al., 2022).

Restrooms are a dynamic environment that host a diverse microbial community even within the Ptraps of urinals. The perception that urine is sterile has been disproven and the microorganisms that pass through the urogenital tract may be able to form biofilms in the p-traps of urinals. Yet the species that can survive must tolerate elevated ammonia concentrations and the conditions of the P-trap. As a result, the urinal P-trap is a selective environment. Our results showed differences in bacterial communities from different buildings and large variations in the bacterial communities between individual sinks possibly due to the pressures of this environment and the differences due to human users and their behaviours. Despite this, core bacterial taxa were observed across urinals sampled and previously unexplored genera were found to be abundant. Further studies should aim to investigate bacterial members of the community in depth so we can begin to understand the possible risk urinals could pose and develop strategies mitigate their spread.

5.6 References

- Ackerman, A. L., & Chai, T. C. (2019). The Bladder is Not Sterile: an Update on the Urinary Microbiome.
 Current Bladder Dysfunction Reports, 14(4), 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11884-019-00543-6
- Amoureux, L., Bador, J., Fardeheb, S., Mabille, C., Couchot, C., Massip, C., Salignon, A. L., Berlie, G.,
 Varin, V., & Neuwirth, C. (2013). Detection of Achromobacter xylosoxidans in hospital, domestic,
 and outdoor environmental samples and comparison with human clinical isolates. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79(23), 7142–7149. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02293-13
- Badave, G. K., & Dhananjay, K. (2015). Biofilm producing multidrug resistant acinetobacter baumannii:
 An emerging challenge. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, 9(1), DC08-DC10.
 https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2015/11014.5398
- Bajic, P., Van Kuiken, M. E., Burge, B. K., Kirshenbaum, E. J., Joyce, C. J., Wolfe, A. J., Branch, J. D.,
 Bresler, L., & Farooq, A. V. (2020). Male Bladder Microbiome Relates to Lower Urinary Tract
 Symptoms. *European Urology Focus*, 6(2), 376–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EUF.2018.08.001
- Banerjee, S., & van der Heijden, M. G. A. (2023). Soil microbiomes and one health. *Nature Reviews Microbiology, 21*(1), 6–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-022-00779-w
- Barker, J., & Bloomfield, S. F. (2000). Survival of Salmonella in bathrooms and toilets in domestic homes following salmonellosis. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 89(1), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2672.2000.01091.X
- Barker, J., & Jones, M. V. (2005). The potential spread of infection caused by aerosol contamination of surfaces after flushing a domestic toilet. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 99(2), 339–347. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2672.2005.02610.X
- Boyle, M. A., Kearney, A. D., Sawant, B., & Humphreys, H. (2020). Assessing the impact of handwashing soaps on the population dynamics of carbapenemase-producing and non-carbapenemase-producing Enterobacterales. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 105*(4), 678–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHIN.2020.04.037
- Bures, S., Fishbain, J. T., Uyehara, C. F. T., Parker, J. M., & Berg, B. W. (2000). Computer keyboards and faucet handles as reservoirs of nosocomial pathogens in the intensive care unit. *American Journal of Infection Control, 28*(6), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1067/MIC.2000.107267

- Callahan, B. J., Mcmurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: High resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Carrazana, E., Ruiz-Gil, T., Fujiyoshi, S., Tanaka, D., Noda, J., Maruyama, F., & Jorquera, M. A. (2023).
 Potential airborne human pathogens: A relevant inhabitant in built environments but not considered in indoor air quality standards. *Science of the Total Environment, 901*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.165879
- Chen, S., Zhou, Y., Chen, Y., & Gu, J. (2018). Fastp: An ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. *Bioinformatics*, *34*(17), i884–i890. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty560
- Cholley, P., Thouverez, M., Floret, N., Bertrand, X., & Talon, D. (2008). The role of water fittings in intensive care rooms as reservoirs for the colonization of patients with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 34(8), 1428–1433. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-008-1110-z
- Collins, M. D., Rodriguez Jovita, M., Hutson, R. A., Falsen, E., Sjodén, B., & Facklam, R. R. (1999). Dolosicoccus paucivorans gen. nov., sp. nov., isolated from human blood. *International Journal* of Systematic Bacteriology, 49(4), 1439–1442. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-49-4-1439
- Cui, Y., Chun, S. J., Cho, A. R., Wong, S. K., Lee, H. G., Oh, H. M., & Ahn, C. Y. (2019). Nevskia lacus sp. nov., a gammaproteobacterium isolated from a eutrophic lake. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, *International Journal of General and Molecular Microbiology*, 112(5), 723–729. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-018-1206-6
- Dobbler, P. C. T., Laureano, Á. M., Sarzi, D. S., Cañón, E. R. P., Metz, G. F., Santos de Freitas, A., Takagaki,
 B. M., D'Oliveira, C. B., Pylro, V. S., Copetti, A. C., Victoria, F., Redmile-Gordon, M., Morais, D. K.,
 & Roesch, L. F. W. (2018). Differences in bacterial composition between men's and women's restrooms and other common areas within a public building. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 111*, 551–561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-017-0976-6
- Douglas, S. I., & Lumati, J. A. (2018). Microbiological Indoor Quality Assessment of Public Toilets in Port Harcourt Metropolis, Rivers State, Nigeria. *Journal of Advances in Microbiology*, *13*(4), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.9734/JAMB/2018/45716
- Douterelo, I., Fish, K. E., & Boxall, J. B. (2018). Succession of bacterial and fungal communities within biofilms of a chlorinated drinking water distribution system. *Water Research, 141,* 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.04.058

- Douterelo, I., Jackson, & M., Solomon, C., & Boxall, J. (2016). Microbial analysis of in situ biofilm formation in drinking water distribution systems: implications for monitoring and control of drinking water quality. *Environmental Biotechnology*, 100, 3301–3311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-7155-3
- Du, J., Khemmani, M., Halverson, T., Ene, A., Limeira, R., Hochstedler-Kramer, B. R., Fontes Noronha,
 M., Putonti, C., Author, C., & Wolfe, A. J. (2024). Cataloging the phylogenetic diversity of human
 bladder bacterial isolates. *Genome Biology 25*(75). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-024-03216-
- Elston, H. R., & Hoffman, K. C. (1966). Identification and clinical significance of Achromobacter (Herellea) Anitratus in urinary tract infections. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences,* 251(1), 75–80. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000441-196601000-00013
- Flores, G. E., Bates, S. T., Knights, D., Lauber, C. L., & Stombaugh, J. (2011). Microbial Biogeography of
 Public Restroom Surfaces. *PLoS ONE*, 6(11), e28132.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028132
- Fouquier, J., Schwartz, T., & Kelley, S. T. (2016). Rapid assemblage of diverse environmental fungal communities on public restroom floors. *Indoor Air, 26*, 869–879. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12279
- Fouts, D. E., Pieper, R., Szpakowski, S., Pohl, H., Knoblach, S., Suh, M. J., Huang, S. T., Ljungberg, I., Sprague, B. M., Lucas, S. K., Torralba, M., Nelson, K. E., & Groah, S. L. (2012). Integrated nextgeneration sequencing of 16S rDNA and metaproteomics differentiate the healthy urine microbiome from asymptomatic bacteriuria in neuropathic bladder associated with spinal cord injury. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, *10*(1), 174. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-10-174
- Frade, V. M. F., Dias, M., Teixeira, A. C. S. C., & Palma, M. S. A. (2014). Environmental contamination by fluoroquinolones. *Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 50(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1984-82502011000100004
- Franco, L. C., Tanner, W., Ganim, C., Davy, T., Edwards, J., & Donlan, R. (2020). A microbiological survey of handwashing sinks in the hospital built environment reveals differences in patient room and healthcare personnel sinks. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65052-7
- Galperin, M. Y. (2013). Genome Diversity of Spore-Forming Firmicutes. *Microbiology Spectrum*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspectrum.tbs-0015-2012

- Gerhardts, A., Hammer, T. R., Balluff, C., Mucha, H., & Hoefer, D. (2012). A model of the transmission of micro-organisms in a public setting and its correlation to pathogen infection risks. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *112*(3), 614–621. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2672.2012.05234.X
- Gibbons, S. M., Schwartz, T., Fouquier, J., Mitchell, M., Sangwan, N., Gilbert, J. A., & Kelley, S. T. (2015).
 Ecological Succession and Viability of Human-Associated Microbiota on Restroom Surfaces.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 81, 765–773. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03117-14
- Gillespie, T. A., Johnson, P. R. E., Notman, A. W., Coia, J. E., & Hanson, M. F. (2000). Eradication of a resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain after a cluster of infections in a hematology/oncology unit. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 6*. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-0691.2000.00051.x
- Goswami, D., Patel, K., Parmar, S., Vaghela, H., Muley, N., Dhandhukia, P., & Thakker, J. N. (2015). Elucidating multifaceted urease producing marine Pseudomonas aeruginosa BG as a cogent PGPR and bio-control agent. *Plant Growth Regulation,* 75(1), 253–263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-014-9949-1
- Goujon, M., McWilliam, H., Li, W., Valentin, F., Squizzato, S., Paern, J., & Lopez, R. (2010). A new bioinformatics analysis tools framework at EMBL-EBI. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(SUPPL. 2). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq313
- Gricajeva, A., Buchovec, I., Kalėdienė, L., Badokas, K., & Vitta, P. (2022). Riboflavin- and chlorophyllinbased antimicrobial photoinactivation of Brevundimonas sp. ESA1 biofilms. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.1006723
- Hospodsky, D., Qian, J., Nazaroff, W. W., Yamamoto, N., & Bibby, K. (2012). Human Occupancy as a Source of Indoor Airborne Bacteria. *PLoS ONE, 7*(4), 34867. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034867
- Hu, J., Cui, L., Wang, X., Gao, X., Qiu, S., Qi, H., Jiang, S., Li, F., & Yin, Y. (2022). Dynamics of vaginal microbiome in female beagles at different ages. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 149, 128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2022.05.006
- Hu, Z., & Bai, X. (2023). Self-repair and resuscitation of viable injured bacteria in chlorinated drinking water: Achromobacter as an example. Water Research, 245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2023.120585
- Huch, M., Gyu-Sung, C., Gálvez, A., & Franz, C. M. A. P. (2014). Minor genera of the Aerococcaceae (Dolosicoccus, Eremococcus, Globicatella, Ignavigranum). In Lactic Acid Bacteria (pp. 99–105).
 Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118655252.ch9

- Hunt, M., Silva, N. De, Otto, T. D., Parkhill, J., Keane, J. A., & Harris, S. R. (2015). Circlator: Automated circularization of genome assemblies using long sequencing reads. *Genome Biology*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0849-0
- Islam, M. S., Hossain, M. A., Khan, S. I., Khan, M. N. H., Sack, R. B., Albert, M. J., Huq, A., & Colwell, R.
 R. (2001). Survival of Shigella dysenteriae type 1 on fomites. *Journal of Health Population and Nutrition, 19*(3), 177–182. https://doi.org/10.3329/jhpn.v19i3.90
- Jalilvand, N., Akhgar, A., Alikhani, H. A., Rahmani, H. A., & Rejali, F. (2020). Removal of Heavy Metals Zinc, Lead, and Cadmium by Biomineralization of Urease-Producing Bacteria Isolated from Iranian Mine Calcareous Soils. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 20*(1), 206–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-019-00121-z
- Jia, A., Wan, Y., Xiao, Y., & Hu, J. (2012). Occurrence and fate of quinolone and fluoroquinolone antibiotics in a municipal sewage treatment plant. *Water Research*, 46(2), 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.10.055
- Jin, D., Zhao, S., Wang, P., Zheng, N., Bu, D., Beckers, Y., & Wang, J. (2016). Insights into abundant rumen ureolytic bacterial community using rumen simulation system. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(JUN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01006
- Jyothi, N., & Rao, V. U. (2013). Production of protease and urease by kerosene utilizing fluorescent Pseudomonads isolated from local red latirite soil. *The BioScan, 8*(2), 353-357. www.thebioscan.in
- Karstens, L., Asquith, M., Davin, S., Stauffer, P., Fair, D., Gregory, W. T., Rowsenbaum, J. T., McWeeney,
 S. K., & Nardos, R. (2016). Does the urinary microbiome play a role in urgency urinary incontinence and its severity? *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 6*(JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2016.00078
- Kembel, S. W., Jones, E., Kline, J., Northcutt, D., Stenson, J., Womack, A. M., Bohannan, B. J., Brown, G. Z., & Green, J. L. (2012). Architectural design influences the diversity and structure of the built environment microbiome. *The ISME Journal, 6*, 1469–1479. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.211
- Kembel, S. W., Meadow, J. F., O'connor, T. K., Mhuireach, G., Northcutt, D., Kline, J., Moriyama, M.,
 Brown, G. Z., Bohannan, B. J. M., & Green, J. L. (2014). Architectural Design Drives the
 Biogeography of Indoor Bacterial Communities. *PLoS ONE, 9*(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087093

- Kim, H. J., Oh, H. N., Park, T., Kim, H., Lee, H. G., An, S., & Sul, W. J. (2022). Aged related human skin microbiome and mycobiome in Korean women. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06189-5
- Konstantinovic, N., Cirkovic, I., Dukic, S., Maric, V., & Bozic, D. D. (2017). Biofilm formation of achromobacter xylosoxidans on contact lens. *Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica*, 64(3), 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1556/030.64.2017.005
- Kotay, S., Chai, W., Guilford, W., Barry, K., & Mathers, A. J. (2017). Spread from the Sink to the Patient: In Situ Study Using Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP)-Expressing Escherichia coli To Model Bacterial Dispersion from Hand-Washing Sink-Trap Reservoirs. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 83*(8), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03327-16
- Leandro, T., França, L., Nobre, M. F., Schumann, P., Rosselló-Móra, R., & Da Costa, M. S. (2012). Nevskia aquatilis sp. nov. and Nevskia persephonica sp. nov., isolated from a mineral water aquifer and the emended description of the genus Nevskia. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 35(5), 297– 301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2012.05.001
- Ledwoch, K., Robertson, A., Lauran, J., Norville, P., & Maillard, J. Y. (2020). It's a trap! The development of a versatile drain biofilm model and its susceptibility to disinfection. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 106*(4), 757–764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.08.010
- Lee, M. C. J., & Tham, K. W. (2021). Public toilets with insufficient ventilation present high cross infection risk. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-00166-0
- Lee, M.-S., Hong, S. J., & Kim, Y.-T. (2015). Handwashing with soap and national handwashing projects in Korea: focus on the National Handwashing Survey, 2006-2014. *Epidemiology and Health, 37*, e2015039. https://doi.org/10.4178/epih/e2015039
- Lewis, D. A., Brown, R., Williams, J., White, P., Jacobson, S. K., Marchesi, J. R., & Drake, M. J. (2013). The human urinary microbiome; bacterial DNA in voided urine of asymptomatic adults. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 4*(AUG), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2013.00041
- Li, J. K. M., Chiu, P. K. F., & Ng, C. F. (2019). The impact of microbiome in urological diseases: a systematic review. *International Urology and Nephrology*, 51(10), 1677–1697. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11255-019-02225-y
- Li, N., Li, X., & Fan, X. Y. (2022). Biofilm development under different pipe materials and water quality conditions in raw water transportation system: Bacterial communities and nitrogen

transformation. Journal of Cleaner Production, 343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.130952

- Lim, K., Rolston, M., Barnum, S., Wademan, C., & Leverenz, H. (2022). A biogeographic 16S rRNA survey of bacterial communities of ureolytic biomineralization from California public restrooms. *PLoS ONE*, *17*(1), e0262425. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0262425
- Lin, X., Li, Y. Z., Chen, T., Min, S. H., Wang, D. F., Ding, M. M., & Jiang, G. (2022). Effects of wearing personal protective equipment during COVID-19 pandemic on composition and diversity of skin bacteria and fungi of medical workers. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, *36*(9), 1612–1622. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.18216
- Lowe, C., Willey, B., O'Shaughnessy, A., Lee, W., Lum, M., Pike, K., Larocque, C., Dedier, H., Dales, L., Moore, C., & McGeer, A. (2012). Outbreak of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Klebsiella oxytoca infections associated with contaminated handwashing sinks. *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 18*(8), 1242–1247. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1808.111268
- Marion-Sanchez, K., Olive, C., Platon, M.-G., Cesarine, M., Derancourt, C., & Pailla, K. (2020).
 Achromobacter xylosoxidans in hospital environments: still waters run deep! *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene,* 114(6), 470–472. https://doi.org/10.1093/trstmh/trz109
- Martin, M. (2011). Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. *EMBnet.Journal, 17*(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.14806/ej.17.1.200
- Mcbain, A. J., Bartolo, R. G., Catrenich, C. E., Charbonneau, D., Ledder, R. G., Rickard, A. H., Symmons,
 S. A., & Gilbert, P. (2003). Microbial Characterization of Biofilms in Domestic Drains and the
 Establishment of Stable Biofilm Microcosms. *Applied And Environmental Microbiology, 69*(1), 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.1.177-185.2003
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Bateman, A. C., Stenson, J., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B.
 J. M. (2015). Humans differ in their personal microbial cloud. *PeerJ*, 3(e1258). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1258
- Miller-Ensminger, T., Garretto, A., Brenner, J., Thomas-White, K., Zambom, A., Wolfe, A. J., & Putonti,
 C. (2018). Bacteriophages of the urinary microbiome. *Journal of Bacteriology, 200*(7). https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00738-17

- Mkrtchyan, H. V., Russell, C. A., Wang, N., & Cutler, R. R. (2013). Could Public Restrooms Be an Environment for Bacterial Resistomes? *PLoS ONE, 8*(1), e54223. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0054223
- Modena, B. D., Milam, R., Harrison, F., Cheeseman, J. A., Abecassis, M. M., Friedewald, J. J., Kirk, A. D.,
 & Salomon, D. R. (2017). Changes in Urinary Microbiome Populations Correlate in Kidney Transplants With Interstitial Fibrosis and Tubular Atrophy Documented in Early Surveillance Biopsies. *American Journal of Transplantation, 17*(3), 712–723. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14038
- Neugent, M. L., Hulyalkar, N. V., Nguyen, V. H., Zimmern, P. E., & De Nisco, N. J. (2020). Advances in understanding the human urinary microbiome and its potential role in urinary tract infection. *MBio*, *11*(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00218-20
- Ning, Y., Yang, G., Chen, Y., Zhao, X., Qian, H., Liu, Y., Chen, S., & Shi, G. (2020). Characteristics of the Urinary Microbiome From Patients With Gout: A Prospective Study. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00272
- Nisar, M. A., Ross, K. E., Brown, M. H., Bentham, R., Xi, J., Hinds, J., Jamieson, T., Leterme, S. C., & Whiley, H. (2023). The composition of planktonic prokaryotic communities in a hospital building water system depends on both incoming water and flow dynamics. *Water Research*, 243(120363). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2023.120363
- Nizer, W. S. da C., Inkovskiy, V., & Overhage, J. (2020). Surviving Reactive Chlorine Stress: Responses of Gram-Negative Bacteria to Hypochlorous Acid. *Microorganisms, 8*(8), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.3390/MICROORGANISMS8081220
- Nocker, A., & Camper, A. K. (2008). Novel approaches toward preferential detection of viable cells using nucleic acid amplification techniques. *FEMS*, 291, 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2008.01429.x
- Noskin, G. A., Stosor, V., Cooper, I., & Peterson, L. R. (1995). Recovery of Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci on Fingertips and Environmental Surfaces. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 16*(10), 577–581. https://doi.org/10.1086/647011
- Oksanen, A. J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Mcglinn, D., Minchin, P. R., Hara,R. B. O., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., & Szoecs, E. (2020). vegan: CommunityEcology Package. R package version 2.5-7. (Issue March 2017).

- Pagotto, A., Merluzzi, S., Pillinini, P., & Valeri, M. (2016). Bloodstream infection with Oligella ureolytica: a case report and review of the literature. *Le Infezioni in Medicina*, *24*(1), 58–61.
- Paredes-Sabja, D., Shen, A., & Sorg, J. A. (2014). Clostridium difficile spore biology: Sporulation, germination, and spore structural proteins. *Trends in Microbiology*, 22(7), 406–416). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2014.04.003
- Perez-Carrasco, V., Soriano-Lerma, A., Soriano, M., Gutiérrez-Fernández, J., & Garcia-Salcedo, J. A. (2021). Urinary Microbiome: Yin and Yang of the Urinary Tract. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 11, 421. https://doi.org/10.3389/FCIMB.2021.617002/BIBTEX
- Pohl, H. G., Groah, S. L., Pérez-Losada, M., Ljungberg, I., Sprague, B. M., Chandal, N., Caldovic, L., & Hsieh, M. (2020). The urine microbiome of healthy men and women differs by urine collection method. *International Neurourology Journal, 24*(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.5213/inj.1938244.122
- Powell, D. A., Marcon, M. J., Sarah, S., Long, L. K. P., & Charles, G. (2008). Acinetobacter Species. In Principles and Practice of Pediatric Infectious Disease (4th ed., pp. 824–826). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7020-3468-8.50155-3
- Prasad, D. (1978). Ureolytic Bacteria in Wastewater. *Water Pollution Control Federation, 50*(5), 970–972.
- Putri, R. E., Kim, L. H., Farhat, N., Felemban, M., Saikaly, P. E., & Vrouwenvelder, J. S. (2021). Evaluation of DNA extraction yield from a chlorinated drinking water distribution system. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(6 June). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253799
- Qi, X., Xu, W., Guo, M., Chen, S., Liu, Y., He, X., & Huang, K. (2017). Rice- or pork-based diets with similar calorie and content result in different rat gut microbiota. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 68*(7), 829–839. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2017.1301889/SUPPL_FILE/IIJF_A_1301889_SM6821.PDF
- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., & Glöckner, F. O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: Improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*(D1), 590–596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- R Core Team. (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rinninella, E., Raoul, P., Cintoni, M., Franceschi, F., Miggiano, G. A. D., Gasbarrini, A., & Mele, M. C. (2019). What is the healthy gut microbiota composition? A changing ecosystem across age,

environment, diet, and diseases. *Microorganisms*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7010014

- Rintala, H., Pitkäranta, M., Toivola, M., Paulin, L., & Nevalainen, A. (2008). Diversity and seasonal dynamics of bacterial community in indoor environment. *BMC Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-8-56
- Rosenberg, E., Delong, E. F., & Thompson, F. (2011). Firmicutes and Tenericutes. In Molecular Detection of Human Bacterial Pathogens (Fourth).
- Ross, A. A., & Neufeld, J. D. (2015). Microbial biogeography of a university campus. *Microbiome*, *3*(66), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0135-0
- Ryan, M. P., & Pembroke, J. T. (2018). Brevundimonas spp: Emerging global opportunistic pathogens. *Virulence*, *9*(1), 480–493. https://doi.org/10.1080/21505594.2017.1419116
- Salazar G. (2023). EcolUtils: Utilities for community ecology analysis_. R package version 0.1. Https://Github.Com/GuillemSalazar/EcolUtils.
- Sarı, S., Yeşilyurt, E., Yılmaz, N., Gürel, A., Gürtan, E., & Şanal, L. (2018). Achromobacter xylosoxidans infection in urinary tract in a secondary kidney stone patient: Case Report. *Journal of Surgery and Medicine*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.28982/josam.437945
- Schreck, J. H., Masoud, Lashaki, J., Hashemi, J., Dhanak, M., & Verma, S. (2021). Aerosol generation in public restrooms. *Physics of Fluids*, 33, 33320. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0040310
- Scrosati, R. A., Knox, A. S., Valdivia, N., & Molis, M. (2011). Species richness and diversity across rocky intertidal elevation gradients in Helgoland: Testing predictions from an environmental stress model. *Helgoland Marine Research*, 65(2), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10152-010-0205-4
- Seemann, T. (2014). Prokka: Rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. *Bioinformatics, 30*(14), 2068–2069. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu153
- Shaffer, J. P., Nothias, L.-F., Thompson, L. R., Sanders, J. G., Salido, R. A., Couvillion, S. P., Brejnrod, A. D., Lejzerowicz, F., Haiminen, N., Huang, S., Lutz, H. L., Zhu, Q., Martino, C., Morton, J. T., Karthikeyan, S., Nothias-Esposito, M., Dührkop, K., Böcker, S., Kim, H. W., ... Earth Microbiome Project 500 (EMP500) Consortium. (2022). Standardized multi-omics of Earth's microbiomes reveals microbial and metabolite diversity. *Nature Microbiology, 7*(12), 2128–2150. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-022-01266-x

- Siddiqui, H., Lagesen, K., Nederbragt, A. J., Jeansson, S. L., & Jakobsen, K. S. (2012). Alterations of microbiota in urine from women with interstitial cystitis. *BMC Microbiology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-12-205
- Siddiqui, H., Nederbragt, A. J., Lagesen, K., Jeansson, S. L., & Jakobsen, K. S. (2011). Assessing diversity of the female urine microbiota by high throughput sequencing of 16S rDNA amplicons. *BMC Microbiology*, *11*(244), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-11-244/FIGURES/3
- Sievers, F., Wilm, A., Dineen, D., Gibson, T. J., Karplus, K., Li, W., Lopez, R., McWilliam, H., Remmert, M., Söding, J., Thompson, J. D., & Higgins, D. G. (2011). Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/msb.2011.75
- Simmons, T., Fennelly, E., & Loughran, D. (2015). Oligella ureolytica Bacteremia in Elderly Woman,
 United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 21*(7), 1271.
 https://doi.org/10.3201/EID2107.150242
- Sturmeyer, H., Sturmeyer, S., Jo, J., Overmann, J., Babenzien, H.D., & Cypionka, H. (1998).
 Ecophysiological and Phylogenetic Studies of Nevskia ramosa in Pure Culture. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 64(5), 1890–1894. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.64.5.1890-1894.1998
- Subramaniyan, Y., Khan, A., Fathima, F., & Rekha, P. D. (2023). Differential expression of urease genes and ureolytic activity of uropathogenic Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates in different nutritional conditions. *Archives of Microbiology, 205*(12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-023-03722-6
- Tena, D., González-Praetorius, A., Pérez-Balsalobre, M., Sancho, O., & Bisquert, J. (2008). Urinary tract infection due to Achromobacter xylosoxidans: Report of 9 cases. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 40(2), 84–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365540701558714
- Thomas-White, K., Brady, M., Wolfe, A. J., & Mueller, E. R. (2016). The bladder is not sterile: History and current discoveries on the urinary microbiome Compliance with Ethics Guidelines Human and Animal Rights and Informed Consent HHS Public Access. *Current Bladder Dysfunction Reports, 11*(1), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11884-016-0345-8
- Thomas-White, K. J., Kliethermes, S., Rickey, L., Lukacz, E. S., Richter, H. E., Moalli, P., Zimmern, P., Norton, P., Kusek, J. W., Wolfe, A. J., & Brubaker, L. (2017). Evaluation of the urinary microbiota

of women with uncomplicated stress urinary incontinence. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *216*(1), 55.e1-55.e16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2016.07.049

- Thompson, L. R., Sanders, J. G., McDonald, D., Amir, A., Ladau, J., Locey, K. J., Prill, R. J., Tripathi, A., Gibbons, S. M., Ackermann, G., Navas-Molina, J. A., Janssen, S., Kopylova, E., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., González, A., Morton, J. T., Mirarab, S., Xu, Z. Z., Jiang, L., ... Zhao, H. (2017). A communal catalogue reveals Earth's multiscale microbial diversity. *Nature*, *551*(7681), 457–463. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24621
- Umar, Z., Ilyas, U., Ashfaq, S., Bhangal, R., & Nassar, M. (2022). Stenotophomonas Maltophilia As Not Just a Mere Colonozer: Two Cases of Urinary Tract Infection and Multidrug-Resistant Respiratory Infection. *Cureus*, 4(3), e23541. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.23541
- Vartivarian, S. E., Papadakis, K. A., & Anaissie, E. J. (1996). Stenotrophomonas (Xanthomonas) maltophilia Urinary Tract Infection: A Disease That Is Usually Severe and Complicated. Archives of Internal Medicine, 156(4), 433–435. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHINTE.1996.00440040111012
- Walters, W., Hyde, E. R., Berg-Lyons, D., Ackermann, G., Humphrey, G., Parada, A., Gilbert, J. A., Jansson, J. K., Caporaso, J. G., Fuhrman, J. A., Apprill, A., Knight, R. (2016). Improved Bacterial 16S rRNA Gene (V4 and V4-5) and Fungal Internal Transcribed Spacer Marker Gene Primers for Microbial Community Surveys. *mSystems*, 1(10). https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00009-15
- Wang, J.-X., Li, Y.-Y., Liu, X.-D., & Cao, X. (2020). Virus transmission from urinals. *Physics of Fluids, 32*, 81703. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0021450
- Webster, C., Towner, K. J., & Humphreys, H. (2000). Survival of Acinetobacter on Three Clinically Related Inanimate Surfaces. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 21(4), 246–246. https://doi.org/10.1086/503214
- Wetzels, S. U., Strachan, C. R., Conrady, B., Wagner, M., Burgener, I. A., Virányi, Z., & Selberherr, E. (2021). Wolves, dogs and humans in regular contact can mutually impact each other's skin microbiota. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-96160-7
- Wick, R. R., & Holt, K. E. (2022). Polypolish: Short-read polishing of long-read bacterial genome assemblies. *PLoS Computational Biology, 18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1009802
- Wick, R. R., Judd, L. M., Gorrie, C. L., & Holt, K. E. (2017). Completing bacterial genome assemblies with multiplex MinION sequencing. *Microbial Genomics, 3*(10). https://doi.org/10.1099/mgen.0.000132

265

Wick, R. R., Judd, L. M., & Holt, K. E. (2019). Performance of neural network basecalling tools for Oxford Nanopore sequencing. *Genome Biology, 20*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-019-1727-y

Wick RR. (2017). Filtlong. Https://Github.Com/Rrwick/Filtlong.

- Withey, Z., Awan, A., Duguma, N., Fell, E., Martinez, N. J., Neary, E., Goodall, T., & Gweon, H. S. (2023).
 Mycobial community assemblages in sink drains across a university campus. *Environmental DNA*, 5(1), 212–224. https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.375
- Withey, Z., Goodall, T., MacIntyre, S., & Gweon, H. S. (2021). Characterization of communal sink drain communities of a university campus. *Environmental DNA, 3*(5), 901–911. https://doi.org/10.1002/EDN3.196
- Wu, D., Lam, T. P., Chan, H. Y., Lam, K. F., Zhou, X. D., Xu, J. Y., Sun, K. S., & Ho, P. L. (2019). A mixedmethods study on toilet hygiene practices among Chinese in Hong Kong. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8014-4
- XiaoMing, H., Huan, T., & TianYin, C. (2016). Analysis of the microflora in the saliva from Haemaphysalis flava. *Chinese Journal of Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *38*(7), 588–590.
- Zhao, Y. T., Ye, L., Duan, C. L., & Zhang, X. X. (2018). Community structure of lactic acid producing bacteria in the guts of freshwater shrimps. *Applied Environmental Biotechnology*, 3(2), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.26789/AEB.2018.02.001
- Zhou, L. J., Ying, G. G., Liu, S., Zhao, J. L., Yang, B., Chen, Z. F., & Lai, H. J. (2013). Occurrence and fate of eleven classes of antibiotics in two typical wastewater treatment plants in South China. *Science of the Total Environment, 452–453,* 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.03.010
- Zimin, A. V., & Salzberg, S. L. (2020). The genome polishing tool POLCA makes fast and accurate corrections in genome assemblies. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 16(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007981

Appendix D

Supplementary material for Chapter 5

Microbial Landscape of University Urinals: a Metagenomic Perspective on Urinal P-traps and the Discovery of Their Most Abundant and Prevalent Species

This appendix includes:

- **Figure D.1** Bacterial composition of the top 15 taxa at genera level in all urinal samples, ordered by building. All less abundant genera are grouped as "Other".
- **Figure D.2** Relative abundances (%) of the genus Dolosicoccus by building. Archaeology and The Dairy have the highest median of all the buildings.
- Figure D.3 Alignment of all the Dolosicoccus ASVs. Differences in bases between ASVs are shown (left). Heatmap based on the percentage identity generated from the alignment of the Dolosicoccus ASVs using Clustal Omega. Lighter purple represents less similarity between sequences (right).
- Figure D.4 Alignment of the top 3 Dolosicoccus ASVS (ASV_000000004, ASV_000000038, ASV_000000061) and the 16S rRNA sequence of Dolosicoccus Paucivorans (J012666.1). Differences in bases between ASVs are shown (left). Heatmap based on the percentage identity generated from the alignment of the Dolosicoccus ASVs using Clustal Omega. Lighter purple represents less similarity between sequences (right).
- **Table D.1** Metadata collected for each urinal P-trap sample, including building sample collected and its main purpose.
- **Table D.2** Taxonomic profiling of the bacterial community of P-traps of urinals located on a university campus and train station (A) Phylum, (B) Class, (C) Order, (D) Family, (E) Genus.
- **Table D.3** Pairwise comparisons for all pairs of levels of the factor "Building" by using PERMANOVA. Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-values shown. The R2 values indicate the amount of variation explained by the comparisons in the model.
- Table D.4 Pairwise comparison for all significant pairs of levels of building by using permutest(). Permuatation-based test of multivariate homogeneity of group dispersions (variance). P-values based on 999 permutations and corrected with Benjamini-Hochberg (BH).

- **Table D.5** The prevalence of Dolosicoccus within a building and the mean/median relative abundance (%) of Dolosicoccus in each building. Maximum relative abundance (%) and lowest relative abundance (%) of Dolosicoccus within a building shown.
- **Table D.6** Sequences of the 25 Dolosicoccus ASVs and their mean relative abundance (%) across all urinal samples and their maximum relative abundance (%) observed in a urinal sample.



Figure D.1. Bacterial composition of the top 15 taxa at genera level in all urinal samples, ordered by building. All less abundant genera are grouped as "Other".



Figure D.2. Relative abundances (%) of the genus Dolosicoccus by building. Archaeology and The Dairy have the highest median of all the buildings.

	Consensus	TACTTAGGTG	GCAAGCGTTG	TCCGGATTIA	TTGGGCGTA	A AGGGAGCGCA	GCCGGTGTAT	AAAGTCTGAT	GTGAAAGTCC	ACCCCTCAAC	CGTGGGATTG	100	
	sv_000000004											100	
	V 000000038		G									100	
	0000000061											100	
	v_0000000416											100	
	V_000000422											100	
	sv_0000000560											100	
	SV_000000656	•••••										100	ASV_000000038
	sv_0000000724	•••••					•••••		•••••			100	
000000000000000000000000000000000000	SV 0000000766	•••••										100	ASV_000000081
	SV_0000000883 .											100	454 000000418
	ev_0000000980		~									100	X31_00000410
	SV 0000000980						-					100	ASV_0000000422
0000130	sv 0000001145											100	
00001050	ASV_0000001306	6	n	λ			TOGA	T				100	ASV_000000580
0000156	sv 0000001404											100	
000010181 00001240 00000000 0000000000	sv 0000001565		h	ат а	c							87	ASV_000000656
	sv 0000001807											100	ASV 000000734
00000191	sv 0000001881											100	A34_00000124
00000242	sv 0000001913											100	ASV_000000786
000002240	ASV 0000002242		G									100	
000002149	ASV 0000002263										AA	100	ASV_0000000883
000002499	LSV 0000002369		G									100	
CATTORNAC TOATRACKTT GAGATAGIA GAGATAGIG GATTCCATG TOTATGGGG AATACOTA ATATAGIA GACACCAT GGCGAGGGG AAC.00000000 AAC.000000000	ASV_0000002409											100	ASV_000000960
SHAT CATCOLANAC TOATACACTT GAGATAGING GAATACTG GAATACTGATG ATATACGING ATATATAGGING GAACACCAGT GACGAAGGOCO 200 Add.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	ASV_0000003019											100	ASV 000000000
Base CATTORIANC TOURISACINT GUALTACINT GUALTACINT </td <td>_</td> <td></td> <td>ASY_00000080</td>	_												ASY_00000080
00000004	Consensus (CATTGGAAAC	TGATACACTT	GAGGATAGAA	GAGGATAGT	GAATTCCATG	TGTAGTGGTG	AAATACGTAG	ATATATGGAG	GAACACCAGT	GCGAAGGCG	200	ASV_0000001145
00000008	ASV_000000004											200	
000000061	LSV_000000038											200	ASV_0000001200
000000145 200 ARF_00000145 00000145 200 ARF_00000145 00000146 200 ARF_00000145 00000146 200 ARF_00000145 00000146 200 ARF_00000145 00000146 200 ARF_00000145 00000145 ARF_00000145 200 00000145 ARF_00000145 200 000000145 ARF_00000145 200 000000145 ARF_00000145 200 000000145 ARF_00000145 200 0000000145 <t< td=""><td>SV_000000061</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>т</td><td>200</td><td></td></t<>	SV_000000061										т	200	
000001442	SV_000000416								•••••			200	ASV_0000001306
UUUUU300	ASV_0000000422	•••••							• • • • • • • • • • •			200	ASV 0000001404
00000055	NSV_0000000560	•••••								• • • • • • • • • • • •		200	AUX_30001404
00000145	ASV_0000000656	•••••					c	G	•••••			200	ASV_0000001565
00000190	13V_0000000724	•••••							•••••		A	200	
00000986 200 AN, 00001101 00001960 200 AN, 00001101 00001100 200 AN, 00001101 00001100 200 AN, 00001101 00001100 200 AN, 00001101 00001100 200 AN, 00001101 00001101 200 AN, 000001101 00001101 200 AN, 000001101 00001101 200 AN, 000001101 00001101 200 AN, 000001101 000001101 200 200 000001101 20	NOV 0000000/66	•••••					• • • • • • • • • • • •		•••••	A.		200	ASV_0000001807
000001900 A. A. C. G. ADV. ADV. <t< td=""><td>Nev 0000000883</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>200</td><td></td></t<>	Nev 0000000883											200	
000000000000000000000000000000000000	ACV_000000960											200	ASV_0000001881
00001330	NSV 0000000980				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							200	ASV 000001013
00001306	SV_0000001145											200	X5V_000001913
000001300	LOV_000001200											200	ASV 0000002242
0000145	ASV 0000001306											200	
00001180	ASV 0000001565											197	ASV_0000002263
00001881	ASV 0000001365											200	
00001311	ASV 0000001881											200	ASV_0000002369
00001244	ASV_0000001881											200	
00002245	Nev 0000001913											200	ASV_0000002409
00002246	ASV 0000002242											200	451 000000000
00002409	ASV 0000002263											200	ASV_000003019
00000001019	ASV 0000002309								778.8			200	
CTARCTGOT CTARCACTOR COCTUNGCT COMMACATO GOLDACIMA AGO 253 253 00000004 253 253 000000051 253 253 000000522 A.TA G. G.T	ASV 0000003019						CA	G	G G	T GA		200	
Image: Strates Control Characteria Control Contect Contrecontect Contro Control Contrecontecontect Contrel Con												200	155
00000004 253 253 0000004 253 00000061 253 00000061 253 00000061 253 00000061 253 00000061 253 00000061 253 00000061 253 00000062 253 00000065 253 00000076 253 00000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 0000076 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253 000016 253	Consensus (GCTATCTGGT	CTATCACTGA	CGCTGAGGCT	CGAAAGCAT	GGGAGCAAAC	AGG					253	ی تلای
00000038 253 00000016 A. TA G. G. T. 253 0000016 A. TA G. A. T. 253 0000016 A. TA G. A. T. 253 0000016 A. TA G. A. T. 253 0000016 A. T. C. T. 253 00000174 A. T. G. T. 253 000001724 A. T. G. A. T. 253 00000174 A. T. G. T. 253 00000174 A. T. G. T. 253 00000174 A. T. G. T. 253 00000174 A. T. T. 253 00000176 C.C. A. A. C. C. A. G. T. 253 00000180 A. T. T. T. T. 253 00000180 A. T. T. T. T. 253 00001170 G. T. T. 253 253 00001180 T. T. G. A. G. T. 253 00001180 G. T. T. 253 253 00001180 G. T. G. A. G. T. 253 00001180 G. T. G. A.	ASV 0000000004											253	+ +
00000061 253 00000161 6.0 00000161 253 00000162 A. TA G. A.T. 253 00000162 A. TA G. A.T. 253 00000163 A. T G. A.T. 253 00000164 C.C. A. A. G.A.T. A. TO 253 00000165 A. T C.A.T. C.A.T. 253 00000166 C.C. A. A. G.A.T. G. T. G. 253 00000166 A. T G. T. G. 253 00000168 A. T G. T. G. 253 00000166 A. T G. T. T. G. 253 00000160 A. T G. T 253 00000160 A. T G. T 253 00001145 253 33 00001146 253 00001167 253 00001160 253 00001181 253 00001181 253 </td <td>sv 000000038</td> <td></td> <td>253</td> <td></td>	sv 000000038											253	
00000164 A. TA	sv 0000000061											253	
00000222 A. TA. .G. A.T.	sv_0000000416	a ma	C C T									253	
00000560 A.C.CAGATATOG. 253 00000561 A.T.C.CAGATG. 253 000005724 A.TG.A.TG.A.TG. 253 000005724 A.TG.A.TG.A.TG. 253 000005724 A.TG.A.TG.A.TG. 253 00000576 A.C.CG.A.TG.A.G.T.TG. 253 00000576 A.TG.T.AC.A.G.T.T	sv_0000000422	а та	GAT		G	T G						253	
00000556 A.T. T.T. 253 00000726CCC. A.A.T. G.T. 253 00000766CCC. A.A.T. G.T. 253 00000760 A.T. G.T. G.T. 253 00000780 A.T. G.T. A.C. 253 00000780 A.T. G.T. A.C. 253 00000780 A.T. G.T. A.C. 253 00001760 A.T. G.T. A.C. 253 0000180 A.T. G.T. A.C. 253 0000180 A.T. G.T. A.C. 253 0000180 A.T. G.T. C.T. 253 0000180 A.T. G.T. G.T. 253 0000180 A.T. G.T. G.T. 253 0000180 A.T. G.A. G.T. 253 0000180 A.T. G.A. G.T. 253 0000181 A.A. G.A. G.T. 253 0000181 A.A. G.A. G.T. 253 00001226 A.A. G.A. G.T. 253 00002263 A.T. A.A. G.T. 253 000	sv_0000000560	ACC A	GAT	A TG	i							253	
00000724 A.T	SV_0000000656	A T	TT									253	
00000766 CCCGA.ATCA GT	ASV 00000000724	A	GAT		G	T G						253	
00000883 A.T	ASV 0000000766		A AT	C	G	T						253	
0000060 A.T. C.T. A.C. 253 0000060 A.T. T.T. 253 00001165 253 0000120 C.T. 253 00001165 253 0000120 T.T. 253 0000120 G.A. G. 253 0000120 G.A. G. 253 0000120 G.A. G. 253 00001210 G.A. G. 253 00002263 A. 253 253 00002264 A. A.C. A. G. 253 00002264 A. A.S. 253 00002264 A. 253 253	ASV 000000883	a T	TT			-						253	
10000380 A.T. 253 100001145 253 100001140 253 100001140 7.T. 100001140 7.T. 100001140 7.T. 100001140 7.T. 100001140 7.T. 100001140 7.T. 100001140 253 100001141 1.T. 100001142 253 100001143 3.A. 100001144 3.A. 100001145 253 100001140 3.A. 100001141 3.A. 100001142 3.A. 100001143 3.A. 100001144 3.A. 100001145 253 100001145 3.A. 100001145 253 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145 3.5. 100001145	ASV 0000000960	а т	GT	a (π						253	
00001145 253 00001130 253 00001130 253 00001145 253 00001146 7.7 00001146 7.7 00001146 7.7 00001146 253 00001146 253 00001146 253 00001146 253 00001147 .6. 00001148 .6. 00001141 .6. 00001142 .7 00001143 .6. 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .5 00000126 253 00000126 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 00001226 .7 <td< td=""><td>ASV 0000000980</td><td>a T</td><td>T T</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>253</td><td></td></td<>	ASV 0000000980	a T	T T			-						253	
01001120 253 00001140 253 00001165 253 00001165 260 00001167 7. 00001168 253 00001169 6. 00001161 7. 00001162 253 00001163 253 00001161 253 00001224 253 000002263 253 000002169 253 000002169 253 000002161 253	ASV 0000001145											253	
10001106 253 10001166 253 10001165 240 10001166 253 10001186 253 10001188 253 10001188 253 10001184 253 10001242 253 10001244 253 10001246 253 10001246 253 10001246 253 10001246 253 10001246 253 10001246 253 10001246 253	NEV 0000001200				a							253	
00001404	ASV 0000001306											253	
10001565 240 10001565 253 10001180 253 10001181 253 10001242 233 100012261 233 100012263 233 100012264 233 100012264 233 1000012265 233 1000012469 233 1000012469 233 1000012469 233 1000012469 233 1000012469 233	ASV 0000001404		Τ Τ			π						253	
00001807	ASV 0000001565											240	
00001881	ASV 0000001807	т										253	
00001913 A C G. A	ASV 0000001881											253	
00002242	ASV 0000001913	A			G.	T						253	
00002263	ASV 0000002242	A										253	
00002369 253 00002409 A. T. A. A.C. A	ASV 0000002263		n									253	
00002409 A. T. A. AC. A	ASV 0000002369											253	
00003019	ASV 0000002409	а т а	AC A	T 2	a							253	
203	ASV 0000003019		5 B	C T 3								253	
	ASV_000003019		AA		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •							203	
	1												

Figure D.3. Alignment of all the Dolosicoccus ASVs. Differences in bases between ASVs are shown (left). Heatmap based on the percentage identity generated from the alignment of the Dolosicoccus ASVs using Clustal Omega. Lighter purple represents less similarity between sequences (right).

Chapter 5

		[Distance
CORSERSUS TACTAGGTG GCAAGCGTTG TCCGGATTA TTGGGCGTAA AGGGAGCGCA GGCGGTGTAT AAAGTCTGAT GTGAAAGTCC ACGGCTCAAC CGTGGGAT	rG 100		
ASV 00000000004	100		
ASV_0000000038G	100		- 97.5
AJ012666.1G	3T 100	ASV 000000004 99.61	
CORSERVUS CATTGEARE TEATACACTT GAGEARERA GAGEAREGA GARTACTE GARTCCATE TEAGTGETE ARATACGAE ATATACGAE GARCACCAET GEGERAGE	CG 200		
ASV_0000000061	т 200		- 95.0
ASV 000000004	200	ASV_0000000038 99.21 99.61	
AST 0000000038	200		- 92 5
			02.0
Consensus GCTATCTGGT CTATCACTGA CGCTGAGGCT CGAAAGCATG GGGAGCAAAC AGG	253	AJ012666.1 90.91 91.30 90.91	
ASV 0000000061	253		- 90.0
ASV 000000038	253	and and and	
AJ012666.1TG.AG.AG.A	253	and a series and a series and a series of the series of th	
1		500° 500° 500°	
•		st st	

Figure D.4 - Alignment of the top 3 Dolosicoccus ASVS (ASV_000000004, ASV_000000038, ASV_000000061) and the 16S rRNA sequence of Dolosicoccus Paucivorans (J012666.1). Differences in bases between ASVs are shown (left). Heatmap based on the percentage identity generated from the alignment of the Dolosicoccus ASVs using Clustal Omega. Lighter purple represents less similarity between sequences (right).

	sequenc	date_sampl			restro	urinal	urinal_ty	slow_		building_purp
sample_id	er	ed	building	floor	om	_id	ре	drain	location	ose
AFS.E01.AgU1	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Basement West	B1	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU2	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Basement West	B1	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU2										
R	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Basement West	B1	U2	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU3	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Basement West	B1	U3	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU4	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Basement West	B1	U4	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU5	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Basement West	B1	U5	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU6	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Basement West	B1	U6	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU7	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor West	B2	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU9	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor West	B2	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1										
0	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor West	B2	U4	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1										
1	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor West	B2	U5	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching

AFS.E01.AgU1										
2	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor West	B2	U6	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1 3	СЕН	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor East	В3	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1										
3R	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor East	B3	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1										
4	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	1st Floor East	B3	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1 5	СЕН	04/06/2021	Agriculture	2nd Floor East	B4	U1	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1										
6	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	2nd Floor East	B4	U2	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1										
7	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	3rd Floor West	B6	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1	0511									
7R	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	3rd Floor West	B6	01	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU1 8	СЕН	04/06/2021	Agriculture	3rd Floor West	B6	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU2										
0	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	2nd Floor West	B7	U2	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU2										
1	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Ground Floor East	B7	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.AgU2	CELL	04/05/2021	A gui avulturna	Crowned Floor Foot	57		David	N) //bita//aiabta	Taaabina
2	CEH	04/06/2021	Agriculture	Ground Floor East	В7	02	BOMI	N N	whiteknights	
AFS.E01.ArU1	CEH	08/06/2021	Archaeology	1st Floor Mid	B1	01	Bowl	Ŷ	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ArU2	CEH	08/06/2021	Archaeology	1st Floor Mid	B1	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ArU3	CEH	08/06/2021	Archaeology	1st Floor Mid	B1	U3	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ChU1	CEH	10/06/2021	Chemistry	1st Floor	B1	U1	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ChU3	CEH	10/06/2021	Chemistry	1st Floor	B1	U3	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ChU4	CEH	10/06/2021	Chemistry	1st Floor	B1	U4	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ChU5	CEH	10/06/2021	Chemistry	2nd Floor	B2	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ChU6	CEH	10/06/2021	Chemistry	2nd Floor	B2	U2	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ChU7	CEH	10/06/2021	Chemistry	2nd Floor	B2	U3	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching

AFS.E01.ChU8	CEH	10/06/2021	Chemistry	2nd Floor	B2	U4	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.DaU1	CEH	05/07/2021	The Dairy	Ground Floor	B1	U1	Bowl	N	London Rd	Recreational
AFS.E01.DaU2	CEH	05/07/2021	The Dairy	Ground Floor	B1	U2	Bowl	N	London Rd	Recreational
AFS.E01.DaU3	CEH	05/07/2021	The Dairy	Ground Floor	B1	U3	Bowl	N	London Rd	Recreational
AFS.E01.EMU1	CEH	01/06/2021	Edith Morely	Ground Floor Tower	B1	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.EMU2	CEH	01/06/2021	Edith Morely	Ground Floor Tower	B1	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.EMU3	CEH	02/06/2021	Edith Morely	1st Floor Tower	B2	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.EMU4	CEH	03/06/2021	Edith Morely	1st Floor Horseshoe South	В3	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.EMU5	СЕН	04/06/2021	Edith Morely	2nd Floor Horseshoe South	B4	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.ESU1	СЕН	08/06/2021	Eat at the Square	Ground Floor	B1	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.ESU2	СЕН	08/06/2021	Eat at the Square	Ground Floor	B1	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.ESU3	СЕН	08/06/2021	Eat at the Square	Ground Floor	B1	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.HeU1	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	Ground Floor North East	B1	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HeU2	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	Ground Floor North East	B1	U2	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HeU4	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	1st Floor North East	B2	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HeU5	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	2nd Floor North East	В3	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HeU6	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	2nd Floor North East	B3	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HeU7	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	2nd Floor Mid	B4	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HeU7 R	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	2nd Floor Mid	B4	U1	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HeU8	СЕН	08/06/2021	Henley Business School	2nd Floor Mid	B4	U2	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.HNU1	CEH	05/07/2021	Harry Nursten	Ground Floor	B1	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching

AFS.E01.JJU1	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	2nd Floor East	B2	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.JJU2	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	2nd Floor East	B2	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.JJU3	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	2nd Floor East	B2	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.JJU4	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	2nd Floor West	В3	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.JJU5	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	2nd Floor West	В3	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.JJU6	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	Ground Floor	B4	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.JJU7	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	Ground Floor	B4	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.JJU8	CEH	02/06/2021	JJ Thompson	Ground Floor	B4	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MaU1	CEH	02/06/2021	Maths	1st Floor	B1	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MaU2	CEH	02/06/2021	Maths	1st Floor	B1	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MaU3	CEH	02/06/2021	Maths	1st Floor	B1	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MaU4	CEH	02/06/2021	Maths	2nd Floor	B2	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MaU5	CEH	02/06/2021	Maths	2nd Floor	B2	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MaU6	CEH	02/06/2021	Maths	2nd Floor	B2	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Basement West	B1	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU2	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Basement West	B1	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU3	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Basement West	B1	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU4	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Basement West	B1	U4	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU5	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	2nd Floor West	B2	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU6	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	2nd Floor West	B2	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU7	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	2nd Floor West	B2	U3	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU8	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	2nd Floor West	B2	U4	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU9	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Ground Floor Mid	В3	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1										
0	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	1st Floor Mid	B4	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1	СЕН	07/06/2021	Meteorology	1st Floor North Fast	85	111	Bowl	v	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1		07/00/2021	Weteorology			01	50001		Wintekinghts	reacting
2	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	1st Floor North East	B5	U2	Bowl	Y	WhiteKnights	Teaching

AFS.E01.MeU1	-			1st Floor Further North						
4	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	East	B6	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1				1st Floor Further North						
5	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	East	B6	U2	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1										
6	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	2nd Floor North East	B7	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1										
7	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	2nd Floor North East	B7	02	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU1	CELL	07/06/2024	No to available	20 d Els en Nenth Esst	57		David		14/b : t = 1/ s : = b t =	Tarahima
8	CEH	07/06/2021	ivieteorology	2nd Floor North East	В7	03	BOMI	N	whiteknights	Teaching
9	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	East	B8	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU2									U U	
0	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Ground Floor North East	В9	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU2										
OR	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Ground Floor North East	В9	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU2										
1	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Ground Floor North East	B9	U2	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.MeU2										
2	CEH	07/06/2021	Meteorology	Ground Floor North East	B9	03	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.Neg0	CELL	Control	Negative	N/A	NI / A	NI / A	NI / A	NI / A	N/A	NI / A
	CEH	Control	Control	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AFS.EUI.Negu	СЕН	Control	Control	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Ν/Δ	N/A
AFS F01 Neg0	CEIT	control	Negative		N/A	N/A		N/A		
5	CEH	Control	Control	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AFS.E01.PEU1	CEH	05/07/2021	Park Eat	Ground Floor	B1	U1	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.PEU2	CEH	05/07/2021	Park Eat	Ground Floor	B1	U2	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.PEU3	CEH	05/07/2021	Park Eat	Ground Floor	B1	U3	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.PEU4	CEH	05/07/2021	Park Eat	Ground Floor	B1	U4	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.PVU1	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	Ground Floor East	B1	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PVU2	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	Ground Floor East	B1	U2	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PVU3	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	Ground Floor East	B1	U3	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching

	1	T	1			-	1	1	1	1
AFS.E01.PVU5	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	Ground Floor West	B2	U2	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PVU6	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	Ground Floor West	B2	U3	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PVU7	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	Ground Floor West	B2	U4	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PVU7										
R	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	Ground Floor West	B2	U4	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PVU8	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	1st Floor	B3	U1	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PVU9										
R	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	1st Floor	B3	02	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.PV01	СЕН	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	1st Eloor	B3	114	Bowl	Ν	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	CLII	01/00/2021	Folly Vachel	13(1100)	55	04	DOWI	IN	WhiteKinghts	Teaching
1R	CEH	01/06/2021	Polly Vacher	1st Floor	B3	U4	Bowl	N	WhiteKnights	Teaching
AFS.E01.TSU1	CEH	03/07/2021	Train Station	Ticket Hall	B1	U1	Bowl	Ν	Public	Other
AFS.E01.TSU2	CEH	03/07/2021	Train Station	Ticket Hall	B1	U2	Bowl	Ν	Public	Other
AFS.E01.TSU3	CEH	03/07/2021	Train Station	Ticket Hall	B1	U3	Bowl	Ν	Public	Other
AFS.E01.TSU4	CEH	03/07/2021	Train Station	Ticket Hall	B1	U4	Bowl	N	Public	Other
AFS.E01.UnU1	CEH	02/06/2021	Union	Corridor outside Mojos	B1	U1	Trench	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.UnU2	CEH	02/06/2021	Union	Corridor outside Mojos	B1	U2	Trench	Ν	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.UnU3	CEH	02/06/2021	Union	Ground Floor Main Room	B2	U1	Trench	Ν	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.UnU4	CEH	02/06/2021	Union	Ground Floor Main Room	B2	U2	Trench	N	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.UnU5	CEH	02/06/2021	Union	First Floor Main Room	В3	U1	Trench	Ν	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E01.UnU6	CEH	02/06/2021	Union	First Floor Main Room	В3	U2	Trench	Ν	WhiteKnights	Recreational
AFS.E02.Flc1	CEH	Falcon	Falcon Tube	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AFS.E02.Flc2	CEH	Falcon	Falcon Tube	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Novoge							unkn		
ZW.E03.URI01	ne	01/02/2023	Palmer	Ground Floor	Pa1	Pa1	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	Novoge							unkn		
ZW.E03.URI02	ne	01/02/2023	Palmer	Ground Floor	Pa2	Pa2	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	Novoge	01/02/2022	Dalmar	Cround Floor	Do 4	Do 4	Doud	unkn	WhiteKnights	Taaahing
200.E03.UKI03	Novoge	01/02/2023	Faillei		Pa4	ra4	DUWI	unkn	vvilleningfils	reaching
ZW.E03.URI04	ne	01/02/2023	Palmer	Ground Floor	Pa5	Pa5	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	-	-	•	•			-			-

	Novoge		Henley					unkn		
ZW.E03.URI05	ne	01/02/2023	Business School	Ground Floor	HBS2	HBS2	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	Novoge		Henley					unkn		
ZW.E03.URI06	ne	01/02/2023	Business School	Ground Floor	HBS3	HBS3	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	Novoge		Henley					unkn		
ZW.E03.URI07	ne	01/02/2023	Business School	Ground Floor	HBS4	HBS4	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	Novoge		Henley					unkn		
ZW.E03.URI08	ne	01/02/2023	Business School	Ground Floor	HBS5	HBS5	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching
	Novoge		Henley					unkn		
ZW.E03.URI09	ne	01/02/2023	Business School	Ground Floor	HBS6	HBS6	Bowl	own	WhiteKnights	Teaching

Table D.1. Metadata collected for each urinal P-trap sample, including building sample collected and its main purpose.

(A)

	Total	Total Reads	Prevalence (number of	Prevalence
Phylum	Reads	(%)	samples)	(%)
Proteobacteria	691653	70.72	105	100
Firmicutes	217503	22.24	96	91.43
Bacteroidota	25406	2.6	98	93.33
Actinobacteriota	15810	1.62	68	64.76
Cyanobacteria	12220	1.25	50	47.62
Planctomycetota	5165	0.53	45	42.86
Verrucomicrobiota	2101	0.21	29	27.62
Acidobacteriota	1923	0.2	18	17.14
Bdellovibrionota	1194	0.12	36	34.29
Dependentiae	1027	0.11	23	21.9
Desulfobacterota	1102	0.11	19	18.1
Gemmatimonadota	951	0.1	21	20
Campylobacterota	732	0.07	15	14.29
Nitrospirota	249	0.03	5	4.76
Synergistota	257	0.03	8	7.62
WPS-2	270	0.03	12	11.43
Chloroflexi	102	0.01	6	5.71
Deinococcota	50	0.01	3	2.86
Myxococcota	145	0.01	6	5.71
Fusobacteriota	43	0	3	2.86
Hydrogenedentes	45	0	1	0.95
Patescibacteria	5	0	1	0.95
Spirochaetota	12	0	2	1.9
Thermotogota	5	0	1	0.95

(B)

				Prevalence	
		Total	Total	(number of	Prevalence
Phylum	Class	Reads	Reads (%)	samples)	(%)
Acidobacteriota	Acidobacteriae	85	0.01	3	2.86
Acidobacteriota	Blastocatellia	1748	0.18	16	15.24
Acidobacteriota	Vicinamibacteria	90	0.01	3	2.86
Actinobacteriota	Actinobacteria	15694	1.6	68	64.76
Actinobacteriota	Coriobacteriia	105	0.01	6	5.71
Actinobacteriota	Thermoleophilia	11	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	25406	2.6	98	93.33
Bdellovibrionota	Bdellovibrionia	1194	0.12	36	34.29
Campylobacterota	Campylobacteria	732	0.07	15	14.29
Chloroflexi	Chloroflexia	14	0	1	0.95
Chloroflexi	JG30-KF-CM66	10	0	1	0.95
Chloroflexi	KD4-96	15	0	2	1.9
Chloroflexi	ТК10	63	0.01	2	1.9
Cyanobacteria	Cyanobacteriia	766	0.08	22	20.95
Cyanobacteria	Vampirivibrionia	11454	1.17	42	40
Deinococcota	Deinococci	50	0.01	3	2.86
Dependentiae	Babeliae	1027	0.11	23	21.9
Desulfobacterota	Desulfovibrionia	1079	0.11	17	16.19
Desulfobacterota	Desulfuromonadia	9	0	1	0.95
Desulfobacterota	Unclassified	14	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	196534	20.1	96	91.43
Firmicutes	Clostridia	16166	1.65	75	71.43
Firmicutes	Desulfitobacteriia	53	0.01	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Limnochordia	14	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	229	0.02	20	19.05
Firmicutes	Unclassified	4507	0.46	34	32.38
Fusobacteriota	Fusobacteriia	43	0	3	2.86
Gemmatimonadota	Gemmatimonadetes	951	0.1	21	20
Hydrogenedentes	Hydrogenedentia	45	0	1	0.95
Myxococcota	Myxococcia	101	0.01	4	3.81
Myxococcota	Polyangia	44	0	2	1.9
Nitrospirota	Nitrospiria	249	0.03	5	4.76
Patescibacteria	Saccharimonadia	5	0	1	0.95
Planctomycetota	OM190	264	0.03	7	6.67
Planctomycetota	Phycisphaerae	322	0.03	8	7.62
Planctomycetota	Planctomycetes	4541	0.46	42	40
Planctomycetota	Unclassified	23	0	2	1.9
Planctomycetota	vadinHA49	15	0	1	0.95
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	159667	16.33	97	92.38
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	531958	54.39	105	100
Proteobacteria	Unclassified	28	0	3	2.86
-------------------	------------------	------	------	----	-------
Spirochaetota	Leptospirae	12	0	2	1.9
Synergistota	Synergistia	257	0.03	8	7.62
Thermotogota	Thermotogae	5	0	1	0.95
Verrucomicrobiota	Chlamydiae	437	0.04	15	14.29
Verrucomicrobiota	Verrucomicrobiae	1664	0.17	22	20.95
WPS-2	Unclassified	270	0.03	12	11.43

1	C)	
l	C)	

			Prevalence (number			
			Total	Total Reads	of	
Phylum	Class	Order	Reads	(%)	samples)	Prevalence (%)
Acidobacteriota	Acidobacteriae	Bryobacterales	30	0	1	0.95
Acidobacteriota	Acidobacteriae	Paludibaculum	35	0	1	0.95
Acidobacteriota	Acidobacteriae	Unclassified	20	0	1	0.95
Acidobacteriota	Blastocatellia	Blastocatellales	1662	0.17	15	14.29
Acidobacteriota	Blastocatellia	Chloracidobacteriales	6	0	1	0.95
Acidobacteriota	Blastocatellia	Nov-24	80	0.01	2	1.9
Acidobacteriota	Vicinamibacteria	Vicinamibacterales	90	0.01	3	2.86
Actinobacteriota	Actinobacteria	Actinomycetales	702	0.07	24	22.86
Actinobacteriota	Actinobacteria	Bifidobacteriales	52	0.01	1	0.95
Actinobacteriota	Actinobacteria	Corynebacteriales	5886	0.6	45	42.86
Actinobacteriota	Actinobacteria	Frankiales	65	0.01	6	5.71
Actinobacteriota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	8776	0.9	44	41.9
Actinobacteriota	Actinobacteria	Unclassified	213	0.02	6	5.71
Actinobacteriota	Coriobacteriia	Coriobacteriales	105	0.01	6	5.71
Actinobacteriota	Thermoleophilia	Gaiellales	11	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	5992	0.61	60	57.14
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	3244	0.33	40	38.1
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	3471	0.35	25	23.81
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	10320	1.06	78	74.29
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	2141	0.22	47	44.76
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Unclassified	238	0.02	8	7.62
Bdellovibrionota	Bdellovibrionia	Bacteriovoracales	478	0.05	25	23.81
Bdellovibrionota	Bdellovibrionia	Bdellovibrionales	716	0.07	19	18.1

Campylobacterota	Campylobacteria	Campylobacterales	732	0.07	15	14.29
Chloroflexi	Chloroflexia	Thermomicrobiales	14	0	1	0.95
Chloroflexi	JG30-KF-CM66	Unclassified	10	0	1	0.95
Chloroflexi	KD4-96	Unclassified	15	0	2	1.9
Chloroflexi	TK10	Unclassified	63	0.01	2	1.9
Cyanobacteria	Cyanobacteriia	Chloroplast	633	0.06	22	20.95
Cyanobacteria	Cyanobacteriia	Cyanobacteriales	106	0.01	6	5.71
Cyanobacteria	Cyanobacteriia	Leptolyngbyales	27	0	1	0.95
Cyanobacteria	Vampirivibrionia	Obscuribacterales	11190	1.14	41	39.05
Cyanobacteria	Vampirivibrionia	Vampirovibrionales	264	0.03	3	2.86
Deinococcota	Deinococci	Deinococcales	49	0.01	2	1.9
Deinococcota	Deinococci	Thermales	1	0	1	0.95
Dependentiae	Babeliae	Babeliales	1027	0.11	23	21.9
Desulfobacterota	Desulfovibrionia	Desulfovibrionales	1079	0.11	17	16.19
Desulfobacterota	Desulfuromonadia	Geobacterales	9	0	1	0.95
Desulfobacterota	Unclassified	Unclassified	14	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Acholeplasmatales	7	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Bacillales	51	0.01	5	4.76
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	3129	0.32	39	37.14
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	192813	19.72	95	90.48
Firmicutes	Bacilli	RF39	23	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Staphylococcales	466	0.05	17	16.19
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Unclassified	45	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Christensenellales	35	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridia UCG-014	119	0.01	4	3.81
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	1326	0.14	28	26.67
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	163	0.02	9	8.57
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Lachnospirales	309	0.03	13	12.38
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	1310	0.13	26	24.76

Firmicutes	Clostridia	Peptococcales	116	0.01	5	4.76
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Peptostreptococcales-Tissierellales	12405	1.27	73	69.52
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Unclassified	383	0.04	17	16.19
Firmicutes	Desulfitobacteriia	Desulfitobacteriales	53	0.01	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Limnochordia	MBA03	14	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Veillonellales-Selenomonadales	229	0.02	20	19.05
Firmicutes	Unclassified	Unclassified	4507	0.46	34	32.38
Fusobacteriota	Fusobacteriia	Fusobacteriales	43	0	3	2.86
Gemmatimonadota	Gemmatimonadetes	Gemmatimonadales	951	0.1	21	20
Hydrogenedentes	Hydrogenedentia	Hydrogenedentiales	45	0	1	0.95
Myxococcota	Мухососсіа	Myxococcales	101	0.01	4	3.81
Myxococcota	Polyangia	Blfdi19	37	0	1	0.95
Myxococcota	Polyangia	Haliangiales	7	0	1	0.95
Nitrospirota	Nitrospiria	Nitrospirales	249	0.03	5	4.76
Patescibacteria	Saccharimonadia	Saccharimonadales	5	0	1	0.95
Planctomycetota	OM190	Unclassified	264	0.03	7	6.67
Planctomycetota	Phycisphaerae	Phycisphaerales	322	0.03	8	7.62
Planctomycetota	Planctomycetes	Gemmatales	1710	0.17	29	27.62
Planctomycetota	Planctomycetes	Isosphaerales	108	0.01	5	4.76
Planctomycetota	Planctomycetes	Pirellulales	1470	0.15	19	18.1
Planctomycetota	Planctomycetes	Planctomycetales	1154	0.12	20	19.05
Planctomycetota	Planctomycetes	Unclassified	99	0.01	7	6.67
Planctomycetota	Unclassified	Unclassified	23	0	2	1.9
Planctomycetota	vadinHA49	Unclassified	15	0	1	0.95
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Acetobacterales	93	0.01	6	5.71
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Azospirillales	268	0.03	4	3.81
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Caedibacterales	598	0.06	18	17.14
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Caulobacterales	13384	1.37	78	74.29
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Holosporales	88	0.01	6	5.71

Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Micavibrionales	324	0.03	6	5.71
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Paracaedibacterales	414	0.04	13	12.38
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Reyranellales	16853	1.72	59	56.19
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhizobiales	81506	8.33	95	90.48
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhodobacterales	4612	0.47	39	37.14
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhodospirillales	186	0.02	9	8.57
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rickettsiales	3612	0.37	45	42.86
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Sphingomonadales	36000	3.68	78	74.29
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Unclassified	1729	0.18	20	19.05
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Beggiatoales	253	0.03	9	8.57
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	233158	23.84	105	100
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Cardiobacteriales	174	0.02	6	5.71
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Coxiellales	32	0	2	1.9
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Diplorickettsiales	485	0.05	10	9.52
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Enterobacterales	97220	9.94	91	86.67
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria Incertae Sedis	691	0.07	14	13.33
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Legionellales	1128	0.12	28	26.67
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Pseudomonadales	120119	12.28	99	94.29
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Salinisphaerales	20207	2.07	35	33.33
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Steroidobacterales	19	0	1	0.95
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Tenderiales	5	0	1	0.95
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Unclassified	3111	0.32	45	42.86
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Xanthomonadales	55356	5.66	90	85.71
Proteobacteria	Unclassified	Unclassified	28	0	3	2.86
Spirochaetota	Leptospirae	Leptospirales	12	0	2	1.9
Synergistota	Synergistia	Synergistales	257	0.03	8	7.62
Thermotogota	Thermotogae	Thermotogales	5	0	1	0.95
Verrucomicrobiota	Chlamydiae	Chlamydiales	437	0.04	15	14.29
Verrucomicrobiota	Verrucomicrobiae	Chthoniobacterales	682	0.07	12	11.43

Verrucomicrobiota	Verrucomicrobiae	Opitutales	464	0.05	11	10.48
Verrucomicrobiota	Verrucomicrobiae	Unclassified	5	0	1	0.95
Verrucomicrobiota	Verrucomicrobiae	Verrucomicrobiales	513	0.05	9	8.57
WPS-2	Unclassified	Unclassified	270	0.03	12	11.43

(D)

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Total Reads	Total Reads (%)	Prevalence (number of samples)	Prevalenc e (%)
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob				() - () - ()		- (/
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Comamonadaceae	133995	13.7	98	93.33
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Aerococcaceae	122440	12.52	84	80
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Pseudomonadales	Pseudomonadaceae	101194	10.35	98	93.33
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Carnobacteriaceae	62648	6.41	78	74.29
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	55270	5.65	101	96.19
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Xanthomonadales	Xanthomonadaceae	54603	5.58	88	83.81
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Enterobacteriaceae	42209	4.32	67	63.81
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Unclassified	40731	4.16	52	49.52
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiaceae	40341	4.12	90	85.71
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Sphingomonadales	Sphingomonadaceae	36000	3.68	78	74.29
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Rhodocyclaceae	29197	2.99	74	70.48

Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhizobiales	Beijerinckiaceae	27316	2.79	75	71.43
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Salinisphaerales	Solimonadaceae	20207	2.07	35	33.33
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Pseudomonadales	Moraxellaceae	18569	1.9	46	43.81
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Reyranellales	Reyranellaceae	16853	1.72	59	56.19
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Caulobacterales	Caulobacteraceae	13105	1.34	78	74.29
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Morganellaceae	12310	1.26	45	42.86
Cyanobacteri	Vampirivibrioni						
а	а	Obscuribacterales	Obscuribacteraceae	11190	1.14	41	39.05
		Peptostreptococcales-					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	10092	1.03	68	64.76
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Methylophilaceae	7411	0.76	29	27.62
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Microbacteriaceae	7138	0.73	33	31.43
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhizobiales	Xanthobacteraceae	5984	0.61	59	56.19
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Flavobacteriaceae	5821	0.6	65	61.9
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhizobiales	Hyphomicrobiaceae	5865	0.6	40	38.1
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhodobacterales	Rhodobacteraceae	4612	0.47	39	37.14
Firmicutes	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	4507	0.46	34	32.38
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Weeksellaceae	4372	0.45	51	48.57
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Unclassified	4323	0.44	33	31.43
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Dysgonomonadaceae	3893	0.4	46	43.81

Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Corynebacteriales	Mycobacteriaceae	3808	0.39	39	37.14
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	Chitinophagaceae	3199	0.33	39	37.14
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Unclassified	Unclassified	3111	0.32	45	42.86
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Unclassified	3169	0.32	27	25.71
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	Erysipelotrichaceae	3043	0.31	39	37.14
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rickettsiales	Mitochondria	3068	0.31	38	36.19
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Lactobacillaceae	2698	0.28	22	20.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Microscillaceae	2776	0.28	14	13.33
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Oxalobacteraceae	2036	0.21	24	22.86
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Unclassified	Unclassified	1729	0.18	20	19.05
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	Sphingobacteriaceae	1617	0.17	38	36.19
Planctomycet							
ota	Planctomycetes	Gemmatales	Gemmataceae	1710	0.17	29	27.62
Acidobacteri							
ota	Blastocatellia	Blastocatellales	Blastocatellaceae	1662	0.17	15	14.29
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Corynebacteriales	Corynebacteriaceae	1519	0.16	22	20.95
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiales Incertae Sedis	1537	0.16	17	16.19
Planctomycet							
ota	Planctomycetes	Pirellulales	Pirellulaceae	1470	0.15	19	18.1
		Peptostreptococcales-					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Peptostreptococcaceae	1329	0.14	26	24.76
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Clostridiaceae	1314	0.13	28	26.67
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Muribaculaceae	1269	0.13	19	18.1

Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Legionellales	Legionellaceae	1128	0.12	28	26.67
Desulfobacte	Desulfovibrioni						
rota	а	Desulfovibrionales	Desulfovibrionaceae	1079	0.11	17	16.19
Gemmatimon	Gemmatimona						
adota	detes	Gemmatimonadales	Gemmatimonadaceae	951	0.1	21	20
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Nitrosomonadaceae	924	0.09	16	15.24
		Peptostreptococcales-					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Gottschalkia	742	0.08	20	19.05
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Shewanellaceae	787	0.08	2	1.9
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Actinomycetales	Actinomycetaceae	702	0.07	24	22.86
Bdellovibrion							
ota	Bdellovibrionia	Bdellovibrionales	Bdellovibrionaceae	716	0.07	19	18.1
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob	Gammaproteobacteria					
а	acteria	Incertae Sedis	Unknown Family	691	0.07	14	13.33
Campylobact	Campylobacteri						
erota	а	Campylobacterales	Arcobacteraceae	711	0.07	13	12.38
Planctomycet							
ota	Planctomycetes	Planctomycetales	Schlesneriaceae	667	0.07	13	12.38
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Burkholderiaceae	578	0.06	24	22.86
Cyanobacteri							
а	Cyanobacteriia	Chloroplast	Unclassified	633	0.06	22	20.95
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Streptococcaceae	630	0.06	19	18.1
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Caedibacterales	Caedibacteraceae	598	0.06	18	17.14
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Xanthomonadales	Rhodanobacteraceae	538	0.06	15	14.29

Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Corynebacteriales	Nocardiaceae	559	0.06	12	11.43
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Chthoniobacterales	Terrimicrobiaceae	632	0.06	10	9.52
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	Hungateiclostridiaceae	605	0.06	9	8.57
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Yersiniaceae	607	0.06	9	8.57
Bdellovibrion							
ota	Bdellovibrionia	Bacteriovoracales	Bacteriovoracaceae	478	0.05	25	23.81
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Micrococcaceae	529	0.05	18	17.14
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Staphylococcales	Staphylococcaceae	459	0.05	16	15.24
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	TRA3-20	450	0.05	13	12.38
Dependentia							
е	Babeliae	Babeliales	Vermiphilaceae	486	0.05	12	11.43
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Diplorickettsiales	Diplorickettsiaceae	485	0.05	10	9.52
Planctomycet							
ota	Planctomycetes	Planctomycetales	Rubinisphaeraceae	487	0.05	8	7.62
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	425	0.04	19	18.1
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Unclassified	Unclassified	383	0.04	17	16.19
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Paracaedibacterales	Paracaedibacteraceae	414	0.04	13	12.38
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rickettsiales	SM2D12	353	0.04	13	12.38
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Spirosomaceae	439	0.04	12	11.43
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Opitutales	Opitutaceae	424	0.04	11	10.48
Dependentia							
е	Babeliae	Babeliales	Babeliaceae	426	0.04	10	9.52

Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Pseudomonadales	Unclassified	356	0.04	9	8.57
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Alteromonadaceae	393	0.04	8	7.62
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	ales Unclassified		0.03	14	13.33
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Lachnospirales	Lachnospiraceae	303	0.03	13	12.38
WPS-2	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	270	0.03	12	11.43
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	Ruminococcaceae	263	0.03	10	9.52
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Beggiatoales	Beggiatoaceae	253	0.03	9	8.57
Planctomycet							
ota	Phycisphaerae	Phycisphaerales	Phycisphaeraceae	322	0.03	8	7.62
Synergistota	Synergistia	Synergistales	Synergistaceae	257	0.03	8	7.62
Planctomycet							
ota	OM190	Unclassified	Unclassified	264	0.03	7	6.67
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Caulobacterales	Hyphomonadaceae	279	0.03	6	5.71
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Micavibrionales	Unclassified	324	0.03	6	5.71
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhizobiales	Unclassified	305	0.03	6	5.71
Nitrospirota	Nitrospiria	Nitrospirales	Nitrospiraceae	249	0.03	5	4.76
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Verrucomicrobiales	Rubritaleaceae	334	0.03	5	4.76
Cyanobacteri	Vampirivibrioni						
а	а	Vampirovibrionales	Vampirovibrionaceae	264	0.03	3	2.86
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Promicromonosporaceae	267	0.03	1	0.95
		Veillonellales-					
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	Veillonellaceae	184	0.02	17	16.19

Verrucomicro							
biota	Chlamydiae	Chlamydiales	Parachlamydiaceae	189	0.02	11	10.48
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	env.OPS 17	239	0.02	9	8.57
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhodospirillales	Rhodospirillales Unclassified		0.02	9	8.57
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Cytophagaceae	239	0.02	8	7.62
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Unclassified	Unclassified	238	0.02	8	7.62
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Xanthomonadales	Unclassified	215	0.02	8	7.62
Verrucomicro							
biota	Chlamydiae	Chlamydiales	Simkaniaceae	220	0.02	7	6.67
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Dermabacteraceae	238	0.02	6	5.71
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Unclassified	Unclassified	213	0.02	6	5.71
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Cardiobacteriales	Wohlfahrtiimonadaceae	174	0.02	6	5.71
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Verrucomicrobiales	Verrucomicrobiaceae	179	0.02	5	4.76
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Brevibacteriaceae	165	0.02	3	2.86
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Rikenellaceae	203	0.02	3	2.86
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Azospirillales	Azospirillaceae	149	0.02	3	2.86
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rhizobiales	Devosiaceae	156	0.02	3	2.86
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Intrasporangiaceae	213	0.02	1	0.95
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Burkholderiales	Neisseriaceae	122	0.01	13	12.38

Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Pasteurellaceae	85	0.01	8	7.62
Planctomycet							
ota	Planctomycetes	Unclassified	Unclassified	99	0.01	7	6.67
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	dales Porphyromonadaceae		0.01	6	5.71
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Acetobacterales	Acetobacteraceae	93	0.01	6	5.71
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Holosporales	Holosporaceae	88	0.01	6	5.71
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rickettsiales	Rickettsiaceae	106	0.01	6	5.71
Actinobacteri							
ota	Coriobacteriia	Coriobacteriales	Atopobiaceae	57	0.01	5	4.76
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Crocinitomicaceae	106	0.01	5	4.76
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	NS11-12 marine group	103	0.01	5	4.76
Cyanobacteri							
а	Cyanobacteriia	Cyanobacteriales	Chroococcidiopsaceae	102	0.01	5	4.76
Dependentia							
е	Babeliae	Babeliales	Unclassified	85	0.01	5	4.76
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	Eubacteriaceae	72	0.01	5	4.76
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	Oscillospiraceae	77	0.01	5	4.76
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Peptococcales	Peptococcaceae	116	0.01	5	4.76
		Peptostreptococcales-					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Sedimentibacteraceae	57	0.01	5	4.76
Planctomycet							
ota	Planctomycetes	Isosphaerales	Isosphaeraceae	108	0.01	5	4.76
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Cellulomonadaceae	71	0.01	4	3.81
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridia UCG-014	Unclassified	119	0.01	4	3.81
		Peptostreptococcales-					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Guggenheimella	91	0.01	4	3.81

Myxococcota	Мухососсіа	Myxococcales	Мухососсасеае	101	0.01	4	3.81
Acidobacteri	Vicinamibacteri						
ota	а	Vicinamibacterales	Vicinamibacteraceae	90	0.01	3	2.86
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Unclassified	135	0.01	3	2.86
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Paludibacteraceae	91	0.01	3	2.86
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	Lentimicrobiaceae	99	0.01	3	2.86
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	Unclassified	69	0.01	3	2.86
Acidobacteri							
ota	Blastocatellia	Nov-24	Unclassified	80	0.01	2	1.9
Chloroflexi	TK10	Unclassified	Unclassified	63	0.01	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	Erysipelatoclostridiaceae	86	0.01	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Vagococcaceae	63	0.01	2	1.9
	Desulfitobacteri						
Firmicutes	ia	Desulfitobacteriales	TC1	53	0.01	2	1.9
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Bifidobacteriales	Bifidobacteriaceae	52	0.01	1	0.95
			[Eubacterium]				
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	coprostanoligenes group	49	0.01	1	0.95
		Peptostreptococcales-					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Unclassified	58	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Azospirillales	Inquilinaceae	119	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rickettsiales	Anaplasmataceae	69	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Enterobacterales	Aeromonadaceae	98	0.01	1	0.95
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Frankiales	Geodermatophilaceae	35	0	4	3.81
Actinobacteri							
ota	Coriobacteriia	Coriobacteriales	Coriobacteriaceae	35	0	3	2.86

Actinobacteri							
ota	Coriobacteriia	Coriobacteriales	Eggerthellaceae	13	0	3	2.86
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Bacillales	Bacillaceae	14	0	3	2.86
		Veillonellales-					
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	Selenomonadaceae	27	0	3	2.86
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac						
а	teria	Rickettsiales	Unclassified	16	0	3	2.86
Proteobacteri						_	
а	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	28	0	3	2.86
Actinobacteri							
ota	Actinobacteria	Frankiales	Sporichthyaceae	30	0	2	1.9
Actinobacteri		National and the second s		20		2	1.0
ota	Actinobacteria	Wilcrococcales	Bogoriellaceae	20	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Unclassified	10	0	2	1.9
Campylobact	Campylobacteri						
erota	а	Campylobacterales	Campylobacteraceae	21	0	2	1.9
Chloroflexi	KD4-96	Unclassified	Unclassified	15	0	2	1.9
Dependentia							
е	Babeliae	Babeliales	UBA12409	30	0	2	1.9
Desulfobacte							
rota	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	14	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Bacillales	Planococcaceae	37	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Enterococcaceae	11	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	RF39	Unclassified	23	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Staphylococcales	Gemellaceae	7	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Unclassified	Unclassified	45	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	Alkalibaculum	26	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	Anaerofustaceae	39	0	2	1.9
		Peptostreptococcales-					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Anaerovoracaceae	36	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Limnochordia	MBA03	Unclassified	14	0	2	1.9

Fusobacteriot							
а	Fusobacteriia	Fusobacteriales	Fusobacteriaceae	38	0	2	1.9
Planctomycet							
ota	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	23	0	2	1.9
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Coxiellales	Coxiellaceae	32	0	2	1.9
Spirochaetot							
а	Leptospirae	Leptospirales	Leptospiraceae	12	0	2	1.9
Verrucomicro							
biota	Chlamydiae	Chlamydiales	Unclassified	28	0	2	1.9
Acidobacteri							
ota	Acidobacteriae	Bryobacterales	Bryobacteraceae	30	0	1	0.95
Acidobacteri							
ota	Acidobacteriae	Paludibaculum	Unclassified	35	0	1	0.95
Acidobacteri							
ota	Acidobacteriae	Unclassified	Unclassified	20	0	1	0.95
Acidobacteri						_	
ota	Blastocatellia	Chloracidobacteriales	Chloracidobacteriaceae	6	0	1	0.95
Actinobacteri	Thermoleophili					_	
ota	а	Gaiellales	Unclassified	11	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Unclassified	35	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	Unclassified	45	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Hymenobacteraceae	7	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Cryomorphaceae	3	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Unclassified	18	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidota	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	KD3-93	14	0	1	0.95
Chloroflexi	Chloroflexia	Thermomicrobiales	JG30-KF-CM45	14	0	1	0.95
Chloroflexi	JG30-KF-CM66	Unclassified	Unclassified	10	0	1	0.95
Cyanobacteri	Cvanobacterija	Cvanobacteriales	Coleofasciculaceae	Δ	0	1	0.95
a	Cyanobacteriia	Cyanobacteriales	Coleofasciculaceae	4	0	1	0.95

Cyanobacteri							
а	Cyanobacteriia	Leptolyngbyales	Leptolyngbyaceae	27	0	1	0.95
Deinococcota	Deinococci	Deinococcales	Deinococcaceae		0	1	0.95
Deinococcota	Deinococci	Deinococcales	Trueperaceae	34	0	1	0.95
Deinococcota	Deinococci	Thermales	Thermaceae	1	0	1	0.95
Desulfobacte	Desulfuromona						
rota	dia	Geobacterales	Geobacteraceae	9	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Acholeplasmatales	Acholeplasmataceae	7	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Christensenellales	Christensenellaceae	35	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Unclassified	12	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	Alkalibacteraceae	7	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	Unclassified	19	0	1	0.95
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Lachnospirales	Unclassified	6	0	1	0.95
			Hydrogenoanaerobacteriu				
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	m	16	0	1	0.95
		Veillonellales-					
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	Sporomusaceae	18	0	1	0.95
Fusobacteriot							
а	Fusobacteriia	Fusobacteriales	Leptotrichiaceae	5	0	1	0.95
Hydrogenede	Hydrogenedent				_		
ntes	ia	Hydrogenedentiales	Hydrogenedensaceae	45	0	1	0.95
Myxococcota	Polyangia	Blfdi19	Unclassified	37	0	1	0.95
Myxococcota	Polyangia	Haliangiales	Haliangiaceae	7	0	1	0.95
Patescibacter	Saccharimonadi			_	_		
ia	а	Saccharimonadales	Saccharimonadaceae	5	0	1	0.95
Planctomycet	1: 114.40			45			0.05
ota Distantestari	vadinHA49	Unclassified	Unclassified	15	0	1	0.95
Proteobacteri	Alphaproteobac	Dhizohialas	Mathylanilasaa	2	0	1	0.05
d Drotoobactari	Gammanrotech	RIIIZODIdIes		2	0	1	0.95
a	acteria	Burkholderiales	SC-I-84	6	Λ	1	0 95
ч Ч	uciciiu	Buikilolucilaica	50107		0	L 1	0.55

Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Steroidobacterales	Steroidobacteraceae	19	0	1	0.95
Proteobacteri	Gammaproteob						
а	acteria	Tenderiales	Tenderiaceae	5	0	1	0.95
Thermotogot							
а	Thermotogae	Thermotogales	Fervidobacteriaceae	5	0	1	0.95
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Chthoniobacterales	Chthoniobacteraceae	4	0	1	0.95
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Chthoniobacterales	Xiphinematobacteraceae	46	0	1	0.95
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Opitutales	Puniceicoccaceae	40	0	1	0.95
Verrucomicro	Verrucomicrobi						
biota	ае	Unclassified	Unclassified	5	0	1	0.95

(E)

						Total	Prevalence	
					Total	Reads	(number of	Prevalen
Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Reads	(%)	samples)	ce (%)
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Pseudomonada					
eria	obacteria	Pseudomonadales	ceae	Pseudomonas	69914	7.15	88	83.81
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Xanthomonada					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	ceae	Stenotrophomonas	30990	3.17	83	79.05
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Achromobacter	18162	1.86	77	73.33
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Caulobacterace					
eria	acteria	Caulobacterales	ae	Brevundimonas	10453	1.07	74	70.48
					11394			
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Aerococcaceae	Dolosicoccus	6	11.65	73	69.52

Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Beijerinckiacea					
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	е	Bosea	16506	1.69	70	66.67
Bacteroidot			Flavobacteriace					
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	ае	Flavobacterium	5735	0.59	63	60
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Xanthomonada					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	ceae	Pseudoxanthomonas	12823	1.31	62	59.05
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Reyranellales	Reyranellaceae	Reyranella	16853	1.72	59	56.19
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Delftia	13421	1.37	59	56.19
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Sphingopyxis	10543	1.08	57	54.29
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Sphingobium	12606	1.29	56	53.33
			Carnobacteriac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	eae	Atopostipes	21235	2.17	53	50.48
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Oligella	26503	2.71	49	46.67
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiaceae	Shinella	8304	0.85	49	46.67
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Weeksellaceae	Chryseobacterium	4150	0.42	49	46.67
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Pseudomonada					
eria	obacteria	Pseudomonadales	ceae	Thiopseudomonas	15867	1.62	47	44.76
		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Tissierella	4198	0.43	47	44.76
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Xanthomonada					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	ceae	Thermomonas	6247	0.64	45	42.86
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Alcaligenes	5674	0.58	45	42.86
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Pseudomonadales	Moraxellaceae	Acinetobacter	18170	1.86	43	40.95

Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Beijerinckiacea	Methylobacterium-				
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	е	Methylorubrum	10361	1.06	43	40.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiaceae	Pseudochrobactrum	4717	0.48	40	38.1
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Mycobacteriace					
riota	а	Corynebacteriales	ае	Mycobacterium	3808	0.39	39	37.14
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Enterobacterales	Morganellaceae	Morganella	4346	0.44	38	36.19
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Solimonadacea					
eria	obacteria	Salinisphaerales	е	Nevskia	20105	2.06	35	33.33
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodocyclacea					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	е	Methyloversatilis	15628	1.6	35	33.33
			Erysipelotrichac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	eae	Erysipelothrix	2350	0.24	35	33.33
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodocyclacea					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	е	Thauera	10655	1.09	33	31.43
Bacteroidot			Dysgonomonad					
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	aceae	Proteiniphilum	1710	0.17	32	30.48
		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	W5053	2350	0.24	30	28.57
Cyanobacte	Vampirivibrio		Obscuribactera	Candidatus				
ria	nia	Obscuribacterales	ceae	Obscuribacter	5925	0.61	28	26.67
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Legionellales	Legionellaceae	Legionella	1128	0.12	28	26.67
Bacteroidot			Sphingobacteri					
а	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	aceae	Sphingobacterium	888	0.09	27	25.71
Bacteroidot			Chitinophagace					
а	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	ае	Sediminibacterium	2228	0.23	26	24.76
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Clostridiaceae	Proteiniclasticum	1219	0.12	26	24.76
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodocyclacea					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	е	Azospira	1353	0.14	25	23.81

Bdellovibrio	Bdellovibrioni		Bacteriovoracac					
nota	а	Bacteriovoracales	eae	Peredibacter	474	0.05	25	23.81
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiaceae	Brucella	4528	0.46	24	22.86
	dotenta		Carnobacteriac	Brücena	1020	0110		22.00
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	eae	Lacticigenium	2367	0.24	24	22.86
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Sphingomonas	976	0.1	24	22.86
Planctomyc	Planctomycet			op80				
etota	es	Gemmatales	Gemmataceae	Gemmata	1201	0.12	23	21.9
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Xanthobacterac		_	_		
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	eae	Bradyrhizobium	1417	0.14	21	20
Gemmatim	Gemmatimon		Gemmatimona	,				
onadota	adetes	Gemmatimonadales	daceae	Gemmatimonas	806	0.08	21	20
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Burkholderiace					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ае	Ralstonia	407	0.04	21	20
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Methylophilace					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ae	Methylotenera	7100	0.73	20	19.05
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Blastomonas	2631	0.27	20	19.05
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Oxalobacterace					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ае	Herminiimonas	1932	0.2	20	19.05
Bdellovibrio	Bdellovibrioni		Bdellovibrionac					
nota	а	Bdellovibrionales	eae	Bdellovibrio	716	0.07	19	18.1
			Streptococcace					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	ae	Streptococcus	592	0.06	19	18.1
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Rhodobacterac					
eria	acteria	Rhodobacterales	eae	Rhodobacter	1816	0.19	18	17.14
			Lactobacillacea					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	е	Lactobacillus	1103	0.11	18	17.14
			Carnobacteriac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	eae	Jeotgalibaca	1074	0.11	18	17.14

Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Rhizobiales					
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Incertae Sedis	Nordella	1537	0.16	17	16.19
Planctomyc	Planctomycet							
etota	es	Pirellulales	Pirellulaceae	Pir4 lineage	1037	0.11	17	16.19
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Sphingorhabdus	1402	0.14	16	15.24
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Corynebacteria					
riota	а	Corynebacteriales	ceae	Corynebacterium	820	0.08	16	15.24
		Peptostreptococcales-	Peptostreptoco					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	ccaceae	Romboutsia	429	0.04	16	15.24
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Aerococcaceae	Ignavigranum	963	0.1	15	14.29
Desulfobact	Desulfovibrio		Desulfovibriona					
erota	nia	Desulfovibrionales	ceae	Desulfovibrio	947	0.1	15	14.29
Bacteroidot			Dysgonomonad					
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	aceae	Dysgonomonas	753	0.08	15	14.29
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodocyclacea					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	е	Georgfuchsia	567	0.06	15	14.29
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Caedibacterace	Candidatus				
eria	acteria	Caedibacterales	ае	Nucleicultrix	523	0.05	15	14.29
			Staphylococcac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Staphylococcales	eae	Staphylococcus	387	0.04	15	14.29
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Corynebacteria					
riota	а	Corynebacteriales	ceae	Lawsonella	362	0.04	15	14.29
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Rhodobacterac					
eria	acteria	Rhodobacterales	eae	Tabrizicola	750	0.08	14	13.33
Proteobact	Gammaprote	Gammaproteobacteria	Unknown					
eria	obacteria	Incertae Sedis	Family	Candidatus Berkiella	670	0.07	14	13.33
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Parapusillimonas	369	0.04	14	13.33
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Ottowia	5055	0.52	13	12.38

		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Gallicola	1438	0.15	13	12.38
Planctomyc	Planctomycet							
etota	es	Planctomycetales	Schlesneriaceae	Planctopirus	666	0.07	13	12.38
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Actinomycetace					
riota	а	Actinomycetales	ае	Flaviflexus	459	0.05	13	12.38
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Nitrosomonada					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ceae	DSSD61	438	0.04	13	12.38
Bacteroidot			Chitinophagace					
а	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	ae	Lacibacter	389	0.04	13	12.38
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Pseudomonadales	Moraxellaceae	Enhydrobacter	273	0.03	13	12.38
		Veillonellales-						
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	Veillonellaceae	Veillonella	151	0.02	13	12.38
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Aerococcaceae	Facklamia	866	0.09	12	11.43
		Peptostreptococcales-	Peptostreptoco					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	ccaceae	Proteocatella	854	0.09	12	11.43
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri							
riota	а	Corynebacteriales	Nocardiaceae	Rhodococcus	559	0.06	12	11.43
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Eoetvoesia	500	0.05	12	11.43
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodanobacter					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	aceae	Dokdonella	452	0.05	12	11.43
Campyloba	Campylobact		Arcobacteracea					
cterota	eria	Campylobacterales	е	Arcobacter	684	0.07	11	10.48
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Novosphingobium	525	0.05	11	10.48
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Caulobacterace					
eria	acteria	Caulobacterales	ae	Caulobacter	210	0.02	11	10.48
		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Peptoniphilus	131	0.01	11	10.48

		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Anaerococcus	88	0.01	11	10.48
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Acidovorax	6113	0.63	10	9.52
Verrucomic	Verrucomicro		Terrimicrobiace					
robiota	biae	Chthoniobacterales	ае	Terrimicrobium	632	0.06	10	9.52
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Caulobacterace					
eria	acteria	Caulobacterales	ае	Phenylobacterium	347	0.04	10	9.52
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Micrococcacea					
riota	а	Micrococcales	е	Kocuria	283	0.03	10	9.52
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Neisseriaceae	Neisseria	83	0.01	10	9.52
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Xanthomonada					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	ceae	Lysobacter	2208	0.23	9	8.57
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Paenalcaligenes	1289	0.13	9	8.57
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Spirosomaceae	Dyadobacter	393	0.04	9	8.57
Bacteroidot			Chitinophagace					
а	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	ае	Flavihumibacter	260	0.03	9	8.57
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	Prevotella_9	250	0.03	9	8.57
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Plot4-2H12	246	0.03	9	8.57
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Porphyrobacter	818	0.08	8	7.62
Planctomyc	Planctomycet		Rubinisphaerac					
etota	es	Planctomycetales	eae	SH-PL14	487	0.05	8	7.62
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Aerococcaceae	Aerococcus	310	0.03	8	7.62
Planctomyc	Phycisphaera		Phycisphaerace					
etota	е	Phycisphaerales	ае	SM1A02	281	0.03	8	7.62

Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Qipengyuania	272	0.03	8	7.62
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Paracaedibacte	Candidatus				
eria	acteria	Paracaedibacterales	raceae	Paracaedibacter	263	0.03	8	7.62
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Hyphomicrobia					
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	ceae	Hyphomicrobium	192	0.02	8	7.62
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Enterobacterales	Pasteurellaceae	Haemophilus	85	0.01	8	7.62
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Pseudorhodoferax	1263	0.13	7	6.67
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Xanthomonada					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	ceae	Luteimonas	766	0.08	7	6.67
			Hungateiclostri					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	diaceae	Fastidiosipila	443	0.05	7	6.67
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Microbacteriac					
riota	а	Micrococcales	eae	Agromyces	382	0.04	7	6.67
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Alteromonadac					
eria	obacteria	Enterobacterales	eae	Rheinheimera	314	0.03	7	6.67
			Lactobacillacea					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	е	Ligilactobacillus	297	0.03	7	6.67
Planctomyc	Planctomycet							
etota	es	Gemmatales	Gemmataceae	Fimbriiglobus	220	0.02	7	6.67
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Cytophagaceae	Cytophaga	199	0.02	7	6.67
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Corynebacteria					
riota	а	Corynebacteriales	ceae	Turicella	167	0.02	7	6.67
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Micrococcacea					
riota	а	Micrococcales	е	Rothia	84	0.01	7	6.67
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiaceae	Aminobacter	441	0.05	6	5.71
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Rhodobacterac					
eria	acteria	Rhodobacterales	eae	Pseudorhodobacter	294	0.03	6	5.71

Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Dermabacterac					
riota	а	Micrococcales	eae	Brachybacterium	238	0.02	6	5.71
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Microscillaceae	OLB12	213	0.02	6	5.71
Synergistot								
а	Synergistia	Synergistales	Synergistaceae	Syner-01	210	0.02	6	5.71
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Xanthobacterac					
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	eae	Pseudorhodoplanes	110	0.01	6	5.71
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Weeksellaceae	Cloacibacterium	99	0.01	6	5.71
Bacteroidot			Porphyromona					
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	daceae	Porphyromonas	76	0.01	6	5.71
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	Prevotella	37	0	6	5.71
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Aerococcaceae	Aerosphaera	388	0.04	5	4.76
Verrucomic	Verrucomicro							
robiota	biae	Verrucomicrobiales	Rubritaleaceae	Luteolibacter	334	0.03	5	4.76
Verrucomic	Verrucomicro							
robiota	biae	Opitutales	Opitutaceae	Lacunisphaera	304	0.03	5	4.76
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Aquabacterium	279	0.03	5	4.76
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Microbacteriac					
riota	а	Micrococcales	eae	Leucobacter	274	0.03	5	4.76
			Erysipelotrichac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	eae	Allobaculum	269	0.03	5	4.76
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Diplorickettsiac					
eria	obacteria	Diplorickettsiales	eae	Aquicella	253	0.03	5	4.76
Nitrospirota	Nitrospiria	Nitrospirales	Nitrospiraceae	Nitrospira	249	0.03	5	4.76
Verrucomic	Verrucomicro		Verrucomicrobi					
robiota	biae	Verrucomicrobiales	aceae	Prosthecobacter	179	0.02	5	4.76
Acidobacter			Blastocatellace					
iota	Blastocatellia	Blastocatellales	ае	Blastocatella	137	0.01	5	4.76

			Peptococcacea					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Peptococcales	e	Desulfonispora	116	0.01	5	4.76
Bacteroidot			Crocinitomicace					
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	ае	Fluviicola	106	0.01	5	4.76
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Actinomycetace					
riota	а	Actinomycetales	ae	Trueperella	89	0.01	5	4.76
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Micrococcacea					
riota	а	Micrococcales	е	Micrococcus	88	0.01	5	4.76
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	Eubacteriaceae	Acetobacterium	72	0.01	5	4.76
		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Ezakiella	67	0.01	5	4.76
		Peptostreptococcales-	Sedimentibacte					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	raceae	Sedimentibacter	57	0.01	5	4.76
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Comamonas	3779	0.39	4	3.81
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Xanthomonada					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	ceae	Arenimonas	386	0.04	4	3.81
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Microscillaceae	Chryseolinea	323	0.03	4	3.81
Bacteroidot			Dysgonomonad					
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	aceae	Petrimonas	301	0.03	4	3.81
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Hyphomonadac					
eria	acteria	Caulobacterales	eae	Hirschia	235	0.02	4	3.81
			Erysipelotrichac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	eae	Solobacterium	184	0.02	4	3.81
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	Alloprevotella	107	0.01	4	3.81
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Acetobacterace					
eria	acteria	Acetobacterales	ае	Roseomonas	82	0.01	4	3.81
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Sphingosinicella	80	0.01	4	3.81

		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Finegoldia	76	0.01	4	3.81
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Caedibacterace					
eria	acteria	Caedibacterales	ае	Caedibacter	75	0.01	4	3.81
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Wohlfahrtiimon					
eria	obacteria	Cardiobacteriales	adaceae	Ignatzschineria	74	0.01	4	3.81
			Staphylococcac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Staphylococcales	eae	Jeotgalicoccus	72	0.01	4	3.81
Planctomyc	Planctomycet							
etota	es	Isosphaerales	Isosphaeraceae	Paludisphaera	69	0.01	4	3.81
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Beijerinckiacea					
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	е	Camelimonas	59	0.01	4	3.81
Bacteroidot			Chitinophagace					
а	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	ае	Niabella	53	0.01	4	3.81
		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Fenollaria	36	0	4	3.81
Verrucomic			Parachlamydiac	Candidatus				
robiota	Chlamydiae	Chlamydiales	eae	Protochlamydia	35	0	4	3.81
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Microscillaceae	Hassallia	1919	0.2	3	2.86
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Nitrosomonada					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ceae	Nitrosospira	458	0.05	3	2.86
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodocyclacea					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	е	Dechlorobacter	194	0.02	3	2.86
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Brevibacteriace					
riota	а	Micrococcales	ае	Brevibacterium	165	0.02	3	2.86
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Azospirillales	Azospirillaceae	Skermanella	149	0.02	3	2.86
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Microscillaceae	Ohtaekwangia	147	0.02	3	2.86
Bacteroidot			Lentimicrobiace					
а	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	ае	Lentimicrobium	99	0.01	3	2.86

Bacteroidot			Sphingobacteri					
а	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	aceae	Solitalea	86	0.01	3	2.86
Verrucomic			Parachlamydiac					
robiota	Chlamydiae	Chlamydiales	eae	Neochlamydia	84	0.01	3	2.86
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Weeksellaceae	Elizabethkingia	76	0.01	3	2.86
			Carnobacteriac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	eae	Granulicatella	51	0.01	3	2.86
		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Keratinibaculum	49	0.01	3	2.86
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Actinomycetace					
riota	а	Actinomycetales	ае	Actinomyces	47	0	3	2.86
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Cellulomonadac					
riota	а	Micrococcales	eae	Actinotalea	45	0	3	2.86
Bacteroidot			Paludibacterace					
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	ае	H1	43	0	3	2.86
			Streptococcace					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	ае	Lactococcus	38	0	3	2.86
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Pusillimonas	38	0	3	2.86
Actinobacte			Coriobacteriace					
riota	Coriobacteriia	Coriobacteriales	ае	Collinsella	35	0	3	2.86
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Sandarakinorhabdus	31	0	3	2.86
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Actinomycetace					
riota	а	Actinomycetales	ае	Actinotignum	27	0	3	2.86
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Actinomycetace					
riota	а	Actinomycetales	ае	Varibaculum	27	0	3	2.86
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Enterobacterales	Morganellaceae	Buchnera	23	0	3	2.86
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Aerococcaceae	Abiotrophia	19	0	3	2.86

3	2.86
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
· · · · ·	3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Synergistot								
а	Synergistia	Synergistales	Synergistaceae	Jonquetella	47	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot			Sphingobacteri					
а	Bacteroidia	Sphingobacteriales	aceae	Nubsella	44	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Devosiaceae	Devosia	40	0	2	1.9
			Anaerofustacea					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	е	Anaerofustis	39	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot			Chitinophagace					
а	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	ae	Terrimonas	38	0	2	1.9
Fusobacteri			Fusobacteriace					
ota	Fusobacteriia	Fusobacteriales	ae	Fusobacterium	38	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Coxiellales	Coxiellaceae	Coxiella	32	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Cytophagaceae	Siphonobacter	30	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot			Chitinophagace					
а	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	ae	Flavitalea	29	0	2	1.9
Campyloba	Campylobact		Arcobacteracea					
cterota	eria	Campylobacterales	e	Pseudarcobacter	27	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Beijerinckiacea					
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	e	28-YEA-48	27	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Weeksellaceae	Bergeyella	26	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot			Chitinophagace					
а	Bacteroidia	Chitinophagales	ае	Edaphobaculum	25	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Rhodobacterac					
eria	acteria	Rhodobacterales	eae	Paracoccus	25	0	2	1.9
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Geodermatophi					
riota	а	Frankiales	laceae	Klenkia	23	0	2	1.9
		Veillonellales-						
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	Veillonellaceae	Dialister	22	0	2	1.9

Campyloba	Campylobact		Campylobacter					
cterota	eria	Campylobacterales	aceae	Campylobacter	21	0	2	1.9
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri							
riota	а	Micrococcales	Bogoriellaceae	Georgenia	20	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	Prevotella_7	18	0	2	1.9
Dependenti								
ае	Babeliae	Babeliales	Babeliaceae	Candidatus Babela	17	0	2	1.9
			Ruminococcace					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	ae	Subdoligranulum	17	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Burkholderiace					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ae	Lautropia	17	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Xanthomonada					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	ceae	Xanthomonas	17	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Microscillaceae	Flexibacter	16	0	2	1.9
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Micrococcacea					
riota	а	Micrococcales	е	Renibacterium	14	0	2	1.9
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	Weeksellaceae	Moheibacter	14	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Oxalobacterace					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ae	Massilia	14	0	2	1.9
Spirochaeto								
ta	Leptospirae	Leptospirales	Leptospiraceae	Turneriella	12	0	2	1.9
		Veillonellales-						
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	Veillonellaceae	Negativicoccus	11	0	2	1.9
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodanobacter					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	aceae	Pseudofulvimonas	10	0	2	1.9
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Staphylococcales	Gemellaceae	Gemella	7	0	2	1.9
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Intrasporangiac					
riota	а	Micrococcales	eae	Knoellia	213	0.02	1	0.95

Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Pseudacidovorax	167	0.02	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Enterobacterales	Morganellaceae	Cosenzaea	134	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Hydrogenophaga	129	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Azospirillales	Inquilinaceae	Inquilinus	119	0.01	1	0.95
Bacteroidot				Rikenellaceae RC9 gut				
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Rikenellaceae	group	110	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Aeromonadace					
eria	obacteria	Enterobacterales	ае	Aeromonas	98	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodocyclacea					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	е	Uliginosibacterium	93	0.01	1	0.95
			Carnobacteriac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	eae	Carnobacterium	80	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Anaplasmatace					
eria	acteria	Rickettsiales	ае	Wolbachia	69	0.01	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodanobacter					
eria	obacteria	Xanthomonadales	aceae	Tahibacter	60	0.01	1	0.95
			Carnobacteriac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	eae	Isobaculum	58	0.01	1	0.95
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Bifidobacteriac					
riota	а	Bifidobacteriales	eae	Bifidobacterium	52	0.01	1	0.95
Verrucomic	Verrucomicro		Xiphinematoba	Candidatus				
robiota	biae	Chthoniobacterales	cteraceae	Xiphinematobacter	46	0	1	0.95
			Oscillospiracea					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	е	NK4A214 group	41	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Hyphomonadac					
eria	acteria	Caulobacterales	eae	SWB02	38	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiaceae	Neorhizobium	37	0	1	0.95

Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Pseudomonadales	Moraxellaceae	Perlucidibaca	37	0	1	0.95
			Christensenella	Christensenellaceae				
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Christensenellales	ceae	R-7 group	35	0	1	0.95
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Actinomycetace					
riota	а	Actinomycetales	ае	Mobiluncus	34	0	1	0.95
Deinococco								
ta	Deinococci	Deinococcales	Trueperaceae	Truepera	34	0	1	0.95
			Ruminococcace					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Oscillospirales	ае	Ruminococcus	33	0	1	0.95
Cyanobacte	Cyanobacterii		Chroococcidiop					
ria	а	Cyanobacteriales	saceae	Aliterella	32	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote			[Agitococcus] lubricus				
eria	obacteria	Pseudomonadales	Moraxellaceae	group	31	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Pseudomonadales	Moraxellaceae	Alkanindiges	31	0	1	0.95
Acidobacter	Acidobacteria		Bryobacteracea					
iota	е	Bryobacterales	е	Bryobacter	30	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Comamonadac					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	eae	Malikia	28	0	1	0.95
Cyanobacte	Cyanobacterii		Leptolyngbyace	Leptolyngbya PCC-				
ria	а	Leptolyngbyales	ае	6306	27	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Burkholderiace					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ае	Polynucleobacter	27	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Spirosomaceae	Emticicia	25	0	1	0.95
			Erysipelotrichac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	eae	Dubosiella	25	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	Neisseriaceae	Kingella	24	0	1	0.95
		Peptostreptococcales-	Anaerovoracac					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	eae	Mogibacterium	21	0	1	0.95

Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Parablastomonas	21	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote	Gammaproteobacteria	Unknown					
eria	obacteria	Incertae Sedis	Family	Acidibacter	21	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Nitrosomonada					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ceae	MND1	20	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob							
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	Rhizobiaceae	Pseudaminobacter	19	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Methylophilace	Candidatus				
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ае	Methylopumilus	19	0	1	0.95
		Veillonellales-						
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	Sporomusaceae	Anaerosporomusa	18	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Paracaedibacte					
eria	acteria	Paracaedibacterales	raceae	Candidatus Odyssella	17	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Rhodocyclacea					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	е	Dechloromonas	17	0	1	0.95
Acidobacter	Vicinamibacte		Vicinamibacter					
iota	ria	Vicinamibacterales	aceae	Vicinamibacter	15	0	1	0.95
Deinococco			Deinococcacea					
ta	Deinococci	Deinococcales	е	Deinococcus	15	0	1	0.95
		Peptostreptococcales-	Anaerovoracac					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	eae	Anaerovorax	15	0	1	0.95
				Clostridium sensu				
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Clostridiaceae	stricto 1	14	0	1	0.95
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Micrococcacea					
riota	а	Micrococcales	е	Enteractinococcus	13	0	1	0.95
		Veillonellales-	Selenomonadac					
Firmicutes	Negativicutes	Selenomonadales	eae	Centipeda	13	0	1	0.95
Myxococcot								
а	Myxococcia	Myxococcales	Myxococcaceae	P3OB-42	13	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote			Candidatus				
eria	obacteria	Enterobacterales	Morganellaceae	Hamiltonella	13	0	1	0.95

Bacteroidot			Paludibacterace					
а	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	ae	Paludibacter	12	0	1	0.95
			Erysipelotrichac					
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Erysipelotrichales	eae	Holdemanella	12	0	1	0.95
		Peptostreptococcales-	Peptostreptoco					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	ccaceae	Peptostreptococcus	12	0	1	0.95
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Sporichthyacea	Candidatus				
riota	а	Frankiales	е	Planktophila	11	0	1	0.95
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Micrococcacea					
riota	а	Micrococcales	е	Yaniella	11	0	1	0.95
Actinobacte	Actinobacteri		Microbacteriac					
riota	а	Micrococcales	eae	Rathayibacter	10	0	1	0.95
			Lachnospiracea					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Lachnospirales	е	Oribacterium	10	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Solimonadacea					
eria	obacteria	Salinisphaerales	е	Hydrocarboniphaga	10	0	1	0.95
			Lachnospiracea	[Eubacterium]				
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Lachnospirales	е	fissicatena group	9	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Rhodobacterac					
eria	acteria	Rhodobacterales	eae	Haematobacter	9	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Sphingomonad					
eria	acteria	Sphingomonadales	aceae	Altererythrobacter	9	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Methylophilace					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ae	Methylobacillus	8	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote		Nitrosomonada					
eria	obacteria	Burkholderiales	ceae	Nitrosomonas	8	0	1	0.95
Acidobacter	Vicinamibacte		Vicinamibacter					
iota	ria	Vicinamibacterales	aceae	Luteitalea	7	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidot			Hymenobactera					
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	ceae	Hymenobacter	7	0	1	0.95
Cyanobacte	Cyanobacterii		Chroococcidiop	Chroococcidiopsis				
ria	а	Cyanobacteriales	saceae	PCC 7203	7	0	1	0.95
			Acholeplasmata					
-------------	----------------	-----------------------	-----------------	---------------------	---	---	---	------
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Acholeplasmatales	ceae	Acholeplasma	7	0	1	0.95
			Alkalibacterace					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Eubacteriales	ае	Alkalibacter	7	0	1	0.95
Myxococcot								
а	Polyangia	Haliangiales	Haliangiaceae	Haliangium	7	0	1	0.95
Acidobacter			Chloracidobact					
iota	Blastocatellia	Chloracidobacteriales	eriaceae	Chloracidobacterium	6	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Spirosomaceae	Leadbetterella	6	0	1	0.95
		Peptostreptococcales-						
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Tissierellales	Family XI	Helcococcus	6	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidot								
а	Bacteroidia	Cytophagales	Spirosomaceae	Larkinella	5	0	1	0.95
Bacteroidot			Flavobacteriace					
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	ае	Myroides	5	0	1	0.95
			Lachnospiracea					
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Lachnospirales	е	Blautia	5	0	1	0.95
Fusobacteri			Leptotrichiacea					
ota	Fusobacteriia	Fusobacteriales	е	Sneathia	5	0	1	0.95
Patescibact	Saccharimona		Saccharimonad					
eria	dia	Saccharimonadales	aceae	TM7a	5	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Gammaprote							
eria	obacteria	Tenderiales	Tenderiaceae	Candidatus Tenderia	5	0	1	0.95
Thermotog			Fervidobacteria					
ota	Thermotogae	Thermotogales	ceae	Fervidobacterium	5	0	1	0.95
Cyanobacte	Cyanobacterii		Coleofasciculac					
ria	а	Cyanobacteriales	eae	Wilmottia Ant-Ph58	4	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Acetobacterace					
eria	acteria	Acetobacterales	ае	Rhodovastum	4	0	1	0.95
Verrucomic	Verrucomicro		Chthoniobacter	Candidatus				
robiota	biae	Chthoniobacterales	aceae	Udaeobacter	4	0	1	0.95

Bacteroidot			Flavobacteriace					
а	Bacteroidia	Flavobacteriales	ае	Capnocytophaga	3	0	1	0.95
Proteobact	Alphaproteob		Xanthobacterac					
eria	acteria	Rhizobiales	eae	Rhodopseudomonas	3	0	1	0.95
Deinococco								
ta	Deinococci	Thermales	Thermaceae	Thermus	1	0	1	0.95
Planctomyc	Planctomycet							
etota	es	Planctomycetales	Schlesneriaceae	Schlesneria	1	0	1	0.95

Table D.2. Taxonomic profiling of the bacterial community of P-traps of urinals located on a university campus and train station (A) Phylum, (B) Class, (C) Order, (D) Family, (E) Genus.

	Sums Of	Mean				
Pairwise Comparison	Squares	Squares	F Model	R2	p-value	p-value (BH corrected)
Agriculture <-> Archaeology	0.746251	0.746251	1.806156	0.079196	0.002	0.0065
Agriculture <-> Chemistry	0.774539	0.774539	1.845297	0.068738	0.001	0.004789474
Agriculture <-> Eat at the Square	0.888562	0.888562	2.176425	0.093907	0.001	0.004789474
Agriculture <-> Edith Morely	0.563362	0.563362	1.341274	0.055103	0.027	0.0351
Agriculture <-> Henley Business School	0.668741	0.668741	1.600708	0.060175	0.002	0.0065
Agriculture <-> JJ Thompson	0.810152	0.810152	1.925159	0.06894	0.001	0.004789474
Agriculture <-> Maths	0.724835	0.724835	1.734963	0.067417	0.002	0.0065
Agriculture <-> Meteorology	0.67875	0.67875	1.641577	0.04141	0.013	0.020050847
Agriculture <-> Park Eat	0.720101	0.720101	1.698227	0.07166	0.004	0.008878049
Agriculture <-> Polly Vacher	1.075715	1.075715	2.711074	0.091248	0.001	0.004789474
Agriculture <-> The Dairy	0.437697	0.437697	1.025576	0.046563	0.374	0.374
Agriculture <-> Train Station	0.954318	0.954318	2.312776	0.095126	0.001	0.004789474
Agriculture <-> Union	0.8195	0.8195	1.952421	0.075231	0.001	0.004789474
Archaeology <-> Chemistry	0.863837	0.863837	2.301973	0.22345	0.01	0.015964912
Archaeology <-> Eat at the Square	0.891125	0.891125	3.293595	0.451574	0.1	0.104597701
Archaeology <-> Edith Morely	0.808211	0.808211	2.235595	0.271455	0.029	0.035186667
Archaeology <-> Henley Business School	0.513047	0.513047	1.389845	0.148016	0.039	0.0443625
Archaeology <-> JJ Thompson	0.8455	0.8455	2.205615	0.196831	0.009	0.014890909
Archaeology <-> Maths	0.930671	0.930671	2.56949	0.268509	0.015	0.021328125
Archaeology <-> Meteorology	0.899992	0.899992	2.299062	0.098676	0.001	0.004789474
Archaeology <-> Park Eat	0.648697	0.648697	1.765317	0.260936	0.057	0.063256098
Archaeology <-> Polly Vacher	1.046461	1.046461	3.248002	0.245169	0.008	0.014
Archaeology <-> The Dairy	0.552299	0.552299	1.501756	0.272959	0.1	0.104597701
Archaeology <-> Train Station	0.931068	0.931068	2.934374	0.369831	0.031	0.036636364
Archaeology <-> Union	0.902035	0.902035	2.445201	0.258883	0.018	0.024447761
Chemistry <-> Eat at the Square	0.80476	0.80476	2.220729	0.217277	0.008	0.014
Chemistry <-> Edith Morely	0.474073	0.474073	1.189361	0.106294	0.135	0.138033708

Chemistry <-> Henley Business School	0.719321	0.719321	1.809631	0.131041	0.006	0.012133333
Chemistry <-> JJ Thompson	0.612349	0.612349	1.511431	0.104154	0.014	0.020885246
Chemistry <-> Maths	0.695205	0.695205	1.757087	0.137734	0.002	0.0065
Chemistry <-> Meteorology	0.690147	0.690147	1.718922	0.064334	0.004	0.008878049
Chemistry <-> Park Eat	0.759854	0.759854	1.871476	0.172146	0.003	0.007583333
Chemistry <-> Polly Vacher	1.020766	1.020766	2.836198	0.168458	0.001	0.004789474
Chemistry <-> The Dairy	0.572228	0.572228	1.392322	0.14824	0.03	0.035921053
Chemistry <-> Train Station	0.880994	0.880994	2.329771	0.205633	0.002	0.0065
Chemistry <-> Union	0.67892	0.67892	1.697635	0.133697	0.016	0.0224
Eat at the Square <-> Edith Morely	0.67299	0.67299	1.954354	0.245696	0.015	0.021328125
Eat at the Square <-> Henley Business School	0.865386	0.865386	2.429047	0.232912	0.007	0.013553191
Eat at the Square <-> JJ Thompson	0.66901	0.66901	1.798914	0.166583	0.008	0.014
Eat at the Square <-> Maths	0.849925	0.849925	2.445915	0.258939	0.008	0.014
Eat at the Square <-> Meteorology	0.860053	0.860053	2.22491	0.095798	0.001	0.004789474
Eat at the Square <-> Park Eat	0.83169	0.83169	2.397703	0.324114	0.025	0.032971014
Eat at the Square <-> Polly Vacher	0.978818	0.978818	3.138373	0.238871	0.009	0.014890909
Eat at the Square <-> The Dairy	0.743636	0.743636	2.17424	0.352147	0.1	0.104597701
Eat at the Square <-> Train Station	0.911201	0.911201	3.071127	0.380508	0.029	0.035186667
Eat at the Square <-> Union	0.81493	0.81493	2.300846	0.24738	0.022	0.029441176
Edith Morely <-> Henley Business School	0.643638	0.643638	1.634849	0.140513	0.009	0.014890909
Edith Morely <-> JJ Thompson	0.444114	0.444114	1.101788	0.091043	0.259	0.261877778
Edith Morely <-> Maths	0.501454	0.501454	1.28239	0.124717	0.017	0.023439394
Edith Morely <-> Meteorology	0.53206	0.53206	1.329493	0.054645	0.063	0.069072289
Edith Morely <-> Park Eat	0.653332	0.653332	1.62105	0.188034	0.008	0.014
Edith Morely <-> Polly Vacher	0.755935	0.755935	2.15687	0.152355	0.005	0.010581395
Edith Morely <-> The Dairy	0.564992	0.564992	1.380865	0.187087	0.032	0.037333333
Edith Morely <-> Train Station	0.760408	0.760408	2.070862	0.228298	0.01	0.015964912
Edith Morely <-> Union	0.527983	0.527983	1.332477	0.12896	0.098	0.104597701
Henley Business School <-> JJ Thompson	0.7321	0.7321	1.823961	0.123041	0.001	0.004789474

Henley Business School <-> Maths	0.873207	0.873207	2.232083	0.168687	0.001	0.004789474
Henley Business School <-> Meteorology	0.903125	0.903125	2.260403	0.082919	0.002	0.0065
Henley Business School <-> Park Eat	0.632561	0.632561	1.579115	0.149267	0.006	0.012133333
Henley Business School <-> Polly Vacher	0.997139	0.997139	2.797732	0.166554	0.002	0.0065
Henley Business School <-> The Dairy	0.512264	0.512264	1.265261	0.13656	0.038	0.043772152
Henley Business School <-> Train Station	0.925044	0.925044	2.481962	0.216162	0.004	0.008878049
Henley Business School <-> Union	0.767618	0.767618	1.941025	0.14999	0.001	0.004789474
JJ Thompson <-> Maths	0.71467	0.71467	1.786592	0.129589	0.004	0.008878049
JJ Thompson <-> Meteorology	0.805027	0.805027	1.996159	0.071301	0.003	0.007583333
JJ Thompson <-> Park Eat	0.693576	0.693576	1.690761	0.144624	0.003	0.007583333
JJ Thompson <-> Polly Vacher	1.112246	1.112246	3.040764	0.16855	0.001	0.004789474
JJ Thompson <-> The Dairy	0.603294	0.603294	1.453372	0.139034	0.012	0.018827586
JJ Thompson <-> Train Station	0.925615	0.925615	2.403382	0.193768	0.002	0.0065
JJ Thompson <-> Union	0.678013	0.678013	1.678556	0.122714	0.003	0.007583333
Maths <-> Meteorology	0.731607	0.731607	1.834591	0.071013	0.005	0.010581395
Maths <-> Park Eat	0.75958	0.75958	1.906397	0.192441	0.003	0.007583333
Maths <-> Polly Vacher	1.052954	1.052954	2.993948	0.187193	0.001	0.004789474
Maths <-> The Dairy	0.628362	0.628362	1.55908	0.182155	0.014	0.020885246
Maths <-> Train Station	0.908323	0.908323	2.474449	0.236237	0.003	0.007583333
Maths <-> Union	0.822987	0.822987	2.092804	0.173062	0.004	0.008878049
Meteorology <-> Park Eat	0.860553	0.860553	2.13374	0.088413	0.001	0.004789474
Meteorology <-> Polly Vacher	1.3304	1.3304	3.501979	0.114812	0.001	0.004789474
Meteorology <-> The Dairy	0.544217	0.544217	1.343509	0.06013	0.052	0.058419753
Meteorology <-> Train Station	1.028751	1.028751	2.625001	0.106599	0.001	0.004789474
Meteorology <-> Union	0.816336	0.816336	2.037078	0.078238	0.003	0.007583333
Park Eat <-> Polly Vacher	0.958397	0.958397	2.721345	0.198329	0.001	0.004789474
Park Eat <-> The Dairy	0.545018	0.545018	1.2835	0.204265	0.111	0.114784091
Park Eat <-> Train Station	0.847464	0.847464	2.271433	0.274612	0.028	0.035186667
Park Eat <-> Union	0.670297	0.670297	1.657922	0.171664	0.015	0.021328125

Chapter 5

Polly Vacher <-> The Dairy	0.727834	0.727834	2.074965	0.17184	0.007	0.013553191
Polly Vacher <-> Train Station	0.910345	0.910345	2.763872	0.200806	0.002	0.0065
Polly Vacher <-> Union	0.928817	0.928817	2.614168	0.167423	0.001	0.004789474
The Dairy <-> Train Station	0.706449	0.706449	1.886564	0.273948	0.028	0.035186667
The Dairy <-> Union	0.645804	0.645804	1.576159	0.183784	0.029	0.035186667
Train Station <-> Union	0.780398	0.780398	2.092541	0.207335	0.003	0.007583333

Table D.3. Pairwise comparisons for all pairs of levels of the factor "Building" by using PERMANOVA. Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-values shown. The R2 values indicate the amount of variation explained by the comparisons in the model.

Building	VS	Building	P Value	P Adjusted Value
Agriculture	vs	Archaeology	0.000197302	0.003257809
Agriculture	VS	Chemistry	0.001314916	0.008701213
Agriculture	vs	Eat at the Square	6.43E-08	5.85E-06
Agriculture	vs	Edith Morely	0.000256472	0.003257809
Agriculture	vs	Henley Business School	0.000322201	0.003257809
Agriculture	VS	JJ Thompson	0.003735664	0.022663031
Agriculture	vs	Maths	0.000369231	0.003360004
Agriculture	VS	Park Eat	0.001278169	0.008701213
Agriculture	VS	Polly Vacher	0.000262025	0.003257809
Agriculture	VS	The Dairy	4.82E-05	0.001095709
Agriculture	VS	Train Station	7.92E-07	3.60E-05
Archaeology	VS	Meteorology	0.001338648	0.008701213
Chemistry	VS	Eat at the Square	0.004597022	0.024607589
Eat at the				
Square	VS	Henley Business School	0.004945116	0.025000309
Eat at the				
Square	VS	JJ Thompson	0.00122265	0.008701213
Eat at the				
Square	VS	Meteorology	6.59E-06	0.000199784
JJ Thompson	VS	Train Station	0.004317743	0.024557161
Meteorology	VS	Polly Vacher	0.005491451	0.026301161
Meteorology	VS	Train Station	0.000304712	0.003257809

Table D.4. Pairwise comparison for all significant pairs of levels of building by using permutest().Permutation-based test of multivariate homogeneity of group dispersions (variance). P-values basedon 999 permutations and corrected with Benjamini-Hochberg (BH).

Chapter 5

			Mean RA		Median RA	Minimum RA	
Building	Prevelance (Count)	Prevalence (%)	(%)	Standard Deviation RA (%)	(%)	(%)	Maximum RA (%)
Agriculture	18	90.00	17.09	19.14	8.77	0.00	50.59
Archaeology	3	100.00	26.73	21.88	32.16	2.64	45.38
Chemistry	2	28.57	0.07	0.17	0.00	0.00	0.46
Eat at the Square	3	100.00	0.89	0.63	0.61	0.45	1.61
Edith Morely	4	80.00	2.45	4.49	0.30	0.00	10.40
Henley Business School	6	85.71	22.57	31.11	4.08	0.00	70.59
JJ Thompson	2	25.00	3.01	8.33	0.00	0.00	23.63
Maths	4	66.67	1.32	2.35	0.46	0.00	6.04
Meteorology	15	75.00	18.90	32.20	0.54	0.00	93.93
Park Eat	2	50.00	13.77	17.28	9.64	0.00	35.82
Polly Vacher	7	77.78	4.63	7.52	1.23	0.00	18.11
The Dairy	3	100.00	39.37	36.13	33.86	6.31	77.94
Train Station	2	50.00	0.16	0.23	0.08	0.00	0.49
Union	2	33.33	0.40	0.80	0.00	0.00	2.01

Table D.5. The prevalence of Dolosicoccus within a building and the mean/median relative abundance (%) of Dolosicoccus in each building. Maximum relative abundance (%) and lowest relative abundance (%) of Dolosicoccus within a building shown.

	Μ	
	ea	Μ
	n	ах
	RA	RA
	(%	(%
Sequence))
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		90
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	10.	.9
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	16	92
CAGG	41	1
TACTTAGGTGGCGAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		20
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.8	.0
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	98	23
CAGG	1	6
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.4	8.
AGTGGCGAAGGCTGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	53	11
CAGG	5	68
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACTTACTGGTCTGTGATTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCAAA	26	86
CAGG	1	97
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACTTACTGGTCTGTAATTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCGAA	19	81
CAGG	4	60
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	1.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACCACCTGGACTGATACTGACACTGAGGTGCGAAAGCGTGGGGAGCAA	10	10
ACAGG	5	59
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	1.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACTTTCTGGTCTATTATTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGTAGCAAA	11	19
CAGG	4	18
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	1.
AGTGGCGAAAGCGACTTTCTGGTCTGTAATTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCGAA	12	25
CAGG	0	62
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGICIGAIGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
IAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AATGGCGAAGGCAGCCCCCTGGGATAATACTGACGCTCAGGCACGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCAAA	07	75
CAGG	2	16

TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACTTTCTGGTCTATTATTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGTAGCAAA	04	49
CAGG	7	39
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACTTTCTGGTCTGTTACTGACACTGAGGCCCGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCAAA	09	94
CAGG	0	48
TACTTAGGTGGCGAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGAAAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACTTTCTGGTCTATTATTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGTAGCAAA	03	40
CAGG	9	80
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGTCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	03	31
CAGG	0	14
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGTAGCAAA	04	41
CAGG	0	87
TACGTAGGTGACAAGCGTTGTCCGGAATTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTTGGAAT		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	05	62
CAGG	9	27
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATTATTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGTAGCAAA	04	42
CAGG	1	95
AGCGTTAATCGGAATTACTGGGCGTAAAGGGTGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAAAGTCTGATGTGAA		
AGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGATAGAAGAGGATA	0.0	0.
GTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACCAGTGGCGAAGGC	04	46
GGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAACAGG	4	17
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA	_	
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTTTCTGGTCTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGGAGCAAA	02	23
CAGG	2	62
	0.0	U.
	01	78
	/	25

TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTAACTGGCCTGTAACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGGAGCAA	01	15
ATAGG	4	03
TACTTAGGTGGCGAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTAGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	02	22
CAGG	1	55
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGAAATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAAGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTAACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	00	09
CAGG	9	66
TACTTAGGTGGCGAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGAATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGGCTATCTGGTCTATCACTGACGCTGAGGCTCGAAAGCATGGGGAGCAAA	00	02
CAGG	2	15
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGTGGTGAAATACGTAGATATTAAGAGGAACACC	0.0	0.
AGTGGCGAAGGCGACTTTCTGGACACTAACTGACGCTGAGGTACGAAAGCGTGGGGAGCAA	01	13
ACAGG	3	96
TACTTAGGTGGCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGGGAGCGCAGGCGGTGTATAA		
AGTCTGATGTGAAAGTCCACGGCTCAACCGTGGGATTGCATTGGAAACTGATACACTTGAGGA		
TAGAAGAGGATAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGCAGTGAAATGCGTAGAGATGTGGAGGAATACC	0.0	0.
GATGGCGAAGGCAGCCCCCTGGGATAACACTGACGCTCATGCACGAAAGCGTGGGGAGCAA	00	01
ACAGG	1	07

Table D.6. Sequences of the 25 Dolosicoccus ASVs and their mean relative abundance (%) across all

urinal samples and their maximum relative abundance (%) observed in a urinal sample.

Chapter 6. General Discussion

Microbial ecologists over the last decades have challenged the concept that the built environment is a microbial wasteland (Gibbons, 2016) and have provided evidence for the existence of endogenous microbial growth and proliferation (Kanamori et al., 2016; Kotay et al., 2017; Novak Babič et al., 2020). Water-associated environments within the built environment emerge as significant areas where microbial establishment can thrive (Adams et al., 2017; Bruno et al., 2022; Jing et al., 2023). Specifically, sinks and their P-traps in hospital settings have been identified as important reservoirs of pathogenic and antimicrobial resistant bacteria responsible for reoccurring clinical outbreaks (Bourdin et al., 2023; Jones et al., 2020; Lemarié et al., 2021; Regev-Yochay et al., 2018). Yet, despite their potential implications for public health, the microbial community structure and dynamics of communal sink P-traps and other waste traps in public restrooms remains understudied (Hamada & Abe, 2010; Mostafa & Sabra, 2013; Short, 2011), particularly when compared to the extensive research conducted on clinical sinks. In communal restrooms, such as those found on a university campus, there could be health implications for the diverse range of users that frequent the facilities. As communal restrooms are shared by a multitude of individuals, including students, staff, and visitors, there is a pressing need to investigate the microbial ecology of these spaces comprehensively, particularly areas that can harbor microbial communities, such as the P-trap.

This thesis provides comprehensive insights into the microorganisms populating P-traps in communal restrooms, with a primary focus on sink traps, given their critical role in clinical settings. Through insitu sampling of sink P-traps, bacterial communities (Chapter 2) and mycobial communities (Chapter 3) were characterized, leading to the identification of a core microbiome. In both studies the influence of building and gender on sink communities was found to be marginal or non-existent, suggesting a notable resilience of the core taxa present. The prevalence of microbial taxa associated with humans demonstrated the external influence of human activities as a prominent source of microorganisms to sink environments. In Chapter 4, a long-term dataset, provided a unique opportunity to elucidate trends in bacterial communities exhibited increasing structural similarity and homogeneity across individual sinks. The bacterial taxa identified in the preceding study (Chapter 2) remained prevalent and abundant in this temporal dataset. Following the establishment of a sink community, an intervention with sodium hypochlorite was implemented. Application of 10% sodium hypochlorite to sinks resulted in "resetting" the sink bacterial community and subsequent increase in relative abundance of *Acinetobacter*. However, this effect was transient, with the bacterial community re-

establishing to a composition similar to the pre-treatment state. In Chapter 5, urinal P-traps were characterized and analysis of this revealed greater variability across urinals when compared to sink bacterial taxonomic profile and identified core bacterial taxa, including the genus *Dolosicoccus*. The additional research included at the end of thesis demonstrated how molecular methodologies and currently available sequencing technologies could be used to isolate and classify new species. This approach could potentially be extended to identify novel bacterial species from sink and urinal traps, and potentially recover the genome of the urinal *Dolosicoccus*.

In this final chapter I discuss the key results of these studies and explore the implications of my findings. I further discuss the limitations associated with these studies and highlight future directions for further research.

6.1 Main Findings and Implications

6.1.1 P-traps within university restrooms are reservoirs of successful microorganisms (that can demonstrate resilience)

Restrooms represent environments characterized by a concentrated microbial presence, with a notable portion possessing pathogenic potential (Gibbons et al., 2015; Lee & Tham, 2021). Within this environment, waste traps, such as the sink P-trap, facilitate the establishment of microorganisms, particularly through the development of biofilms (Franco et al., 2020; Winder & Bonheyo, 2015). Upon use of sinks or taps, these biofilms may undergo disturbance, leading to the dispersion of microorganisms onto surrounding surfaces or potentially exposing the user, thereby presenting an Imminent risk for further transmission (Garvey et al., 2023; Hajar et al., 2019; Kotay et al., 2019). Despite the critical role that sinks play as reservoirs in clinical settings, the microbial community associated with these systems has seldom been the focus of comprehensive investigations. Existing studies have typically concentrated on specific bacterial taxa or groups, leaving a gap in our understanding of microbial composition, especially that of shared public sinks.

Our extensive efforts to characterize the communities in university sink P-traps have unveiled distinct microbial taxa that exhibit spatial and temporal prevalence. Results from Chapter 2 collaborate with those of Chapter 4, with both studies identifying *Moraxellaceae, Sphingomonadaceae, Rhodocyclaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* as core families within the sink P-traps. Regarding fungal communities, striking similarity in composition across diverse buildings was observed, with the mycobial genera *Saccharomyces, Fusarium*, and *Exophiala* displaying high prevalence and abundance. The widespread distribution of these microbial taxa highlights the P-trap as an environment that

selectively favors certain taxa, as rooms and buildings that are unconnected consistently had these microbial taxa present. In the literature there are references to these taxa persisting in waterassociated BE environments (Eichler et al., 2006; Numberger et al., 2019; Pirzadian et al., 2020; Vaz-Moreira et al., 2013), reinforcing the expectation of their presence and sustainability in sink P-traps. Furthermore, Chapter 4 demonstrates the formation of stable bacterial communities over time, across individual sinks sampled during the study. While an intervention with bleach induced perturbations in the community structure, the bacterial community, after four weeks resembled that of untreated sinks. Previous studies have demonstrated the ineffectiveness of bleach in controlling outbreaks or demonstrated the partial efficacy on sink biofilms (Clarivet et al., 2016; Hota et al., 2009; Ledwoch et al., 2020). However, this chapter provides insights into the comprehensive influence of bleach on bacterial communities, a feature overlooked in the forementioned studies. Interestingly, post-bleach intervention, Acinetobacter exhibited a notable increase in relative abundance, briefly becoming one of the most dominant genera. However, by week four post-treatment, Acinetobacter had reverted to significantly lower relative abundances. While bleach treatment eradicated bacterial communities immediately after application, in healthcare settings there should be more consideration and management of disinfection protocols. The potential eradication of a stable sink community following disinfection, under improper management, could lead to the establishment of a reservoir for potentially pathogenic bacteria, unhindered by competition for nutrients with "normal" sink bacteria. In Chapter 5, focus shifted to urinal P-traps. Similar to sinks, five bacterial genera were identified as part of the core microbiome, with a prevalence exceeding 70%. However, in contrast to sinks, the bacterial community structure and composition across individual urinals displayed more variability. The only other study on urinal bacterial communities revealed distinctions in structure, composition, and diversity among different types of urinals but did not report structural variations within specific types (Lim et al., 2022).

Understanding the reservoir potential of P-traps is crucial for assessing potential risks to human health and designing effective strategies for microbial control in built environments. Characterizing the microbial communities that constitute a "healthy" P-trap is foundational for implementing monitoring in environments such as hospitals and enabling the identification of factors influencing community changes. Furthermore, investigating temporal changes in sink P-trap microbial communities and their responses to stressors or interventions, such as sodium hypochlorite, provides insights for designing intervention and management strategies to maintain a healthy microbial balance in the BE. This approach allows for the exploration of targeted cleaning or removal of specific microbial taxa. Additionally, there is potential for the development of probiotic cleaners based on the microbial communities identified in public sinks. Designing probiotic cleaners that incorporate non-harmful microorganisms naturally dominant in sink P-traps could enable them to outcompete pathogens in sink drains, particularly in hospital settings, thereby reducing the risk of outbreaks. The implementation of probiotic cleaners designed to incorporate microbial communities found in sink P-traps might serve as a proactive measure to mitigate the possibility of repeated interventions with bleach. This is crucial, as repeated bleach interventions may lead to the selection of persisters and the stimulation of the transformation of plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance genes (Dai et al., 2020; Jin et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2021). However, further research is essential to comprehensively understand these occurrences and outcomes in sink environments, particularly in the context of potential public health implications.

6.1.2 Human-Built Environment Interactions

The influence of human occupants on the microbiology of the BE, with a particular emphasis on bacterial communities, is well established (Hospodsky et al., 2012; Leung & Lee, 2016; Meadow et al., 2014a). Human occupants, both directly and indirectly, play a pivotal role in shaping the microbiome of the BE. Occupants serve as sources of microorganisms, which are introduced into the surrounding environment through activities such as shedding (Hospodsky et al., 2015), the release of bioaerosols during respiration (Qian et al., 2012), and direct contact with various surfaces (Flores et al., 2011; Lax et al., 2017; Meadow et al., 2014b). Moreover, routine activities such as bed making (Ferro et al., 2004) or walking can resuspend previously deposited microbial materials (Heo et al., 2017), while lifestyle choices, including pet ownership (Fujimura et al., 2010), contribute to the introduction of exogenous microorganisms from outdoor environments, collectively influencing the composition of the BE microbiome (Adams et al., 2013a; Meadow et al., 2014a). Previous investigations focusing on restroom environments have yielded predictable findings, indicating contamination with bacteria originating from fecal or skin (Barker & Bloomfield, 2000; Flores et al., 2011; Gibbons et al., 2015). The hygienic practice of handwashing is anticipated to remove bacteria present on the skin; consequently, sink P-traps are expected to be contaminated with microorganisms associated with the skin biome.

Chapters 2 to 5 presents evidence regarding the impact of human activities on the microbial communities inhabiting P-traps, with recurrent identification of human-associated microorganisms within these environments. In Chapter 2, the implementation of SourceTracker (Knights et al., 2013) served to elucidate the potential sources of bacteria in university restroom sinks. Human skin emerged as the predominant source in below-strainer samples, while also contributing significantly to the microbial composition within P-traps. Chapter 3, focusing on fungal communities, revealed the frequent presence of *Malassezia*, a common skin commensal (Adams et al., 2013b; Findley et al.,

2013), in sinks (observed in 91% of sink samples). The families identified in Chapter 4 displayed potential human association, further underlining the influence of human occupants on the microbial landscape. Moreover, Chapter 5, examining bacterial taxa in urinal P-traps, identified genera like *Oligella* and *Atopstipes* that could be linked to urine (Perez-Carrasco et al., 2021). Despite the detection of human-associated microorganisms in P-traps, a notable presence of microorganisms commonly found in water distribution systems was observed. This phenomenon can be attributed to human occupants regularly using taps, thereby contributing water and associated microorganisms to the system. These results add to the large body of literature that underscores the intricate relationship between human occupants and microbial communities within the BE.

Occupant actions can have potential implications on the microbial communities within the P-trap, thereby influencing the overall restroom environment and potentially impacting users. In hospital settings, improper sink usage, such as the inadequate disposal of patient secretions and the cleaning of reusable patient care items in hand hygiene sinks, has been identified as a significant contributor to outbreaks in hospitals (Balm et al., 2013). While sinks outside of hospital settings, may not experience the same pressures or inputs as those in hospitals, the microbial communities and practices of users will differ (Grabowski et al., 2018; Grice et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2019). Throughout Chapters 2-5, variations were observed across buildings, reflecting differences in individual waste Ptrap bacterial community structures and compositions. These differences may be attributed to differing user behaviors or variations in the frequency of sink usage. Unfortunately, data regarding individual usage patterns of sink was not obtained. Apart from the presence of human pathogens in restrooms, there is a possibility that the environment could serve as a reservoir for antibiotic resistant bacteria. Mkrtchyan and colleagues have demonstrated that non-healthcare restrooms are a source of antibiotic resistant bacteria highlighting potential for resistome to exist (Mkrtchyan et al., 2013). From the diverse bacteria identified in the university sinks, follow up studies on antimicrobial resistance genes in this environment is required.

Overall, acknowledging that achieving sterility in sinks is neither reasonable nor feasible, the emphasis should be placed on implementing best practices and behaviors to prevent the transmission of potentially dangerous pathogens from sinks. The pivotal role of human occupants and their behaviors in shaping the composition and dynamics of sink trap microbial communities is evident across these chapters. This further emphasizes the need to consider human-environment interactions in microbial ecology studies. Recognizing and understanding the impact of human activities on microbial communities is essential for developing targeted strategies to mitigate the risks associated with microbial proliferation and transmission in shared spaces.

6.1.3 Application of combined sequencing techniques enhances our understanding of microbial environments and enables discovery of potentially new microorganisms.

The combination of sequencing technologies, including short- (i.e., amplicon sequencing and shotgun sequencing) and long- (i.e., Oxford Nanopore) reads enable a more in-depth analysis of microbial community constituents. From diverse microbiomes, reference-quality genomes have been reconstructed due to hybrid assembly of both short- and long- reads (Bertrand et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2022; Singleton et al., 2021).

As part of additional research undertaken during this thesis, , a novel species, *Chitinophaga spargani*, was isolated from an environmental sample (rhizosphere of *Sparagnium erectum*) and the whole genome sequenced and assembled using a combination of short- and long- reads. This work demonstrates that culture-based methods remain valuable for isolating novel species. In Chapter 5, the identification of *Dolosicoccus* as a highly abundant and prevalent genus raised questions about potential variations within the genus. By comparing the top *Dolosicoccus* amplicon sequence variant (ASV) to *Dolosicoccus Paucivorans* 16S V4 region, differences were observed, suggesting the possibility of an alternative species. Similar to the approach used in the Additional Research Chapter of this thesis, culture-based techniques, such as selective Lactobacillales media or using dilution to extinction methods (Bonnet et al., 2020; Stingl et al., 2008; Zhang & Eiler, 2012), could be explored to isolate the *Dolosicoccus* observed in urinals. Alternatively, the use of long-read sequencing, either independently or in conjunction with deep metagenomic sequencing, could facilitate the reconstruction of metagenomic-assembled genomes (MAGs). With the continuous advancement of technologies, Oxford Nanopore Technologies sequencing has demonstrated the capability to recover reference-quality genomes from complex metagenomes using only long reads (Liu et al., 2022).

For future studies, it is advisable to encourage the integration of diverse sequencing techniques whenever feasible. This approach offers a more comprehensive analysis of microbial communities, enabling a deeper understanding of their constituents and their potential functional capabilities.

6.2 Limitations

Although Chapters 2-5 each possess specific aims and focus on a different aspect of the public restroom P-trap microbial communities, they all suffer from some of the same limitations. Foremost among these is the limitation in metadata availability. Reporting on indoor physio chemical conditions, human occupancy and cleaning procedures may help to explain some of the variability among

sampling locations (Ramos & Stephens, 2014). However, by selecting the university as a study site, some of variability will be mitigated. For example, cleaning practices and procedures across the university were consistent and the building conditions such as temperature are systematically monitored and sustained within defined thresholds suitable for occupants. In Chapter 4, a year of building occupancy data was acquired, but for other buildings across the university campus (Chapters 1 and 2), the absence of card access entry requirements precluded the provision of occupancy figures. While alternative options, such as employing unidirectional beams for recording the number of individuals entering restrooms (SenSource, http://www.sensourceinc.com/peoplecounters.htm), were considered, they did not offer insights into which sinks were used, nor did they allow for the documentation of specific user behaviors toward the sink. Insufficiently described built environment data can limit our ability to understand microbial communities within and assess strategies to control as well as hinders capacity for comparison of different indoor microbial communities. However, obtaining detailed metadata associated with P-traps in-situ is challenging and often restricted due to the nature of restrooms. Nevertheless, the results obtained from this approach are reflective of realworld P-traps. Furthermore, the use of large sample sizes across the studies enables more general conclusions to be drawn.

Secondly, priority was given to characterizing the bacterial communities of P-traps. Eukaryotic microorganisms such as fungi and protozoa will also play a role in shaping microbial communities that develop in P-traps. In studies focusing on water distribution systems, the importance of these communities has been demonstrated (Inkinen et al., 2019; Paranjape et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2014). In Chapter 3, fungal communities were characterized in sink P-traps providing some insight into their structure. Attempts were made to understand fungal development in HLS (Chapter 4), however amplification of the ITS region was unsuccessful for samples collected earlier in the phase 1 sampling (data not shown), preventing subsequent sequencing. While this thesis did not specifically focus on interactions between different microorganisms in biofilms, it presents a potential avenue for future research that could offer valuable insights into the complexities of microbial communities in P-traps.

While amplicon sequencing facilitates high throughput of samples, it has inherent limitations, particularly in its ability to identify sequences only to the genus level. Consequently, it proves less useful in distinguishing between closely related prokaryotes and has difficulties in confirming the presence of pathogenic species. Additionally, it cannot differentiate between dead, inactive or active cells. However, the identification of highly prevalent and abundant core taxa in the results, observed both temporally and spatially, suggests their integral role as components of the sink P-trap biofilm.

Lastly, while beyond the scope of this thesis, providing source data from the immediate surrounding environment and occupants would have strengthened the analysis. In Chapter 1, "source" sequences supplied to SourceTracker were taken from publicly available datasets resulting in many of the sequences being from unknown sources. If extensive sampling of surrounding sources (i.e., skin of building occupants, tap water, and soil) was implemented, the sources of microorganisms to sink Ptraps will be more clearly defined.

6.3 Conclusions and Future Research Priorities

This thesis aimed to investigate the microbial communities within P-traps located in public restrooms, observing their development, responses to perturbations, and potential impact on occupants. This aim has been achieved through extensive sampling across a university campus and over a two-and-a-half year sampling regime. The core microbiome of P-traps was revealed and influences between human occupants and sink microbiome demonstrated. While the thesis has provided answers to its primary aims, further investigation is warranted. This thesis focused on P-traps located on a university campus yet, additional research of diverse public buildings is required to ascertain the presence of similar microbial communities. Exploring locations such as airports or large train stations, with exposure to an even broader range of people, could yield valuable insights. Integrating other omics approaches would provide additional information on community functionality and potentially be used to mine novel species, as well as identifying persisters within the communities and antimicrobial resistance genes.

As molecular costs decrease, microbial databases expand, and bioinformatics tools advance to handle complex datasets, a more comprehensive analysis of microbial communities is on the horizon. Understanding the structure, dynamics, and resilience of microbial communities within communal sink P-traps has the potential to offer crucial insights into the microbial ecology of built environments and the intricate interactions between humans and their surroundings. Continued research in this domain is essential for advancing our understanding of the complex interplay between microbial communities and the built environment, ultimately contributing to the development of informed strategies for maintaining a healthy and resilient indoor environment.

335

6.4 References

- Adams, R. I., Lymperopoulou, D. S., Misztal, P. K., De Cassia Pessotti, R., Behie, S. W., Tian, Y., Goldstein,
 A. H., Lindow, S. E., Nazaroff, W. W., Taylor, J. W., Traxler, M. F., & Bruns, T. D. (2017). Microbes
 and associated soluble and volatile chemicals on periodically wet household surfaces.
 Microbiome, 5(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-017-0347-6
- Adams, R. I., Miletto, M., Taylor, J. W., & Bruns, T. D. (2013a). Dispersal in microbes: Fungi in indoor air are dominated by outdoor air and show dispersal limitation at short distances. *The ISME Journal*, 7(7), 1262–1273. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.28
- Adams, R. I., Miletto, M., Taylor, J. W., & Bruns, T. D. (2013b). The Diversity and Distribution of Fungi on Residential Surfaces. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(11), 78866. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078866
- Balm, M. N. D., Salmon, S., Jureen, R., Teo, C., Mahdi, R., Seetoh, T., Teo, J. T. W., Lin, R. T. P., & Fisher,
 D. A. (2013). Bad design, bad practices, bad bugs: frustrations in controlling an outbreak of
 Elizabethkingia meningoseptica in intensive care units. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 85*(2), 134–
 140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2013.05.012
- Barker, J., & Bloomfield, S. F. (2000). Survival of Salmonella in bathrooms and toilets in domestic homes following salmonellosis. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 89(1), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2672.2000.01091.X
- Bertrand, D., Shaw, J., Kalathiyappan, M., Ng, A. H. Q., Kumar, M. S., Li, C., Dvornicic, M., Soldo, J. P.,
 Koh, J. Y., Tong, C., Ng, O. T., Barkham, T., Young, B., Marimuthu, K., Chng, K. R., Sikic, M., &
 Nagarajan, N. (2019). Hybrid metagenomic assembly enables high-resolution analysis of
 resistance determinants and mobile elements in human microbiomes. *Nature Biotechnology*, *37*(8), 937–944. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0191-2
- Bonnet, M., Lagier, J. C., Raoult, D., & Khelaifia, S. (2020). Bacterial culture through selective and nonselective conditions: the evolution of culture media in clinical microbiology. *New Microbes and New Infections*, 34, 100622. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NMNI.2019.100622
- Bourdin, T., Benoit, M.-È., Monnier, A., Bédard, E., Prévost, M., Charron, D., Audy, N., Gravel, S., Sicard,
 M., Quach, C., Déziel, E., & Constant, P. (2023). Serratia marcescens Colonization in a Neonatal
 Intensive Care Unit Has Multiple Sources, with Sink Drains as a Major Reservoir. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 89*(5). https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00105-23
- Bruno, A., Agostinetto, G., Fumagalli, S., Ghisleni, G., & Sandionigi, A. (2022). It's a Long Way to the Tap: Microbiome and DNA-Based Omics at the Core of Drinking Water Quality. *International*

Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(13), 7940. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19137940

- Clarivet, B., Grau, D., Jumas-Bilak, E., Jean-Pierre, H., Pantel, A., Parer, S., & Lotthé, A. (2016). Persisting transmission of carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae due to an environmental reservoir in a university hospital, France, 2012 to 2014. *Eurosurveillance, 21*(17). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.17.30213
- Dai, Z., Sevillano-Rivera, M. C., Calus, S. T., Melina Bautista-de los Santos, Q., Murat Eren, A., van der Wielen, P. W. J. J., Ijaz, U. Z., & Pinto, A. J. (2020). Disinfection exhibits systematic impacts on the drinking water microbiome. *Microbiome*, 8(42), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1101/828970
- Eichler, S., Christen, R., Höltje, C., Westphal, P., Bötel, J., Brettar, I., Mehling, A., & Höfle, M. G. (2006). Composition and dynamics of bacterial communities of a drinking water supply system as assessed by RNA- and DNA-based 16S rRNA gene fingerprinting. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *72*(3), 1858–1872. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.3.1858-1872.2006
- Ferro, A. R., Kopperud, R. J., & Hildemann, L. M. (2004). Elevated personal exposure to particulate matter from human activities in a residence. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 14(1), S34–S40. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jea.7500356
- Findley, K., Oh, J., Yang, J., Conlan, S., Deming, C., Meyer, J. A., Schoenfeld, D., Nomicos, E., Park, M.,
 NIH Intramural Sequencing Center Comparative Sequencing Programme, Kong, H. H., & Segre, J.
 A. (2013). Topographic diversity of fungal and bacterial communities in human skin. *Nature, 498*, 367–370. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12171
- Flores, G. E., Bates, S. T., Knights, D., Lauber, C. L., & Stombaugh, J. (2011). Microbial Biogeography of
 Public Restroom Surfaces. *PLoS ONE*, 6(11), e28132.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028132
- Franco, L. C., Tanner, W., Ganim, C., Davy, T., Edwards, J., & Donlan, R. (2020). A microbiological survey of handwashing sinks in the hospital built environment reveals differences in patient room and healthcare personnel sinks. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65052-7
- Fujimura, K. E., Johnson, C. C., Ownby, D. R., Cox, M. J., Brodie, E. L., Havstad MA, S. L., Zoratti, E. M., Woodcroft, K. J., Bobbitt, K. R., Wegienka, G., Boushey, H. A., & Lynch, S. V. (2010). Man's best friend? The effect of pet ownership on house dust microbial communities. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 126(2), 410-412.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.004

- Garvey, M. I., Williams, N., Gardiner, A., Ruston, C., Wilkinson, M. A. C., Kiernan, M., Walker, J. T., & Holden, E. (2023). The sink splash zone. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 135, 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2023.01.020
- Gibbons, S. M. (2016). The Built Environment Is a Microbial Wasteland. *MSystems*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00022-16
- Gibbons, S. M., Schwartz, T., Fouquier, J., Mitchell, M., Sangwan, N., Gilbert, J. A., & Kelley, S. T. (2015).
 Ecological Succession and Viability of Human-Associated Microbiota on Restroom Surfaces.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 81, 765–773. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03117-14
- Grabowski, M., Lobo, J. M., Gunnell, B., Enfield, K., Carpenter, R., Barnes, L., & Mathers, A. J. (2018). Characterizations of handwashing sink activities in a single hospital medical intensive care unit. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, *100*(3), e115–e122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2018.04.025
- Grice, E. A., Kong, H. H., Conlan, S., Deming, C. B., Davis, J., Young, A. C., Comparative, N., Program, S.,
 Bouffard, G. G., Blakesley, R. W., Murray, P. R., Green, E. D., Turner, M. L., & Segre, J. A. (2009).
 Topographical and Temporal Diversity of the Human Skin Microbiome. *Science*, *324*(5931), 1190–1192. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1171700
- Hajar, Z., Mana, T. S. C., Cadnum, J. L., & Donskey, C. J. (2019). Dispersal of gram-negative bacilli from contaminated sink drains to cover gowns and hands during hand washing. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 40(4), 460–462. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2019.25
- Hamada, N., & Abe, N. (2010). Comparison of fungi found in bathrooms and sinks. Biocontrol Science, 15(2), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.4265/bio.15.51
- Heo, K. J., Lim, C. E., Kim, H. B., & Lee, B. U. (2017). Effects of human activities on concentrations of culturable bioaerosols in indoor air environments. *Journal of Aerosol Science*, 104, 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAEROSCI.2016.11.008
- Hospodsky, D., Qian, J., Nazaroff, W. W., Yamamoto, N., & Bibby, K. (2012). Human Occupancy as a Source of Indoor Airborne Bacteria. *PLoS ONE, 7*(4), 34867. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034867
- Hospodsky, D., Yamamoto, N., Nazaroff, W. W., Miller, D., Gorthala, S., & Peccia, J. (2015).
 Characterizing airborne fungal and bacterial concentrations and emission rates in six occupied children's classrooms. *Indoor Air*, 25(6), 641–652. https://doi.org/10.1111/INA.12172
- Hota, S., Hirji, Z., Stockton, K., Lemieux, C., Dedier, H., Wolfaardt, G., & Gardam, M. A. (2009). Outbreak of Multidrug-Resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa Colonization and Infection Secondary to

338

Imperfect Intensive Care Unit Room Design. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 30*(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1086/592700

- Inkinen, J., Jayaprakash, B., Siponen, S., Hokajärvi, A.-M., Pursiainen, A., Ikonen, J., Ryzhikov, I., Täubel,
 M., Kauppinen, A., Paananen, J., Miettinen, I. T., Torvinen, E., Kolehmainen, M., & Pitkänen, T.
 (2019). Active eukaryotes in drinking water distribution systems of ground and surface waterworks. *Microbiome*, 7(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-019-0715-5
- Jin, H., You, L., Zhao, F., Li, S., Ma, T., Kwok, L. Y., Xu, H., & Sun, Z. (2022). Hybrid, ultra-deep metagenomic sequencing enables genomic and functional characterization of low-abundance species in the human gut microbiome. *Gut Microbes, 14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2021.2021790
- Jin, M., Liu, L., Wang, D. ning, Yang, D., Liu, W. li, Yin, J., Yang, Z. wei, Wang, H. ran, Qiu, Z. gang, Shen,
 Z. qiang, Shi, D. yang, Li, H. bei, Guo, J. hua, & Li, J. wen. (2020). Chlorine disinfection promotes
 the exchange of antibiotic resistance genes across bacterial genera by natural transformation.
 The ISME Journal, 14(7), 1847–1856. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-0656-9
- Jing, Z., Lu, Z., Zhao, Z., Cao, W., Wang, W., Ke, Y., Wang, X., & Sun, W. (2023). Molecular ecological networks reveal the spatial-temporal variation of microbial communities in drinking water distribution systems. *Journal of Environmental Sciences, 124*, 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JES.2021.10.017
- Jones, L. D., Mana, T. S. C., Cadnum, J. L., Jencson, A. L., Silva, S. Y., Wilson, B. M., & Donskey, C. J. (2020). Effectiveness of foam disinfectants in reducing sink-drain gram-negative bacterial colonization. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 41(3), 280–285. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2019.325
- Kanamori, H., Weber, D. J., Rutala, W. A., & Kanamori, H. (2016). Healthcare Outbreaks Associated
 With a Water Reservoir and Infection Prevention Strategies. *Clinical Infectious Diseases, 62*(11), 1423. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw122
- Knights, D., Kuczynski, J., Charlson, E. S., Zaneveld, J., Mozer, M. C., Collman, R. G., Bushman, F. D.,
 Knight, R., & Kelley, S. T. (2013). Bayesian community-wide culture-independent microbial source tracking. *Nature Methods*, 8(9), 761–763. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1650
- Kotay, S., Chai, W., Guilford, W., Barry, K., & Mathers, A. J. (2017). Spread from the Sink to the Patient: In Situ Study Using Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP)-Expressing Escherichia coli To Model

Bacterial Dispersion from Hand-Washing Sink-Trap Reservoirs. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *83*(8), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03327-16

- Kotay, S. M., Donlan, R. M., Ganim, C., Barry, K., Christensen, B. E., & Mathers, A. J. (2019). Droplet-Rather than Aerosol-Mediated Dispersion Is the Primary Mechanism of Bacterial Transmission from Contaminated Hand-Washing Sink Traps. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 85*(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01997-18
- Lax, S., Sangwan, N., Smith, D., Larsen, P., Handley, K. M., Richardson, M., Guyton, K., Krezalek, M.,
 Shogan, B. D., Defazio, J., Flemming, I., Shakhsheer, ‡ Baddr, Weber, S., Landon, E., Garcia-Houchins, S., Siegel, J., Alverdy, J., Knight, R., Stephens, B., & Gilbert, J. A. (2017). Bacterial colonization and succession in a newly opened hospital. *Science Translational Medicine*, *9*, eaah6500. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aah6500 A
- Ledwoch, K., Robertson, A., Lauran, J., Norville, P., & Maillard, J.-Y. (2020). It's a trap! The development of a versatile drain biofilm model and its susceptibility to disinfection. *Journal of Hospital Infection, 106*(4), 757–764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.08.010
- Lee, M. C. J., & Tham, K. W. (2021). Public toilets with insufficient ventilation present high cross infection risk. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-00166-0
- Lemarié, C., Legeay, C., Mahieu, R., Moal, F., Ramont, C., Kouatchet, A., & Eveillard, M. (2021). Longterm contamination of sink drains by carbapenemase-producing Enterobacterales in three intensive care units: characteristics and transmission to patients. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, *112*, 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2021.02.016
- Leung, M. H. Y., & Lee, P. K. H. (2016). The roles of the outdoors and occupants in contributing to a potential pan-microbiome of the built environment: a review. *Microbiome, 4*(21). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0165-2
- Lim, K., Rolston, M., Barnum, S., Wademan, C., & Leverenz, H. (2022). A biogeographic 16S rRNA survey of bacterial communities of ureolytic biomineralization from California public restrooms. *PLoS ONE*, *17*(1), e0262425. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0262425
- Liu, L., Yang, Y., Deng, Y., & Zhang, T. (2022). Nanopore long-read-only metagenomics enables complete and high-quality genome reconstruction from mock and complex metagenomes. *Microbiome*, 10(1), 209. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-022-01415-8/FIGURES/2
- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Kembel, S. W., Kline, J., Mhuireach, G., Moriyama, M., Northcutt, D., O'connor, T. K., Womack, A. M., Brown, G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2014a). Indoor

airborne bacterial communities are influenced by ventilation, occupancy, and outdoor air source. *Indoor Air, 24*, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12047

- Meadow, J. F., Altrichter, A. E., Kembel, S. W., Moriyama, M., O'connor, T. K., Womack, A. M., Brown,
 G. Z., Green, J. L., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2014b). Bacterial communities on classroom surfaces vary with human contact. *Microbiome*, *2*(7). https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.687155
- Mkrtchyan, H. V., Russell, C. A., Wang, N., & Cutler, R. R. (2013). Could Public Restrooms Be an Environment for Bacterial Resistomes? *PLoS ONE, 8*(1), e54223. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0054223
- Mostafa, S., & Sabra, M. (2013). Bacterial Public Health Hazard in the Public Female Restrooms at Taif,
 KSA. Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research, 14(1), 42–187.
 https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.mejsr.2013.14.1.7326
- Novak Babič, M., Gostinčar, C., & Gunde-Cimerman, N. (2020). Microorganisms populating the waterrelated indoor biome. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *104*, 6443–6462. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-020-10719-4/Published
- Numberger, D., Ganzert, L., Zoccarato, L., Mühldorfer, K., Sauer, S., Grossart, H.-P., & Greenwood, A.
 D. (2019). Characterization of bacterial communities in wastewater with enhanced taxonomic resolution by full-length 16S rRNA sequencing. *Scientific Reports, 9*(9673). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-46015-z
- Paranjape, K., Bédard, É., Shetty, D., Hu, M., Choon, F. C. P., Prévost, M., & Faucher, S. P. (2020).
 Unravelling the importance of the eukaryotic and bacterial communities and their relationship with Legionella spp. ecology in cooling towers: a complex network. *Microbiome, 8*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-020-00926-6
- Perez-Carrasco, V., Soriano-Lerma, A., Soriano, M., Gutiérrez-Fernández, J., & Garcia-Salcedo, J. A. (2021). Urinary Microbiome: Yin and Yang of the Urinary Tract. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 11, 421. https://doi.org/10.3389/FCIMB.2021.617002/BIBTEX
- Pirzadian, J., Harteveld, S. P., Ramdutt, S. N., van Wamel, W. J. B., Klaassen, C. H. W., Vos, M. C., & Severin, J. A. (2020). Novel use of culturomics to identify the microbiota in hospital sink drains with and without persistent VIM-positive Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Scientific Reports, 10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73650-8

- Qian, J., Hospodsky, D., Yamamoto, N., Nazaroff, W. W., & Peccia, J. (2012). Size-resolved emission rates of airborne bacteria and fungi in an occupied classroom. *Indoor Air, 22*, 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2012.00769.x
- Ramos, T., & Stephens, B. (2014). Tools to improve built environment data collection for indoor microbial ecology investigations. *Building and Environment, 81*, 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.07.004
- Regev-Yochay, G., Smollan, G., Rn, I. T., Pinas, N., Rn, Z., Haviv, Y., Nudelman Rn, V., Gal-Mor Phd, O., Jaber Bsc, H., Zimlichman, E., Keller, N., & Rahav, G. (2018). Sink traps as the source of transmission of OXA-48-producing Serratia marcescens in an intensive care unit. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 39*, 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2018.235
- SenSource. (n.d.). People counters, people counting system, retail traffic counter, pedestrian counter. Available from: http://www.Sensourceinc.Com/Peoplecounters.Htm.
- Short, D. P. G. (2011). Widespread occurrence and evolution of human pathogenic Fusarium. *Journal* of Clinical Microbiology, 49(12), 4264–4272. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.05468-11
- Singleton, C. M., Petriglieri, F., Kristensen, J. M., Kirkegaard, R. H., Michaelsen, T. Y., Andersen, M. H., Kondrotaite, Z., Karst, S. M., Dueholm, M. S., Nielsen, P. H., & Albertsen, M. (2021). Connecting structure to function with the recovery of over 1000 high-quality metagenome-assembled genomes from activated sludge using long-read sequencing. *Nature Communications, 12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22203-2
- Stingl, U., Cho, J. C., Foo, W., Vergin, K. L., Lanoil, B., & Giovannoni, S. J. (2008). Dilution-to-extinction culturing of psychrotolerant planktonic bacteria from permanently ice-covered lakes in the McMurdo Dry Valleys, Antarctica. *Microbial Ecology*, 55(3), 395–405. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-007-9284-4
- Vaz-Moreira, I., Egas, C., Nunes, O. C., & lia Manaia, C. M. (2013). Bacterial diversity from the source to the tap: a comparative study based on 16S rRNA gene-DGGE and culture-dependent methods.
 Microbiology Ecology, 83, 361–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12002
- Wang, H., Masters, S., Edwards, M. A., Falkinham, J. O., & Pruden, A. (2014). Effect of Disinfectant,
 Water Age, and Pipe Materials on Bacterial and Eukaryotic Community Structure in Drinking
 Water Biofilm. *Environmental Science* & *Technology*, 48(3), 1426–1435
 https://doi.org/10.1021/es402636u

- Winder, E. M., & Bonheyo, G. T. (2015). DNA Persistence in a Sink Drain Environment. *PLoS ONE, 10*(7), e0134798. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134798
- Wu, D., Lam, T. P., Chan, H. Y., Lam, K. F., Zhou, X. D., Xu, J. Y., Sun, K. S., & Ho, P. L. (2019). A mixedmethods study on toilet hygiene practices among Chinese in Hong Kong. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8014-4
- Zhang, J., & Eiler, A. (2012). Isolation and Characterization of Uncultured Freshwater Bacterioplankton from Lake Ekoln and Lake Erken through Dilution-to-Extinction Approach and Molecular Analysis Tools. https://www.ibg.uu.se/digitalAssets/176/c_176289-I_3-k_zhang-jiazhou-report.pdf
- Zhang, S., Wang, Y., Lu, J., Yu, Z., Song, H., Bond, P. L., & Guo, J. (2021). Chlorine disinfection facilitates natural transformation through ROS-mediated oxidative stress. *The ISME Journal*, 15(10), 2969– 2985. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-021-00980-4

Chitinophaga spargani sp. nov., isolated from rhizosphere of Sparganium erectum

Phoebe French¹⁺, Zoe Withey¹⁺, Emily Wright¹, Amanpreet Kaur², Hyun S. Gweon^{1,3*}

¹School of Biological Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, UK

² Chemical Analysis Facility, University of Reading, Reading, RG6 6AD, UK

³ UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (UKCEH), Benson Lane, Crowmarsh Gifford, Wallingford, OX10 8BB, UK

+ Authors contributed equally to this work

Under review at International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology

Abstract

The bacterial strain LS1^T was isolated on 21 July 2022 from the rhizosphere of a shallow water plant *Sparganium erectum* taken from the River Loddon, Reading, United Kingdom (51°24'33.2" N 0°55'27.2" W). Strain LS1^T was found to be Gram-negative and facultative anaerobic, with a genome length of 8,665,338 bp and a G+C content of 43.4%. 16S rRNA phylogenetic analysis identified strain LS1^T as belonging to the genus *Chitinophaga*, having the highest sequence similarity to *Chitinophaga sancti* BA-3^T (98.4%) and *Chitinophaga silvisoli* K20C18050901^T (98.3%) and *Chitinophaga tropicalis* ysch24^T (96.3%). A complete and circularised genome was sequenced and assembled using both long-read (Oxford Nanopore Technologies) and short-read (Illumina) platforms. Average Nucleotide Identity scores between strain LS1^T and previously published complete *Chitinophaga* genomes ranged between 72.75% and 69.16%. Digital DNA-DNA hybridisation analysis produced scores between strain LS1^T and the genomes of the most closely related *Chitinophaga* species in the range of 28.9% to 18.7%. The phylogenetic, genomic and phenotypic analyses show that strain LS1^T represents a novel species of the genus *Chitinophaga*, for which the name *Chitinophaga spargani* sp. nov. is proposed.

Keywords

Chitinophaga spargani sp. nov., Chitinophagaceae, Sparganium erectum, aquatic rhizosphere

Author Notes

The GenBank accession numbers for the complete genome sequence and 16S rRNA gene of strain $LS1^{T}$ are CP128362 and OR083331, respectively.

Chapter 6

Brief Introduction

The genus *Chitinophaga* is widely considered to be a difficult to culture group of chitinolytic myxobacteria (Sangkhobol & Skerman, 1981). The species within the *Chitinophaga* genus are typically isolated from the soil or the rhizosphere of several plants (Chung et al., 2012; He et al., 2022; Lin et al., 2014), but has also been found within arsenic-contaminated soil (Zong et al., 2019) and vermicompost (Yasir et al., 2011). Members of this genus are typically chemoorganotrophic, Gramnegative, flexible rods with rounded ends and have the ability to germinate spherical myxospheres when on an agar surface (Sangkhobol & Skerman, 1981). Like other myxobacteria (Zhou et al., 2020), members of the *Chitinophaga* genus have the ability to digest biological macromolecules such as chitin (Sangkhobol & Skerman, 1981). While species belonging to this genus have been isolated from the rhizosphere of, to date they have not been isolated from *Sparganium erectum* or aquatic plant rhizosphere.

Isolation and Ecology

A strain, designated LS1^T, was isolated from the rhizosphere of a *Sparganium erectum* plant taken from the River Loddon, Reading, United Kingdom (51°24'33.2" N 0°55'27.2" W). First, 10 ml of river water was filtered with a 0.22 µM filter and collected into a sterile 50 ml falcon tube. A single *Sparganium erectum* reed was then extracted from the riverbank and an approximately 3 cm root, together with the soil layer immediately surrounding the root hair and placed into the filtered water for transport. On the same day within a laboratory setting the sample was vortexed and passed through a 40 µM filter into a sterile 1.5 ml microtube. 1 ml of the re-filtered sample was diluted 10 times in phosphate-buffered saline, from which 20 µl was spread on 10 times diluted tryptic soy agar media (DTSA) plates. These plates were then placed and sealed into a plastic bag along with an Anaero-Gel Compact sachet (Oxoid, Thermo Scientific) and a Resazurin Anaerobic Indicator (Oxoid, Thermo Scientific). The sealed bag was then placed into an incubator at approximately 20 °C for 4 weeks. Individual colonies from these plates were then sub-cultured onto fresh DTSA media, then incubated under the same conditions. Strain LS1^T was then preserved in a cryovial (TS/80-MX, Technical Service Consultants Ltd) at -80 °C for long-term storage and use.

16S rRNA phylogeny

Genomic DNA from strain LS1^T was extracted using the GeneJET Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's Gram-negative extraction protocol. All genomic DNA was purified through AMPure XP bead cleaning (Beckmann-Coulter) following the manufacturer's protocol. The 16S rRNA gene from strain LS1^T underwent PCR amplification using the universal primers 27F (5' - AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG - 3') and 1492R (5' - GGTACCTTGTTACGACTT - 3') (Dos Santos et al., 2019). The primer reaction mixture was comprised of 1X JumpStart REDTaq ReadyMix Reaction Mix (New England Biolabs), 0.2 μM 27F primer, 0.2 μM 1492R primer, 2.0 μl genomic DNA with sterile H_2O to make the final volume of 50 μ l. The PCR cycling conditions were an initial denaturation of 95 °C for 5 minutes, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 90 seconds, annealing at 55 °C for 90 seconds and elongation at 72°C for 5 minutes, then a final elongation at 72 °C for 10 minutes. The amplicons were then purified through AMPure XP bead cleaning (Beckmann-Coulter) following the manufacturer's protocol. Subsequently, the purified amplicons underwent Sanger sequencing for initial genus determination and the resulting sequences were analysed using BLASTn (Altschul et al., 1990), which identified strain LS1^T as a member of the *Chitinophaga* genus. 16S rRNA sequences of all 50 type strains from the Chitinophaga genus were retrieved from EZBioCloud (Yoon et al., 2017a) and aligned using Clustal Omega (Goujon et al., 2010). Strain LS1^T exhibited the greatest similarities with the Chitinophaga genus, where it shared the highest 16S rRNA similarity with Chitinophaga sancti BA- 3^{T} (98.4%) and Chitinophaga silvisoli K20C18050901^T (98.3%) and Chitinophaga tropicalis ysch 24^{T} (96.3%). The calculated 16S rRNA sequence similarities of all closely related Chitinophaga species to strain LS1^T were lower than 98.65%, the suggested cut-off value for delineating novel species (Kim et al., 2014). PhyML (v.3.3) was used to reconstruct a maximum-likelihood tree using the GTR model with 1000 bootstrap replicates (Guindon et al., 2010) where *Flavisolibacter tropicus* LCS9^T was chosen as an outgroup (Figure 1). Phylogenetic analysis based on 16S rRNA gene sequences showed that $LS1^{T}$ was included in the clusters of species of the genus *Chitinophaga*, forming a stable monophyletic clade with C. sancti.

Genomic features

The purified genomic DNA was sequenced on the MinION by Oxford Nanopore Technologies and Illumina platforms (sequenced by Novogene, China). A hybrid *de novo* assembled genome was produced using Raven (v.1.8.1) (Vaser & Šikić, 2021) resulting in a closed (circularised) genome. The assembled genome was polished with Pilon (Walker et al., 2014) and Polypolish (Wick & Holt, 2022), and annotated using Prokka (Seemann, 2014). Strain LS1^T was found to have a genome composed of 8,665,338 bp, five copies of 16S, 23S and 5S rRNAs, 78 tRNAs, 7286 CDS, with a DNA G+C content of 43.4 mol%. The genome size of strain LS1^T is large in comparison to other bacterial species (Land et al., 2015), but relatively close to the average genome size of a *Chitinophaga* species which is at 7.51 Mbp (Brinkmann et al., 2022). The large genome of strain LS1^T is reflective of the fact that *Chitinophaga* species are myxobacteria which have genomes in the range of 9 Mbp to 14.8 Mbp

(Muñoz-Dorado et al., 2016). The DNA G+C content of strain $LS1^{T}$ falls within the range commonly seen within the *Chitinophaga* genus (42.8% - 55.4%) (He et al., 2022). This is within the average G+C content in prokaryotes (Lightfield et al., 2011) suggesting that strain $LS1^{T}$ has a relatively stable genome and has a broad temperature tolerance range for growth (Šmarda et al., 2014).

Digital DNA-DNA hybridization (dDDH) scores and ANI values were calculated between LS1^T and 10 most closely related *Chitinophaga* type strains, namely *Chitinophaga sancti* BA-3^T and *Chitinophaga silvisoli* K20C18050901^T, *Chitinophaga tropicalis* ysch24^T, *Chitinophaga oryziterrae* YC7001^T, *Chitinophaga tropicalis* ysch24^T, *Chitinophaga oryziterrae* YC7001^T, *Chitinophaga tropicalis* ysch24^T, *Chitinophaga ginsengisoli* M1-22^T, *Chitinophaga agri* H33E-04^T; also included are five type strains from neighbouring clades (Table 1). dDDH was performed by using Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator (GGDC, version 3.0, http://ggdc.dsmz.de/)(21), while ANI scores were calculated using OrthoANI (Yoon et al., 2017b). All calculated dDDH scores between strain LS1^T and *Chitinophaga* type strains were between 28.9% and 18.7%, which were well below the 70% delineation for species boundaries (Meier-Kolthoff et al., 2013). ANI scores ranged between 72.75% and 69.16% which are lower than the 95-96% delineation for a novel prokaryotic species (Chun et al., 2018; Richter & Rosselló-Móra, 2009).

Physiology, optimum growth temperature and carbon utilisation

For transmission electron microscopy observations (Fig 6.2), cells were incubated at 22 °C on tryptic soy agar. Strain LS1^T's growth characteristics were tested on tryptic soy broth at varying temperatures (10 °C, 15 °C, 20 °C and 30 °C) over three days. The growth curves were obtained for each selected temperature by taking 600 nm optical density measurements at 10 minute intervals. After two days, all temperatures had reached their maximum growth and stationary phase. Strain LS1^T was found to be able to grow at all temperatures tested, however maximum growth was found to occur at 20 °C, closely followed by 10 °C. The phenotypic characteristics of strain LS1^T were investigated using BIOLOG GEN III MicroPlates (Biolog Inc) (Table 2). Experiments were performed simultaneously in duplicate to analyse the strain in 94 phenotypic tests including 71 carbon source utilisation assays and 23 chemical sensitivity assays. Plates were then prepared according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Based on the results from the phylogenetic, genomic and phenotypic consensus, strain LS1^T represents a novel species of the genus *Chitinophaga*, for which the name *Chitinophaga spargani* is proposed.



Figure 1. Phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA sequences: 16S rRNA sequence phylogenetic tree showing the relationship between strain LS1^T and 50 other type strains within the genus *Chitinophaga*. The tree was constructed using PhyML (a maximum-likelihood with GTR model, 1000 bootstrap replicates). Boostrap values are expressed as percentages of 1000 replications. Only boostrap values of more than 50% are shown. Scale shows 0.1 substitutions per nucleotide position. *Flavisolibacter tropicus* LCS9^T was used as an outgroup.

Species	DB accession number	dDDH (%)	ANI (%)
Chitinophaga sancti BA-3 [™]	GCA_900119105.1	28.5	83.9
Chitinophaga silvisoli K20C18050901 [⊤]	GCA_003412465.1	28.9	84.5
Chitinophaga rupis CS5-B1 [™]	jgi.1059006.1	19.8	70.1
Chitinophaga oryziterrae YC7001 [™]	GCA_009758125.1	19.2	72.7
Chitinophaga tropicalis ysch24 ^T	GCA_009758205.1	19.2	72.5
Chitinophaga ginsengisoli M1-22 [™]	GCA_003014595.1	19.1	72.5
Chitinophaga filiformis Fx e1 [⊤]	jgi.1055216.1	19.0	72.3
Chitinophaga pinensis DSM 2588 [™]	GCA_000024005.1	19.0	72.4
Chitinophaga rhizophila B61 [⊤]	GCA_019492185.1	18.6	71.9
Chitinophaga agri H33E-04 [⊤]	GCA_010093065.1	19.3	72.3
Chitinophaga parva LY-1 [⊤]	GCA_003071345.1	19.7	68.9
Chitinophaga niabensis JS13-10 [™]	GCA_900129465.1	19.1	69.4
Chitinophaga japonensis 758 [™]	GCA_007830125.1	19.0	69.9
Chitinophaga barathri YLT18 [™]	GCA_003614855.1	18.8	69.9
Chitinophaga ginsengisegetis M1-09 [™]	jgi.1048998.1	18.7	69.8

Table 1. digital DNA-DNA hybridisation (dDDH) scores using Type Strain Genome Server (GGDC) between strain LS1^T and 10 most closely related *Chitinophaga* type strains including *Chitinophaga sancti* BA-3^T and *Chitinophaga silvisoli* K20C18050901^T, *Chitinophaga tropicalis* ysch24^T, *Chitinophaga oryziterrae* YC7001^T, *Chitinophaga tropicalis* ysch24^T, *Chitinophaga ginsengisoli* M1-22^T, *Chitinophaga filiformis* Fx e1^T, *Chitinophaga pinensis* DSM 2588^T, *Chitinophaga rhizophila* B61^T, *Chitinophaga agri* H33E-04^T. Also included are five type strains of *Chitinophaga* from the neighbouring clades. All dDDH and ANI values are lower than the 70% and 90% delineation for species boundaries, respectively. dDDH and ANI values were calculated using Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator and OrthoANI, respectively.

Protologue

Chitinophaga spargani [spar.ga.ni., L. gen. n. spargani of the plant genus Sparganium].

Bacterial cells of strain LS1^T are Gram-negative, facultatively anaerobic and long, filamentous, rodshaped, $0.4 - 0.6 \mu$ m wide and > 7.0 µm long. When grown on TSA, colonies appear small and orange in colour with a circular form, a raised elevation and an entire margin. Cell growth can be seen at temperatures 10 °C - 30 °C (optimum, 20 °C). Strain LS1^T (DSM 116439, NCIMB 15476), was isolated from a *Sparganium erectum* plant taken from the River Loddon, Reading, United Kingdom (51°24'33.2" N 0°55'27.2" W). Strain LS1^T has a genomic size of 8.6 Mb with a G+C content of 43.4 mol%. The GenBank accession number of the complete genome assembly and 16S rRNA of strain LS1^T is CP128362 and OR083331, respectively.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.



Chitinophaga spargani_H10_037.tif Print Mag: 17300x @ 7.0 in 16:57:38 11/29/2023 TEM Mode: Imaging

1 μm HV=200.0kV Direct Mag: 2000x X:259860.1 Y: -754329.2 Tilt:-0.00841043 Reading

Camera: XR401, Exposure: 250 (ms) x 1 std. frames, Gain: 1, Bin: 1 Gamma: 1.00, No Sharpening, Normal Contrast

Figure 2. A transmission electron microscope image of strain $LS1^T$ at 17,300x magnification. Metadata associated with the imaging is shown below the image.
Characteristic	1: LS1 [⊤]	2: <i>C. sancti</i> BA-3 [⊤]	3: <i>C. silvisoli</i> K20C18050901 [⊤]
Max. NaCl for growth (% w/v)	4%	1.50%	2%
Growth on R2A	Postive	Negative	Positive
Hydrolysis of:			
Tween 40	Positive	Positive	Negative
Gelatin	Positive	Negative	Positive
Assimilation of:			
N-Acetyl-D-Glucosamine	Postive	Negative	Negative
N-Acetyl-D-Galactosamine	Postive	Negative	Positive
3-Methyl-D-Glucoside	Postive	Negative	Negative
D-Trehalose	Postive	Negative	Positive
D-Raffinose	Postive	Negative	Positive
Glucuronamide	Postive	Negative	Positive
Glycyl-L-Proline	Postive	Negative	Positive
D-Serine	Negative	Negative	Positive
Genome features:			
DNA G+C content (mol%)	43.4	43.3	44.7
Genome size (Mb)	8.67	8.24	8.36

Table 2. Differential characteristics between strain LS1^T and two closely related species of the genus *Chitinophage* strains: 1. LS1^T; 2. *C. sancti* BA-3^T; 3. *C. silvisoli* K20C18050901^T. Data for *C. sancti* and *C. silvisoli* were obtained from another study (Wang et al., 2019).

References

- Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., & Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *215*(3), 403–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2836(05)80360-2
- Brinkmann, S., Kurz, M., Patras, M. A., Hartwig, C., Marner, M., Leis, B., Billion, A., Kleiner, Y., Bauer, A., Toti, L., Pöverlein, C., Hammann, P. E., Vilcinskas, A., Glaeser, J., Spohn, M., & Schäberle, T. F. (2022). Genomic and Chemical Decryption of the Bacteroidetes Phylum for Its Potential to Biosynthesize Natural Products. *Microbiology Spectrum, 10*(3). https://doi.org/10.1128/SPECTRUM.02479-21
- Chun, J., Oren, A., Ventosa, A., Christensen, H., Arahal, D. R., da Costa, M. S., Rooney, A. P., Yi, H., Xu, X. W., De Meyer, S., & Trujillo, M. E. (2018). Proposed minimal standards for the use of genome data for the taxonomy of prokaryotes. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 68(1), 461–466. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJSEM.0.002516/CITE/REFWORKS
- Chung, E. J., Park, T. S., Jeon, C. O., & Chung, Y. R. (2012). Chitinophaga oryziterrae sp. nov., isolated from the rhizosphere soil of rice (Oryza sativa L.). *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *62*(Pt 12), 3030–3035. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJS.0.036442-0
- Dos Santos, H. R. M., Argolo, C. S., Argôlo-Filho, R. C., & Loguercio, L. L. (2019). A 16S rDNA PCR-based theoretical to actual delta approach on culturable mock communities revealed severe losses of diversity information. *BMC Microbiology*, *19*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12866-019-1446-2/FIGURES/4
- Goujon, M., McWilliam, H., Li, W., Valentin, F., Squizzato, S., Paern, J., & Lopez, R. (2010). A new bioinformatics analysis tools framework at EMBL–EBI. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(suppl_2), W695–W699. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKQ313
- Guindon, S., Dufayard, J. F., Lefort, V., Anisimova, M., Hordijk, W., & Gascuel, O. (2010). New algorithms and methods to estimate maximum-likelihood phylogenies: assessing the performance of PhyML 3.0. *Systematic Biology*, 59(3), 307–321. https://doi.org/10.1093/SYSBIO/SYQ010
- He, S. W., Ma, R., Zhao, Y. Y., An, L., Huang, J. H., Zhang, Q., Han, J. G., & Zhang, X. X. (2022).
 Chitinophaga hostae sp. nov., isolated from the rhizosphere soil of Hosta plantaginea. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 72*(4).
 https://doi.org/10.1099/IJSEM.0.005335

- Kim, M., Oh, H. S., Park, S. C., & Chun, J. (2014). Towards a taxonomic coherence between average nucleotide identity and 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity for species demarcation of prokaryotes. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 64(Pt 2), 346– 351. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJS.0.059774-0
- Land, M., Hauser, L., Jun, S. R., Nookaew, I., Leuze, M. R., Ahn, T. H., Karpinets, T., Lund, O., Kora, G., Wassenaar, T., Poudel, S., & Ussery, D. W. (2015). Insights from 20 years of bacterial genome sequencing. *Functional & Integrative Genomics, 15*(2), 141–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10142-015-0433-4
- Lightfield, J., Fram, N. R., & Ely, B. (2011). Across Bacterial Phyla, Distantly-Related Genomes with Similar Genomic GC Content Have Similar Patterns of Amino Acid Usage. *PLoS ONE, 6*(3), e17677. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0017677
- Lin, S. Y., Hameed, A., Liu, Y. C., Hsu, Y. H., Lai, W. A., Huang, H. I., & Young, C. C. (2014). Chitinophaga taiwanensis sp. nov., isolated from the rhizosphere of Arabidopsis thaliana. *International Journal* of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 64(Pt 2), 426–430. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJS.0.054452-0
- Meier-Kolthoff, J. P., Auch, A. F., Klenk, H. P., & Göker, M. (2013). Genome sequence-based species delimitation with confidence intervals and improved distance functions. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 14(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-14-60/TABLES/2
- Muñoz-Dorado, J., Marcos-Torres, F. J., García-Bravo, E., Moraleda-Muñoz, A., & Pérez, J. (2016). Myxobacteria: Moving, killing, feeding, and surviving together. *Frontiers in Microbiology, 7*(MAY), 203017. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2016.00781/BIBTEX
- Richter, M., & Rosselló-Móra, R. (2009). Shifting the genomic gold standard for the prokaryotic species definition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(45), 19126–19131. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0906412106
- Sangkhobol, V., & Skerman, V. B. D. (1981). Chitinophaga, a new genus of chitinolytic myxobacteria.
 International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology, 31(3), 285–293.
 https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-31-3-285/CITE/REFWORKS
- Seemann, T. (2014). Prokka: rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England),* 30(14), 2068–2069. https://doi.org/10.1093/BIOINFORMATICS/BTU153
- Šmarda, P., Bureš, P., Horová, L., Leitch, I. J., Mucina, L., Pacini, E., Tichý, L., Grulich, V., & Rotreklová, O. (2014). Ecological and evolutionary significance of genomic GC content diversity in monocots.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 111(39), E4096–E4102. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1321152111

- Vaser, R., & Šikić, M. (2021). Time- and memory-efficient genome assembly with Raven. *Nature Computational Science*, 1(5), 332–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43588-021-00073-4
- Walker, B. J., Abeel, T., Shea, T., Priest, M., Abouelliel, A., Sakthikumar, S., Cuomo, C. A., Zeng, Q.,
 Wortman, J., Young, S. K., & Earl, A. M. (2014). Pilon: an integrated tool for comprehensive microbial variant detection and genome assembly improvement. *PloS ONE, 9*(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0112963
- Wang, C., Lv, Y., Li, A., Feng, G., Bao, G., Zhu, H., & Tan, Z. (2019). Chitinophaga silvisoli sp. Nov., isolated from forest soil. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 69(4), 909–913. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJSEM.0.003212/CITE/REFWORKS
- Wick, R. R., & Holt, K. E. (2022). Polypolish: Short-read polishing of long-read bacterial genome assemblies. *PLoS Computational Biology, 18*(1), e1009802. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PCBI.1009802
- Yasir, M., Chung, E. J., Song, G. C., Bibi, F., Jeon, C. O., & Chung, Y. R. (2011). Chitinophaga eiseniae sp. nov., isolated from vermicompost. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *61*(Pt 10), 2373–2378. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJS.0.023028-0
- Yoon, S. H., Ha, S. M., Kwon, S., Lim, J., Kim, Y., Seo, H., & Chun, J. (2017a). Introducing EzBioCloud: a taxonomically united database of 16S rRNA gene sequences and whole-genome assemblies. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 67(5), 1613. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJSEM.0.001755
- Yoon, S. H., Ha, S. min, Lim, J., Kwon, S., & Chun, J. (2017b). A large-scale evaluation of algorithms to calculate average nucleotide identity. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, *110*(10), 1281–1286. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10482-017-0844-4
- Zhou, X., Xu, Z., He, J., Li, Y., Pan, C., Wang, C., Deng, M. R., & Zhu, H. (2020). A myxobacterial LPMO10 has oxidizing cellulose activity for promoting biomass enzymatic saccharification of agricultural crop straws. *Bioresource Technology, 318*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2020.124217
- Zong, Y., Wu, M., Liu, X., Jin, Y., Wang, G., & Li, M. (2019). Chitinophaga lutea sp. nov., isolated from arsenic-contaminated soil. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 69(7), 2114–2119. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJSEM.0.003445/CITE/REFWORKS